ROLE OF COAGULATION PATHWAYS IN NEUROLOGICAL DISEASES

EDITED BY: Tatiana Koudriavtseva, Svetlana Lorenzano, Matilde Inglese and Domenico Plantone PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology and Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-166-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-166-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

ROLE OF COAGULATION PATHWAYS IN NEUROLOGICAL DISEASES

Topic Editors:

Tatiana Koudriavtseva, IRCCS Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, IFO, Italy Svetlana Lorenzano, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Matilde Inglese, University of Genoa and Ospedale Policlinico San Martino IRCCS, Italy

Domenico Plantone, Consultant Pavia, Italy

Citation: Koudriavtseva, T., Lorenzano, S., Inglese, M., Plantone, D., eds. (2019). Role of Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-166-7

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Role of Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases Svetlana Lorenzano, Matilde Inglese and Tatiana Koudriavtseva
- 08 Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases: Multiple Sclerosis Nicole Ziliotto, Francesco Bernardi, Dejan Jakimovski and Robert Zivadinov
- 29 The Relationships Between Vitamin K and Cognition: A Review of Current Evidence

Ludovico Alisi, Roberta Cao, Cristina De Angelis, Arturo Cafolla, Francesca Caramia, Gaia Cartocci, Aloisa Librando and Marco Fiorelli

- 38 Genome-Wide Multiple Sclerosis Association Data and Coagulation Sara La Starza, Michela Ferraldeschi, Maria Chiara Buscarinu, Silvia Romano, Arianna Fornasiero, Rosella Mechelli, Renato Umeton, Giovanni Ristori and Marco Salvetti
- 44 Thrombin and the Coag-Inflammatory Nexus in Neurotrauma, ALS, and Other Neurodegenerative Disorders

Barry W. Festoff and Bruce A. Citron

64 A Perspective of Coagulation Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis and in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis

Domenico Plantone, Matilde Inglese, Marco Salvetti and Tatiana Koudriavtseva

- 76 Corrigendum: A Perspective of Coagulation Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis and in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis Domenico Plantone, Matilde Inglese, Marco Salvetti and Tatiana Koudriavtseva
- 77 Blocking Thrombin Significantly Ameliorates Experimental Autoimmune Neuritis

Efrat Shavit-Stein, Ramona Aronovich, Constantin Sylantiev, Orna Gera, Shany G. Gofrit, Joab Chapman and Amir Dori

87 Pharmacokinetic Interactions of Clinical Interest Between Direct Oral Anticoagulants and Antiepileptic Drugs

Alessandro Galgani, Caterina Palleria, Luigi Francesco Iannone, Giovambattista De Sarro, Filippo Sean Giorgi, Marta Maschio and Emilio Russo

- **97** The Emerging Role of Microbial Biofilm in Lyme Neuroborreliosis Enea Gino Di Domenico, Ilaria Cavallo, Valentina Bordignon, Giovanna D'Agosto, Martina Pontone, Elisabetta Trento, Maria Teresa Gallo, Grazia Prignano, Fulvia Pimpinelli, Luigi Toma and Fabrizio Ensoli
- 109 Antiphospholipid Syndrome and the Neurologist: From Pathogenesis to Therapy

Thomas Fleetwood, Roberto Cantello and Cristoforo Comi

122 The Coagulation Factors Fibrinogen, Thrombin, and Factor XII in Inflammatory Disorders—A Systematic Review

Kerstin Göbel, Susann Eichler, Heinz Wiendl, Triantafyllos Chavakis, Christoph Kleinschnitz and Sven G. Meuth

136 Coagulation Factor XII Levels and Intrinsic Thrombin Generation in Multiple Sclerosis

Nicole Ziliotto, Marcello Baroni, Sofia Straudi, Fabio Manfredini, Rosella Mari, Erica Menegatti, Rebecca Voltan, Paola Secchiero, Paolo Zamboni, Nino Basaglia, Giovanna Marchetti and Francesco Bernardi





Editorial: Role of Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases

Svetlana Lorenzano¹, Matilde Inglese^{2,3} and Tatiana Koudriavtseva^{4*}

¹ Department of Human Neurosciences, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Neuroscience, Rehabilitation, Ophthalmology, Genetics, Maternal and Child Health (DINOGMI), University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy, ³ Ospedale Policlinico San Martino IRCCS, Genoa, Italy, ⁴ Neuro-Oncology, Department of Clinical Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, IFO, Rome, Italy

Keywords: neurological diseases, coagulation, innate immunity, neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration

Editorial on the Research Topic

Role of Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases

There is a growing evidence that abnormalities of coagulation pathways are involved in the pathogenesis of several neurological diseases in tight correlation with both neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. The concept of *thrombo-inflammation* was first introduced in vascular diseases of central nervous system (CNS) (1) closely related to a more general entity of *immunothrombosis*, i.e., formation of thrombi inside microvessels by innate immune cells and specific thrombosis-related molecules, having major physiological role in immune defense rather than in haemostasis (2).

This Research Topic gathers different contributions that added new information on the involvement of both coagulation factors and innate immune components in the pathogenesis of human neurological diseases with the greatest share from the studies on multiple sclerosis (MS) and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), its animal model.

Plantone et al. focused on the key role of both coagulation and vascular thrombosis in the pathophysiology of MS. The observation of a close concordance between perivascular fibrin(ogen) deposition and the occurrence of clinical signs in EAE has led to numerous studies to investigate the role of thrombin and fibrin(ogen). Most findings supported that blood-brain barrier (BBB) breakdown, presence of active plaques, and disease exacerbation in both humans and animal models are conditions characterized by an increased coagulation activity.

Furthermore, Ziliotto et al. pointed out that increased BBB permeability leads to the irruption into the CNS of blood components including coagulation factors. Their cytotoxic deposition with the activation of microglia, resident innate immune cells, already in pre-demyelinating lesion stage in EAE and MS, cause inflammatory response and immune activation sustaining neurodegenerative events in MS. In particular, among the coagulation factors, FXII could act as an autoimmunity mediator due to its deposition near dentritic cells positive for CD87.

In their research, Ziliotto et al. investigated multiple FXII-related variables, including either its circulating levels, pro-coagulant function, ratio values or variation over time, in 74 MS patients and 49 healthy subjects. They found in MS patients an increased FXII plasma level, a significant difference over time for FXII procoagulant activity and reduced function within the intrinsic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Robert Weissert, University of Regensburg, Germany

> ***Correspondence:** Tatiana Koudriavtseva tatiana.koudriavtseva@ifo.gov.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 02 May 2019 **Accepted:** 09 July 2019 **Published:** 23 July 2019

Citation:

Lorenzano S, Inglese M and Koudriavtseva T (2019) Editorial: Role of Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases. Front. Neurol. 10:791. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00791

5

coagulation pathway, which supports investigation of FXII contribution to disease phenotype and progression.

Interestingly, the role of the coagulation process entangled with other pathogenic pathways in MS (i.e., a crosstalk between coagulation, inflammation, and immune system), was reinforced by over-connectivity between genome-wide associations MS data and a network of coagulation pathways studied by La Starza et al.. Moreover, genes coding for cluster of differentiation 40 (CD40), especially operative in B lymphocytes, and plasminogen activator urokinase (PLAU) shared both networks, pointing to an integral interplay between coagulation cascade and one of main pathogenic immune effectors.

The involvement of coagulation factors, especially factor XII, fibrinogen and thrombin, beyond their traditional roles in haemostasis, in the development of inflammatory diseases like MS, rheumatoid arthritis and colitis was again the focus of the systematic review by Göbel et al. who highlighted the molecular mechanisms underlying the balance between haemostasis and thrombosis, and between protection from infection and extensive inflammation.

The double nature, thrombotic and immunologic, is also evident in other specific neurologic condition such as the antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) and in the therapeutic strategy adopted for this disorder as discussed in the review by Fleetwood et al.. APS is an autoimmune antibody-mediated condition characterized by thrombotic events and/or pregnancy morbidity in association with persistent positivity to antiphospholipid antibodies. The CNS is frequently affected, as intracranial vessels are the most frequent site of arterial pathology. Nevertheless, ischemic injury is not always sufficient to explain clinical features of the syndrome and immune-mediated damage has been advocated.

Festoff and Citron reviewed available evidence on the role of coagulation cascade activation, in particular of thrombin signaling, in neurodegeneration and in the potential development of effective therapeutic approaches for ALS and traumatic brain injury. Different elements and regulators of the coagulation pathway have significant impact in these conditions and each of these molecules are entangled in choices dependent upon specific signaling pathways in play. For example, the particular cleavage of protease activated receptor 1 (PAR1) by thrombin versus activated protein C will have downstream effects through coupled factors to result in toxicity or neuroprotection.

Thrombin and its PAR1 are potentially important also in peripheral nerve inflammatory diseases as it has been addressed by Shavit-Stein et al. who studied the role of these factors in rat experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN), a model of the human Guillain-Barre syndrome. The authors showed that thrombin activity in the sciatic nerve was elevated in EAN compared to control sham rats. Furthermore, treatment with non-selective thrombin inhibitors significantly inhibited specific thrombin activity in EAN rats' sciatic and improved clinical scores compared to the untreated EAN rats with normalization of proximal amplitude observed in nerve conduction studies.

The emerging role of coagulation in infectious diseases such as Lyme neuroborreliosis (LB), the most common tick-borne disease involving nervous system caused by the spirochete Borrelia, has been investigated by Di Domenico et al.. In fact, invasive forms of B. burgdorferi are known to expresses multiple plasminogen-binding surface proteins that likely assist pathogen dissemination through host tissues. During the course of the infection, bacteria migrate through the host tissues altering the coagulation and fibrinolysis pathways and the immune response, reaching the CNS within 2 weeks after the bite of an infected tick.

The importance of coagulation system in the management of neurological diseases, particularly in elderly, is also evident by the potential risk associated with the increasing prescription of the new direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs), namely apixaban, dabigatran, edoxaban, and rivaroxaban, in patients with epilepsy taking concomitant antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). As a result, potential interactions may cause an increased risk of DOACrelated bleeding or a reduced antithrombotic efficacy. This issue was evaluated by Galgani et al. who found that there are only few case reports describing such interactions and, therefore, limited evidence is available.

An indirect role of the coagulation system in neurocognitive disorders has been assessed by Alisi et al. who reviewed recent evidence on the emerging involvement of vitamin K, whose biological activity in blood coagulation has been thoroughly explored, even in brain cells development and survival and, hence, in brain functions. In particular, vitamin K seems to have an antiapoptotic and anti-inflammatory effect mediated by the activation of Growth Arrest Specific Gene 6 and Protein S and to be involved in sphingolipids metabolism, a class of lipids that participate in the proliferation, differentiation and survival of brain cells. Vitamin K antagonists, used worldwide as oral anticoagulants, may have a negative influence on cognitive domains such as visual memory, verbal fluency and brain volume.

All these contributions indicate that the study of coagulation pathways in neurological diseases would lead to a greater understanding of their pathophysiology and a more appropriate therapeutic approach. We hope that this Research Topic will help the reader to find a useful reference for the state of the art in this emerging research field and, in particular, both researchers and clinicians to face their challenges with a more complete pathogenic approach since the role of innate immunity and of its effector coagulation factors is very relevant in both health and pathology.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SL, MI, and TK all contributed equally to the literature research and writing.

REFERENCES

- De Meyer SF, Denorme F, Langhauser F, Geuss E, Fluri F, Kleinschnitz C. Thromboinflammation in stroke brain damage. *Stroke*. (2016) 47:1165–72. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.011238
- Gaertner F, Massberg S. Blood coagulation in immunothrombosis-At the frontline of intravascular immunity. *Semin Immunol.* (2016) 28:561–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2016.10.010

Conflict of Interest Statement: MI has received research grants from NIH, NMSS, FISM, and Teva Neuroscience; TK has received research grant from the Italian Ministry of Health.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lorenzano, Inglese and Koudriavtseva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases: Multiple Sclerosis

Nicole Ziliotto^{1,2}, Francesco Bernardi¹, Dejan Jakimovski² and Robert Zivadinov^{2,3*}

¹ Department of Life Sciences and Biotechnology, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ² Department of Neurology, Jacobs School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, Buffalo Neuroimaging Analysis Center, University at Buffalo, State University of New York, Buffalo, NY, United States, ³ Clinical Translational Science Institute, Center for Biomedical Imaging, University at Buffalo, State University of New York, Buffalo, NY, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tatiana Koudriavtseva, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute (IRE), Italy

Reviewed by:

Katerina Akassoglou, University of California, San Francisco, United States Dimitrios Davalos, Cleveland Clinic Lerner College of Medicine, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Robert Zivadinov rzivadinov@bnac.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 10 September 2018 Accepted: 04 April 2019 Published: 24 April 2019

Citation:

Ziliotto N, Bernardi F, Jakimovski D and Zivadinov R (2019) Coagulation Pathways in Neurological Diseases: Multiple Sclerosis. Front. Neurol. 10:409. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00409

Significant progress has been made in understanding the complex interactions between the coagulation system and inflammation and autoimmunity. Increased blood-brain-barrier (BBB) permeability, a key event in the pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis (MS), leads to the irruption into the central nervous system of blood components that include virtually all coagulation/hemostasis factors. Besides their cytotoxic deposition and role as a possible trigger of the coagulation cascade, hemostasis components cause inflammatory response and immune activation, sustaining neurodegenerative events in MS. Early studies showing the contribution of altered hemostasis in the complex pathophysiology of MS have been strengthened by recent studies using methodologies that permitted deeper investigation. Fibrin(ogen), an abundant protein in plasma, has been identified as a key contributor to neuroinflammation. Perturbed fibrinolysis was found to be a hallmark of progressive MS with abundant cortical fibrin(ogen) deposition. The immune-modulatory function of the intrinsic coagulation pathway still remains to be elucidated in MS. New molecular details in key hemostasis components participating in MS pathophysiology, and particularly involved in inflammatory and immune responses, could favor the development of novel therapeutic targets to ameliorate the evolution of MS. This review article introduces essential information on coagulation factors, inhibitors, and the fibrinolytic pathway, and highlights key aspects of their involvement in the immune system and inflammatory response. It discusses how hemostasis components are (dys)regulated in MS, and summarizes histopathological post-mortem human brain evidence, as well as cerebrospinal fluid, plasma, and serum studies of hemostasis and fibrinolytic pathways in MS. Studies of disease-modifying treatments as potential modifiers of coagulation factor levels, and case reports of autoimmunity affecting hemostasis in MS are also discussed.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, coagulation, extrinsic pathway, intrinsic pathway, coagulation inhibitors, fibrinolytic pathway

INTRODUCTION

The complex physiological process of hemostasis involves several pathways in which procoagulant and anticoagulant forces are maintained in a constant equilibrium by autoregulation. In fact, hemostasis allows the vascular wall to provide anticoagulant blood containment until damage causes significant activation of coagulation, the confined formation of blood clot with hemorrhage cessation, and removal of that clot after the restoration of vascular integrity (1).

Increased blood-brain-barrier (BBB) permeability is a feature of several neurological diseases, and one of the first events that characterizes multiple sclerosis (MS) pathogenesis (2-5), leading to the irruption of coagulation/hemostasis factors into the central nervous system (CNS) (6). This, in turn, potentially triggers leakage of hemostasis components into the brain parenchyma, which potentially triggers the coagulation cascade. Besides their cytotoxic deposition, hemostasis components cause an inflammatory response and immune activation, sustaining neurodegenerative processes in MS (Figure 1) (6-12). Coagulation and inflammation are characterized by multiple links, and coagulation proteins and their fragments may promote neurodegeneration (12, 13). Preclinical models provide (albeit with some limitations) an informative means to investigate the pathophysiology of human diseases, and those mimicking MS have received attention in the last 3 decades. In particular, an increasing number of studies, largely based on animal models (14), have provided insights into the tight relationship among vasculature alterations, neuroinflammation, neuroimmunology, and neurodegeneration. Nevertheless, they only partially contribute to the relation between hemostasis components and experimental evidence in MS patients. This review article focuses on coagulation pathways in MS patients and related animal models. Current knowledge of how coagulation factors, coagulation inhibitors, and components of the fibrinolytic pathway are (dys)regulated in MS patients is reviewed and missing or inconsistent information is highlighted to guide future research.

COAGULATION CASCADE ESSENTIALS

Before exploring the contribution of coagulation components in the pathophysiology of MS, it is important to consider the basic physiology of coagulation. Coagulation occurs as a complex network of overlapping reactions tightly localized on specific cell surfaces. It is often still represented as a one-way Y-shaped model as proposed in the 1960s (15, 16). Although an oversimplification, this model posits two distinct pathways, so-called "extrinsic" and "intrinsic," that converged into a "common" one. Here, the interactions of inactive procoagulant mediators enable a sequential cascade of proteolytic events leading to their activation and the final fibrin and blood clot formation. The extrinsic pathway was so named because it requires an external factor (from the extravascular tissue), while the intrinsic pathway includes factors that are already present in the blood. In contrast to this commonly cited model, in the actual in-vivo process, extrinsic, and intrinsic pathways do not work independently and the pro-coagulant mediators, once activated, support the exponential amplification and propagation of the system with several interactions and feedback loops (17, 18). Although the activity in plasma of procoagulant factors of extrinsic and intrinsic pathways can be measured separately using clinically available coagulation tests such as partial thromboplastin time (PT) and activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), respectively (19), these laboratory tests do not accurately reflect the *in-vivo* situation (17). In fact, they force the system into a controlled condition on plateletpoor plasma through the exogenous supply of reagents (tissue factor/thromboplastin, phospholipids, calcium, and micronized silica) to assess the activity level of a certain factor.

In order to form a blood clot *in-vivo*, platelets and coagulation factors must communicate and support each other (20). Tissue factor (TF), the main trigger of the process responsible for the initial acceleration of cascade activation, is kept hidden on subendothelial cells until vascular damage exposes it (18). Once exposed, it promotes the activation of platelets and their recruitment into the clot (21). In turn, platelets mediate procoagulant functions through the release of additional coagulation factors and by the release of negatively charged phospholipids that are required cofactors for the proteolytic reactions of coagulation factors (22).

The procoagulant mediators that initiate, amplify, and propagate this cascade exist as proenzymes (also known as zymogens) in the blood (22). Under normal conditions, a basal activation of coagulation factors takes place, but it leads to an "idling" coagulation (18), which does not escalate to full clot formation. This occurs because the biochemical reactions are several orders of magnitude less efficient without the procoagulant mediators.

In summary, (1) fibrin can be produced only as a result of the complex interplay of coagulation factors, and (2) to productively trigger coagulation, cell surface exposure is necessary (TF-bearing membranes and platelets).

Based on the above, one of the main questions relevant to MS is how the coagulation cascade is triggered in the CNS.

Extrinsic Coagulation Activation and Implication for Damage Within the CNS

The initiation of the "extrinsic" coagulation pathway requires "extravascular" TF, also known as Factor (F)III, thromboplastin, or CD142. It is important to note that the names of coagulation factors, identified with roman numerals, reflect the order in which they were discovered and not the biological order of the "sequential cascade" of proteolytic events. TF is highly expressed on the surfaces of medial and adventitial cells, acting as the trigger for arresting bleeding under damaging circumstances (1).

Surprisingly, low levels of TF in an inactive configuration (cryptic state) may be found on endothelial cells and blood cells including platelets, lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, granulocytes, and neutrophils (23–25). Additionally, TF has been found circulating in TF-bearing microparticles that are released from cells or as a soluble protein generated by alternative splicing of TF mRNA (26). Overall induction of



soluble TF is stimulated during sepsis in response to bacteria, or during various chemokine- and cytokine-induced inflammatory states (27).

It has been suggested that decryption, which leads to the procoagulant activity of circulating TF, may depend on different mechanisms including a change in phospholipid environment, TF oxidation/reduction modifications, and TF dimerization (23, 28–30). Circulating microparticles may contribute to the formation of micro-thrombi (31). This has been suggested as one of the physiological defense strategies against bacteria, promoting so-called immunothrombosis in which the coagulation traps the pathogens, thereby preventing its spreading, and supporting the immune response (32). Uncontrolled activation of immunothrombosis, related to sepsis, cancer, or inflammatory states causes pathological conditions with undesired intravascular clotting contributing to pro-thrombotic risk (33). Given these observations, the tight relation between coagulation, inflammation, and immunity can already be appreciated in the vascular compartment alone. However, prominent expression of TF is also known to occur in the human brain (34, 35), and studies in mice have demonstrated that astrocytes are the primary cellular source of TF, suggesting their role in cerebral hemostasis (36). The breakdown of BBB that characterizes the MS disease process exposes the TF of astrocytes, which can promote activation of the coagulation cascade. The cascade in turn requires activated membranes to support biochemical reactions, canonically provided by platelets (**Figure 2**) (21).

For the sake of simplicity, we have chosen to omit reporting some of the intermediate cleaved forms of clotting factors, as well as their isoforms. Transmembrane TF of astrocytes binds its ligand FVII, activating and allosterically modifying it to form a mature active binary complex (TF:FVIIa). The TF:FVIIa



clot requires FXIII activated (FXIIIa) by thrombin activity. Coagulation complexes depend on lipids, exemplified by the platelet membrane. The dissolution of the fibrin fibers is mediated by the fibrinolytic system (7). Tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA) converts plasminogen into plasmin which cleaves fibrin to soluble degradation products among those the D-dimers.

complex cleaves and activates from one side FIX and from another FX, both present in the blood as zymogens (37). TF-FVIIa-nascent FXa complex activates FVIII (38). FVIIIa forms a complex with FIXa (FIXa:FVIIIa) providing a feedback loop for FX activation. Because of the ability to activate FX, both TF:FVIIa and FIXa:FVIIIa are called tenase complexes.

On the surface of TF-cells, FXa is released from TF:FVIIa and it associates with its cofactor FVa leading to the assembly of the FXa:FVa complex. The initial trace of FVa may derive from partially activated platelets (39), by proteases that are not

involved in coagulation (40), or by FXa (41). The "common" pathway starts with FXa:FVa, known also as prothrombinase complex due to its ability to convert prothrombin (FII) into thrombin (42, 43) through cleavage of multiple peptide bonds, whose sequence may depend on the membrane source (44). The initially low amount of thrombin activates FV, FVIII, and FXI on platelets that become the cornerstone surface for further coagulation reactions (45–48).

After this initial sequence of events, coagulation is exponentially maximized for generation of massive amounts

Coagulation in MS

of thrombin, which reaches sufficient concentration to convert fibrinogen (FI) into fibrin monomers. Therefore, thrombin promotes its own additional generation during the "propagation" phase independently from TF:FVIIa complex. Indeed, on the platelet surfaces (membranes), FVIIIa binds FIXa, and activated FX (FXa) that will form additional FXa:FVa, whereas FXIa directly activates FIX that will form additional FIXa:FVIIIa complexes. Finally, the organized three-dimensional assembly of fibrin monomers in protofibrils and fibrin fibers produces the impermeable blood clot. In the coagulation cascade, crosslinking stabilization of the fibrin clot requires activated FXIII (FXIIIa), again produced by thrombin activity (49).

An additional amplification loop by thrombin promotes platelet activation and aggregation via the cleavage and activation of proteinase-activated receptors (PARs) (1). However, activated PARs may modulate various cellular activities under different pathophysiological conditions including inflammation, apoptosis, cell migration, angiogenesis and tissue remodeling (50). Notably, hemostasis components can elicit opposite signaling responses through activation of the same PAR, as provided by in-vitro evidence, where PAR-1 may induce proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory signaling under activation by thrombin or the anticoagulant activated protein C (aPC), respectively (51, 52). It has been demonstrated that under coagulant conditions, FXa binds PARs (PAR-1 and PAR-2) at the vascular endothelial cell level, evoking the production of proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 (53), and the monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (54). Subsequent thrombin production reinforces the signal already started by FXa, sustaining the production of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-8 through PAR-1 (53). In addition, FXa triggers a series of Ca^{2+} oscillations (53), which may have a function in the Ca²⁺-dependent activation of proinflammatory transcription factors (55). Moreover, FXa induces expression of adhesion molecules promoting leukocyte adhesion (54), which in turn may also be sustained by the co-localized presence of thrombin and fibrinogen (56, 57).

Based on these findings, it has been hypothesized that coagulation activation at the neurovascular interface might contribute toward eliciting and sustaining the inflammatory phenomenon characteristic of MS pathophysiology. This has been investigated to some degree, albeit insufficiently.

It has been established that some coagulation factors are expressed in the CNS, including FX and FII (58–61). However, the physiological functions related to their presence are mostly unknown. Depending on the degree of BBB damage, blood components (but not blood cells) like the high molecular weight fibrinogen as well as FV (62) can enter into the CNS, thus providing the complete repertoire of factors to trigger coagulation. Nevertheless, in order to form fibrin, a consistent amount of protein is needed, and in addition, an activated surface that sustains the coagulation process. As of now, the exact sequence of events that supports coagulation in the CNS and fibrin formation, in particular in MS patients, is inferred from the general coagulation pathway and does not take into account the specificity of astrocyte membranes.

Several findings in mice, and particularly in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model, support the

importance of coagulation factors in MS, either procoagulant in the extrinsic and intrinsic pathways, or anticoagulant. The key event in the CNS is the entry of fibrinogen, the leakage of which correlates with areas of axonal damage and has been shown to cause the undesired activation of microglia, subsequently inducing the recruitment and activation of macrophages, thus promoting inflammatory responses (6, 7). The fibrinogen enters into the CNS after BBB leakage and induces reactive oxygen species (ROS) release in microglia and its signaling via the microglial receptor CD11b⁺ is required for development of axonal damage in EAE (6). The first EAErelated work that described the role of fibrinogen in activating microglia/macrophages through specific interaction with the CD11b⁺/CD18 integrin receptor also showed protection either by genetic disruption of the fibrinogen region that contains the sequence for CD11b⁺ interaction or by pharmacological blockage of this fibrinogen region with an inhibitory peptide (7). Intriguingly, treatment in this animal model with recombinant thrombin (depleted of pro-coagulant function) significantly ameliorates the pathological condition, reducing inflammatory cell infiltration, and demyelination, decreasing activation of CD11b⁺ macrophages and reducing the accumulation of fibrin(ogen) in the CNS (63). This supports the idea that the pro-coagulant function of thrombin is involved in microglial activation (64).

Other experimental findings support the role of fibrinogen in suppressing remyelination by the inhibition of oligodendrocyte progenitor cell differentiation into myelinating oligodendrocytes (9). In the EAE marmoset model, fibrinogen was proposed to derive from the central vein in early lesions, and its deposition was found to precede demyelination and visible gadolinium enhancing lesions on MRI (65). In fact, the peak of fibrinogen deposition corresponded with the beginning of demyelination and axonal loss. Afterwards, fibrinogen was found inside microglia/macrophages, suggesting its phagocytosis. Moreover, a positive correlation between fibrinogen deposition and accumulation of microglia/macrophages and T cells was detected (65). Overall, fibrinogen leakage is one of the earliest detectable events in lesion pathogenesis. Very recent promising data in EAE mice have shown that a monoclonal antibody targeting fibrin, without interfering with the coagulant activity, avoids microglia activation, and monocyte infiltration into the CNS (66). Moreover, it decreases neurotoxicity through the inhibition of ROS production mediated by NADPH oxidase in the innate immune cells, which has been demonstrated to be fibrin induced during the neurodegenerative process (66).

Fibrinolytic Pathways

The dissolution of the fibrin clot is mediated by the fibrinolytic system (**Figure 2**), initiated by the conversion of plasminogen into active plasmin by either urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) or tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA). tPA was found to be the most abundant plasminogen activator in control brains, with antigen concentration and enzyme activity several orders of magnitude higher than those of uPA (67). Plasmin cleaves fibrin to soluble degradation products, particularly the D-dimers, which represent an indicator of

cross-linked fibrin turnover (68). Strikingly, components of the fibrinolytic system present in the CNS participate in a wealth of physiological roles (69).

tPA has been found to be involved in regulating cerebrovascular integrity (70), neuronal activity (through its action on the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-receptor), neuronal calcium signaling, axonal regeneration, and microglial activation/inflammation (69). uPA exerts proteolytic and intracellular signaling functions by binding its receptor (urokinase plasminogen activator receptor, uPAR) on the cell surface, including microglial activation and axonal regeneration (71–73).

The activity of both tPA and uPA is regulated by specific plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAIs) of which the principal is PAI type 1 (PAI-1), a member of the serine protease inhibitor superfamily (SERPINS) (74). Tight connection of fibrinolysis with coagulation is further provided by thrombin, which enhances fibrinolysis that induces the expression and activity of tPA, and causes inactivation of PAI-1 by forming a complex with it. Interestingly, high PAI-1 expression may be induced by inflammatory cytokines in pathological conditions (75).

Experimental evidence in mice has demonstrated that PAI-1 can be released by microglia and astrocytes under inflammatory conditions, increasing microglial migration into the brain and inhibiting microglial phagocytosis (76). Accordingly, in EAE mice, the inhibition of PAI-1 has been shown to decrease axonal degeneration and demyelination (77). Conversely, tPA deficiency in EAE mice induces a more severe disease progression and CNS fibrin deposition, while uPAR depletion delays the disease onset, acting only in the initial stage by reducing the adhesion and migration of inflammatory mononuclear cells into the CNS (78). In fact, mice in the EAE model without uPAR subsequently develop chronic disease (78). Thus, data in animal models suggest that an impaired fibrinolytic pathway may be involved in both inflammatory and neurodegenerative processes of the disease.

The Eclectic Nature of Factor XII: The Crossroad Between Coagulation (Intrinsic/Contact Pathway), Inflammation, and Immunity

Recently, albeit only in an animal model, FXII was found to be involved in adaptive immune responses via uPAR (CD87)-mediated modulation of dendritic cells (DCs) (10).

The coagulation cascade may be triggered by the circulating protein FXII, also called Hageman factor (79), through its contact with negatively charged surfaces and conformational change in the catalytic domain. The contact activation system does not depend on "external" proteins to trigger the coagulation cascade and it is usually identified with the intrinsic coagulation cascade pathway (80, 81). The FXIIa-initiated intrinsic coagulation pathway proceeds through activation of FXI (FXIa) and subsequent FIX activation (FIXa) (**Figure 3**), hence reaching the common pathway (**Figure 1**). Despite its contribution to fibrin formation in coagulation assays, the role of factor FXII "*in-vivo*" has long been debated because FXII deficiency does not exhibit a clinically relevant bleeding phenotype (82). Considering that FXII is located at the crossroads of several other pathways, these

features make FXII an attractive target for inhibition without concomitant bleeding complications (83, 84).

FXIIa converts prekallikrein (PK) to kallikrein (KAL) (80), starting the proinflammatory kallikrein-kinin system (**Figure 3**). KAL acts on high molecular weight kininogen (HK), releasing the active peptide bradykinin (BK), through which bradykinin receptors mediate: (1) vasodilation induced by nitric oxide formation, (2) prostacyclin release, which reduces vessel-wall exposure of TF, (3) platelet inhibition, and (4) tPA release (80). The kallikrein-kinin system is further linked to the fibrinolytic pathway by KAL, which is able to convert plasminogen to plasmin (85). Thus, from one side the kallikrein-kinin system through BK promotes inflammation and from the other, the inhibition of coagulation and promotion of fibrinolysis. In the EAE animal model, the blocking of a BK receptor (B1R), mainly expressed close to plaques, prevented the infiltration of T lymphocytes into the CNS and decreased BBB permeability (86).

Interestingly, FXIIa itself has the capacity to cleave several proteins of the complement system, driving activation of innate immunity against foreign pathogens (**Figure 3**) (87). The complement cleavage products (C3a and C5a) have also been shown to exhibit robust chemo-attractive properties to human mast cells and neutrophils, highlighting the pro-inflammatory effects of the coagulation-complement interplay (88).

An example of selective pathway activation is given by mast cells (89) that rapidly secrete granules, of which heparin is one of the major constituents, when activated. Although heparin is primarily an anticoagulant, it provides a negatively charged surface that activates FXII, thus selectively promoting the inflammatory kallikrein-kinin system and possible consequent vascular leakage and BK-driven leukocytes infiltration (89).

Another immuno-mediated mechanism able to induce FXIIa is supported by neutrophils through the release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). NETs consist of negatively charged contents such as nucleic acids together with histones, and antimicrobial proteins, which are physiologically used to trap and kill bacteria during infection. On the other hand, they trigger FXIIa and, in addition, foster the recruitment and activation of platelets, thereby promoting immunothrombosis (90).

In EAE, it has been demonstrated that depletion of FXII has a protective effect, delaying disease onset and decreasing disease severity (10). Of note, no differences were found in the amount of fibrin/fibrinogen in the CNS of EAE-FXII depleted mice compared to those with the wild-type EAE phenotype. Futhermore, factor XI (directly activated by FXII) deficiency does not alter the clinical course, demyelination, cytokine levels or the immune cell infiltration in the EAE model. These results support the hypothesis that FXII does not participate through activation of the intrinsic coagulation pathway, which would imply that the FXII procoagulant activity "*per se*" is not involved in MS (10).

Platelets, Von Willebrand Factor, and ADAMTS13

Hemostasis is a complex multi-step process, involving the interaction of platelet adhesion receptors with cognate ligands such as von Willebrand Factor (vWF), collagen, and fibrin (1).

vWF is either constitutively produced or released by Weibel-Palade bodies from endothelial cells, stored platelets, and



subendothelial connective tissue, in an ultra-large form, a long multimeric string that is associated with FVIII molecules (91). When thrombin cleaves FVIII, it mediates its activation through extended conformational changes that additionally cause FVIII to dissociate from vWF (92). vWF serves as an adhesion surface to which platelets aggregate and form a plug. The "A Disintegrinlike And Metalloprotease with ThromboSpondin type 1 motif 13" (ADAMTS13) enzyme, a main inhibitor of hemostasis, cleaves the ultra-large vWF in vWF multimers with lower size, decreasing the propensity of vWF to support platelet adhesion and aggregation (93) (**Figure 4**). Deficiency of ADAMTS13 causes thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura (TTP), a disease characterized by overt platelet aggregation through large vWF multimers generating microvascular thrombosis (94).

Coagulation Inhibitors

In vivo, coagulation factors are regulated by positive and negative feedback loops, the latter being provided by multiple coagulation inhibitors/anticoagulant proteins, which are also activated in a cascade-like fashion and influenced by feedback loops.

In the coagulation amplification process, the first line of inhibition is exerted by tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) (95), membrane-bound to endothelial cells (TFPI β) as well as soluble in plasma, that is released from endothelial cells and platelets (TFPI α) (95). Circulating TFPI is mainly associated with lipoproteins, and inhibits coagulation in two distinct ways: (1) primarily, by interaction with the transient TF/FVIIa/FXa complex, and (2) by direct inhibition of free FXa. TFPI-dependent inhibition of FXa is mediated by the presence of protein S, which acts as a cofactor increasing TFPI affinity (96).

TFPI β , which appears to be the predominant form, is anchored on the surface of the vascular endothelium, suggesting its role in the regulation of TF-mediated inflammatory responses via PARs signaling (97, 98). TFPI coagulation-independent action includes the suppression in TNF- α and IL-6 production, and an increase of anti-inflammatory IL-10 (99). Thus, TFPI may have distinct biological activities and potentially exerts a protective anti-inflammatory role in MS.

Antithrombin (AT, previously also called antithrombin III) belongs to the family of SERPINS and it inhibits several activated coagulation factors: FVIIa in complex with TF, FXa that dissociates from the TF-bearing cell (74) and, as the name suggests, thrombin via the formation of the thrombin-antithrombin (TAT) complex. Binding of cofactor heparin and heparin-like molecules are required for achieving inhibitory rates of AT.

The rising concentration of thrombin during coagulation proteolytically activates a main coagulation inhibitor, protein C, by binding the membrane protein thrombomodulin (TM), which is expressed on endothelial cells together with the endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR) (51). As with other receptors involved in hemostasis, both TM and EPCR can be cleaved from the cell surface in response to endothelial damage (100, 101). Activated Protein C (aPC) associates with its cofactor protein S, and the aPC/protein S complex proteolytically attacks FVa and FVIIIa, which are mostly membrane-bound, thus suppressing tenase and prothrombinase complexes (51). Of note, aPC may inactivate FVa when the thrombin-generating surface is provided by endothelial cells, but not from platelets (102). aPC may remain associated with EPCR and interact with



PARs, exerting antiapoptotic and anti-inflammatory actions as signaling molecule (51), thus providing a tight link between (anti)coagulation and (anti)inflammation.

It has been observed in EAE that the administration of recombinant aPC and mutant forms of aPC with either the anticoagulant function alone or the signaling function alone reduces disease severity. This provides evidence that both of aPC's anticoagulant and signaling functions are required to improve the disease condition (103). EAE mice with a TM gene mutation that disrupts the TM-dependent activation of protein C ($TM^{Pro/Pro}$) have perturbed myelination and mitochondrial functioning, resulting in increased ROS production and aggravated EAE pathology. Administration of aPC or TM provided relief in $TM^{Pro/Pro}$ EAE mice (104, 105). Given these results, the role of the protein C system in amelioration of the disease is worth further consideration.

Other noteworthy inhibitors from the SERPINS family are heparin cofactor II (HCII), C1 inhibitor (C1INH) and protein C inhibitor (PCI). The inhibitory role of SERPINS is modulated by binding to cofactors, especially glycosaminoglycans like heparin, which present on cell surfaces and on the extracellular matrix (74, 106). HCII acts similarly to AT in the negative regulation of thrombin (107). C1INH is the most powerful FXIIa inhibitor (108). PCI inhibits anti-coagulant aPC and thrombin-TM complex but also the pro-coagulant thrombin, FXa, FXIa and FVIIa-TF complex. It also inhibits the fibrinolytic pathway by inhibiting uPA and tPA (74).

Overall, pro-coagulant, anti-coagulant, and fibrinolytic pathways are responsible for maintaining the hemostasis balance under physiological conditions. Significant deviation from these pathways would result in hypercoagulability leading to lifethreatening thrombotic or, alternatively, to acquired/inherited bleeding diseases (e.g., hemophilias). Based on this, the role of coagulation (im)balance in MS patients is further reviewed below.

COAGULATION AND HEMOSTASIS FINDINGS IN MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS PATIENTS

Fibrin(ogen) Brain Deposition

Direct studies of histological brain samples, aimed at addressing fibrin deposition and alteration of the fibrinolytic pathway, began in the 1980s (Tables 1, 2). Nowadays, it is well known that one of the key events in the pathophysiology of MS is BBB breakdown, which leads to the entry of several neurotoxic blood-derived proteins (Figure 1) (119). Thanks to these histological studies, fibrinogen, an abundant protein in plasma, has been identified as a contributor to neuroinflammation in the CNS (11, 120). However, since most of the antibodies used across these studies were unable to distinguish fibrin from fibrinogen, the term "fibrin(ogen)" is likely more appropriate. The properties of fibrin favor the formation of oligomers and protofibrils, which aggregate laterally to make fibers, and ultimately branch to yield a three-dimensional network of insoluble fibrin (121). The detection in tissues of insoluble fibrin (fibrin deposition) by antibodies is therefore enhanced as compared with the detection of fibrinogen.

The relation between hemorrhage and demyelinating plaques was first considered by an early case report of 2 MS patients who developed CNS hemorrhage. It was suggested that the demyelinating event could contribute and set the stage for focal hemorrhages (122). However, over the course of the following years, the leakage of blood protein fibrinogen into the brain parenchyma was established as a potential marker of BBB damage (2, 113), and as a contributor to neurodegenerative events. In initial reports, the presence of heavy extracellular fibrinogen was detected in demyelinated centers of acute MS plaques (109) as well as in most of the examined inactive plaques, particularly close to astrocytes (110). Moreover, the fibrinogen within the plaques was found to overlap with macrophages and axons, and even extended into the surrounding normalappearing brain tissue. Nevertheless, fibrinogen did not colocalize with the enlarged astrocytes outside the plaques (110). Moreover, it was shown that fibrinogen leakage gradually increased through the progression of MS lesions, reaching the highest levels within the central parenchyma of those plaques with the greatest degree of activity (111). Interestingly, fibrinogen co-localized with areas of activated microglia in MS lesions (111).

Confocal microscopy confirmed the presence of extravascular fibrinogen in active MS lesions, most commonly with a distinct perivascular distribution, and in a few cases widely distributed throughout the parenchyma (112). Association of such leakage with areas of microglial activation was found to be consistent with increased tight junction abnormality in the same areas (112). Confocal microscopy was also extensively used to confirm the perivascular distribution of the fibrinogen leakage and demonstrate varying fibrinogen levels within MS lesions (113). Hence, the severity of altered tight junctions was associated with BBB dysfunction, which in turn was proportional to the increase in fibrinogen leakage reaching particularly high levels in active lesions (113). A threshold of tight junction injury might be required before significant and visible BBB leakage of the large, high-molecular-weight protein fibrinogen (113), which could explain the lack of fibrinogen detection close to vessels with a lower degree of tight junction abnormality.

Postmortem magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was also applied to detect both diffuse and focal brain abnormalities, allowing targeted histopathological examination of MS lesions (2). BBB disruption was detected by increased immunopositivity for fibrinogen in the brain parenchyma as described by previous studies (109-113). Fibrinogen leakage was found in both active and chronic MS lesions, co-localizing with astrocytic processes and occasionally with axonal processes (as demonstrated by neurofilament immunoreactivity), which suggested that astrocytic and neuronal processes may bind or incorporate extravasated fibrinogen. Moreover, fibrinogen was not limited only to demyelinating lesions, but it was seen in both reactive lesions characterized by small clusters of microglial cells without apparent loss of myelin with a variable degree of edema, and in areas with diffusely abnormal white matter (WM) (2). Nevertheless, the presence of fibrinogen was more extensive in chronic active and inactive lesions when compared to reactive lesions (2).

A more recent analysis of chronic MS lesions revealed that fibrinogen extravasation was present in chronic active lesions close to the blood vessels, but not in the chronic inactive ones (65). It was also shown that fibrin deposition might occur early in MS and precede demyelination (11), since the "pre-demyelinating" areas of activated microglia hosted fibrin precipitates within the extracellular space of the lesions (11). The high precipitation of fibrin on the surface of microglia was suggested to be the driving force for microglial activation according to its detection in focal plaques of microglial activation with features of hypoxia-like damage but in the absence of demyelination (11). Thus, changes in the NAWM precede the formation of inflammatory demyelinating plaques, in particular in those exhibiting a pattern of hypoxia-like demyelination. Such changes were suggested to settle the inflammatory response and infiltration of T-cells, B-cells, and macrophages in the brain tissue, leading to the formation of the classic inflammatory demyelinating plaque detected by MRI (11). This is in agreement with recent findings showing that fibrin can mediate microglial activation and oxidative stress with ROS production, contributing to local neurodegenerative events (66). Finally, fibrin(ogen) was reported in the cortex of progressive (P-MS) cases. Extracellular fibrin(ogen) deposition was mostly found in the deeper cortical layers (layers 5 and 6 vs. layer 2). In contrast, its co-localization within neuritic and astrocytic processes was predominantly in the superficial cortical layers (12). The presence of intracellular fibrin(ogen) has been suggested to occur by direct synthesis of those cells or to be mediated by retrograde transport in damaged axons exposed to increasing amounts of protein. Overall, severe fibrin(ogen) deposition was detected in areas of significantly reduced neuronal density and particularly appeared to affect the loss of layer 5 projection neurons (12). No relationships were observed between the presence of fibrin(ogen) and microglial/macrophage density. Of note, the deposition of other proteins, such as albumin, remains controversial because of their inability to be converted into an insoluble matrix as fibrinogen does to fibrin, precluding accurate assessment.

In summary, these data point toward the role that fibrinogen has on sustaining the pathogenesis of MS lesions following its entrance into the CNS. In particular, its conversion into fibrin seems to trigger the activation of microglia and to support inflammation and the consequent development of demyelinating lesions.

Histological Evidence for an Altered Fibrinolytic Pathway in Multiple Sclerosis CNS

Besides fibrin(ogen), several studies have focused on the fibrinolytic pathway (**Table 2**), and the capacity of MS lesions to break down fibrin. Initial findings were provided by histochemical techniques, showing that the amount of fibrinolytic activity was comparable between active lesions and inactive ones (115). The fibrinolytic zones in MS brains appeared to originate from areas around vessels or capillaries, and the presence of lymphocytic infiltrates, gliosis, or macrophages did not change the localization and degree of fibrinolysis. Moreover,

TABLE 1 | Histopathological evidence of hemostasis components in multiple sclerosis.

Hemostasis components	Main findings (patient sample size/methodology)	References
COAGULATION		
FXII	Deposition nearby dendritic cells positive for uPAR.	(10)
Fibrinogen	Presence within demyelinated centers (23 acute MS plaques).	(109)
	Detected in 19 inactive plaques, co-localize with astrocytes (32 inactive plaques).	(110)
	Perivascular detection in type I, II and V lesions. Leakage within central plaques parenchyma (immunohistochemistry on 155 MS lesions from 13 early cases of MS).	(111)
	Extravascular staining with perivascular distribution in association with microglial activation (active MS lesions analyzed by confocal microscopy).	(112)
	Perivascular distribution of leakage and differential degree of deposition in WM. Co-localization with astrocytes. Correlation with the grade of tight junctions' abnormality (2,198 MS and 1,062 control vessels analyzed by confocal microscopy).	(113)
	Leakage both in active and chronic lesions; reactivity also in NAWM and in WM. Co-localization with astrocytes and neuronal process (postmortem MRI on MS lesions).	(2)
	Extravasation close to the blood vessels only in chronic active lesions (4 chronic active lesions and 5 chronic inactive lesions from 4 MS brains).	(65)
Fibrin(ogen)	Extracellular deposition predominantly located in layers 5 and 6 of the cortex in MS. Intracellular deposition detected in neurons and astrocytes (immunohistochemistry on the cortex of 47 progressive MS and 10 controls).	(12)
Fibrin	Staining overlap with macrophages and axons, and extended into NAWM (32 inactive plaques).	(110)
	Deposition in areas of activated microglia (immunohistochemistry on 155 MS lesions from 13 early cases of MS).	(111)
	Deposition occurs in pre-demyelinating areas of activated microglia.	(11)
INHIBITORS		
Protein C inhibitor	Detected in chronic active plaques (Mass spectrometry MS plaques).	(103)
C1INH	Detected in MS plaques.	(114)

C1INH, C1 inhibitor; F, factor; NAWM, normal-appearing white matter; MS, multiple sclerosis; uPAR, urokinase plasminogen activator receptor; WM, white matter.

TABLE 2 | Histopathological evidence of fibrinolytic pathway components in multiple sclerosis.

Fibrinolytic components	Main findings (patient sample size/methodology)	References
Fibrinolysis	Higher fibrinolytic activity in plaques than adjacent NAWM.	(115)
tPA	Staining for infiltrated mononuclear cells in MS lesions and WM. Strong positivity of foamy macrophages in areas of demyelination and decline in chronic lesions.	(116)
	Co-localization with non-phosphorylated neurofilament and fibrin deposition in demyelinated axons.	(67)
	Decreased tPA activity in acute MS lesions. Decreased fibrinolytic activity in demyelinating MS plaques due to tPA/PAI-1 complex.	(117)
tPA receptors	Localization on macrophages, astrocytes. Increased in MS lesions compared to NAWM.	(118)
uPA, uPAR	Detected in acute MS lesions, expressed by mononuclear cells in perivascular cuffs and to macrophages in the lesion parenchyma. uPAR additionally detected in NAWM.	(67)
D-dimers	Localization on foamy macrophages and demyelinating axons.	(117)
PAI-1	Detected in acute MS lesions, expressed by mononuclear cells in perivascular cuffs and to macrophages in the lesion parenchyma.	(67)
	Up-regulation in progressive MS cortex but without an efficient fibrin degradation (immunohistochemistry on the cortex of 47 progressive MS and 10 controls).	(12)

NAWM, normal-appearing white matter; MS, multiple sclerosis; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1; tPA, tissue-type plasminogen activator; uPAR, urokinase plasminogen activator receptor; WM, white matter.

the NAWM from MS patients was not more fibrinolitically active than that of the controls, but plaques showed more fibrinolytic activity compared to adjacent NAWM (115), suggesting to an attempt to combat fibrin. Subsequently, positive infiltrating mononuclear cells stained for tPA were observed in MS lesions, particularly within active ones (116). This pattern converted into a strong positivity of foamy macrophages in areas of demyelination and declined in chronic lesions. Similarly, PAI-1 expression paralleled that of tPA on foamy macrophages (116). The disappearance of immunoreactivity for tPA in chronic MS plaques also supported the role of impaired fibrinolysis as a contributing event to the inflammatory stage of demyelination mediated by fibrin. In fact, the increased expression of tPA on mononuclear cells in perivascular cuffs was suggested to be one of the earliest detectable signs of inflammation in MS. tPA might trigger the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) cascade

and thus facilitate entry of leukocytes into the CNS (116). It is important to note, though, that another study provided partially discordant data: although quantitatively decreased in MS lesions, it found that tPA was co-localizeed with non-phosphorylated neurofilament and fibrin(ogen) deposits on demyelinated axons (67). On the other hand, highly significant increases in uPA, uPAR, and PAI-1 were detected in acute MS lesions and uPAR in NAWM when compared to control tissue. These three proteins were immunolocalized with mononuclear cells in perivascular cuffs and with macrophages in the lesion parenchyma. The significant increase in the uPAR complex was thought to be a trigger for focal plasmin generation and for cellular infiltration, cooperating with MMP activity in the opening of the BBB (67).

Further investigations provided evidence for the lowest fibrinolytic activity within acute lesions, which was due to the formation of tPA/PAI-1 complex (117), in turn contributing to fibrin accumulation. Nevertheless, D-dimers and fibrin degradation products were mostly localized at the neurovascular interface and on foamy macrophages and axons during the chronic inflammatory stage of lesions (117). In addition, increased PAI-1 synthesis leading to defective fibrinolysis appeared to develop before lesion formation (117). However, during lesion progression, an increase in lower molecular weight PAI-1 peptides was detected, as a result of PAI-1 intracellular degradation mediated by macrophages (117).

Plasma membrane tPA receptors, which may concentrate proteolytic activity on the cell surface and in turn locally enhance the fibrinolytic response, were immunolocalized in acute MS lesions on macrophages and astrocytes (118) and increased in MS lesions when compared to NAWM samples. Furthermore, a tPA receptor was found on neuronal cells within the cortex. However, the limited availability of tPA, bound to PAI-1, reduces the production of plasmin, which further decreases the fibrinolytic activity in active MS lesions and increases axonal fibrin deposition and neurodegeneration (118). Indeed, perturbed fibrinolysis was found to be a hallmark of P-MS cases with abundant cortical fibrin(ogen) deposition (12). Overall, significant upregulation of PAI-1 in the cortex, where fibrin deposition was most severe, points toward dysregulated fibrin clearance that allows for its pathological accumulation in the later stages of MS (12).

Detection of Protein C Inhibitor (PCI), C1INH, and FXII in Multiple Sclerosis Plaques

An early biochemical study based on isolation of brain capillaries from human brain samples close to MS lesions showed positive staining for FVIII (123). Further insights into coagulation components and inhibitors in MS lesions have been provided by lesion-specific proteomic profiling (103), which detected TF in particular. This is to a certain extent expected in relation to the abundance of this protein in perivascular spaces, whereas PCI is only found in chronic active lesions. PCI, which inhibits aPC, seems to accumulate within these lesions secondary to the disruption of the BBB during neuroinflammation. The combined presence of TF and PCI suggests pro-inflammatory thrombin formation and suppression of the PC pathway, supporting a mechanism involved in MS lesion formation that suppresses the action of coagulation inhibitors in the presence of coagulation activation (103). Further evidence for the intricate connection between coagulation, inflammation, and immunity was provided by the positive reactivity of MS lesions for proteins of the complement system, and regulators as C1INH. Taken together, these findings point toward continuing local complement synthesis, activation, and regulation despite the absence of evidence of ongoing inflammation (114). Interestingly, deposition of FXII, which is inhibited by C1INH and might support autoimmunity, was detected in the histological analysis of CNS tissue from MS patients nearby DCs positive for CD87 (uPAR) (10).

Overall, impaired fibrinolysis seems to reinforce fibrin(ogen)associated damage in MS. Impaired inhibition of coagulation, and the contribution of coagulation factors through inflammatory and autoimmunity pathways in CNS therefore deserves further investigation.

Historical Perspective of Hemostasis Abnormalities and Circulating Hemostasis Component Levels in Multiple Sclerosis

The first description of hemostasis abnormalities in MS was provided by Putnam (124) who reported the presence of definite thrombi in half of the analyzed MS cases (9/17). Thrombi were described as the frequent occurrence of perivascular hemorrhages within acute lesions and as a vascular obstruction in chronic lesions. Therefore, the primary abnormality of MS was suggested to reside in the alteration of the blood clotting mechanism (124), and as a consequence of this hypothesis, 43 MS cases were treated with dicoumarine for a timeframe between 6 months and 4 years (125). Despite the side effects, Putnam and colleagues concluded that anticoagulant treatment reduced relapses in the relapsing-remitting (RR) form of MS while the course of chronic progressive disease was not affected (125). Soon after, Putnam interpreted venous thrombosis as a possible pathognomonic process in MS, while others reported increased capillary fragility (126) and subcutaneous hemorrhages (127).

Later on in 1955, Persson reported increased levels of plasma fibrinogen in MS patients during relapse exacerbations, which were not related to thrombus formation (128). By that time, it was already known that fibrinogen levels were higher than in controls in the majority of chronic and degenerative diseases, thus laying the foundations for later discoveries of fibrinogen levels as a marker of inflammation (128, 129). A few years later, another study investigated blood coagulation in 33 MS patients and corroborated previous findings, showing no tendency toward increased blood coagulability (130). Overall, in the majority of investigated patients fibrinogen levels were within the normal range, despite wide variations that were not associated with the stage of the disease (130). A subsequent study in 10 MS patients explored both blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and revealed that neither had thromboplastin activity, nor significant abnormalities in blood platelet, coagulation factors, serum platelet-like activity nor fibrinogen levels (131). Despite the lack of abnormal findings, increased capillary fragility was reported (131).

The "antithrombic" activity of normal and pathological CSF was later discovered in 1961 (132). With the exception of larger proteins like fibrinogen and FV, further studies demonstrated the presence of coagulation proteins in the CSF (133) and corroborated findings that degradation products of fibrin were present under pathological conditions (62).

The discrepancy in results regarding coagulant balance of that epoch needs to be interpreted in light of possible unstandardized examination techniques. However, after 80 years from the first report on altered coagulation in MS (124), findings on this research topic in MS are still controversial. This is probably also due to the inclusion of small cohorts of patients and the sporadic analysis of circulating levels of certain hemostasis components, which prevents the consolidation of conclusions and clearly highlights the need for larger, more well-controlled additional investigations. Evidence regarding CSF, plasma and serum levels of hemostasis components is summarized in Table 3. Of note, levels are often used to refer to either protein concentration or activity of a protein without a clear distinction. However, concentration levels provide information that is independent of the protein's ability to be intrinsically functional and do not depend on activatory or inhibitory molecules. Similarly, testing the functional activity does not provide direct information about its protein concentration but integrates the influence of activators or inhibitors. During a PT or aPTT assay, information about clotting time is obtained, providing the overall functionality of the system. When alteration in clotting time is observed, it is possible to supplement the assay using a plasma depleted of a specific coagulation component (thought to be the cause of the alteration) in order to assess the specific functional activity of that component. Since ethylenediamine-tetra-acetic acid (EDTA) removes calcium from the sample, which is needed for blood clotting, plasma collected in EDTA is not an appropriate sample to test PT and aPTT.

Considering the tight relation between coagulation factors and immune response discussed earlier, it is intriguing to speculate that the clinical manifestation of MS could also be related to increased pro-coagulant activity. No significant differences have been reported for PT or aPTT times in the plasma of MS patients (140) nor for fibrinogen concentration in either CSF or blood (140, 149). However, the analysis of the CSF proteomic profiles in patients, collected in different phases of their clinical course, showed significantly lower fibrinogen concentration in clinically isolated syndrome compared to PMS patients (134). Moreover, increased fibrinogen beta chain concentration was detected in CSF samples from two fulminant MS cases by mass spectrometry (150). A relationship with the activity of the disease was also reported in a recent investigation where high fibrinogen levels were detected in plasma in a substantial proportion (17/58) of patients, particularly in those with active lesions on MRI (141). Taken together, these studies support the role of fibrinogen as a contributor of neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative processes in the CNS following BBB damage.

In a more comprehensive investigation, the activity of PC, FII, FX, FXI and FXII, and propensity of fibrinogen to clot was

determined in plasma samples of MS patients with different clinical phenotypes compared to healthy individuals (136). Increased activity of FII:C and FX:C was detected in RRMS and SPMS patients when compared to controls (136). These experimental findings suggest an increase in thrombin activity and its generation through FX activity, which by definition is part of the prothrombinase complex, in MS patients. However, these increased activities do not seem to be balanced by increased activity of PC, a key inhibitor (136). Similarly, plasma AT activity was reported to show no differences in MS patients or associations with periods of relapses or remissions (143).

Evaluation of coagulation activity by thrombin generation assay, a more sensitive and flexible method that accurately reflects the initiation, propagation, and termination phases of coagulation (151, 152), showed enhanced thrombin generation in RRMS patients compared to PPMS and controls, pointing to a prothrombotic state within the RRMS phenotype (139).

Elevated FXII activity was found in RRMS and SPMS compared to controls, and greater activity levels were associated with higher occurrence of relapses and shorter relapse-free periods, independently from the use of immune modulatory therapy (10). Another recent study that evaluated the ratio of FXII activity and the amount of circulating protein found increase activity of FII and FX was protein levels and reduced function within the intrinsic coagulation pathway (137). Notably, intrinsic thrombin generation did not result in the detection of prothrombotic features in the evaluated PMS patients (137). These data underline the importance of evaluating the activity of both antigen and coagulation factors. Furthermore, the contribution of FXII in MS may be independent of its coagulant property and the protein may potentially be hijacked to participate in other FXII-mediated pathways. Immunemodulatory function in relation to, or its possible independence, from coagulation activity, particularly for FXII, still remains to be elucidated in MS. On the other hand, in evaluating the activity of cellular components of coagulation, unstimulated and stimulated monocytes were not found to differ in MS and controls with respect to expression of cell surface TF or production and secretion of TF (153), which does not support the presence of pro-thrombotic components on cell surfaces. However, higher TFPI levels in P-MS patients compared to RR-MS patients and controls were recently reported (138). Taking into account that TFPI is the first line of inhibition in the coagulation cascade, this could merit further investigation.

Analysis in pre-symptomatic and post-symptomatic MS pooled serum detected proteomic changes for factors involved in the complement and coagulation pathways, with a particular decrease in MS of FX, FII, and C1INH (145). Because the serum is isolated after coagulation, these results might be interpreted as residual coagulation factors remaining after conversion of fibrinogen into fibrin, the last step of the pathway. Concerning the complement protein, lower C1INH in patients is of interest in light of its inhibitory activity against FXII through its recruitment in the CNS. Although depositions of FXII and C1INH have been reported, the demonstration of their co-localization in MS brain tissue is still needed (10, 123).

It is worth mentioning that a few studies have investigated platelet stickiness in MS (154-156). Nevertheless, platelets

TABLE 3 CSF, plasma, and serum evidence of altered hemostasis components in multiple sclerosis.

Hemostasis factors, inhibitors, and receptors	Main findings (patient sample size/methodology)	References
CSF		
Fibrinogen	Lower levels in CIS vs. PMS (proteomic profile by mass spectrometer in 24 CIS, 16 RRMS, 11 PMS).	(134)
TM	Higher levels in OIND vs. SPMS. Ninety percent of TM in CSF is related to intrathecal synthesis (17 relapse, 11 remission, 11 SPMS, 19 OND, 15 OIND).	(135)
PLASMA		
FII, FX, Fibrinogen, PC, FII, FX, FXI	Higher FII:c and FX:c in RRMS and SPMS vs. controls. No differences in activity of Fibrinogen, FXI and PC (PT in citrate plasma: 116 RRMS, 10 PPMS, 73 SPMS, 20 controls).	(136)
FXII	Higher FXII:c in RRMS and SPMS vs. controls. Higher activity correlates with higher occurrence of relapses and shorter relapse-free period (aPPT in citrate plasma: 138 RRMS, 13 PPMS, 90 SPMS, 19 CIS, 130 controls).	(10)
	Increased of FXII protein concentration levels and reduced function in MS (aPTT and ELISA on citrate plasma: 12 RRMS, 34 SPMS, 28 PPMS, 49 controls). Intrinsic thrombin generation in 10 PMS, 10 controls.	(137)
FXII, ADAMTS13, HCII, TFPI, TM	Lower ADAMTS13 levels in MS vs. controls. Higher TFPI levels in PMS vs. RRMS and vs. controls. No differences in FXII and HCII (ELISA on plasma EDTA: 85 RRMS, 53 PMS, 42 controls).	(138)
FII	Prothrombotic state in RRMS (thrombin generation on citrate plasma: 15 RRMS, 15 PPMS, 19 controls).	(139)
Fibrinogen	No differences in fibrinogen levels, PT and aPTT times (42 RRMS and 31 controls).	(140)
	High levels, particularly associated with active lesions on MRI (17 out 58: 45 CIS, 12 RRMS, 1 PMS).	(141)
vWF, TM	Higher vWF activity in active MS. No differences in TM protein concentration (26 RRMS, 35 controls).	(142)
AT	No differences in AT:c (37 RRMS, 32 SPMS, 34 controls).	(143)
EPCR	Trend for higher levels in MS (63 MS, 20 controls).	(144)
SERUM		
FX, Prothrombin, C1INH, FXIII, Plasminogen	Reduction of FX, prothrombin and C1INH levels in pre- and post-symptomatic MS serum. Reduction in FXIII and plasminogen in post-symptomatic MS (Mass spectrometry (pooled serum of 100 MS vs. pooled serum of 100 controls).	(145)
TM	Higher levels in MS during exacerbation vs. remission state, OND, and controls (17 acute relapse, 9 PMS, 13 HAM, 10 non-HAM, 10 OND, 20 controls).	(146)
	Higher levels in OIND vs SPMS (17 relapse, 11 remission, 11 SPMS, 19 OND, 15 OIND).	(135)
TM, aPC	No differences (100 RRMS, 22 SPMS, 122 controls).	(147)
vWF	No difference (9 RRMS, 9 SPMS, 10 PPMS).	(148)

ADAMTS13, A disintegrin-like and metalloprotease with thrombospondin type 1 motif 13; AT, antithrombin; aPC, activated protein C; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; C1INH, C1 inhibitor; CIS, clinically isolated syndrome; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; :c, activity; EDTA, ethylenediamine-tetra-acetic acid; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; EPCR, endothelial protein C receptor; F, factor; FI, thrombin; HAM, HTLV-1-associated myelopathy; HCII, heparin cofactor II; OIND, other inflammatory neurological disorders; OND, other neurological diseases; PC, protein C; PMS, progressive multiple sclerosis; PPMS, Primary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis; PT, prothrombin time; RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SPMS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; TFPI, tissue factor pathway inhibitor; TM, thrombomodulin; vWF, von Willebrand Factor.

adhesion and aggregation are supported by vWF activity, which was found to be higher in patients with active MS than in controls, and significantly decreased after immunosuppressive treatment (142). The authors suggested that vWF could serve as a marker for evaluating BBB breakdown resulting from endothelial damage in MS, in line with the idea of hemostasis activation at the neurovascular interface after injury. Interestingly, decreased ADAMTS13, which exerts an inhibitory function on vWF activity, was detected in MS patients and in particular in those with cerebral microbleeds (138, 157). These data should motivate future investigations in MS patients with focal extravascular leakage of blood components, measured as cerebral microbleeds, to potentially identify as of yet unknown molecular component(s) driving hemostasis alteration in MS patients.

In addition to vWF release as consequence of endothelial damage, the shedding of membrane proteins could be promoted. In this context, soluble TM has been the most investigated protein in MS (135, 138, 142, 146, 147). Studies on larger cohorts of MS patients concluded that TM concentration levels do not

differ in plasma or in serum (138, 147). However, circulating TM appeared to increase in MS during exacerbation compared to the remission, reaching higher concentration levels in patients with acute relapse (146). An intriguing hypothesis was also offered by the authors of a study who speculated that 90% of TM in CSF is of intrathecal synthesis, with higher TM production during relapses (135). Based on this hypothesis, TM should be further explored in association to the relapsing and remitting states of patients.

Correlations between peripheral plasma levels of FXII, TFPI, ADAMTS13, HCII, and TM with MRI measures, indicative of severity of inflammatory and neurodegenerative tissue injury, were recently investigated for the first time (138). Several correlations were detected in MS patients: (1) higher FXII levels with lower ventricular and higher deep gray matter (DGM) volumes, (2) higher HCII levels with lower brain and cortical volumes and higher ventricular volume, (3) higher TFPI levels with lower DGM volume. However, after correction for multiple comparisons, no significant relationships between hemostasis component levels and MRI measures remained significant. Nevertheless, in light of the fact that glycosaminoglycans are cofactors of HCII, and considering their role in the inflammatory process (158), as well as in normal CNS functioning or pathological conditions [MS included, as reviewed in reference (106)], the study of HCII involvement in MS deserves further investigation.

Overall, the discordant data on prothrombotic features in MS patients in the limited number of studies point toward altered pro-coagulant status during the more active phase of the disease. Patient prothrombotic heterogeneity could be approached through stratification according to coagulation balance in order to prospectively evaluate the impact of coagulation differences on disease evolution.

Plasma, Serum, and Cerebrospinal Fluid Levels of Fibrinolytic Pathway Components

Early evidence of increased fibrinolytic activity, which again pointed toward an altered coagulation system in MS (159), and evidence of fibrin degradation products in the CSF of MS patients (160) paved the way for further studies investigating the proteins of the fibrinolytic pathway (**Table 4**).

In the CSF, higher tPA activity was found in MS patients (163) coupled with evidence of very low uPA activity (163). Increased total PAI-1 concentration was found in MS patients and a significant inverse relationship between PAI-1 levels in CSF and plasma was observed (161). Very high PAI-1 levels were observed during relapses (reaching values 6 times greater than controls), and follow-up investigation showed 2-fold decreased values even 1-2 months after the relapses. However, a correlation between PAI-1 and tPA plasma levels was not observed (162).

Recently, higher PAI-1 plasma levels in MS patients were reported when compared to controls (138). Moreover, in MS patients, but not in healthy controls, a positive association between PAI-1 and FXII concentrations and a negative association between PAI-1 and HCII concentrations were found. Accordingly, if thrombin is inhibited, there is no fibrin formation, hence there is no fibrinolysis to block. On the other hand, FXII stimulates fibrinolysis through uPAR (**Figure 2**), and if tPA increases, an inhibition target exists for PAI-1.

Again in plasma, levels of D-dimer, tPA, and PAI-1 did not differ between patients and controls in one study (164), but significantly higher D-dimer levels were found in another investigation (140).

Overall, data regarding increased PAI-1 antigen levels supports the notion that impaired fibrinolysis sustains the ongoing neuroinflammatory (particularly during relapse) and neurodegenerative events in the brain as evidenced by histological studies. Considering the few and discordant studies on tPA and D-dimers, further investigation is needed, which would provide a more comprehensive view of fibrinolysis in relation to the MS disease course.

Effect of Disease-Modifying Treatments on Coagulation Pathways

Disease-modifying treatments (DMTs) are potential modifiers of coagulation factor levels. However, few studies are available

on this topic. MS patients treated with steroids showed lower plasminogen and fibrinogen levels (165). Additionally, increased fibrinolytic activity has been observed in treated MS patients. At the time, these abnormalities were considered to be a consequence of a non-specific activation of coagulation in a setting of chronic immunological disease (165). However, because of the aforementioned role of fibrinogen and potentially decreased fibrinolysis in MS, these data are of interest and deserve additional investigation.

Another study investigated patients that developed progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) under natalizumab treatment (pre-PML) (166). PAI-2, uPA, uPAR, TFPI, and TM were among the top differentially expressed genes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells collected at baseline and during PML. These genes were significantly down-regulated at baseline in pre-PML patients compared to the group that did not develop PML, providing evidence for a potential role of natalizumab as a modifier of hemostasis component levels. Although levels of serum proteins encoded by the differentially expressed genes did not show significant differences (166), their evaluation in plasma would be potentially informative.

Because glucocorticoids induce procoagulant reactions, the effect of high-dose intravenous methylprednisolone on fibrinogen, FVIII activity, vWF protein concentration, TAT, prothrombin fragments1+2 (F1+2), tPA protein concentration, PAI-1 activity and plasmin-antiplasmin complexes (PAP) was investigated using a prophylactic low dose of low molecular weight heparin (167). Whereas, levels significantly the fibrinogen decreased, FVIII and vWF protein concentration significantly activity increased in the absence of evidence for fibrinolytic system activation or suppression (167). At high-dose methylprednisolone, 5 out of 188 MS patients developed venous thrombosis, which led the authors to speculate on the synergistic effect between the treatment and MS immunopathology (168), which could predispose patients to prothrombotic risk.

In RRMS patients under glatiramer acetate (GA) treatment, TM levels were significantly increased compared to the respective drug-free group and healthy controls, regardless of the presence of current relapse. The authors speculated about a GAinduced mechanism of neuroprotection potentially leading to the generation of aPC (144).

A recent study on this topic evaluated EDTA plasma levels of a number of coagulation inhibitors (TFPI, ADAMTS13, HCII, TM, and PAI-1) according to DMT status, particularly in patients being treated with interferon-beta (IFN-b) or GA, each used in 1/3 of the patients. The high overall variability of levels in patients, and particularly those of PAI-1, could have prevented the detection of significant differences in the circulating levels of these proteins, including TM (138).

Considering the heterogeneity of coagulation balance in MS patients and the few studies that evaluated the effect of DMTs on coagulation, prospective investigation would be of great help to develop a better understanding drug-hemostasis interactions.

Hemostasis components	Main findings	References
PAI-1	Higher levels in MS vs. controls. PAI-1 concentration has a reverse relationship of tPA:c (ELISA in CSF and plasma EDTA of 19 MS, OND, controls).	(161)
	Higher levels in MS vs. controls (ELISA on plasma EDTA: 85 RRMS, 53 PMS, 42 controls).	(138)
PAI-1, tPA	High levels of PAI-1 during relapses. No differences for tPA. No correlation between PAI-1 CSF and plasma levels (Plasma of 12 active RRMS, 12 stable RRMS, 10 controls).	(162)
PA	Higher activity in MS (CSF of 7 MS, 9 leukemia, 21 encephalitis, 20 controls)	(163)
PAI-1, tPA, D-dimer	No differences (Plasma of 90 MS, 250 glioma patients 270 controls).	(164)
D-dimer	Higher levels in MS (ELFA on plasma of 42 RRMS, 31 controls).	(140)

TABLE 4 | CSF, plasma, and serum evidence of fibrinolytic pathway components in multiple sclerosis.

CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; :c, activity; EDTA, ethylenediamine-tetra-acetic acid; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; ELFA, Enzyme Linked Fluorescent Assay; OND, other neurological disorders; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1; PMS, progressive multiple sclerosis; RRMS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; tPA, tissue-type plasminogen activator.

Case Reports of Autoimmunity Affecting Hemostasis in Multiple Sclerosis

Unfortunately, very few cohort studies addressed whether or not coagulation imbalance was supported by the immune activity. Higher frequency of antiphospholipid antibodies, belonging to the IgM family, were observed in MS patients during exacerbation (10 out of 17 patients, 2–4 fold increase) compared to remission. Of note, a significant correlation between contrastenhancing lesions and antibodies against FVII was found (169).

Case reports of autoimmunity affecting hemostasis components in MS shold be considered in light of the acquired dysregulation of coagulation, with a focus on those components that are mainly targeted and that may contribute to clinical worsening. Interestingly, a few cases have been reported with TTP episodes (170) and acquired ADAMTS13 deficiency in the context of IFN-b treatment for MS (171, 172). Despite the limitation of their low number, these reports highlighted acquired deficiency induced by auto-antibodies against ADAMTS13. Notably, lower levels of ADAMTS13 have been reported in MS compared to control subjects (138, 157). Additionally, several MS patients who received alemtuzumab treatment developed autoimmune TTP (173, 174).

Analogously, but on the other side of the spectrum, anticoagulant FVIII inhibitors may arise in autoimmune diseases, during and after pregnancy, and during drug therapy including IFN-alpha (used to treat leukemia and blood disorders such as TTP) with the outcome of acquired severe hemophilia. The first case report of an MS patient who developed hemorrhagic disorder was described as a rare case of antibody development against FIX and FVIII (175). A second case of acquired FVIII inhibitor was later described (176), and an additional case was reported in an MS patient after IFN-b treatment (177). Acquired hemophilia has also been described as an extremely rare complication in patients treated with alemtuzumab. Other case reports in the literature include two sisters with MS who had a quantitative deficit of factor VIII-vWF complex (178). These phenomena could be mediated by secondary B cell-mediated autoimmune complications leading to inhibitory autoantibodies to coagulation FVIII (179). However, a reference study for thrombophilia reported that among the 4,311 patients with a first episode of venous thrombosis, 30 had MS with increased FVIII activity levels (180).

Imbalance of the coagulation system seems to be supported by inflammatory and immune activity (181). Taken together, these reports and the role of (auto)immunity in MS, clearly support the need for additional investigation of specific acquired autoimmunity affecting hemostasis factors, either with procoagulant or anti-coagulant outcomes.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The data reviewed indicate that fibrinogen leakage due to BBB damage in MS is consistent with microglial activation, particularly once thrombin cleaves it to fibrin. Additional fibrin(ogen) deposition might occur early in MS and precede demyelination, as well as contribute to cortical pathology in the progressive stages. Although histological studies point to fibrin(ogen) as a principal contributor to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration in MS, these processes are also supported, and may be potentiated, by decreased fibrinolysis. In particular, increased PAI-1 synthesis and decreased tPA activity in MS lesions reflect an impaired clearance of fibrin due to the formation of tPA/PAI-1 complex, further contributing to the inflammatory stage of demyelination.

Other mechanisms also contribute to this intricate pathophysiological picture. The combined presence of TF and PCI in MS lesions suggests pro-inflammatory thrombin formation and suppression of the anti-inflammatory aPC pathway. Moreover, deposition of FXII might support autoimmunity through increased expression of uPAR, which has been reported in MS lesions. At the peripheral level in MS, coagulation activity variation still remains to be elucidated, and underlying factors uncovered. As potential contributors to the heterogeneity, protein plasma levels of hemostasis factors have been sporadically investigated in MS, and some results suggest that they could serve as potential biomarkers of ongoing alterations in the CNS. Indeed, the lower ADAMTS13 levels detected in MS patients (and in particular in MS patients with cerebral microbleeds) should stimulate further investigation based on potentially enhanced vWF activity in plasma, which has been suggested as a possible marker for evaluating the endothelial damage, leading to BBB breakdown.

Additional experimentation by use of high throughput transcriptomic and proteomic techniques is needed to determine how hemostasis components contribute to or decrease inflammatory and immune responses in MS patients, and how these genes/proteins can be modulated by current DMTs in MS.

Newly acquired molecular details of how hemostasis components trigger neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration could in turn favor the development of novel therapeutic approaches to ameliorate the disease evolution, favored by the wealth of powerful inhibitors or potentiators of hemostasis used for treatment and prophylaxis in prothrombotic and hemorrhagic disorders.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NZ and RZ contributed to the study concept and design, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, and study supervision. DJ and FB contributed to the study concept and design, analysis and interpretation, critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content, and study supervision.

REFERENCES

- Versteeg HH, Heemskerk JW, Levi M, Reitsma PH. New fundamentals in hemostasis. *Physiol Rev.* (2013) 93:327–58. doi: 10.1152/physrev. 00016.2011
- Vos CM, Geurts JJ, Montagne L, van Haastert ES, Bo L, van der Valk P, et al. Blood-brain barrier alterations in both focal and diffuse abnormalities on postmortem MRI in multiple sclerosis. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2005) 20:953– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2005.06.012
- Leech S, Kirk J, Plumb J, McQuaid S. Persistent endothelial abnormalities and blood-brain barrier leak in primary and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* (2007) 33:86–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.2006.00781.x
- Sweeney MD, Sagare AP, Zlokovic BV. Blood-brain barrier breakdown in Alzheimer disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2018) 14:133–50. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.188
- Alvarez JI, Saint-Laurent O, Godschalk A, Terouz S, Briels C, Larouche S, et al. Focal disturbances in the blood-brain barrier are associated with formation of neuroinflammatory lesions. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2015) 74:14– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.09.016
- Davalos D, Ryu JK, Merlini M, Baeten KM, Le Moan N, Petersen MA, et al. Fibrinogen-induced perivascular microglial clustering is required for the development of axonal damage in neuroinflammation. *Nat Commun.* (2012) 3:1227. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2230
- Adams RA, Bauer J, Flick MJ, Sikorski SL, Nuriel T, Lassmann H, et al. The fibrin-derived gamma377-395 peptide inhibits microglia activation and suppresses relapsing paralysis in central nervous system autoimmune disease. J Exp Med. (2007) 204:571–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061931
- Ryu JK, Petersen MA, Murray SG, Baeten KM, Meyer-Franke A, Chan JP, et al. Blood coagulation protein fibrinogen promotes autoimmunity and demyelination via chemokine release and antigen presentation. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:8164. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9164
- Petersen MA, Ryu JK, Chang KJ, Etxeberria A, Bardehle S, Mendiola AS, et al. Fibrinogen activates BMP signaling in oligodendrocyte progenitor cells and inhibits remyelination after vascular damage. *Neuron.* (2017) 96:1003–12 e7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.10.008
- 10. Gobel K, Pankratz S, Asaridou CM, Herrmann AM, Bittner S, Merker M, et al. Blood coagulation factor XII drives adaptive immunity

FUNDING

This study was funded in part by The Annette Funicello Research Fund for Neurological Diseases and internal resources of the Buffalo Neuroimaging Analysis Center. In addition, we received support from the Jacquemin Family Foundation. Research reported in this publication was also funded in part by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under award Number UL1TR001412. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH. This study was also partially supported by the grant 1786/2012 from the strategic 2010–2012 Research Program of Emilia Romagna Region, Italy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Authors thank the TEAM Engineering S.p.A. for support of the fellowship of NZ in the Buffalo Neuroimaging Analysis Center, Department of Neurology, University at Buffalo. We also thank Niels Bergsland and Michael G. Dwyer for proof-editing the manuscript.

during neuroinflammation via CD87-mediated modulation of dendritic cells. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11626. doi: 10.1038/ncomms 11626

- Marik C, Felts PA, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Smith KJ. Lesion genesis in a subset of patients with multiple sclerosis: a role for innate immunity? *Brain*. (2007) 130(Pt 11):2800–15. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm236
- Yates RL, Esiri MM, Palace J, Jacobs B, Perera R, DeLuca GC. Fibrin(ogen) and neurodegeneration in the progressive multiple sclerosis cortex. *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 82:259–70. doi: 10.1002/ana.24997
- Szaba FM, Smiley ST. Roles for thrombin and fibrin(ogen) in cytokine/chemokine production and macrophage adhesion *in vivo*. *Blood*. (2002) 99:1053–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V99.3.1053
- Gobel K, Eichler S, Wiendl H, Chavakis T, Kleinschnitz C, Meuth SG. The coagulation factors fibrinogen, thrombin, and factor XII in Inflammatory disorders-A systematic review. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1731. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01731
- Davie EW, Ratnoff OD. Waterfall sequence for intrinsic blood clotting. Science. (1964) 145:1310–2. doi: 10.1126/science.145.3638.1310
- Macfarlane RG. An enzyme cascade in the blood clotting mechanism, and its function as a biochemical amplifier. *Nature*. (1964) 202:498– 9. doi: 10.1038/202498a0
- Monroe DM, Hoffman M. What does it take to make the perfect clot? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2006) 26:41– 8. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000193624.28251.83
- Jesty J, Beltrami E. Positive feedbacks of coagulation: their role in threshold regulation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2005) 25:2463– 9. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000187463.91403.b2
- Levy JH, Szlam F, Wolberg AS, Winkler A. Clinical use of the activated partial thromboplastin time and prothrombin time for screening: a review of the literature and current guidelines for testing. *Clin Lab Med.* (2014) 34:453–77. doi: 10.1016/j.cll.2014.06.005
- Monroe DM, Roberts HR, Hoffman M. Platelet procoagulant complex assembly in a tissue factor-initiated system. Br J Haematol. (1994) 88:364– 71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1994.tb05032.x
- Monroe DM, Hoffman M, Roberts HR. Transmission of a procoagulant signal from tissue factor-bearing cell to platelets. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis.* (1996) 7:459–64. doi: 10.1097/00001721-199606000-00005

- Furie B, Furie BC. Molecular and cellular biology of blood coagulation. *N Engl J Med.* (1992) 326:800–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM1992031932 61205
- 23. Bach RR. Tissue factor encryption. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2006) 26:456–61. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000202656.5 3964.04
- 24. De Palma R, Cirillo P, Ciccarelli G, Barra G, Conte S, Pellegrino G, et al. Expression of functional tissue factor in activated T-lymphocytes *in vitro* and *in vivo*: a possible contribution of immunity to thrombosis? *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 218:188–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.04.177
- Zelaya H, Rothmeier AS, Ruf W. Tissue factor at the crossroad of coagulation and cell signaling. J Thromb Haemost. (2018) 16:1941– 52. doi: 10.1111/jth.14246
- Bogdanov VY, Balasubramanian V, Hathcock J, Vele O, Lieb M, Nemerson Y. Alternatively spliced human tissue factor: a circulating, soluble, thrombogenic protein. *Nat Med.* (2003) 9:458–62. doi: 10.1038/nm841
- Chu AJ. Tissue factor, blood coagulation, and beyond: an overview. Int J Inflam. (2011) 2011:367284. doi: 10.4061/2011/3 67284
- 28. Roy S, Paborsky LR, Vehar GA. Self-association of tissue factor as revealed by chemical crosslinking. *J Biol Chem.* (1991) 266:4665–8.
- Reinhardt C, von Bruhl ML, Manukyan D, Grahl L, Lorenz M, Altmann B, et al. Protein disulfide isomerase acts as an injury response signal that enhances fibrin generation via tissue factor activation. *J Clin Invest.* (2008) 118:1110–22. doi: 10.1172/JCI32376
- Del Conde I, Shrimpton CN, Thiagarajan P, Lopez JA. Tissue-factor-bearing microvesicles arise from lipid rafts and fuse with activated platelets to initiate coagulation. *Blood.* (2005) 106:1604–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-1095
- Chiva-Blanch G, Laake K, Myhre P, Bratseth V, Arnesen H, Solheim S, et al. Platelet-, monocyte-derived and tissue factor-carrying circulating microparticles are related to acute myocardial infarction severity. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0172558. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 72558
- Engelmann B, Massberg S. Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. (2013) 13:34–45. doi: 10.1038/ nri3345
- 33. Eppensteiner J, Davis RP, Barbas AS, Kwun J, Lee J. Immunothrombotic activity of damage-associated molecular patterns and extracellular vesicles in secondary organ failure induced by trauma and sterile insults. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:190. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 00190
- Drake TA, Morrissey JH, Edgington TS. Selective cellular expression of tissue factor in human tissues. Implications for disorders of hemostasis and thrombosis. *Am J Pathol.* (1989) 134:1087–97.
- Fleck RA, Rao LV, Rapaport SI, Varki N. Localization of human tissue factor antigen by immunostaining with monospecific, polyclonal anti-human tissue factor antibody. *Thromb Res.* (1990) 59:421–37. doi: 10.1016/0049-3848(90)90148-6
- Eddleston M, de la Torre JC, Oldstone MB, Loskutoff DJ, Edgington TS, Mackman N. Astrocytes are the primary source of tissue factor in the murine central nervous system. A role for astrocytes in cerebral hemostasis. J Clin Invest. (1993) 92:349–58. doi: 10.1172/JCI116573
- Osterud B, Rapaport SI. Activation of factor IX by the reaction product of tissue factor and factor VII: additional pathway for initiating blood coagulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1977) 74:5260–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.74.12.5260
- Kamikubo Y, Mendolicchio GL, Zampolli A, Marchese P, Rothmeier AS, Orje JN, et al. Selective factor VIII activation by the tissue factor-factor VIIafactor Xa complex. *Blood.* (2017) 130:1661–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-7 67079
- Ayombil F, Abdalla S, Tracy PB, Bouchard BA. Proteolysis of plasmaderived factor V following its endocytosis by megakaryocytes forms the platelet-derived factor V/Va pool. J Thromb Haemost. (2013) 11:1532– 9. doi: 10.1111/jth.12307
- Allen DH, Tracy PB. Human coagulation factor V is activated to the functional cofactor by elastase and cathepsin G expressed at the monocyte surface. J Biol Chem. (1995) 270:1408–15. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.3.1408

- Foster WB, Nesheim ME, Mann KG. The factor Xa-catalyzed activation of factor V. J Biol Chem. (1983) 258:13970–7.
- Mann KG, Kalafatis M. Factor V: a combination of Dr Jekyll and Mr Hyde. Blood. (2003) 101:20–30. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-01-0290
- Bukys MA, Blum MA, Kim PY, Brufatto N, Nesheim ME, Kalafatis M. Incorporation of factor Va into prothrombinase is required for coordinated cleavage of prothrombin by factor Xa. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:27393– 401. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M503435200
- 44. Pontarollo G, Acquasaliente L, Peterle D, Frasson R, Artusi I, De Filippis V. Non-canonical proteolytic activation of human prothrombin by subtilisin from Bacillus subtilis may shift the procoagulantanticoagulant equilibrium toward thrombosis. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:15161–79. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M117.795245
- Suzuki K, Dahlback B, Stenflo J. Thrombin-catalyzed activation of human coagulation factor V. J Biol Chem. (1982) 257:6556–64.
- Oliver JA, Monroe DM, Roberts HR, Hoffman M. Thrombin activates factor XI on activated platelets in the absence of factor XII. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (1999) 19:170–7. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.19.1.170
- Bevers EM, Comfurius P, Zwaal RF. Changes in membrane phospholipid distribution during platelet activation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (1983) 736:57– 66. doi: 10.1016/0005-2736(83)90169-4
- Rick ME, Hoyer LW. Activation of low molecular weight fragment of antihaemophilic factor (factor VIII) by thrombin. *Nature*. (1974) 252:404– 5. doi: 10.1038/252404a0
- Schwartz ML, Pizzo SV, Hill RL, McKee PA. Human Factor XIII from plasma and platelets. Molecular weights, subunit structures, proteolytic activation, and cross-linking of fibrinogen and fibrin. J Biol Chem. (1973) 248:1395–407.
- Rezaie AR. Protease-activated receptor signalling by coagulation proteases in endothelial cells. *Thromb Haemost.* (2014) 112:876– 82. doi: 10.1160/th14-02-0167
- Griffin JH, Zlokovic BV, Mosnier LO. Activated protein C: biased for translation. *Blood.* (2015) 125:2898–907. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-02-3 55974
- Krenzlin H, Lorenz V, Danckwardt S, Kempski O, Alessandri B. The importance of thrombin in cerebral injury and disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:E84. doi: 10.3390/ijms17010084
- Daubie V, Cauwenberghs S, Senden NH, Pochet R, Lindhout T, Buurman WA, et al. Factor Xa and thrombin evoke additive calcium and proinflammatory responses in endothelial cells subjected to coagulation. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2006) 1763:860–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2006. 04.010
- Senden NH, Jeunhomme TM, Heemskerk JW, Wagenvoord R, van't Veer C, Hemker HC, et al. Factor Xa induces cytokine production and expression of adhesion molecules by human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *J Immunol.* (1998) 161:4318–24.
- Dolmetsch RE, Xu K, Lewis RS. Calcium oscillations increase the efficiency and specificity of gene expression. *Nature*. (1998) 392:933– 6. doi: 10.1038/31960
- Languino LR, Plescia J, Duperray A, Brian AA, Plow EF, Geltosky JE, et al. Fibrinogen mediates leukocyte adhesion to vascular endothelium through an ICAM-1-dependent pathway. *Cell.* (1993) 73:1423–34. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90367-Y
- Alabanza LM, Bynoe MS. Thrombin induces an inflammatory phenotype in a human brain endothelial cell line. *J Neuroimmunol*. (2012) 245:48– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.02.004
- Yamada T, Nagai Y. Immunohistochemical studies of human tissues with antibody to factor Xa. *Histochem J.* (1996) 28:73–7. doi: 10.1007/BF023 31429
- Dihanich M, Kaser M, Reinhard E, Cunningham D, Monard D. Prothrombin mRNA is expressed by cells of the nervous system. *Neuron*. (1991) 6:575– 81. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(91)90060-D
- Deschepper CF, Bigornia V, Berens ME, Lapointe MC. Production of thrombin and antithrombin III by brain and astroglial cell cultures. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res.* (1991) 11:355–8. doi: 10.1016/0169-328X(91)90045-Y
- Arai T, Miklossy J, Klegeris A, Guo JP, McGeer PL. Thrombin and prothrombin are expressed by neurons and glial cells and accumulate in neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer disease brain. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (2006) 65:19–25. doi: 10.1097/01.jnen.0000196133.74087.cb

- Anderson M, Matthews KB, Stuart J. Coagulation and fibrinolytic activity of cerebrospinal fluid. J Clin Pathol. (1978) 31:488–92. doi: 10.1136/jcp.31.5.488
- Verbout NG, Yu X, Healy LD, Phillips KG, Tucker EI, Gruber A, et al. Thrombin mutant W215A/E217A treatment improves neurological outcome and attenuates central nervous system damage in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Metab Brain Dis.* (2015) 30:57–65. doi: 10.1007/s11011-014-9558-8
- 64. Moller T, Weinstein JR, Hanisch UK. Activation of microglial cells by thrombin: past, present, and future. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* (2006) 32 (Suppl 1):69–76. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-939556
- Lee NJ, Ha SK, Sati P, Absinta M, Luciano NJ, Lefeuvre JA, et al. Spatiotemporal distribution of fibrinogen in marmoset and human inflammatory demyelination. *Brain.* (2018) 141:1637– 49. doi: 10.1093/brain/awy082
- Ryu JK, Rafalski VA, Meyer-Franke A, Adams RA, Poda SB, Rios Coronado PE, et al. Fibrin-targeting immunotherapy protects against neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:1212– 23. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0232-x
- Gveric D, Hanemaaijer R, Newcombe J, van Lent NA, Sier CF, Cuzner ML. Plasminogen activators in multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the inflammatory response and axonal damage. *Brain*. (2001) 124(Pt 10):1978– 88. doi: 10.1093/brain/124.10.1978
- Sidelmann JJ, Gram J, Jespersen J, Kluft C. Fibrin clot formation and lysis: basic mechanisms. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* (2000) 26:605– 18. doi: 10.1055/s-2000-13216
- Fredriksson L, Lawrence DA, Medcalf RL. tPA modulation of the blood-brain barrier: a unifying explanation for the pleiotropic effects of tPA in the CNS. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* (2017) 43:154–68. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1586229
- Marcos-Contreras OA, Martinez de Lizarrondo S, Bardou I, Orset C, Pruvost M, Anfray A, et al. Hyperfibrinolysis increases blood-brain barrier permeability by a plasmin- and bradykinin-dependent mechanism. *Blood*. (2016) 128:2423–34. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-705384
- Cunningham O, Campion S, Perry VH, Murray C, Sidenius N, Docagne F, et al. Microglia and the urokinase plasminogen activator receptor/uPA system in innate brain inflammation. *Glia.* (2009) 57:1802–14. doi: 10.1002/glia.20892
- Merino P, Diaz A, Jeanneret V, Wu F, Torre E, Cheng L, et al. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) binding to the uPA receptor (uPAR) promotes axonal regeneration in the central nervous system. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:2741–53. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.761650
- Beschorner R, Schluesener HJ, Nguyen TD, Magdolen V, Luther T, Pedal I, et al. Lesion-associated accumulation of uPAR/CD87- expressing infiltrating granulocytes, activated microglial cells/macrophages and upregulation by endothelial cells following TBI and FCI in humans. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol.* (2000) 26:522–7. doi: 10.1046/j.0305-1846.2000.287.x
- 74. Bhakuni T, Ali MF, Ahmad I, Bano S, Ansari S, Jairajpuri MA. Role of heparin and non heparin binding serpins in coagulation and angiogenesis: a complex interplay. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* (2016) 604:128– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2016.06.018
- Dellas C, Loskutoff DJ. Historical analysis of PAI-1 from its discovery to its potential role in cell motility and disease. *Thromb Haemost.* (2005) 93:631–40. doi: 10.1160/TH05-01-0033
- Jeon H, Kim JH, Kim JH, Lee WH, Lee MS, Suk K. Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 regulates microglial motility and phagocytic activity. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2012) 9:149. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-149
- 77. Pelisch N, Dan T, Ichimura A, Sekiguchi H, Vaughan DE, van Ypersele de Strihou C, et al. Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 antagonist TM5484 attenuates demyelination and axonal degeneration in a mice model of multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0124510. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0124510
- East E, Baker D, Pryce G, Lijnen HR, Cuzner ML, Gveric D. A role for the plasminogen activator system in inflammation and neurodegeneration in the central nervous system during experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 167:545–54. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)6 2996-3
- 79. Ratnoff OD, Margolius A Jr. Hageman trait: an asymptomatic disorder of blood coagulation. *Trans Assoc Am Physicians*. (1955) 68:149–54.

- Schmaier AH. The contact activation and kallikrein/kinin systems: pathophysiologic and physiologic activities. J Thromb Haemost. (2016) 14:28–39. doi: 10.1111/jth.13194
- Ivanov I, Matafonov A, Sun MF, Cheng Q, Dickeson SK, Verhamme IM, et al. Proteolytic properties of single-chain factor XII: a mechanism for triggering contact activation. *Blood.* (2017) 129:1527–37. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-10-744110
- Bernardi F, Marchetti G, Patracchini P, del Senno L, Tripodi M, Fantoni A, et al. Factor XII gene alteration in Hageman trait detected by TaqI restriction enzyme. *Blood.* (1987) 69:1421–4.
- Matafonov A, Leung PY, Gailani AE, Grach SL, Puy C, Cheng Q, et al. Factor XII inhibition reduces thrombus formation in a primate thrombosis model. *Blood.* (2014) 123:1739–46. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-499111
- Xu Y, Cai TQ, Castriota G, Zhou Y, Hoos L, Jochnowitz N, et al. Factor XIIa inhibition by Infestin-4: *in vitro* mode of action and *in vivo* antithrombotic benefit. *Thromb Haemost.* (2014) 111:694–704. doi: 10.1160/TH13-08-0668
- Colman RW. Activation of plasminogen by human plasma kallikrein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. (1969) 35:273– 9. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(69)90278-2
- Gobel K, Pankratz S, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Bittner S, Schuhmann MK, Langer HF, et al. Blockade of the kinin receptor B1 protects from autoimmune CNS disease by reducing leukocyte trafficking. J Autoimmun. (2011) 36:106–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2010.11.004
- Conway EM. Reincarnation of ancient links between coagulation and complement. J Thromb Haemost. (2015) 13 (Suppl. 1):S121–32. doi: 10.1111/jth.12950
- Keragala CB, Draxler DF, McQuilten ZK, Medcalf RL. Haemostasis and innate immunity - a complementary relationship: A review of the intricate relationship between coagulation and complement pathways. *Br J Haematol.* (2018) 180:782–98. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15062
- Oschatz C, Maas C, Lecher B, Jansen T, Bjorkqvist J, Tradler T, et al. Mast cells increase vascular permeability by heparin-initiated bradykinin formation *in vivo. Immunity.* (2011) 34:258–68. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.02.008
- Fuchs TA, Brill A, Duerschmied D, Schatzberg D, Monestier M, Myers DD Jr, et al. Extracellular DNA traps promote thrombosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:15880–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005743107
- 91. Krishnaswamy S. FVIII-VWF dos-a-dos. Blood. (2015) 126:923-4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-06-652073
- 92. Li X, Gabriel DA. The physical exchange of factor VIII (FVIII) between von Willebrand factor and activated platelets and the effect of the FVIII B-domain on platelet binding. *Biochemistry*. (1997) 36:10760– 7. doi: 10.1021/bi970052+
- Lancellotti S, Basso M, De Cristofaro R. Proteolytic processing of von Willebrand factor by adamts13 and leukocyte proteases. *Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis.* (2013) 5:e2013058. doi: 10.4084/mjhid.2013.058
- Zheng XL. ADAMTS13 and von Willebrand factor in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. Annu Rev Med. (2015) 66:211– 25. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-061813-013241
- Broze GJ, Jr., Girard TJ. Tissue factor pathway inhibitor: structure-function. Front Biosci. (2012) 17:262–80. doi: 10.2741/3926
- Ndonwi M, Broze G, Jr. Protein S enhances the tissue factor pathway inhibitor inhibition of factor Xa but not its inhibition of factor VIIa-tissue factor. J Thromb Haemost. (2008) 6:1044– 6. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.02980.x
- 97. Girard TJ, Tuley E, Broze GJ Jr. TFPIbeta is the GPI-anchored TFPI isoform on human endothelial cells and placental microsomes. *Blood.* (2012) 119:1256–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-10-388512
- Maroney SA, Ellery PE, Wood JP, Ferrel JP, Martinez ND, Mast AE. Comparison of the inhibitory activities of human tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI)alpha and TFPIbeta. J Thromb Haemost. (2013) 11:911– 8. doi: 10.1111/jth.12188
- Espada S, Stavik B, Holm S, Sagen EL, Bjerkeli V, Skjelland M, et al. Tissue factor pathway inhibitor attenuates ER stress-induced inflammation in human M2-polarized macrophages. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2017) 491:442–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.07.070
- 100. Xu J, Qu D, Esmon NL, Esmon CT. Metalloproteolytic release of endothelial cell protein C receptor. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:6038– 44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.8.6038

- Menschikowski M, Hagelgans A, Eisenhofer G, Tiebel O, Siegert G. Reducing agents induce thrombomodulin shedding in human endothelial cells. *Thromb Res.* (2010) 126:e88–93. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2010. 05.006
- Oliver JA, Monroe DM, Church FC, Roberts HR, Hoffman M. Activated protein C cleaves factor Va more efficiently on endothelium than on platelet surfaces. *Blood.* (2002) 100:539–46. doi: 10.1182/blood.V100. 2.539
- Han MH, Hwang SI, Roy DB, Lundgren DH, Price JV, Ousman SS, et al. Proteomic analysis of active multiple sclerosis lesions reveals therapeutic targets. *Nature*. (2008) 451:1076–81. doi: 10.1038/nature06559
- 104. Weiler H, Lindner V, Kerlin B, Isermann BH, Hendrickson SB, Cooley BC, et al. Characterization of a mouse model for thrombomodulin deficiency. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2001) 21:1531–7. doi: 10.1161/hq0901.094496
- 105. Wolter J, Schild L, Bock F, Hellwig A, Gadi I, Al-Dabet MM, et al. Thrombomodulin-dependent protein C activation is required for mitochondrial function and myelination in the central nervous system. J Thromb Haemost. (2016) 14:2212–26. doi: 10.1111/jth.13494
- 106. Smith PD, Coulson-Thomas VJ, Foscarin S, Kwok JC, Fawcett JW. "GAG-ing with the neuron": the role of glycosaminoglycan patterning in the central nervous system. *Exp Neurol.* (2015) 274(Pt B):100– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.08.004
- Huntington JA. Thrombin inhibition by the serpins. J Thromb Haemost. (2013) 11 (Suppl. 1):254–64. doi: 10.1111/jth.12252
- 108. Pixley RA, Schapira M, Colman RW. The regulation of human factor XIIa by plasma proteinase inhibitors. *J Biol Chem.* (1985) 260:1723–9.
- Gay D, Esiri M. Blood-brain barrier damage in acute multiple sclerosis plaques. An immunocytological study. *Brain*. (1991) 114 (Pt 1B):557–72.
- Kwon EE, Prineas JW. Blood-brain barrier abnormalities in longstanding multiple sclerosis lesions. An immunohistochemical study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (1994) 53:625–36. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199411000-00010
- 111. Gay FW, Drye TJ, Dick GW, Esiri MM. The application of multifactorial cluster analysis in the staging of plaques in early multiple sclerosis. Identification and characterization of the primary demyelinating lesion. *Brain.* (1997) 120 (Pt 8):1461–83.
- 112. Plumb J, McQuaid S, Mirakhur M, Kirk J. Abnormal endothelial tight junctions in active lesions and normal-appearing white matter in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol.* (2002) 12:154– 69. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2002.tb00430.x
- 113. Kirk J, Plumb J, Mirakhur M, McQuaid S. Tight junctional abnormality in multiple sclerosis white matter affects all calibres of vessel and is associated with blood-brain barrier leakage and active demyelination. *J Pathol.* (2003) 201:319–27. doi: 10.1002/path.1434
- 114. Ingram G, Loveless S, Howell OW, Hakobyan S, Dancey B, Harris CL, et al. Complement activation in multiple sclerosis plaques: an immunohistochemical analysis. *Acta Neuropathol Commun.* (2014) 2:53. doi: 10.1186/2051-5960-2-53
- Hirsch HE, Blanco CE, Parks ME. Fibrinolytic activity of plaques and white matter in multiple sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (1981) 40:271– 80. doi: 10.1097/00005072-198105000-00005
- 116. Cuzner ML, Gveric D, Strand C, Loughlin AJ, Paemen L, Opdenakker G, et al. The expression of tissue-type plasminogen activator, matrix metalloproteases and endogenous inhibitors in the central nervous system in multiple sclerosis: comparison of stages in lesion evolution. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (1996) 55:1194–204. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199612000-00002
- 117. Gveric D, Herrera B, Petzold A, Lawrence DA, Cuzner ML. Impaired fibrinolysis in multiple sclerosis: a role for tissue plasminogen activator inhibitors. *Brain.* (2003) 126(Pt 7):1590–8. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awg167
- Gveric D, Herrera BM, Cuzner ML. tPA receptors and the fibrinolytic response in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 166:1143– 51. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62334-6
- Friese MA, Schattling B, Fugger L. Mechanisms of neurodegeneration and axonal dysfunction in multiple sclerosis. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2014) 10:225– 38. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2014.37

- Petersen MA, Ryu JK, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen in neurological diseases: mechanisms, imaging and therapeutics. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2018) 19:283– 301. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2018.13
- 121. Weisel JW, Litvinov RI. Fibrin formation, structure and properties. *Subcell Biochem.* (2017) 82:405–56. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-49674-0_13
- Jankovic J, Derman H, Armstrong D. Haemorrhagic complications of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1980) 43:76– 81. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.43.1.76
- 123. Pardridge WM, Yang J, Eisenberg J, Tourtellotte WW. Isolation of intact capillaries and capillary plasma membranes from frozen human brain. J Neurosci Res. (1987) 18:352–7. doi: 10.1002/jnr.490180213
- Putnam TJ. Evidences of vascular occlusion in multiple sclerosis and "encephalomyelitis". Arch Neurol Psychiatry. (1937) 37:1298–321. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1937.02260180078006
- Putnam TJ, Chiavacci LV, Hoff H, Weitzen HG. Results of treatment of multiple sclerosis with dicoumarin. Arch Neurol Psychiatry. (1947) 57:1– 13. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1947.02300240017001
- Shulman MH, Alexander L, Ehrentheil OF, Gross R. Capillary resistance studies in multiple sclerosis. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. (1950) 9:420– 9. doi: 10.1097/00005072-195010000-00007
- Swank RL. Subcutaneous hemorrhages in multiple sclerosis. Neurology. (1958) 8:497–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.8.6.497
- Persson I. Variations in the plasma fibrinogen during the course of multiple sclerosis. AMA Arch Neurol Psychiatry. (1955) 74:17– 30. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1955.02330130019004
- Davalos D, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen as a key regulator of inflammation in disease. Semin Immunopathol. (2012) 34:43– 62. doi: 10.1007/s00281-011-0290-8
- 130. Feldman S, Izak G, Nelken D. Blood coagulation studies and serotonin determinations in serum and cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. Acta Psychiatr Neurol Scand. (1957) 32:37–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1957.tb07543.x
- Albright SD, 3rd, Kupfer HG, Kinne DR. A study of coagulation factors in blood and spinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol.* (1959) 1:315– 26. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1959.03840030073008
- Gaertner HA, Lisiewicz J, Caen J. Antithrombin activity of normal and pathological crebrospinal fluid. *Nature*. (1961) 192:1164–6. doi: 10.1038/1921164a0
- Niewiarowski S, Hausmanowa-Petrusewicz I, Wegrzynowicz Z. Blood clotting factors in cerebrospinal fluid. J Clin Pathol. (1962) 15:497– 500. doi: 10.1136/jcp.15.6.497
- 134. Liguori M, Qualtieri A, Tortorella C, Direnzo V, Bagala A, Mastrapasqua M, et al. Proteomic profiling in multiple sclerosis clinical courses reveals potential biomarkers of neurodegeneration. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e103984. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0103984
- 135. Frigerio S, Ariano C, Bernardi G, Ciusani E, Massa G, La Mantia L, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid thrombomodulin and sVCAM-1 in different clinical stages of multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1998) 87:88– 93. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00045-9
- 136. Gobel K, Kraft P, Pankratz S, Gross CC, Korsukewitz C, Kwiecien R, et al. Prothrombin and factor X are elevated in multiple sclerosis patients. Ann Neurol. (2016) 80:946–51. doi: 10.1002/ana. 24807
- 137. Ziliotto N, Baroni M, Straudi S, Manfredini F, Mari R, Menegatti E, et al. Coagulation factor XII levels and intrinsic thrombin generation in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:245. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018. 00245
- Ziliotto N, Bernardi F, Jakimovski D, Baroni M, Marchetti G, Bergsland N, et al. Hemostasis biomarkers in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol.* (2018) 25:1169–76. doi: 10.1111/ene.13681
- 139. Parsons ME, O'Connell K, Allen S, Egan K, Szklanna PB, McGuigan C, et al. Thrombin generation correlates with disease duration in multiple sclerosis (MS): novel insights into the MSassociated prothrombotic state. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2017) 3:2055217317747624. doi: 10.1177/2055217317747624
- Aksungar FB, Topkaya AE, Yildiz Z, Sahin S, Turk U. Coagulation status and biochemical and inflammatory markers in multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 15:393–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2007.02.090

- 141. Miranda Acuna J, Hidalgo de la Cruz M, Ros AL, Tapia SP, Martinez Gines ML, de Andres Frutos CD. Elevated plasma fibrinogen levels in multiple sclerosis patients during relapse. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2017) 18:157– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2017.09.033
- 142. Kohriyama T, Maruyama H, Kurokawa K, Harada T, Nakamura S. Endothelial cell activation and/or injury in multiple sclerosis: analysis with von Willebrand factor and thrombomodulin. *Rinsho Shinkeigaku*. (1997) 37:287–91.
- 143. Campos-de-Magalhaes M, de Almeida AJ, Papaiz-Alvarenga RM, Gadelha T, Morais-de-Sa CA, Alves-Leon SV. Normal plasma antithrombin activity in patients with relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* (2009) 111:407–11. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2008.11.016
- Festoff BW, Li C, Woodhams B, Lynch S. Soluble thrombomodulin levels in plasma of multiple sclerosis patients and their implication. *J Neurol Sci.* (2012) 323:61–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2012.08.008
- 145. Wallin MT, Oh U, Nyalwidhe J, Semmes J, Kislinger T, Coffman P, et al. Serum proteomic analysis of a pre-symptomatic multiple sclerosis cohort. *Eur J Neurol.* (2015) 22:591–9. doi: 10.1111/ene.12534
- 146. Tsukada N, Matsuda M, Miyagi K, Yanagisawa N. Thrombomodulin in the sera of patients with multiple sclerosis and human lymphotropic virus type-1-associated myelopathy. J Neuroimmunol. (1995) 56:113– 6. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(94)00156-I
- 147. Balkuv E, Varoglu AO, Isik N, Isbilen B, Duruyen S, Basaran R, et al. The effects of thrombomodulin and activated protein C on the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2016) 8:131– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2016.05.017
- 148. Giovannoni G, Thorpe JW, Kidd D, Kendall BE, Moseley IF, Thompson AJ, et al. Soluble E-selectin in multiple sclerosis: raised concentrations in patients with primary progressive disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (1996) 60:20–6. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.60.1.20
- 149. Ehling R, Pauli FD, Lackner P, Kuenz B, Santner W, Lutterotti A, et al. Fibrinogen is not elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Fluids Barriers CNS*. (2011) 8:25. doi: 10.1186/2045-81 18-8-25
- 150. Fuvesi J, Hanrieder J, Bencsik K, Rajda C, Kovacs SK, Kaizer L, et al. Proteomic analysis of cerebrospinal fluid in a fulminant case of multiple sclerosis. Int J Mol Sci. (2012) 13:7676–93. doi: 10.3390/ijms13067676
- 151. Duchemin J, Pan-Petesch B, Arnaud B, Blouch MT, Abgrall JF. Influence of coagulation factors and tissue factor concentration on the thrombin generation test in plasma. *Thromb Haemost.* (2008) 99:767–73. doi: 10.1160/TH07-09-0581
- Castoldi E, Rosing J. Thrombin generation tests. *Thromb Res.* (2011) 127 (Suppl. 3):S21–5. doi: 10.1016/S0049-3848(11)70007-X
- Maimone D, Reder AT, Gregory S. T cell lymphokine-induced secretion of cytokines by monocytes from patients with multiple sclerosis. *Cell Immunol.* (1993) 146:96–106. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1993.1009
- 154. Millac P. Platelet stickiness in multiple sclerosis. *Dtsch Z Nervenheilkd*. (1967) 191:74–9.
- Dohnal K, Vagner B, Lupinek Z, Hule V. Notes on the influence of adrenocorticotrophic hormone on platelet stickiness in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. (1971) 13:443–6. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(71)9 0006-2
- Wright HP, Thompson RH, Zilkha KJ. Platelet adhesiveness in multiple sclerosis. *Lancet.* (1965) 2:1109–10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(65)9 0069-3
- Ziliotto N, Bernardi F, Jakimovski D, Baroni M, Marchetti G, Bergsland N, et al. Plasma levels of hemostasis inhibitors and MRI outcomes in multiple sclerosis (P3.368). *Neurology*. (2018) 90(Suppl. 15):149.
- Taylor KR, Gallo RL. Glycosaminoglycans and their proteoglycans: hostassociated molecular patterns for initiation and modulation of inflammation. *FASEB J.* (2006) 20:9–22. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-4682rev
- Menon IS, Dewar HA, Newell DJ. Fibrinolytic activity of venous blood of patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology.* (1969) 19:101– 4. doi: 10.1212/WNL.19.1.101
- 160. Wildenauer DB, Korschenhausen D, Hoechtlen W, Ackenheil M, Kehl M, Lottspeich F. Analysis of cerebrospinal fluid from patients with psychiatric and neurological disorders by two-dimensional electrophoresis:

identification of disease-associated polypeptides as fibrin fragments. *Electrophoresis.* (1991) 12:487–92. doi: 10.1002/elps.1150120706

- 161. Akenami FO, Koskiniemi M, Farkkila M, Vaheri A. Cerebrospinal fluid plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in patients with neurological disease. J Clin Pathol. (1997) 50:157–60. doi: 10.1136/jcp.50.2.157
- 162. Onodera H, Nakashima I, Fujihara K, Nagata T, Itoyama Y. Elevated plasma level of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Tohoku J Exp Med.* (1999) 189:259– 65. doi: 10.1620/tjem.189.259
- 163. Akenami FO, Siren V, Koskiniemi M, Siimes MA, Teravainen H, Vaheri A. Cerebrospinal fluid activity of tissue plasminogen activator in patients with neurological diseases. J Clin Pathol. (1996) 49:577– 80. doi: 10.1136/jcp.49.7.577
- 164. Sciacca FL, Ciusani E, Silvani A, Corsini E, Frigerio S, Pogliani S, et al. Genetic and plasma markers of venous thromboembolism in patients with high grade glioma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2004) 10:1312– 7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0198
- Brunetti A, Ricchieri GL, Patrassi GM, Girolami A, Tavolato B. Rheological and fibrinolytic findings in multiple sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (1981) 44:340–3. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.44.4.340
- 166. Fissolo N, Pignolet B, Matute-Blanch C, Trivino JC, Miro B, Mota M, et al. Matrix metalloproteinase 9 is decreased in natalizumabtreated multiple sclerosis patients at risk for progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 82:186–95. doi: 10.1002/ana. 24987
- 167. Frank RD, Altenwerth B, Brandenburg VM, Nolden-Koch M, Block F. Effect of intravenous high-dose methylprednisolone on coagulation and fibrinolysis markers. *Thromb Haemost.* (2005) 94:466–8. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1614776
- 168. Kalanie H, Harandi AA, Alidaei S, Heidari D, Shahbeigi S, Ghorbani M. Venous thrombosis in multiple sclerosis patients after high-dose intravenous methylprednisolone: the preventive effect of enoxaparin. *Thrombosis.* (2011) 2011:785459. doi: 10.1155/2011/785459
- 169. Bidot CJ, Horstman LL, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Bidot C, Jr., Ahn YS, et al. Clinical and neuroimaging correlates of antiphospholipid antibodies in multiple sclerosis: a preliminary study. *BMC Neurol.* (2007) 7:36. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-7-36
- 170. Dimopoulou D, Dimosiari A, Mandala E, Dimitroulas T, Garyfallos A. Autoimmune thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura: two rare cases associated with juvenile idiopathic arthritis and multiple sclerosis. *Front Med.* (2017) 4:89. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00089
- 171. Orvain C, Augusto JF, Besson V, Marc G, Coppo P, Subra JF, et al. Thrombotic microangiopathy due to acquired ADAMTS13 deficiency in a patient receiving interferon-beta treatment for multiple sclerosis. *Int Urol Nephrol.* (2014) 46:239–42. doi: 10.1007/s11255-013-0401-7
- 172. Nishio H, Tsukamoto T, Matsubara T, Okada Y, Takahashi R, Yanagita M. Thrombotic microangiopathy caused by interferon beta-1b for multiple sclerosis: a case report. *CEN Case Rep.* (2016) 5:179–83. doi: 10.1007/s13730-016-0220-7
- 173. Loh Y, Oyama Y, Statkute L, Quigley K, Yaung K, Gonda E, et al. Development of a secondary autoimmune disorder after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for autoimmune diseases: role of conditioning regimen used. *Blood.* (2007) 109:2643–548. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-0 35766
- 174. Cuker A, Coles AJ, Sullivan H, Fox E, Goldberg M, Oyuela P, et al. A distinctive form of immune thrombocytopenia in a phase 2 study of alemtuzumab for the treatment of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Blood.* (2011) 118:6299–305. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-08-3 71138
- Moake JL, Kent CJ, Meta LD, Wright LC. Circulating IgG antibodies against factors IX and VIII in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Haematol.* (1976) 55:53– 9. doi: 10.1159/000207993
- Hoyle C, Ludlam CA. Acquired factor VIII inhibitor associated with multiple sclerosis, successfully treated with porcine factor VIII. *Thromb Haemost*. (1987) 57:233. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1651101
- 177. Kaloyannidis P, Sakellari I, Fassas A, Fragia T, Vakalopoulou S, Kartsios C, et al. Acquired hemophilia-A in a patient with multiple sclerosis treated with

autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and interferon beta-1a. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* (2004) 34:187–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1704550

- Capra R, Mattioli F, Kalman B, Marciano N, Berenzi A, Benetti A. Two sisters with multiple sclerosis, lamellar ichthyosis, beta thalassaemia minor and a deficiency of factor VIII. J Neurol. (1993) 240:336– 8. doi: 10.1007/BF00839963
- McCaughan G, Massey J, Sutton I, Curnow J. Acquired haemophilia A complicating alemtuzumab therapy for multiple sclerosis. *BMJ Case Rep.* (2017) 2017:bcr-2017-223016. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2017-223016
- 180. Ocak G, Vossen CY, Verduijn M, Dekker FW, Rosendaal FR, Cannegieter SC, et al. Risk of venous thrombosis in patients with major illnesses: results from the MEGA study. J Thromb Haemost. (2013) 11:116–23. doi: 10.1111/jth.12043
- Koudriavtseva T. Thrombotic processes in multiple sclerosis as manifestation of innate immune activation. *Front Neurol.* (2014) 5:119. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2014.00119

Conflict of Interest Statement: RZ has received speaker honoraria and consultant fees from Genzyme-Sanofi, Novartis, Claret Medical, Celgene, and EMD Serono. He has received research support from EMD Serono, Genzyme-Sanofi, Claret Medical, Protembis, QuintilesIMS, and Novartis.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ziliotto, Bernardi, Jakimovski and Zivadinov. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Relationships Between Vitamin K and Cognition: A Review of Current Evidence

Ludovico Alisi¹, Roberta Cao², Cristina De Angelis³, Arturo Cafolla⁴, Francesca Caramia⁵, Gaia Cartocci⁵, Aloisa Librando¹ and Marco Fiorelli^{5*}

¹ Department of Sense Organs, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Radiology, IRCCS San Raffaele Scientific Institute, Milan, Italy, ³ Department of Radiological, Oncological and Anatomo-Pathological Sciences, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Cell Biotechnology and Hematology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Department of Human Neuroscience, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Vitamin K is a fat-soluble nutrient discovered in 1935 and its role in blood coagulation has been thoroughly explored. In recent years, studies conducted in vitro and on animals highlighted vitamin K involvement in brain cells development and survival. In particular, vitamin K seems to have an antiapoptotic and anti-inflammatory effect mediated by the activation of Growth Arrest Specific Gene 6 and Protein S. Moreover, this vitamin is involved in sphingolipids metabolism, a class of lipids that participate in the proliferation, differentiation, and survival of brain cells. An altered expression in sphingolipids profile has been related to neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. This review stems from a growing interest in the role of vitamin K in brain functions, especially in cognition, also in view of an expected increase of prevalence of Alzheimer's disease and other forms of dementia. It collects recent researches that show interesting, even though not definitive, evidence of a direct correlation between vitamin K levels and cognitive performance. Moreover, vitamin K antagonists, used worldwide as oral anticoagulants, according to recent studies may have a negative influence on cognitive domains such as visual memory, verbal fluency and brain volume. The aim of this review is to analyze the evidence of clinical studies carried out up to date on the relationship between vitamin K intake and cognitive performances. The involvement of vitamin K antagonists (VKAs) in declining cognitive performances is also addressed separately.

Keywords: vitamin K, phylloquinone, cognitive impairment, vitamin K antagonists, warfarin

INTRODUCTION

Vitamin K is a fat-soluble nutrient mainly found in green leafy vegetables as phylloquinone (Vitamin K1). This vitamin is widely known for its procoagulant effect. It acts as a cofactor for the enzyme that allows the activation of vitamin K-dependent factors (II, VII, IX, X, protein C, and protein S). A recent review collected studies that show its involvement in the metabolism of the central nervous system (CNS), suggesting the possibility that a vitamin K deficiency might be related to the onset of cognitive impairment (1).

These recently discovered functions, revealed that this vitamer participate in the enzymatic activation of growth-arrest specific 6 protein (Gas-6) and protein S. The first has an anti-apoptotic, mitogenic, and myelinating activity, the latter offers neuronal protection during ischemic/hypoxic injury both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (2–4). Furthermore, vitamin K is known to be an inductor

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Matilde Inglese, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Marta Maschio, Istituto Nazionale del Cancro Regina Elena, Italy Maria Maddalena Filippi, Fatebenefratelli Foundation for Health Research and Education, Italy

> *Correspondence: Marco Fiorelli

marco.fiorelli@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 July 2018 Accepted: 22 February 2019 Published: 19 March 2019

Citation:

Alisi L, Cao R, De Angelis C, Cafolla A, Caramia F, Cartocci G, Librando A and Fiorelli M (2019) The Relationships Between Vitamin K and Cognition: A Review of Current Evidence. Front. Neurol. 10:239. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00239

29

of sphingolipids synthesis. These polar lipids are an essential part of CNS cell membrane and are linked to neuronal proliferation and differentiation (1). Several studies are also investigating the correlation between cognitive impairment and the use of vitamin K antagonists (VKAs, i.e., warfarin, acenocoumarol, and fluindion) as oral anticoagulants. In fact, these Coumarin derivatives prevent the recycle of vitamin K after the χ -carboxylation (5).

Due to the progressive aging of global population, data indicate that cases of dementia will double between 2020 and 2040, rising up to 81 million and consequently burdening society and national health systems. For instance, Alzheimer's disease (AD) cases in the US will rise from 5.4 million up to 13.8 million by mid-century (6, 7). Hence the importance of identifying modifiable factors that could impact the course of neurodegenerative pathologies. The aim of this review is to analyze the evidence of clinical studies carried out up to date examining the hypothesis of a cognitive decline among adults with low serum levels or dietary intake of vitamin K. Moreover, studies evaluating the potential link between VKAs and cognitive functions were also included.

DEMENTIA AND COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT

Dementia can be defined as a clinical syndrome of mental capacity characterized by a substantial global decline in cognitive function that is not attributable to altered consciousness; it consists of a combination of symptoms attributable to various causes or pathological events (8). Cognitive impairment is a definition used in this review to indicate alterations in multiple cognitive domains highlightable with standardized tests, as clinically manifest dementia is often preceded by a heterogeneous spectrum of cognitive performances (9).

It is difficult to find univocal data about the prevalence of cognitive impairment and other forms of dementia (10); some studies show that the global prevalence of dementia varies among different countries, this could be related to a large number of variables including education, mean age, socioeconomic level, lack of a comparable methodology (11). However, it can certainly be affirmed that the two most common type of dementia in Western countries are Alzheimer's disease (up to 60% of cases) and vascular dementia (up to 20% of cases). These two forms of dementia are easily mistaken one for another due to their similarities in symptomatology, pathophysiology, and risk factors (12).

The mechanism underlying Alzheimer's disease is the deposition of β -amyloid peptide (A β) and the neurofibrillary tangles of the microtubule binding protein tau. In particular, A β peptides are responsible for the massive neuronal death that defines the disease (13).

A few studies concluded that Vitamin K seems to prevent A β induced apoptosis through the activation of Gas-6, showing a pro-survival effect on brain cells (14).

Regarding vascular dementia, the main causes are represented by several vascular pathologies that result in cerebral ischemia. Studies published in the last years have attributed to Protein S (activated by vitamin K) a role in improving post-ischemic cerebral blood flow (15) and potentially leading to a more favorable cognitive outcome.

VITAMIN K STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

Vitamin K can be found as phylloquinone (the main dietary source of vitamin K) and it's also identified as menaquinones (vitamin K2) which include several vitamers of bacterial origin (2). Menaquinone-4 (MK-4) is the most represented vitamer in both human and rats' brains (16, 17).

MK-4 seems to protect against oxidative damage and inflammatory cascade activation in *in vitro* studies (18, 19). In addition, in murine models MK-4 depletion has been found correlated with worse cognitive performances (20).

Vitamin K is widely known for its role in blood coagulation as the cofactor of γ -glutamyl carboxylase that allows the activation of vitamin K-dependent factors such as factor II, VII, IX, X, protein C, and protein S. Vitamin K is also involved in the γ -carboxylation of two vitamin K-dependent proteins whose activity contributes to an adequate cerebral homeostasis, namely Gas-6 and protein S (3, 4). Moreover, vitamin K participates as a cofactor in the synthesis of sphingolipids, an important constituent of brain cells membrane (21). Several studies conducted on *in vitro* and murine models have highlighted the role of these constituents in brain metabolism. In some cases, a correlation with neurodegenerative diseases emerged that could be further examined trough human studies.

Gas-6

Gas-6 has a central role in the development and survival of nervous system. In addition, it shows an anti-apoptotic, mitogenic, and myelinating activity in neuronal and glial cells (1).

Gas-6 binds and activates the receptor tyrosine kinases of the Tyro3, Axl, and Mer (TAM) family. Axl is involved in the proliferation of numerous cell types and in the survival of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons allowing their migration from the olfactory bulb to the hypothalamus (22, 23).

Mer protects primary macrophages from oxidative stress induced-apoptosis (24).

The specific role of Tyro3 in cell survival is yet to be defined, but activities similar to Axl have been observed concerning the migration of GnRH neurons A (25–27).

An *in vitro* study revealed that recombinant Gas-6 protects hippocampal rats' neurons from apoptosis, underlining the prosurvival effect of this protein through the activation of TAM proteins (28).

Through the activation of Axl and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathways, Gas-6 modulates oligodendrocyte survival and microglial phenotype both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (3) preventing tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. A study on cuprizone-induced demyelination model (adopted as a model of multiple sclerosis) revealed that the deletion of Gas-6/Axl signaling leads to prolonged neuroinflammation with axonal damage and consistent demyelination (29, 30). This immune-regulatory role links Gas-6 to autoimmune disorders,

more specifically to the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis (MS) (31, 32).

Studies developed using murine culture of microglial cells showed that Gas-6 downregulates the expression of Interleukin-1b e induced nitric oxide synthase, thereby reducing the proinflammatory response (33). Two recent murine models using knock-out mice for Mer and Axl, demonstrated a reduced recruitment of microglial cells to neuronal sites of injury, also affecting the phagocytic activity through cytoskeleton changes (34, 35).

Furthermore, Gas-6 has shown a decrease of β -amyloidinduced apoptosis, a hallmark of Alzheimer's disease, through the inhibition of low-voltage Ca²⁺ influx channels (14). However, a more recent study found that Gas-6 inhibits Tyro3 whose effects prevent β -amyloid deposition (36).

Protein S

Historically protein S has been known for its anticoagulant effect, but recent studies are exploring further effects, such as a possible role in inflammation, angiogenesis, and cancer (37). As well as in ameliorating post-ischemic cerebral blood flow (15).

Protein S shares with Gas-6 almost half of its amino acid structure (44%) (4), and consequently it performs part of its actions as a TAM receptor ligand. Zhu et al. showed a direct correlation between the inhibition of Tyro3/Akt signaling pathway and the hypoxic-induced apoptosis of hippocampal neurons, underlining a potential protective effect of protein S in cerebral infarct (38). In particular, protein S has a protective effect against NMDA-induced toxicity and apoptosis via the Tyro3/Akt pathway (39). This finding may suggest a possible role of protein S as an adjunct of tissue Plasminogen Activator to reduce cerebral post-ischemic toxicity (40), without increasing the risk of bleeding when administered alone in high concentration to stroke rodent models (15). An additional property of protein S seems to be the preservation of the integrity of the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) as it operates as a safeguard against chronic ischemic damage and BBB-related disorders (41).

Sphingolipid Metabolism

Sphingolipids is one of the major classes of eukaryotic lipids and an essential component of cell membranes and their synthesis is known to be induced by vitamin K (21).

The sphingolipids most frequently observed in neuronal cell membranes are ceramides, sphingomyelin, cerebrosides, sulfatides, and gangliosides (42). This class of lipids seems to be a vital modulator of cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival (43). A growing amount of evidence are associating sphingolipids metabolism to the pathophysiology of CNS diseases. These polar lipids have been related to a neuroinflammatory and neurodegenerative states due to microglial activation and accumulation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) (44).

These are at the basis of the development of several pathologies like AD (43, 45), where inflammation is a consequence of microglial activation triggered by β -amyloid plaques (46).

Lastly, sphingolipids guide the process of myelination in the CNS and are themselves major components of oligodendrocyte

membrane. In the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients affected by multiple sclerosis antibodies have been detected against myelinic sphingolipids (47, 48) along with ceramide accumulation in active lesions (49).

The Assessment of Vitamin K Status

Both biomarkers and questionnaires have been suggested to evaluate vitamin K status. Circulating phylloquinone can be measured with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) a method that responds to changes in dietary phylloquinone intake. Serum phylloquinone should be measured in fasting samples to better reflect overall nutritional status. Moreover, vitamin K serum levels are influenced by serum triglycerides and should be corrected accordingly. There is currently no established threshold of circulating phylloquinone that indicates insufficiency or deficiency (50).

Other circulating markers are: PIVKA-II (protein induced by vitamin K absence-II) that has shown low sensitivity to dietary variation of vitamin K; undercarboxylated fraction of osteocalcin (unOc) and desphospho-uncarboxylated matrix Gla-protein (dp-ucMGP) that are both more sensitive than PIVKA-II but still conditioned by factors such as age and the total amount of matrix Gla-proteins available (50).

Vitamin K intake can be assessed with questionnaires such as the food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) or dietary records. While being efficient in terms of costs and time and easy to implement, questionnaires rely on the recall ability and perceptions of individuals' diet and therefore may be subjected to bias (51).

Considering the lack of a single gold standard measure, and the limitations affecting the available methods, vitamin K status may be best assessed with a combination of both questionnaires and biomarkers (50).

VKAS-BRAIN RELATIONSHIP

VKAs exercise their function by blocking the activity of vitamin K oxidoreductase (VKOR) preventing the recycle of vitamin K after the χ -carboxylation (5). The possibility of an adverse impact of VKAs on the brain has been evident since the finding of abnormalities of the CNS in newborns exposed to warfarin or other coumarin derivatives (52). However, detailed mechanisms are yet to be comprehended. Studies on whether Gas-6 and protein S y-carboxylation are impaired by VKAs in the human brain have not yet been conducted. Studies performed on murine models have shown how VKAs determine a decrease in MK-4 brain concentrations, the most represented vitamer in rats' brain (16). Nagakawa et al. identificated the enzyme responsible for the conversion of phylloquinone in MK-4 (UBIAD1) (17) and Tamadon-Nejad et al. demonstrated that despite an excess of phylloquinone in rats' brain, MK-4 brain concentrations remained low in warfarin treated rats suggesting an alteration of the MK-4 biosynthetic pathway in the presence of warfarin (53). Moreover, rats treated with VKAs showed worse performances in tests to evaluate their cognitive and behavioral functions (53, 54).

It is well known how anticoagulant use can decrease the risk of dementia by reducing the number of cerebral ischemic events in AF patients (55). Mostaza et al. observed that in a population taking vitamin K antagonists, there was a trend toward higher warfarin prescription among patients with cognitive impairment, regardless dependency or frailty. Thus, a thorough evaluation on the association between non-vitamin K antagonists oral anticoagulants (NOACs) use and cognitive decline is crucial (56).

A recent meta-analysis found a borderline significant association between the use of NOACs and the lower risk of cognitive impairment when compared with VKAs and acetylsalicylic acid (57).

Similar findings were observed in other studies where NOAC were considered an optimal or even better alternative to warfarin, due to their lower bleeding risk and variability in anticoagulation effect (58). A previous study validated the same hypothesis: NOACs provide a better protection against atrial fibrillation-related stroke in terms of lower risk of cerebral ischemic events and new-onset dementia than those treated with warfarin (59).

VITAMIN K AND COGNITIVE DECLINE

Considering the numerous roles of Vitamin K highlighted in the previous studies, in recent years some authors have started to investigate the potential link between cognitive impairment and vitamin K.

Whether vitamin K deficiency is associated to cognitive decline is still a matter of debate today. From the literature search, we were able to include 7 human studies and all, except one (60), confirmed an association between vitamin K and cognitive function among older adults (**Table 1**).

Six studies demonstrated, in a population of 65 years and older, a direct correlation between low vitamin K dietary intake or serum concentration and deteriorated cognitive and behavioral performances. In particular, Presse et al. in 2013 published the results of a cross sectional study conducted on 320 elderly, aged 70-85, free of cognitive impairment from the NuAge study cohort (63). Phylloquinone serum concentration analysis was measured using High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), a method already validated as an indicator of dietary phylloquinone intake over a long period of time. Circulating phylloquinone concentrations are conditioned by the blood lipid profile that needs to be assessed as well while using HPLC (67). Cognitive assessment was performed using specific tests for each cognitive domain (verbal and non-verbal episodic memory, executive functions, and speed of processing). Results showed that recruited subjects with higher serum phylloquinone performed better in verbal episodic memory, while no correlation was found with non-verbal episodic memory, executive functions, and speed of processing, underlining the role of vitamin K in memory consolidation (63). These results are supported by a previous murine model where rodents underwent a 5-days learning test in the Morris Water Maze and those fed with lower vitamin K levels required longer time to perform the task compared to those adequately fed (20).

Two studies evaluated vitamin K intake using a semi quantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ). They observed a less severe subjective memory complaint (65) as well as a better cognition and less behavioral disturbances (64) among geriatric patients with higher vitamin K intake. The FFQ is a 50 items questionnaire that aims to evaluate vitamin K dietary intake. Although it has been validated in elderly people (68) it may result in an underestimation when investigating patients with cognitive decline. Therefore, the FFQ may not be as representative of phylloquinone intake as its serum levels measured with HPLC in this specific circumstance.

In line with previous studies, Kiely et al. described that elderly with poor cognitive functions, evaluated with MMSE, had the lowest dietary vitamin K intake (assessed with FFQ). Similar results were observed correlating MMSE scores and phylloquinone serum levels measured with HPLC (66).

Further publications highlighted the potential role of this vitamer among patients with Alzheimer's disease-related dementia (61, 62), who were found with significant lower levels of vitamin K even after data were adjusted for energy intakes. In particular, Presse et al. reported in 2008 how vitamin K intake, evaluated with 3–5 days diet records, were notably lower in patients with early stages of AD. Partially limiting the strength of this study are the diet records used, as they show limited value for the assessment of vitamin K intake (62).

Opposite results were obtained by Van Den Heuvel et al. (60) in a middle-age sample (55–65 years) of 599 individuals, measuring vitamin K in an indirect way through levels of desphospho-uncarboxylated matrix Gla-protein (dp-ucMGP). Over the 6 years follow up, no significant association between vitamin K and cognitive decline was found. The recruitment criterion of a different age group may be the reason why contrasting results were observed, since the brain might be susceptible to nutrient deficiency in different ways at different times in life (20). Moreover, as stated by the authors themselves, dp-ucMGP may not be the most suitable marker of vitamin K levels in the brain (60).

An emerging issue is how the use of VKAs could influence brain metabolism and this topic is analyzed separately. The few papers published until now point out, to a limited extent, a potential correlation between the use of VKAs and both cognitive decline and brain focal atrophies (**Table 2**).

Ferland et al. observed in a large cohort study a significant decrease in visual memory and verbal fluency among patients treated with VKAs when compared to individuals under no blood-thinning treatment, but no association was observed between the global cognitive function and VKAs use over at 10 years follow up (70).

Brangier et al. analyzed the brain volume, using 3 or 1.5 Tesla MRI, of 54 subjects (18 under VKAs treatment and 36 matched controls) and found a significant inverse correlation between the duration of drug exposure and gray/white matter volume in the right frontal inferior operculum, right precuneus, and left middle frontal gyrus (71). The same author found an important decline in executive functions (assessed with frontal assessment battery) among geriatric patients treated with VKAs over at 24 months follow up. It's worth noticing how, in the same study, decline in Mini mental state examination (MMSE) scores, used as an assessment of cognitive performance, was not found significantly associated with VKAs use over the same period of time (72).

References	Participants	Design	Vitamin K determination	Cognitive evaluation	Main results	Strenghts	Limitations
Sato et al. (61)	100 demented women (mean age 81), 100 cognitively normal female controls (mean age 81)	Cross Sectional	Standardized HPLC ^a procedures	MMSEp	Patients with severe dementia found to have a lower Vitamin K serum concentration	Reliable methodology for serum levels of vitamin K	No follow-up, relatively small sample size
Presse et al. (62)	31 AD ^c patients and 31 healthy controls (mean age 78)	Cross Sectional	Vitamin K intake measured using 3- or 4-days diet records	MMSEb	9 patients with AD ^c found to have a lower intake of vitamin K	Accuracy of food records ensured with a dietitian and the help of caregivers	Dietary intake data of limited value for assessing vitamin K status, small sample size, potential over selection of patients
Presse et al. (63)	320 elderly (mean age 76) from Québec Longitudinal NuAge Study	Cross Sectional	Standardized HPLC ^a procedures	MMMSE ^d , 6 tests covering 4 cognitive domains	Positive association between higher vitamin K intake and verbal episodic memory	Comprehensive cognitive battery assessing 4 cognitive domains, large sample size, reliable methodology for serum levels of vitamin K	No follow-up, potential confounders (such as ApoE genotype) potential over selection of patients
Van der Heuvel et al. (60)	599 participants (mean age 60) from the Longitudinal Aging Study Amsterdam	Prospective (follow up: 6 years)	dp-ucMGP ^e	Alphabet coding task, Auditory verbal learning test, Raven's colored progressive matrices	No association found between dp-ucMPG ^e and cognitive functions	Inclusion of a range of cognitive tests sensitive to aging measured over 6 years follow-up	Indirect measure of vitamin K status (dp-ucMGP ^{e)}), only a single measurement of Vitamin K status was available
Chouet et al. (64)	192 patients (mean age 83) recruited from the Cognition and LIPophilic vitamins study	Cross Sectional	FFQ ⁶	MMSE ^b , FBRS ^g	Positive association between vitamin K intake and MMSE ^b and FBRS ^g scores	Assessment of the dietary vitamin K intake over 12 months, assessment of both cognitive and behavioral outcomes	FFQ ⁹ validated on Canadian population (tends to overestimate intakes), poor estimation of Vitamin K intake in patients with cognitive disorders
Soutif-Veillon et al. (65)	160 patients (mean age 82) recruited from the Cognition and LIPophilic vitamins study	Cross Sectional	FFQ ⁶	MAC-Q ^h	Positive association between vitamin K intake and memory complaint questionnaire score	Assessment of the dietary phylloquinone intake over 12 months	Use of MAC-Q ^h tool may have overestimated the prevalence of subjective memory complaint, poor estimation of vitamin K dietary intake in patients with cognitive disorders
Kiely et al. (66)	156 elderly (mean age 78) from ELDERMET cohort	Cross Sectional	FFQ^{f} and $HPLC^{a}$	MMSEb	Serum and dietary phylloquinone were significant and independent predictors of good cognitive function	Simultaneous measurement of both dietary and serum phylloquinone	Self-selected, motivated cohort, with potentially better diet, education, and lifestyle than general population

References	Participants	Design	Cognitive evaluation	Main results	Strenghts	Limitations
Annweiler et al. (69)	267 patients (mean age 83) hospitalized or seen in consultation from WARHOL ^a study	Cross Sectional	MMSEb	Fluindione is positively associated to lower MMSE ^b score	Standardized collection of data, detailed description of the participants' characteristics	Restricted study cohort, cognitive impairment assessed using only MMSE ^b score, no serum vitamin K concentration evaluated, association between cognitive impairment and the use of VKAs ^c accounted neither for the length of treatment nor for INR ^d history.
Ferland et al. (70)	7,133 nondemented community-dwellers (mean age 73)	Prospective (follow up: 10 years)	IST ^e , BVRT ^f , MMSE ^b	VKAs ^c usage is positively associated to lower IST ^e and BVRT ^f scores, no association was found between vitamin K and MMSE ^b	Large population cohort, follow-up of 10 years	No dietary Vitamin K intake or serum levels evaluated, no detailed information of VKAS ^C treatment (doses, length), limited number of cognitive tests available at each follow-up
Brangier et al. (71)	18 VKAs ^c and 36 community-dwellers from GAIT ^g cohort (mean age 76)	Cross Sectional	None (MRI scans for brain volumery)	The duration of exposure to VKAs ^c correlated with focal brain atrophy	Use of VBM ^h approach to locate focal atrophies, standardized collection of data from a single research center	Geriatric study cohort, use of two different MRIs (1,5T and 3T), no information provided by VBM ^h analysis on the potential mechanisms causing atrophies, segmentation, and normalization defect in VBM ^h analysis
Brangier et al. (72)	378 geriatric outpatients (46 VKAs ^c users) from MERE ¹ study (mean age 82)	Prospective (follow up: 24 months)	MMSE ^b , FAB ^j	Use of VKAs ^c was associated with lower FAB scores at baseline, and with more significant worsening after 24 months. No significant association between MMSE ^b scores and VKAs ^c use.	Longitudinal prospective design with an intermediate mid-term evaluation and a final long-term evaluation, standardized collection of data from a single research center	Geriatric study cohort, incomplete follow-up at 12 and 24 months, no detailed information of VKAs ^c treatment (length, history of INP ^d), no dietary vitamin K intake or serum levels evaluated

^hVoxel Based Morphometry. ¹ Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders' study. ¹ Frontal Assessment Battery.

TABLE 2 | Studies on VKAs and cognitive performances.

Clinical studies have suggested that VKAs use does not affect vitamin K plasma concentration (73) and involved molecular patterns that might lead to cognitive impairment in humans using VKAs are yet to be comprehended.

When implying an involvement of VKAs in cognitive impairment it must be considered that patients are under treatment for pathologies like atrial fibrillation, that can possibly influence, to some level, mental deterioration (74).

CONCLUSIONS

The present review stems from a growing interest in the role of vitamin K in brain function, especially in cognition. It collected recent contributions to the topic, showing interesting, even though not definitive, evidence of direct correlation between vitamin K levels and cognitive performance. Moreover, VKAs might influence negatively some cognitive domains such as visual memory and verbal fluency and the brain volume. Only a small number of publications were based on studies performed on humans, limiting the amount of papers included. These studies were heterogeneous in several ways: study design, markers used to measure vitamin K levels, method used to assess

REFERENCES

- Ferland G. Vitamin K, an emerging nutrient in brain function. *BioFactors*. (2012) 38:151–7. doi: 10.1002/biof.1004
- Ferland G. Vitamin K and brain function. Semin Thromb Hemost. (2013) 39:849–55. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1357481
- Binder MD, Kilpatrick TJ. TAM receptor signalling and demyelination. Neurosignals. (2009) 17:277–87. doi: 10.1159/000231894
- 4. Manfioletti G, Brancolini C, Avanzi G, Schneider C. The protein encoded by a growth arrest-specific gene (gas6) is a new member of the vitamin K-dependent proteins related to protein S, a negative coregulator in the blood coagulation cascade. *Mol Cell Biol.* (1993) 13:4976–85. doi: 10.1128/MCB.13.8.4976
- Van Gorp RH, Schurgers LJ. New insights into the pros and cons of the clinical use of vitamin K antagonists (VKAs) versus direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs). *Nutrients*. (2015) 7:9538–57. doi: 10.3390/nu7115479
- Alzheimer's Association. 2016 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimers Dement J Alzheimers Assoc.* (2016) 12:459–509.57. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.03.001
- Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, Brodaty H, Fratiglioni L, Ganguli M, et al. Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. *Lancet.* (2005) 366:2112–7. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67889-0
- Palm R, Jünger S, Reuther S, Schwab CG, Dichter MN, Holle B, et al. People with dementia in nursing home research: a methodological review of the definition and identification of the study population. *BMC Geriatr.* (2016) 5:16. doi: 10.1186/s12877-016-0249-7
- 9. Lopez OL. Mild cognitive impairment. *Continuum*. (2013) 19:411–24. doi: 10.1212/01.CON.0000429175.29601.97
- Rizzi L, Rosset I, Roriz-Cruz M. Global epidemiology of dementia: alzheimer's and vascular types. *BioMed Res Int.* (2014) 2014:908915. doi: 10.1155/2014/908915

cognitive performance and age of patients included in the studies. Further evidence should be gathered using more standardized methodology to foster comparability of results.

The paucity of published papers suggests the need of a more thorough investigation from the scientific community, using randomized trials with large samples to confirm the hypothesis that low vitamin K can be associated to cognitive decline. A standardized methodology for both cognitive evaluation and vitamin K dietary intake and serum concentrations must be adopted in order to develop more comparable and reliable data.

Due to the large number of individuals treated with VKAs, a large prospective study is possible and could be crucial to elucidate the influence of these drugs on vitamin K serum levels and consequently on cognitive decline.

In conclusion, considering the growing social and economic burden linked to the increasing number of patients suffering from cognitive impairment and dementia, further researches on this topic can prove to be beneficial and applicable results can be expected.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MF and LA conceived the original idea. LA, CD, and RC organized the database and wrote the various sections of this review. AC, MF, FC, AL, and GC supervised and made sure that this work was accurate and formally correct. All authors reviewed the manuscript before the submission.

- Suh GH, Shah A. A review of the epidemiological transition in dementiacross-national comparisons of the indices related to Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2001) 104:4–11. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0447.2001.00210.x
- Kalaria RN, Maestre GE, Arizaga R, Friedland RP, Galasko D, Hall K, et al. Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia in developing countries: prevalence, management, and risk factors. *Lancet Neurol.* (2008) 7:812–26. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70169-8
- Murphy MP, LeVine H. Alzheimer's disease and the β-amyloid peptide. J Alzheimers Dis JAD. (2010) 19:311. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-1221
- Yagami T, Ueda K, Asakura K, Sakaeda T, Nakazato H, Kuroda T, et al. Gas6 rescues cortical neurons from amyloid beta protein-induced apoptosis. *Neuropharmacology*. (2002) 43:1289–96. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(02)00333-7
- Liu D, Guo H, Griffin JH, Fernández JA, Zlokovic BV. Protein S confers neuronal protection during ischemic/hypoxic injury in mice. *Circulation*. (2003) 107:1791–6. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000058460.34453.5A
- 16. Ferland G, Doucet I, Mainville D. Phylloquinone and menaquinone-4 tissue distribution at different life stages in male and female spraguedawley rats fed different VK levels since weaning or subjected to a 40% calorie restriction since adulthood. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:141. doi: 10.3390/nu 8030141
- Nakagawa K, Hirota Y, Sawada N, Yuge N, Watanabe M, Uchino Y, et al. Identification of UBIAD1 as a novel human menaquinone-4 biosynthetic enzyme. *Nature*. (2010) 468:117–21. doi: 10.1038/nature09464
- Ohsaki Y, Shirakawa H, Hiwatashi K, Furukawa Y, Mizutani T, Komai M. Vitamin K suppresses lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in the rat. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem.* (2006) 70:926–32. doi: 10.1271/bbb.70.926
- 19. Ohsaki Y, Shirakawa H, Miura A, Giriwono PE, Sato S, Ohashi A, et al. Vitamin K suppresses the lipopolysaccharide-induced expression of inflammatory cytokines in cultured macrophage-like cells via the inhibition of the activation of nuclear factor κB through the repression
of ΙΚΚα/β phosphorylation. J Nutr Biochem. (2010) 21:1120-6. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2009.09.011

- Carrié I, Bélanger E, Portoukalian J, Rochford J, Ferland G. Lifelong lowphylloquinone intake is associated with cognitive impairments in old rats. J Nutr. (2011) 141:1495–501. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.137638
- Lev M, Milford AF. The 3-ketodihydrosphingosine synthetase of Bacteroides melaninogenicus: induction by vitamin K. Arch Biochem Biophys. (1973) 157:500-8. doi: 10.1016/0003-9861(73)90668-1
- Linger RM, Keating AK, Earp HS, Graham DK. TAM receptor tyrosine kinases: biologic functions, signaling, and potential therapeutic targeting in human cancer. *Adv Cancer Res.* (2008) 100:35–83. doi: 10.1016/S0065-230X(08)00002-X
- 23. Allen MP, Zeng C, Schneider K, Xiong X, Meintzer MK, Bellosta P, et al. Growth arrest-specific gene 6 (Gas6)/adhesion related kinase (Ark) signaling promotes gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuronal survival via extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and Akt. *Mol Endocrinol.* (1999) 13:191–201. doi: 10.1210/mend.13.2.0230
- Anwar A, Keating AK, Joung D, Sather S, Kim GK, Sawczyn KK, et al. Mer tyrosine kinase (MerTK) promotes macrophage survival following exposure to oxidative stress. J Leukoc Biol. (2009) 86:73–9. doi: 10.1189/JLB.0608334
- 25. Pierce A, Bliesner B, Xu M, Nielsen-Preiss S, Lemke G, Tobet S, et al. Axl and Tyro3 modulate female reproduction by influencing gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuron survival and migration. Axl and Tyro3 modulate female reproduction by influencing gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuron survival and migration. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2008) 22:2481–95. doi: 10.1210/me.2008-0169
- Pierce AM, Keating AK. TAM receptor tyrosine kinases: expression, disease and oncogenesis in the central nervous system. *Brain Res.* (2014) 1542:206–20. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2013.10.049
- Salian-Mehta S, Xu M, Wierman ME. AXL and MET crosstalk to promote gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) neuronal cell migration and survival. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2013) 374:92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.04.018
- Funakoshi H, Yonemasu T, Nakano T, Matumoto K, Nakamura T. Identification of Gas6, a putative ligand for Sky and Axl receptor tyrosine kinases, as a novel neurotrophic factor for hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci Res.* (2002) 68:150–60. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10211
- Ray AK, DuBois JC, Gruber RC, Guzik HM, Gulinello ME, Perumal G, et al. Loss of Gas6 and Axl signaling results in extensive axonal damage, motor deficits, prolonged neuroinflammation, and less remyelination following cuprizone exposure. *Glia*. (2017) 65:2051–69. doi: 10.1002/glia.23214
- Shankar SL, O'Guin K, Kim M, Varnum B, Lemke G, Brosnan CF, et al. Gas6/Axl signaling activates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt1 survival pathway to protect oligodendrocytes from tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis. J Neurosci. (2006) 26:5638–48. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5063-05
- Bellan M, Pirisi M, Sainaghi T. The Gas6/TAM system and multiple sclerosis. Int J Mol Sci. (2016) 17:1807. doi: 10.3390/ijms17111807
- 32. Sainaghi PP, Collimedaglia L, Alciato F, Molinari R, Sola D, Ranza E, et al. Growth arrest specific gene 6 protein concentration in cerebrospinal fluid correlates with relapse severity in multiple sclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2013) 2013:406483. doi: 10.1155/2013/406483
- 33. Grommes C, Lee CY, Wilkinson BL, Jiang Q, Koenigsknecht-Talboo JL, Varnum B, et al. Regulation of microglial phagocytosis and inflammatory gene expression by Gas6 acting on the Axl/Mer family of tyrosine kinases. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* (2008) 3:130–40. doi: 10.1007/s11481-007-9090-2
- Fourgeaud L, Través PG, Tufail Y, Leal-Bailey H, Lew ED, Burrola PG, et al. TAM receptors regulate multiple features of microglial physiology. *Nature*. (2016) 532:240–4.doi: 10.1038/nature17630
- Tang Y, Wu S, Liu Q, Xie J, Zhang J, Han D, et al. Mertk deficiency affects macrophage directional migration via disruption of cytoskeletal organization. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0117787. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117787
- 36. Zheng Y, Wang Q, Xiao B, Lu Q, Wang Y, Wang X. Involvement of receptor tyrosine kinase Tyro3 in amyloidogenic APP processing and β-amyloid deposition in Alzheimer's disease models. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e39035. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039035

- Suleiman L, Négrier C, Boukerche H. Protein S: a multifunctional anticoagulant vitamin K-dependent protein at the crossroads of coagulation, inflammation, angiogenesis, and cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* (2013) 88:637–54.doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2013.07.004
- Zhu YZ, Wang W, Xian N, Wu B. Inhibition of TYRO3/Akt signaling participates in hypoxic injury in hippocampal neurons. *Neural Regen Res.* (2016) 11:752–7. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.182701
- 39. Zhong Z, Wang Y, Guo H, Sagare A, Fernández JA, Bell RD, et al. Protein S protects neurons from excitotoxic injury by activating the TAM receptor Tyro3-phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway through its sex hormone-binding globulin-like region. J Neurosci. (2010) 30:15521–34. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4437-10.2010
- 40. Guo H, Barrett TM, Zhong Z, Fernández JA, Griffin JH, Freeman RS, et al. Protein S blocks the extrinsic apoptotic cascade in tissue plasminogen activator/N-methyl D-aspartate-treated neurons via Tyro3-Akt-FKHRL1 signaling pathway. *Mol Neurodegener*. (2011) 6:13. doi: 10.1186/1750-1326-6-13
- Zhu D, Wang Y, Singh I, Bell RD, Deane R, Zhong Z, et al. Protein S controls hypoxic/ischemic blood-brain barrier disruption through the TAM receptor Tyro3 and sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor. *Blood.* (2010) 115:4963–72.doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-01-262386
- Hannun YA, Obeid LM. Sphingolipids and their metabolism in physiology and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2018) 19:175–91. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2017.107
- Assi E, Cazzato D, De Palma C, Perrotta C, Clementi E, Cervia D. Sphingolipids and brain resident macrophages in neuroinflammation: an emerging aspect of nervous system pathology. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2013) 2013:309302. doi: 10.1155/2013/309302
- Tamboli IY, Hampel H, Tien NT, Tolksdorf K, Breiden B, Mathews PM, et al. Sphingolipid storage affects autophagic metabolism of the amyloid precursor protein and promotes Abeta generation. *J Neurosci.* (2011) 31:1837– 49. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2954-10.2011
- Puglielli L, Ellis BC, Saunders AJ, Kovacs DM. Ceramide stabilizes β-site amyloid precursor protein-cleaving enzyme 1 and promotes amyloid β-peptide biogenesis. J Biol Chem. (2003) 278:19777–83. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300466200
- Dheen ST, Kaur C, Ling EA. Microglial activation and its implications in the brain diseases. *Curr Med Chem.* (2007) 14:1189–97. doi: 10.2174/092986707780597961
- Menge T, Lalive PH, von Büdingen HC, Cree B, Hauser SL, Genain CP. Antibody responses against galactocerebroside are potential stage-specific biomarkers in multiple sclerosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2005) 116:453–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.03.023
- Haghighi S, Lekman A, Nilsson S, Blomqvist M, Andersen O. Myelin glycosphingolipid immunoreactivity and CSF levels in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2012) 125:64–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2011.01554
- Kim S, Steelman AJ, Zhang Y, Kinney HC, Li J. Aberrant upregulation of astroglial ceramide potentiates oligodendrocyte injury. *Brain Pathol.* (2012) 22:41–57. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2011.00501.x
- Shea MK, Booth SL. Concepts and controversies in evaluating vitamin K status in population-based studies. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:1. doi: 10.3390/nu8010008
- Westerterp KR, Goris AH. Validity of the assessment of dietary intake: problems of misreporting. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. (2002) 5:489–93. doi: 10.1097/00075197-200209000-00006
- Hall JG, Pauli RM, Wilson KM. Maternal and fetal sequelae of anticoagulation during pregnancy. *Am J Med.* (1980) 68:122–40. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(80)90181-3
- Tamadon-Nejad S, Ouliass B, Rochford J, Ferland G. Vitamin K deficiency induced by warfarin is associated with cognitive and behavioral perturbations, and alterations in brain sphingolipids in rats. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2018) 10:213. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00213
- 54. Sundaram KS, Lev M. Warfarin administration reduces synthesis of sulfatides and other sphingolipids in mouse brain. *J Lipid Res.* (1988) 29:1475–9.
- 55. Mongkhon P, Naser AY, Fanning L, Tse G, Lau WCY, Wong ICK, et al. Oral anticoagulants and risk of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies and randomized controlled trials. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2019) 96:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.10.025

- 56. Mostaza JM, Jiménez MJR, Laiglesia FJR, Peromingo JAD, Robles MB, Sierra EG, et al. Clinical characteristics and type of antithrombotic treatment in a Spanish cohort of elderly patients with atrial fibrillation according to dependency, frailty and cognitive impairment. J Geriatr Cardiol. (2018) 15:268–74. doi: 10.11909/j.issn.1671-5411.2018.04.004
- 57. Zhang C, Gu ZC, Shen L, Pan MM, Yan YD, Pu J, et al. Non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants and cognitive impairment in atrial fibrillation: insights from the meta-analysis of over 90,000 patients of randomized controlled trials and real-world studies. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2018) 10:258. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00258
- Shen L, Zhang C, Gu ZC, Lin HW, Liu XY, Pu J. Risk of cognitive impairment with non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants in atrial fibrillation: Protocol for a systemic review of randomized controlled trials and real-world studies. *Medicine*. (2018) 37:34. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000012072
- 59. Jacobs V, May HT, Bair TL, Crandall BG, Cutler MJ, Day JD, et al. Longterm population-based cerebral ischemic event and cognitive outcomes of direct oral anticoagulants compared with warfarin among long-term anticoagulated patients for atrial fibrillation. *Am J Cardiol.* (2016) 118:10–4. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2016.04.039
- Van den Heuvel EG, van Schoor NM, Vermeer C, Zwijsen RM, den Heijer M, Comijs HC. Vitamin K status is not associated with cognitive decline in middle aged adults. J Nutr Health Aging. (2015) 19:908–12. doi: 10.1007/s12603-015-0579-8
- Sato Y, Honda Y, Hayashida N, Iwamoto J, Kanoko T, Satoh K. Vitamin K deficiency and osteopenia in elderly women with Alzheimer's disease. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2005) 86:576–81. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2004.10.005
- Presse N, Shatenstein B, Kergoat MJ, Ferland G. Low vitamin K intakes in community-dwelling elders at an early stage of Alzheimer's disease. J Am Diet Assoc. (2008) 108:2095–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2008.09.013
- Presse N, Belleville S, Gaudreau P, Greenwood CE, Kergoat MJ, Morais JA, et al. Vitamin K status and cognitive function in healthy older adults. *Neurobiol Aging*. (2013) 34:2777–83. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.05.031
- Chouet J, Ferland G, Féart C, Rolland Y, Presse N, Boucher K, et al. Dietary vitamin K intake is associated with cognition and behaviour among geriatric patients: the CLIP study. *Nutrients*. (2015) 7:6739–50. doi: 10.3390/nu7085306
- Soutif-Veillon A, Ferland G, Rolland Y, Presse N, Boucher K, Féart C, et al. Increased dietary vitamin K intake is associated with less severe subjective memory complaint among older adults. *Maturitas*. (2016) 93:131– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.02.004
- Kiely A, Ferland G, Ouliass B, O'Toole PW, Purtill H, O'Connor EM. Vitamin K status and inflammation are associated with cognition in older Irish adults. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2018) 2018:1–9. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2018.1536411

- Presse N, Gaudreau P, Greenwood CE, Kergoat MJ, Morais JA, Payette H, et al. A single measurement of serum phylloquinone is an adequate indicator of long-term phylloquinone exposure in healthy older adults. *J Nutr.* (2012) 142:1910–6. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.164608
- Presse N, Shatenstein B, Kergoat MJ, Ferland G. Validation of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire measuring dietary vitamin K intake in elderly people. J Am Diet Assoc. (2009) 109:1251–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2009.04.019
- Annweiler C, Ferland G, Barberger-Gateau P, Brangier A, Rolland Y, Beauchet O. Vitamin K antagonists and cognitive impairment: results from a crosssectional pilot study among geriatric patients. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2015) 70:97–101. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu133
- Ferland G, Feart C, Presse N, Lorrain S, Bazin F, Helmer C, et al. Vitamin K antagonists and cognitive function in older adults: the three-city cohort study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2016) 71:1356–62. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv208
- Brangier A, Celle S, Roche F, Beauchet O, Ferland G, Annweiler C. Use of vitamin K antagonists and brain morphological changes in older adults: an exposed/unexposed voxel-based morphometric study. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*. (2018) 45:18–26. doi: 10.1159/000485793
- 72. Brangier A, Ferland G, Rolland Y, Gautier J, Féart C, Annweiler C. Vitamin K antagonists and cognitive decline in older adults: a 24-month follow-up. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:6. doi: 10.3390/nu10060666
- Cafolla A, Gentili A, Cafolla C, Perez V, Baldacci E, Pasqualetti D, et al. Plasma vitamin K1 levels in italian patients receiving oral anticoagulant therapy for mechanical heart prosthesis: a case-control study. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs*. (2016) 16:267–74. doi: 10.1007/s40256-016-0169-0
- Ansell J, Hirsh J, Hylek E, Jacobson A, Crowther MG, Palareti G. Pharmacology and management of the vitamin K antagonists: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). *Chest.* (2008) 133(6 Suppl):160S–98S. doi: 10.1378/chest.0 8-0670

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Alisi, Cao, De Angelis, Cafolla, Caramia, Cartocci, Librando and Fiorelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Genome-Wide Multiple Sclerosis Association Data and Coagulation

Sara La Starza¹, Michela Ferraldeschi², Maria Chiara Buscarinu², Silvia Romano², Arianna Fornasiero², Rosella Mechelli³, Renato Umeton^{4,5*}, Giovanni Ristori^{2*} and Marco Salvetti^{2,6}

¹ Geriatrics, Neuroscience, Orthopaedics, Head and Neck Department, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Neuroscience, Mental Health and Sensory Organs, Faculty of Medicine and Psychology, Centre for Experimental Neurological Therapies, S. Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Human Science and Promotion of Quality of Life, San Raffaele Roma Open University, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Informatics & Analytics, Dana-Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA, United States, ⁵ Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States, ⁶ IRCCS Istituto Neurologico Mediterraneo (INM) Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Matilde Inglese, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Kerstin Göbel, Universität Münster, Germany Francesco Bernardi, University of Ferrara, Italy

*Correspondence:

Renato Umeton Renato_Umeton@DFCI.Harvard.edu Giovanni Ristori giovanni.ristori@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 September 2018 Accepted: 24 January 2019 Published: 14 February 2019

Citation:

La Starza S, Ferraldeschi M, Buscarinu MC, Romano S, Fornasiero A, Mechelli R, Umeton R, Ristori G and Salvetti M (2019) Genome-Wide Multiple Sclerosis Association Data and Coagulation. Front. Neurol. 10:95. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00095

The emerging concept of a crosstalk between hemostasis, inflammation, and immune system prompt recent works on coagulation cascade in multiple sclerosis (MS). Studies on MS pathology identified several coagulation factors since the beginning of the disease pathophysiology: fibrin deposition with breakdown of blood brain barrier, and coagulation factors within active plaques may exert pathogenic role, especially through the innate immune system. Studies on circulating coagulation factors showed complex imbalance involving several components of hemostasis cascade (thrombin, factor X, factor XII). To analyze the role of the coagulation process in connection with other pathogenic pathways, we implemented a systematic matching of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) data with an informative and unbiased network of coagulation pathways. Using MetaCore (version 6.35 build 69300, 2018) we analyzed the connectivity (i.e., direct and indirect interactions among two networks) between the network of the coagulation process and the network resulting from feeding into MetaCore the MS GWAS data. The two networks presented a remarkable over-connectivity: 958 connections vs. 561 expected by chance; z-score = 17.39; p-value < 0.00001. Moreover, genes coding for cluster of differentiation 40 (CD40) and plasminogen activator, urokinase (PLAU) shared both networks, pointed to an integral interplay between coagulation cascade and main pathogenic immune effectors. In fact, CD40 pathways is especially operative in B cells, that are currently a major therapeutic target in MS field. The potential interaction of PLAU with a signal of paramount importance for B cell pathogenicity, such as CD40, suggest new lines of research and pave the way to implement new therapeutic targets.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, genome-wide association studies, cluster of differentiation 40, plasminogen activator, urokinase gene, connectivity analysis

38

INTRODUCTION

Recent studies focused on the role of coagulation cascade in neuroinflammation and neurodegenerative disease, considering new suggestions on a crosstalk between hemostasis, inflammation and immune system (1). The majority of these studies regarded multiple sclerosis (MS), but others demonstrated a dysregulation of several proteins of the coagulation cascade in many other central nervous system (CNS) diseases: traumatic brain and spinal cord injury, Parkinson disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Huntington disease and Alzheimer dementia (2–6).

A recent review discussed the role of fibrinogen in some neurological diseases, with an emphasis on the cellular targets and the fibrinogen-induced signal transduction pathways in the CNS: fibrinogen has a pleiotropic role in the activation of inflammation and pathologies that share, as common change, the increased blood-brain barrier (BBB) permeability. This produces the extravasation of plasma proteins that are undetectable in a healthy CNS, but abundantly deposited in many neurological conditions, whereby they mediate both pathological inflammation and tissue repair (7).

In MS the BBB breakdown and activation of the innate immune system appears to be an early event in the diseases development, that may precede the clinical onset. Different studies showed that fibrin deposition is a leading feature of MS pathology and it is presents all over the disease course (7). Fibrinogen can directly activate microglia cells in vitro and increase their phagocytic ability by binding to the integrin receptor CD11b/CD18, which is specifically expressed in the CNS (8). Participation of the coagulation cascade to the neuropathology of MS was strongly suggested by a proteomic analysis on laser-micro dissected, post-mortem brain lesions. Comparative proteomic profiles identified tissue factor and protein C inhibitor within chronic active plaque samples. In vivo experiments with antagonists of the coagulation factors identified (hirudin or recombinant activated protein C) were capable of ameliorating animal models of MS and suppressing pathogenic immune effectors, confirming the impact of dysregulated coagulation factors on demyelinating processes and suggesting potential therapeutic targets (9).

Another approach focused on the study of circulating coagulation factors, as possible biomarkers and targets of treatment tactics in MS pathogenic process. Gobel et al. (10) studied different neurological diseases (all the forms of MS, neuro myelitis optica spectrum disorders, other inflammatory neurological diseases, and non-inflammatory neurological conditions) compared to healthy status. The plasma levels of different coagulation proteins measured and the results demonstrated significantly higher levels of prothrombin and factor X in MS patients, without significant changes in the other conditions. Thrombin produces different inflammatory responses, including platelet activation, vasodilatation, leukocyte attraction, production of cytokine, and chemokine (IL-1, IL-6,

TNF α) (11). These effects in CNS are also dependent on thrombin concentration: at low-to-moderate concentrations, it protects hippocampal neurons and astrocytes from insults, while at higher concentrations thrombin induces cell death (12, 13). Another coagulation factor that proved to be somehow involved in MS pathogenic process was factor XII (FXII). Increased FXII levels and reduced function within the intrinsic coagulation pathway were evident in people with MS (14); Gobel et al. found high levels of FXII activity in the plasma of MS patients during relapse, and immune activating effects mediated by interactions between FXII and dendritic cells in a CD87-dependent manner (15).

The above studies [with the prominent exception of the proteomic analysis by Han et al. (9)] were planned with a hypothesis-driven approach focusing on single factors of coagulation cascade. The coming of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) data would allow unbiased approaches capable of disclosing a more extensive landscape of coagulation process involvement in MS pathogenesis. GWAS results are derived from population-based association studies, comparing disease cases and controls for common genetic variants, that have variable frequencies in the general population. Each common variants (signaled by a single nucleotide polymorphism) explain a small fraction of the risk/protection in a population. The overall MS genetic risk is multifaceted: many common variants of small effect spread throughout the genome, loci of stronger effects lying in the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) haplotype, that had been associated to disease risk since eighties, as well as recently described low-frequency and rare-coding variants all contribute to the complex genetic architecture of MS (16).

GWAS STUDIES AND COAGULATION

GWAS studies encompassing the last decade have identified more than 200 MS-associated loci across the human genome (17). Technological advances, adequate increase of sample size, and improved statistical approaches have all contributed to a substantial progress in the definition of the complex genetic architecture of MS. This prompted a significant extension of the view on MS genetics, that was essentially limited to the role of human histocompatibility haplo types until 15 years ago. At least two challenges remain: (i) the definition of a comprehensive etiological model, with the need of better understanding both the plausibly causal effects in altering disease risk for many of the susceptibility gene regions identified, and the impact of non-genetic factors, as demonstrated, among others, by twin studies (18, 19); (ii) the clinical translation of genomic data, that may exploit the relevance of pathogenic pathways, for which therapeutics is already available in clinical practice, or may drive the discovery of new druggable targets.

One potentially informative approach to deal with these issues includes bioinformatics attempts capable of extracting from GWAS data the biological consequences and the functional implications of individual disease-associated variants. Our group implemented analyses aimed at clarifying the interplay between diseases-associated genomic regions and presumed

Abbreviations: GWAS, genome-wide association studies; PLAU, plasminogen activator, urokinase.

causal environmental factors (20–22). Another bioinformatics reworking allows to explore the reciprocal interactions of pathways resulting from GWAS data, to disclose unknown networks and to focus on previously under estimated pathways in MS etiology.

By applying the latter approach we used bioinformatics tools to analyze the role of the coagulation cascade in connection with other biological pathways contributing to the complex disease pathogenesis. Using MetaCore (version 6.35 build 69300, 2018) we analyzed the connectivity (i.e., direct and indirect interactions among two networks) between the network of the coagulation process (a standard map in MetaCore, presented in Figure 1, that includes 94 components) and the network resulting from feeding into MetaCore the MS GWAS data. In particular we considered genes that were reported in 19 MS GWAS studies (23-41) filed in the GWAS Catalog (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/gwas); such list (Supplementary Table 1) contains 398 genes, that were either reported as associated to MS in the aforementioned studies, or that were originally reported as hits on non-well specified regions, later mapped to better characterized regions and genes. The connectivity analysis in MetaCore takes place in two steps: first, the genes that are shared by the two networks (i.e., elements that appear in both the coagulation process network and the MS GWAS network) are identified; second, every element in each network is enriched with its interactors. A statistics is then computed counting how many interactions are observed among the two enriched networks, comparing this number to what would be expected by chance. MetaCore connectivity analysis showed the following results: the coagulation process network and the MS GWAS network presented a remarkable overconnectivity, showing 958 connections (561 were expected by chance) that lead to *z*-score of 17.39 and *p*-value < 0.00001; genes coding for cluster of differentiation 40 (CD40) and plasminogen activator, urokinase (PLAU) appeared both in the coagulation process network and the MS GWAS network (Figure 2).

These analyses on one hand confirm that the coagulation cascade may have an impact on MS development, as already reported (see above), on the other hand fail to detect main coagulation components previously indicated by experimental studies. This limitation may pertain the analyses based on GWAS studies in general, which incorporate huge number of gene variants and several levels of possible functional complexities. Specifically, PLAU pathway has already been scrutinized for its role in the activation of matrix metallopeptidase9, that has in turn been associated with BBB breakdown, a crucial event in MS development (42). However, the network sharing by PLAU and CD40 pathways, resulting from our analysis, points to a more integral interplay between coagulation cascade and immune effectors, that are currently the main focus of research on MS etiopathogenesis and therapy. CD40 pathways is especially operative in B cells, being the typical signal mediating help by T cells (through CD40 ligand) on cognate B lymphocytes for antibody production and other important functions, such as antigen presenting cells and cells modulating the immune response. Recent studies show indeed that MSassociated genetic variants alter the expression of co-stimulatory molecule, including CD40 in B cells, as well as the level of steering cytokines such as interleukin-10, which is considered to have an immunoregulatory function downstream of CD40 (43). Moreover, the CD40-CD40 ligand dyadis intensively investigated for its essential role in the development of MS, with the aim of targeting it therapeutically and antagonize neuroinflammation (44).

The role of CD40 pathway in MS development refers to the more general topic of the role of B cells in neuroinflammation. Our recent works suggest that B lymphocytes, in an activated and pro-survival status, contribute to MS development with functions other than antibody-production (45). Indeed, B lymphocytes are professional antigen-presenting cells for autoreactive T cells (43, 46), as well as potent producers of steering cytokines and other immune effectors influencing both pathogenic (lymphotoxin, tumor necrosis factor, granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor, and metallo-peptidases) and protective (interleukin 10) milieus in neuroinflammation (47-49). Accordingly, CD20-targeted monoclonal antibodies, that deplete B cells in their earlier stages of development, turned out to be highly and consistently effective in tackling the disease development (50, 51). Hence, the finding that PLAU pathway may potentially interact with a signal of paramount importance for B cell pathogenicity, such as CD40, may open new perspectives for translational research. Along this line, the protease activity of microglial cells activated by urokinase plasminogen activator coupled with its receptor seems very important for their pathogenic role in MS (52) and, notably, this pathogenic role is increasingly recognized also in a very recent GWAS study on MS.

CONCLUSION

The case of the relationship between coagulation pathway and MS molecular model may teach us how fruitful a bioinformatics reworking of GWAS data may be. In particular bioinformatics approaches that match GWAS data with other biological repositories of unbiased comprehensive records may shed light on the functional relevance of common diseases-associated single nucleotide polymorphism: each genetic variant is often located in regulatory genomic regions, and may be active in different ways in diverse tissues, making it very difficult to encompass a detailed understanding of the underpinning pathobiology.

Future works based on connectivity analyses may inform a number of questions that are still open in the context of MS heritability: the degree of epistasis and interaction with nongenetic causative factors; the existence of genetic interactors determining disease forms, clinical course, and response to diseases modifying therapies; the predictivity of endophenotypes, in particular the imaging data, that often segregate on a familiar basis. Moreover, the discovery of "clinically actionable genes" may represent a timely task in the current landscape of MS therapeutics.

Many new diseases modifying therapies, already available in clinical practice, show superior effectiveness compared to the treatments that were in place only a decade ago. The "cost" is the safety profile, being at least suboptimal. Approaches based on drugs targeting PLAU system, that have successfully been used to ameliorate CNS inflammation (53, 54), may be potential resources, with good therapeutic index and synergic action





interactors are also highlighted.

with currently available immune-modulators, potentially to be exploited in combination schemes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Langer HF, Chavakis T. Platelets and neurovascular inflammation. *Thromb Haemost.* (2013) 110:888–93. doi: 10.1160/TH13-02-0096
- Hay JR, Johnson VE, Young AM, Smith DH, Stewart W. Blood-brain barrier disruption is an early event that may persist for many years after traumatic brain injury in humans. *J. NeuropatholExpNeurol.* (2015) 74:1147– 57. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0000000000261
- Gray MT, Woulfe JM. Striatal blood-brain barrier permeability in Parkinson's disease. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2015) 35:747–50. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2015.32
- Winkler EA, Sengillo JD, Sullivan JS, Henkel JS, Appel SH, Zlokovic BV. Blood-spinal cord barrier breakdown and pericyte reductions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol.* (2013) 125:111–20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-1039-8
- Drouin-Ouellet, J, Sawiak SJ, Cisbani G, Lagacé M, Kuan WL, Saint-Pierre M, et al. Cerebrovascular and blood-brain barrier impairments in Huntington's disease: potential implications for its pathophysiology. *Ann Neurol.* (2015) 2015:160–77. doi: 10.1002/ana.24406
- Cortes-Canteli M, Mattei L, Richards AT, Norris EH, Strickland S. Fibrin deposited in the Alzheimer's disease brain promotes neuronal degeneration. *Neurobiol Aging* (2015) 36:608–17. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.10.030
- Petersen MA, Kyu J, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen in neurological disease: mechanisms, imaging and therapeutics. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2018) 19:283–301. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2018.13
- Adams RA, Bauer J, Flick MJ, Sikorski SL, Nuriel T, Lassmann H, et al. The fibrin-derived gamma377–395 peptide inhibits microglia activation and suppresses relapsing paralysis in central nervous system autoimmune disease. *J Exp Med.* (2007) 204:571–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061931
- Han MH, Hwang SI, Roy DB, Lundgren DH, Price JV, Ousman SS, et al. Proteomic analysis of active multiple sclerosis lesions reveals therapeutic targets. *Nature* (2008) 451:1076–81. doi: 10.1038/nature06559
- Göbel K, Kraft P, Pankratz S, Gross CC, Korsukewitz C, Kwiecien R, et al. Prothrombin and factor X are elevated in multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol.* (2016) 80:946–51. doi: 10.1002/ana.24807
- Schoenmakers SH, Reitsma PH, Spek CA. Blood coagulation factors as inflammatory mediators. *Blood Cells Mol Dis.* (2005) 34:30–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2004.09.001
- Donovan FM, Cunningham DD. Signaling pathways involved in thrombin-induced cell protection. J BiolChem. (1998) 273:12746–52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.21.12746
- Pike CJ, Vaughan PJ, Cunningham DD, Cotman CW. Thrombin attenuates neuronal cell death and modulates astrocyte reactivity induced by beta-amyloid *in vitro*. J Neurochem. (1996) 66:1374–82. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.66041374.x
- Ziliotto N, Baroni M, Straudi S, Manfredini F, Mari R, Menegatti E, et al. Coagulation factor XII levels and intrinsic thrombin generation in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:245. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00245
- Göbel K, Pankratz S, Asaridou CM, Herrmann AM, Bittner S, Merker M, et al. Blood coagulation factor XII drives adaptive immunity during neuroinflammation via CD87-mediated modulation of dendritic cells. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11626. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11626
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium. Low-Frequency and Rare-Coding Variation Contributes to Multiple Sclerosis Risk. *Cell* (2018) 175:1679–87.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.09.049
- Cotsapas C, Mitrovic M. Genome-wide association studies of multiple sclerosis. *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2018) 7:e1018. doi: 10.1002/cti2.1018

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2019.00095/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Table 1 | List of genes that were gathered from the GWAS Catalog as associated with MS and that were used for this work.

- Fagnani C, Neale MC, Nisticò L, Stazi MA, Ricigliano VA, Buscarinu MC, et al. Twin studies in multiple sclerosis: a meta-estimation of heritability and environmentality. *Mult Scler.* (2015) 21:1404–13. doi: 10.1177/1352458514564492
- Ristori G, Cannoni S, Stazi MA, Vanacore N, Cotichini R, Alfô M, et al. Multiple sclerosis in twins from continental Italy and Sardinia: a nationwide study. Ann Neurol. (2006) 59:27–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.20683
- Mechelli R, Umeton R, Policano C, Annibali A, International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium, et al. A "candidate-interactome" aggregate analysis of genome-wide association data in multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e63300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0063300
- Ricigliano VA, Handel AE, Sandve GK, Annibali V, Ristori G, Mechelli R, et al. EBNA2 binds to genomic intervals associated with multiple sclerosis and overlaps with vitamin D receptor occupancy. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e011960. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119605
- Mechelli R, Manzari C, Policano C, Annese A, Picardi E, Umeton R, et al. Epstein-Barr virus genetic variants are associated with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (2015) 84:1362–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000001420
- Briggs FB, Shao X, Goldstein BA, Oksenberg JR, Barcellos LF, de Jager PL. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium. Genome-wide association study of severity in multiple sclerosis. *Genes Immun.* (2011) 12:615–25. doi: 10.1038/gene.2011.34
- 24. Wang JH, Pappas D, De Jager PL, Pelletier D, de Bakker PI, Kappos L, et al. Australian and New Zealand Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (ANZgene). Modeling the cumulative genetic risk for multiple sclerosis from genome-wide association data. *Genome Med.* (2011) 3:3. doi: 10.1186/gm217
- Nischwitz S, Cepok S, Kroner A, Wolf C, Knop M, Müller-Sarnowski F, et al. Evidence for VAV2 and ZNF433 as susceptibility genes for multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2010) 227:162–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.06.00
- Aulchenko YS, Hoppenbrouwers IA, Ramagopalan SV, Broer L, Jafari N, Hillert J, et al. Genetic variation in the KIF1B locus influences susceptibility to multiple sclerosis. *Nat Genet.* (2008) 40:1402–3. doi: 10.1038/ng.251
- Comabella M, Craig DW, Camiña-Tato M, Morcillo C, Lopez C, Navarro A, et al. Identification of a novel risk locus for multiple sclerosis at 13q31.3 by a pooled genome-wide scan of 500,000 single nucleotide polymorphisms. *PLoS ONE* (2008) 3:e3490. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003490
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Hafler DA, Compston A, Sawcer S, Lander ES, Daly MJ, et al. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. N Engl J Med. (2007) 357:851–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa073493
- Gourraud PA, Sdika M, Khankhanian P, Henry RG, Beheshtian A, Matthews PM, et al. A genome-wide association study of brain lesion distribution in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* (2013) 136(Pt 4):1012–24. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws363
- Matesanz F, González-Pérez A, Lucas M, Sanna S, Gayán J, Urcelay E, et al. Genome-wide association study of multiple sclerosis confirms a novel locus at 5p13.1. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e36140. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036140
- Martinelli-Boneschi F, Esposito F, Brambilla P, Lindström E, Lavorgna G, Stankovich J, et al. A genome-wide association study in progressive multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler*. (2012) 18:1384–94. doi: 10.1177/1352458512439118
- 32. Sanna S, Pitzalis M, Zoledziewska M, Zara I, Sidore C, Murru R, et al. Variants within the immunoregulatory CBLB gene are associated with multiple sclerosis. *Nat Genet*. (2010) 42:495–7. doi: 10.1038/ng.584
- 33. Jakkula E, Leppä V, Sulonen AM, Varilo T, Kallio S, Kemppinen A, et al. Genome-wide association study in a high-risk isolate for multiple sclerosis reveals associated variants in STAT3 gene. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2010) 86:285–91. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2010.01.017

- Baranzini SE, Wang J, Gibson RA, Galwey N, Naegelin Y, Barkhof F, et al. Genome-wide association analysis of susceptibility and clinical phenotype in multiple sclerosis. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2009) 18:767–78. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn388
- 35. Bahlo M, Booth DR, Broadley SA, Brown MA, Foote SJ, Griffiths LR, et al. Australia and New Zealand Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (ANZgene). Genome-wide association study identifies new multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci on chromosomes 12 and 20. *Nat Genet.* (2009) 41:824–8. doi: 10.1038/ng.396
- 36. De Jager PL, Jia X, Wang J, de Bakker PI, Ottoboni L, Aggarwal NT, International MS Genetics Consortium, et al. Meta-analysis of genome scans and replication identify CD6, IRF8 and TNFRSF1A as new multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci. *Nat Genet.* (2009) 41:776–82. doi: 10.1038/ng.401
- Steri M, Orrù V, Idda ML, Pitzalis M, Pala M, Zara I, et al. Overexpression of the Cytokine BAFF and Autoimmunity Risk. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:1615– 26. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1610528
- Patsopoulos NA, Bayer Pharma MS Genetics Working Group, Steering Committees of Studies Evaluating IFNβ-1b and a CCR1-Antagonist, ANZgene Consortium, GeneMSA, International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Esposito F, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies novel multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci. *Ann Neurol.* (2011) 70:897–912. doi: 10.1002/ana.22609
- Andlauer TF, Buck D, Antony G, Bayas A, Bechmann L, Berthele A, et al. Novel multiple sclerosis susceptibility loci implicated in epigenetic regulation. *Sci Adv.* (2016) 2:e1501678. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1501678
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium (IMSGC), Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (WTCCC2); International IBD Genetics Consortium (IIBDGC), Beecham AH, et al. Analysis of immune-related loci identifies 48 new susceptibility variants for multiple sclerosis. *Nat Genet.* (2013) 45:1353– 60. doi: 10.1038/ng.2770
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium; Welcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2, Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CC. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* (2011) 476:214–9. doi: 10.1038/nature 10251
- Cox MB, Bowden NA, Scott RJ, Lechner-Scott. Altered expression of the plasminogen activation pathway in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in multiple sclerosis: possible pathomechanism of matrix metalloproteinase activation. J Mult Scler. (2013) 19:1268–74. doi: 10.1177/13524585134 75493
- Smets I, Fiddes B, Garcia-Perez JE, He D, Mallants K, Liao W, et al. Multiple sclerosis risk variants alter expression of co-stimulatory genes in B cells. *Brain* (2018) 141:786–96. doi: 10.1093/brain/awx372
- Aarts SABM, Seijkens TTP, van Dorst KJF, Dijkstra CD, Kooij G, Lutgens E. The CD40-CD40L dyad in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1791. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01791
- 45. Annibali V, Umeton R, Palermo A, Severa M, Etna MP, Giglio S, et al. Analysis of coding and non-coding transcriptome of peripheral B

cells reveals an altered interferon response factor (IRF)-1 pathway in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2018) 324:165–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.09.005

- Mathias A, Perriard G, Canales M, Soneson C, Delorenzi M, Schluep M, et al. Increased *ex vivo* antigenpresentation profile of B cells in Multiple Sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2017) 23:802–9. doi: 10.1177/1352458516664210
- Miyazaki Y, Li R, Rezk A, Misirliyan H, Moore C, Farooqi N, et al. A novel microRNA-132-sirtuin-1 axis underlies aberrant B-cell cytokine regulation in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e10542. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105421
- Li R, Patterson KR, Bar-Or A. Reassessing B cell contributions in multiple sclerosis. Nat Immunol. (2018) 19:696–707. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0135-x
- Aung LL, Mouradian MM, Dhib-Jalbut S, Balashov KE. MMP-9 expression is increased in B lymphocytes during multiple sclerosis exacerbation and is regulated by microRNA-320a. J Neuroimmunol. (2015) 278:185–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2014.11.004
- Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, et al. ORATORIO Clinical Investigators. Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:209–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1606468
- Hauser SL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, Giovannoni G, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, et al. OPERA I and OPERA II clinical investigators. Ocrelizumab versus interferon beta-1a in relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (2017) 376:221–34. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1601277
- Washington RA, Becher B, Balabanov R, Antel J, Dore-Duffy P. Expression of the activation marker urokinase plasminogen-activator receptor in cultured human central nervous system microglia. *J Neurosci Res.* (1996) 45:392– 9. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4547(19960815)45:4&dt;392::AID-JNR8>3.0. CO;2-4
- Gur-Wahnon D, Mizrachi T, Maaravi-Pinto FY, Lourbopoulos A, Grigoriadis N, Higazi AA, et al. The plasminogen activator system: involvement in central nervous system inflammation and a potential site for therapeutic intervention. *J Neuroinflamm.* (2013) 10:124. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-124.
- Islam I, Yuan S, West CW, Adler M, Bothe U, Bryant J, et al. Discovery of selective urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) inhibitors as a potential treatment for multiple sclerosis. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett.* (2018) 28:3372–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2018.09.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 La Starza, Ferraldeschi, Buscarinu, Romano, Fornasiero, Mechelli, Umeton, Ristori and Salvetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Thrombin and the *Coag-Inflammatory Nexus* in Neurotrauma, ALS, and Other Neurodegenerative Disorders

Barry W. Festoff^{1,2*} and Bruce A. Citron^{3,4}

¹ pHLOGISTIX LLC, Fairway, KS, United States, ² Department of Neurology, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, United States, ³ Laboratory of Molecular Biology Research & Development, VA New Jersey Health Care System, East Orange, NJ, United States, ⁴ Department of Pharmacology, Physiology & Neuroscience, Rutgers New Jersey Medical School, Newark, NJ, United States

This review details our current understanding of thrombin signaling in neurodegeneration, with a focus on amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS, Lou Gehriq's disease) as well as future directions to be pursued. The key factors are multifunctional and involved in regulatory pathways, namely innate immune and the coagulation cascade activation, that are essential for normal nervous system function and health. These two major host defense systems have a long history in evolution and include elements and regulators of the coagulation pathway that have significant impacts on both the peripheral and central nervous system in health and disease. The clotting cascade responds to a variety of insults to the CNS including injury and infection. The blood brain barrier is affected by these responses and its compromise also contributes to these detrimental effects. Important molecules in signaling that contribute to or protect against neurodegeneration include thrombin, thrombomodulin (TM), protease activated receptor 1 (PAR1), damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as high mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1) and those released from mitochondria (mtDAMPs). Each of these molecules are entangled in choices dependent upon specific signaling pathways in play. For example, the particular cleavage of PAR1 by thrombin vs. activated protein C (APC) will have downstream effects through coupled factors to result in toxicity or neuroprotection. Furthermore, numerous interactions influence these choices such as the interplay between HMGB1, thrombin, and TM. Our hope is that improved understanding of the ways that components of the coagulation cascade affect innate immune inflammatory responses and influence the course of neurodegeneration, especially after injury, will lead to effective therapeutic approaches for ALS, traumatic brain injury, and other neurodegenerative disorders.

Keywords: thrombin, thrombomodulin, PAR1, DAMPs, HMGB1, blood brain barrier, ALS, neurodegeneration

INTRODUCTION

In humans, the coagulation system or cascade was conceptualized over the past five to six decades to consist of five serine proteases (factor VII, FVII; factor IX, FIX; factor X, FX; protein C, PC and prothrombin, PT) that act with five cofactors (tissue factor, TF; factor V, FV; factor VIII, FVIII; thrombomodulin, TM; and protein S, PS) to control the generation of fibrin, which is subsequently

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tatiana Koudriavtseva, Istituto Nazionale del Cancro Regina Elena, Italy

Reviewed by:

Michele Papa, Università degli Studi della Campania Luigi Vanvitelli Caserta, Italy Joab Chapman, Tel Aviv University, Israel

> *Correspondence: Barry W. Festoff bwfestoff@mac.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 09 October 2018 Accepted: 17 January 2019 Published: 05 February 2019

Citation:

Festoff BW and Citron BA (2019) Thrombin and the Coag-Inflammatory Nexus in Neurotrauma, ALS, and Other Neurodegenerative Disorders. Front. Neurol. 10:59. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00059

44



cross-linked by Factor XIII (FXIII), a transglutaminase (1). This system is essentially conserved throughout mammalian species (schematically shown in Figure 1), but the system's endpoint, hemostasis, has been around for 450 million years. Hemostasis consists of three activities that are closely regulated; vasoconstriction, platelet aggregation, and clotting factor activation. Two different pathways, the intrinsic (contact) and extrinsic (TF), exist to activate clotting and the principal difference is the role of TF in the extrinsic pathway, which works very rapidly. With blood vessel damage, inactive FVII comes in contact with TF, a protein on the endothelial cell (EC), and activates it to a protease (2). Activated Factor VII then proteolytically activates FX that then binds activated FV to form prothrombinase. So, recapping, TF release is very rapid and generated by damaged blood vessels and surrounding tissues, which is especially high in brain, and initiates the extrinsic pathway.

Since endothelial cell damage is the principal mechanism for clotting factor activation via TF generation it invariably occurs with systemic microbial infection, as in sepsis, where the innate immune system is activated (2). Indicating sepsis in **Figure 1** is bacterial LPS (lipopolysaccharide or endotoxin). It was subsequently found that trauma, a sterile injury, also produces TF-generated coagulation (**Figure 1**) (3).

The clotting system is involved in host defense, and arose with and is linked to innate immunity or inflammation at very early evolutionary stages. TF is the key actor and common generator providing the critical *nexus* between these two major host defense systems (4). TF belongs to the cytokine receptor superfamily and is a type I integral membrane glycoprotein (5). Thrombin, the ultimate serine protease in the cascade, is the key downstream product of TF-initiated coagulation. Not only does it play a central role in hemostasis but more recent studies have revealed its fundamental and intense proinflammatory effects (6). These latter attributes of thrombin, just as its role in causing platelet aggregation, were subsequently ascribed to its non-coagulation actions as a ligand for cell-surface receptors, now known as protease-activated receptors (PARs) (7–9).

Although these thrombin-mediated, PAR-activated cellular effects involve thrombin's roles in cell proliferation and modulation, cytoprotection and apoptosis, its role as a proinflammatory mediator is key that further brings together coagulation and inflammation-the coag-inflamm nexus. Furthermore, it incorporates innate immune pathways such as toll-like receptors (TLRs) and complement, exosomes/microparticles (MPs) into this nexus. With cellular activation thrombin also recruits other systems to provide a balance for this coag-inflammatory pressure, and this includes the protein C (PC)-thrombomodulin (TM) natural anticoagulant/anti-inflammatory machinery along with activation and monitoring of the fibrinolytic system.

In the 1980's a few studies began to explore the direct effects of thrombin on cultured neural cells (10–13). Those initial reports ushered in a number of successive studies of thrombin, the coagulation and fibrinolytic cascades, TM, PARs in the CNS that continues to the present time. More recent efforts at translation of tissue culture and animal studies to neurologic diseases are now chronicled in other reports in this Frontiers in Neurology collection.

AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS (ALS) AND NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a neurodegenerative disorder exemplified clinically by muscle weakness and wasting and neuropathologically by degeneration of upper and lower motor neurons in the spinal cord, brain and brainstem (14–16). More recent evidence indicates that a number of *endophenotypes* exist for ALS beyond what was considered 30–50 years ago: the four *classic* motor neuron disorders. These are: classical ALS (upper and lower motor neuron and bulbar involvement), progressive muscular atrophy (PMA; only lower motor neuron), progressive bulbar palsy (PBP; brainstem with little if any extremity features) and primary lateral sclerosis (PLS; only upper motor) if it is actually part of the spectrum. As a distinct *nosologic* disorder ALS has been known in the medical literature since Charcot first described it 150 years ago in the late nineteenth century (17).

It is a fatal and currently enigmatic disease with death usually resulting from the inexorable progression of diaphragmatic and intercostal muscle weakness ultimately causing paralysis and respiratory failure typically within 5 years of diagnosis. The incidence of ALS has changed only slightly since the 1970 s and is \sim 1.5–3 per 100,000 in Western Europe and North America with little variation. It is overwhelmingly a sporadic disease (sALS), but genetic variants exist (fALS) accounting for no more than 10% of all cases (see below), although newer information may be changing this. ALS has an estimated lifetime risk of 1 in 400, is an adult-onset illness that is rare before the age of 40 TABLE 1 | Partial history of thrombin signaling in CNS and PNS: Key processes involving neural and neuromuscular health and the thrombin signaling pathway.

Event	References
Release of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) in ALS and denervation of muscle	(19–26)
Denervation and plasminogen activators	(27–38)
Thrombin, protease nexin I, PAR1, and synapse formation/elimination	(39–52)
Thrombospondin and ALS	(53–59)
Coagulation, astrocytes, BBB and neuroinflammation	(60-64)

years increasing exponentially with age. There are no known treatments that impact progression of the disease. Until 2017, the last Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved drug was RiluzoleTM, licensed in 1996 and that only extended survival of ALS patients 3 months. In May 2017 the FDA approved edaravone (RadicavaTM) to treat ALS patients based on a 2nd Phase 3 study after the first was negative (18). As the authors wrote: the drug "....showed efficacy in a small subset of people with ALS who met criteria identified in *post-hoc* analysis of a previous phase 3 study, showing a significantly smaller decline of ALSFRS-R score compared with placebo."

As discussed in detail below, our laboratory at the Kansas City VA Medical Center began studies of the coagulation system in ALS in the 1980's (see **Table 1**).

GENETICS AND ALS: fAMILIAL ALS (fALS)

Although it was considered a sporadic illness beginning in the 1990 s interest in the \sim 5–10% of ALS cases that had family history began. Identification of mutations in the superoxide dismutase 1 gene (*SOD1*) was reported in 1992 (65, 66). Over the next 25 years remarkable progress in our understanding of SOD1 and fALS has occurred (67–73).

Even amongst otherwise sALS cases about 1–3% possess missense mutations in SOD1 (74) and even more, about 5–10% of sporadic ALS cases are caused by intronic expansions in *C9orf72*, the open reading frame (ORF 72) on chromosome 9 (75–77). This indicates that 1 in 20 cases of sALS and about 40% of fALS are due to *C9orf72* hexanucleotide repeats.

With SOD1 and *C9orf72* more than 20 mutated genes have now been found to be specifically associated with fALS (78) that include *TARDBP* (79–81) and *FUS* (82, 83), the *fused in sarcoma* gene on chromosome 16p11.2, that is involved with RNA processing, which together with *SOD1* and *C9orf72*, are the four most common genes involved in causing ALS clinically. TARDP encodes a protein, TAR DNA binding protein (TDP-43) that accumulates in most sALS motor neurons but not SOD1 fALS neurons (84). These genes have been numbered now as ALS1-ALS22, along with FTDALS1, FTDALS 2, FTDALS 3, and FTDALS 4 (78). Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) may be changing the role of genetics in ALS including what we now consider sALS (85–87).

The changing viewpoint results from studies of the relatively uncommon genetic cases of this enigmatic and

fatal neurodegenerative disorder that have revealed some fundamental clues that might uncover novel therapeutic targets. Amongst these are more recently identified endophenotypes beyond the classical motor sub-types. Endophenotypes are inherited traits identified using clinical or laboratory measures electroencephalographic or electromyographic including abnormalities, neurocognitive deficiencies, and other modalities that identify impairment. Until recently they have been largely used in psychiatric and psychopathology-related research. Originally conceived by Gottesman and Shields (88), they were proposed to appear not only in patients but also in their unaffected relatives. The presumption of endophenotypes is that they are more proximate to gene action than the clinical diagnoses (89, 90). In neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's (PD) and Alzheimer's (AD) diseases, in addition to ALS, they might provide dual positives such as improving diagnoses and initiating therapy in preclinical stages (91-93).

ALS Endophenotypes Beyond the Motor System

ALS is now recognized as a multi-system neurodegeneration rather than a disease limited to motor neurons (94-97). Although 40 years ago if a patient was clinically diagnosed with ALS but exhibited cognitive symptoms that patient was not considered to have classical ALS and typically was removed from consideration. In fact, in the original El Escorial criteria (98) and El Escorial revisited (99, 100), the presence of dementia essentially ruled out ALS as diagnosis. This action was taken despite the fact that descriptions of cognitive and behavioral symptoms resembling frontotemporal dementia (FTD) in otherwise typical ALS motor phenotypes date back to the 1880s. The neurologic giant, Arnold Pick, whose name is eponymic for a subgroup of FTD known as Pick's disease, was aware that Charcot had considered that non-motor brain regions might also be involved in the neurodegeneration of what is now known as Maladie de Charcot or la sclérose latérale amyotrophique (SLA) by francophones.

One of the first descriptions of FTD associated with ALS in the modern era was provided by the late Canadian neurologist, Arthur Hudson (101), who also described mixed types of ALS with parkinsonism as well as with dementia and other clinical features, reminiscent of the *ALS-parkinsonism-dementia* complex of Guam (102, 103). Since then increasing interest in FTD-like symptoms in ALS patients appeared and it is now thought that about 10% of patients with one of the four classic motor-neuron disorders: classical ALS, PMA, PBP, and PLS, have cognitive features.

Subsequent reviews of the ALS/FTD complex have appeared (104, 105) that now also include associations with *C9orf72* expansions (77, 96, 106, 107). In fact, the seminal discovery of a GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat expansion (HRE) within the chromosome 9 ORF 72 (75–77, 108), has been established as cause for the most common form of ALS/FTD (107).

Given this common cause of sALS with FTD, 10% of sALS and an additional 10% of FTD, the next question, given that it has taken more than 25 years with SOD1 mutations, is just how cytotoxicity occurs with the GGGGCC (G4C2) HRE

within the C9ORF72 gene? Several recent studies have shed light on this: it has been reported that HRE RNA forms hairpin and G-quadruplex structures that bind and sequester RNAbinding proteins (RBPs). The GGGGCC are translated into specific dipeptide-repeat (DPR) proteins, and these form toxic aggregates, particularly the arginine-rich dipeptides, specifically proline-arginine (PR), that possess potent neurotoxicity forming aggregates in nuclei and nucleoli, and stress granule formation, with likely effects on translation (109). These authors used inducible pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) to differentiate into human motor neurons (iMNs), including those from ALS patients carrying the repeat-expanded C9ORF72. These studies revealed that C9ORF72 in the ALS patients was haploinsufficient. Thus, the ALS/FTD gene had only one functional copy, causing a loss-of-function mutation. Using blood cells from healthy individuals they used gene-editing techniques to delete the C9ORF72 or from ALS patients with the abnormal gene. They found that C9ORF72 cooperated with endosomes, was involved in vesicle trafficking and formation of lysosomes in motor neurons. When they repeated the nucleotide expansion this reduced C9ORF72 expression, and with this process, neurodegeneration was triggered via both gain- and loss-offunction mechanisms. The former produced a buildup of glutamate receptors, causing excitotoxicity, while the latter weakened neurotoxic dipeptide repeat proteins clearance derived from the repeat expansion. This cooperative action led to neurodegeneration. These and other researchers have begun using the gene-editing tool, CRISPR, specifically the CRISPR-Cas9 system, to perform genome-wide gene-knockout screens similar to studies in cancer (110).

Frontototemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) is the 2nd most common cause of dementia in elderly (over age 65) individuals and is actually a broad spectrum of neurological disorders. FTD is a variant of FTLD and from GWAS studies now appears to share a number of genetic as well as clinical and neuropathological features. In a recent GWAS study of more than 120,000 neurodegenerative diseases and controls unique genetic overlap between ALS and FTD spectrum diseases was found (111). Of interest, the H1 haplotype of the tau protein gene (MAPT) appeared to confer risk for ALS, as did *BNIP1*, a mitophagy-associated, proapoptotic protein.

If an *endophenotype strategy* in ALS should be implemented, as has since been undertaken in several neurodegenerative studies, it will depend both on quality and properties of a specific trait. It will be necessary to critically evaluate the trait(s) to determine if it truly can capture pre-diagnosis features of ALS/FTD. However, no consistency has yet appeared for endophenotypes or intermediate traits or even biomarkers, but some encouraging signs have appeared (112, 113). When such validated intermediate traits or biomarkers are considered, it will be necessary to forgo requiring that they be absolutely specific for ALS or FTD. Consequently, application of endophenotypes to future analyses of ALS and FTD seems more than justified.

With consideration of the ALS spectrum as a *non-cell autonomous* condition (114, 115), it brought to the picture the evidence that glial cells, including astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and even microglia play important roles in the pathogenesis of

ALS (116–118). Prior to the last decade it was widely assumed that motoneuronal cell death proceeded by cell autonomous mechanisms. However, information gained initially from using SOD1 transgenic mice and subsequently with other genetic models, the non-cell autonomous position evolved. In terms of *SOD1* more than 170 different mutations have been shown to cause fALS. When SOD1 mutations were expressed only in neurons neurodegeneration did not occur in the mice (119). But just how these mutations in SOD1 result in cytotoxicity is still unclear, despite more than 25 years of study. In fact, no consensus has emerged as to the principal mechanism for neurotoxicity or even how cells might protect themselves from it. Cleveland and colleagues proposed that ALS was just the tip of the iceberg and that non-cell autonomy will be shown to be the mode in other neurodegenerative diseases (114, 115, 120, 121).

Along these lines the multi-faceted roles of astrocytes have now become prominent for investigation in ALS (115, 118, 122-124). Discussed in more detailed below, reactive astrocytosis also known as astrogliosis, is a classic glial response to CNS injury and scar-forming reactive astrocytes are usually viewed as detrimental to clinical outcome (125), but not always (126). Astrocytes are also hallmarks of neurodegeneration (127) and using the ME7 prion mouse model Cunningham and colleagues showed that neurodegeneration primed astrocytes to produce exaggerated chemokine responses when stimulated with acute proinflammatory cytokines (128). The usual neuropathologic means to characterize reactive astrocytes is by using antibodies to the intermediate filament glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP). However, all phenotypes of astrocytes including reactive astrocytes and scar-forming astrocytes strongly express GFAP. In fact, being able to modulate extent and phenotypes of reactive astrocyte function (129) is potentially attractive as novel targets to enhance the functional outcomes after spinal cord injury (SCI) (130) or in ALS and other neurodegenerative diseases might be revealed (116, 131).

CONNECTING DOTS TO NEURODEGENERATION: NEUROINFLAMMATION, COAGULATION, BBB

Inflammatory, and Innate Immune Aspects of ALS

Reviewing numerous studies of the past two decades has divulged previously held concepts that upper and lower motor neurons were the focus of ALS disease burden have now been replaced by non-cell autonomous mechanisms. Such non-cell autonomous mechanisms, particularly neuroinflammation, may not only contribute to the disease process but may initiate it, as detailed below.

Based on several lines of evidence within the last 20 years both sALS and fALS have had numerous proinflammatory markers associated with them (132–135). More than two decades ago, Appel et al. emphasized potential autoimmunity in ALS (136–138), and several different approaches revealed that immunoglobulin G (IgG) from ALS patients' sera caused toxicity in cultured motor neurons and in mouse models (138–141), with activation of L-type Ca^{2+} -channels.

As exception proving the rule or standing in apparent contradiction, since it was present in the context of immunodeficiency, was our earlier report documenting ALS in a young homosexual male patient in whom HTLV-III (subsequently re-named HIV) was isolated (142). This initial observation was later confirmed in more recent accounts (143–147), suggesting that ALS, if truly autoimmune, may also be associated with immune deficiency disorders such as AIDs.

definition, neuroinflammation is inflammation By of nervous tissue and is characterized by proliferation and activation of glial cells, primarily microglia, and astrocytes, as well as transmigration of circulating immune cells, including polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs), monocyte/macrophages, and T lymphocytes (T-cells) into the parenchyma across the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (148-152). In addition to these cellular characteristics, neuroinflammation includes humoral features such as proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine overproduction, along with their respective receptors (151). Of relevance here are the numerous reports of neuroinflammation in both sALS and fALS including its appearance in pre-symptomatic phases in transgenic mice. However, confusion has developed from these data since both deleterious and beneficial effects have been found especially when focusing on motor neuron survival and also depending on what disease stage was examined (153, 154).

Microglia

The understanding of these complex interactions largely centers on microglia, considered the brain's resident macrophages, and their dual roles or Janus faces, in neurodegeneration in general and ALS in particular (107, 153). In essence, although microglial phenotypes were classified as either M1 ("classically activated") or M2 ("alternatively activated"), similar to circulating macrophages, phenotypic diversity of microglia is actually a spectrum (155). M1 microglia could be considered more proinflammatory while M2 more anti-inflammatory, possibly viewed as "deactivated" after phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. Clearly, a therapeutic strategy in ALS or in AD or PD for that matter, might be to selectively modulate microglial phenotypes, such as inhibiting or blocking M1 or enhancing M2. That may be too simple, although it is a strategy worth evaluating. However, this should not be done with pre-clinical animal models due to known differences in inflammatory responses compared to humans, but in human iPSC ex vivo models that incorporate elements of the blood-spinal cord barrier (BSCB)BBB/NVU along with neurons (156, 157).

Astrocytes

Of the several types of glial cells in the CNS astrocytes are the most abundant. Classically considered "supportive" cells for neurons astrocytes have recently been shown to be critical in regulating CNS immunity, but exactly how they do this is largely unknown. Astrocytes have been shown to be regionally diverse within the brain and in the spinal cord. Regions where astrocytes may be involved in regulating CNS immunity are at their "end-feet" localized to where they are contiguous with ECs of the BBB and neurovascular unit (NVU) as well as perivascular end-feet that form the *glia limitans*. All astrocytes are ramified and have processes that terminate on basal lamina impacting the perivascular compartment with their end-feet (127).

Of interest, one molecule highly concentrated in astrocytic end-feet is the gap junction protein, connexin 43 (Cx43) (158). Cx43 may have roles in the non-cell autonomous pathogenesis of sALS, implicating toxic mitochondria transferring from astrocytes to motor neurons at the BSCB (159, 160), as detailed below.

By analogy to macrophages, the M1/M2 macrophage and microglial nomenclature (161), although with caveats for its potential simplicity researchers have also applied these to reactive astrocytes (125, 127) into A1 and A2 sub-classes (162), whether caused by neuroinflammation or ischemia, respectively. As with microglial M1 and M2 sub-classes the macrophage phenotypic literature clearly indicates that these circulating immune cells display more than two polarization states (155, 163, 164). Chronic neurodegeneration also produces changes in the secretory profile of astrocytes in terms of what cytokines and chemokines are produced (128).

As M1 macrophages were considered destructive, so, too, are A1 astrocytes. Conversely, since M2 were considered reparative and protective as a macrophage or microglial phenotype, so were the A2 astrocytes. Liddelow, in the late Ben Barres' group, further showed that A1 were induced by reactive microglia (165).

INNATE IMMUNE ACTIVATION IN ALS

Over the past two decades our thinking about the brain and spinal cord as being an immunologically privileged site has changed. It was previously thought that the CNS could not mount an immune response nor process antigens. More recent studies have reversed that indicating that immune surveillance does take place in the CNS, and glial cells of all types act as immune effector cells within the CNS (149, 166). We now know, for example that the primary function of the CNS innate immune system is to provide neuroprotection against invading pathogens. However, in addition to infectious agents it is also protective for injury stimuli, and by so doing maintains CNS homeostasis.

Pattern Recognition Receptors, Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns in ALS

Knowledge of how membrane and intracellular receptors respond to pathogenic components dramatically increased with identification of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) to identify pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), the prototype for which is lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or endotoxin, from Gramnegative bacteria. The effect of LPS in the CNS is to cause *sickness behavior*, a coordinated set of adaptive behavioral changes to LPS and others (166–168) that includes: fever, anorexia, social withdrawal, lethargy, and decreased rapid-eye movement sleep
 TABLE 2 | PAMPs and DAMPs: danger/damage recognition systems extrinsic and intrinsic.

Patterns	Characteristics
Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)	Prototype is lipopolysaccharide (LPS; endotoxin)
	Activate several pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)
	PRRs include Toll-like (TLRs) and advanced glycation end-product (RAGE) receptors
	Highly Conserved among diverse species
	MAMP (microbe-associated molecular pattern) may be more accurate
Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs)	Prototype is high mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1)
	Non-histone DNA binding, nuclear protein
	Also present in mitochondria (mtDAMPs), like TFAM
	Activated late in sepsis, necrotic and dendritic cells
	Released with trauma, necrosis, including in the CNS

(REMS). Major innate immune system PRRs such as the Tolllike receptors (TLRs) and the receptor for advanced glycosylation endproducts (RAGE) are expressed in the CNS. Most TLRs, now 15 members of the family, and RAGE, are expressed in all neural cells (167–174).

Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs)

The *danger-damage theory* expressed in 1994 by Polly Matzinger (175–177) changed the concept of immunology from simply detecting self vs. non-self. Her thesis was that the immune system's driving force is the *need to recognize danger and prevent destruction*. This theory evolved with publication of the proceedings of the EMBO Workshop on Innate Danger Signals and HMGB1

that took place February 2006 in Milan, Italy (organized by M. Bianchi, K. Tracey, and U. Andersson) (178). In keeping with this concept a group of endogenous molecules that signaled damage or danger were developed and were referred to as *alarmins*, a sub-category of DAMPs. Subsequent studies indicated that the PRRs recognized and responded to DAMPs in essentially the same manner as their response to PAMPs (177, 179, 180) and that the CNS also participated (181). The comparison of PAMPs and DAMPs and list of both is shown in **Table 2**.

In fact, as an example that science, certainly more in the precloning era, was guilty of the *blind men describing the elephant* parable, Finnish workers had identified a protein that guided early neuroblasts to their final locations in developing mouse brain and called this protein, *amphoterin* (182, 183). Amphoterin, also called P30 protein, was subsequently found to be identical to HMGB1 (170), the prototypic alarmin/DAMP. The structure of the alarmin/DAMP HMGB1 is shown in **Figure 2A** and its known signaling in **Figure 2B**. The relationship between HMGB1 and thrombin is interesting. Both are prototypes of ancient host defense systems, inflammation and coagulation (60), but in addition, as shown in **Figure 2B**, thrombin can cleave HMGB1 at its –NH2 end and does so when bound to TM (184). Of interest, since then HMGB1 has been shown to be involved in a number of neuropathologic processes in the CNS and is also essential for brain development (181, 185).

As mentioned above PRRs, especially TLRs and RAGE, expressed by immune cells are also expressed by neural cells, particularly astrocytic and microglial, to mediate resident immune cell activation (169, 172). As described for AD and other neurodegenerative diseases (63, 148, 181, 186), DAMPs are probable candidates to partake in, and possibly initiate, ALS neurodegenerative activities. HMGB1 is over-expressed in SOD1 mutant mouse spinal cord and motor cortex and from patients with ALS (187). TLRs were also found to be overexpressed in ALS patients' spinal cords (188), as was RAGE, along with its proinflammatory ligands, including HMGB1, S100B and calgranulin (189). Furthermore, a number of groups have focused on levels of circulating soluble RAGE (sRAGE) in various diseases including diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases (190, 191), recently including ALS (174, 189, 192). As opposed to sRAGE being "specific" for any of those diseases it is clear that it is implicated in their pathogenesis and contributes to our understanding of innate immunity in these conditions. Furthermore, it might be useful as therapeutic strategy in one or more of them. Additionally, sRAGE has been considered a "decoy receptor" to block the cellular membrane receptor to block RAGE-mediated signaling. In this regard, sRAGE is decreased in blood while increased in affected CNS in ALS and other neurodegenerative diseases (193).

MITOCHONDRIA, ALS, AND mtDAMPs

A key mechanism whereby motor neurons degenerate in ALS is by influence of dysfunctional mitochondria (194-196). As in PD and AD and other neurodegenerative diseases, studies in SOD1 transgenics as well as in sALS cells have been performed that show such mitochondrial defects, with an eye to novel therapeutics (197-199). Almost 20 years have elapsed since the close temporal relationship of the onset of motor neuronal degeneration with initiation of astrogliosis in the SOD1 mouse model was first identified (200). With further understanding of the non-cell autonomous, specifically astrocytic, aspect of ALS pathogenesis abnormalities in astrocyte mitochondria have been found (201-205). In particular, the demonstration that "positive" aspects of mitochondria can be shifted to neurons in transcelluar organelle transfer (159) indicates that negative or toxic aspects of astrocytic mitochondria might be transferred to motor neurons in sALS or fALS (206, 207), possibly via connexin 43 (159, 160).

Of interest, aligned with the "danger theory" is the *endosymbiotic* theory that mitochondria originated from protobacteria that entered into an endosymbiotic relationship with phagocytic, unicellular anaerobes at least a billion years ago (208), prior to the accumulation of oxygen in the atmosphere. Mitochondrial DAMPs (mtDAMPs), are protein DAMPs, coded



advanced glycation end products (RAGE) to initiate proinflammatory signaling as part of innate immune activation.

for by mitochondrial or nuclear genes, that when released from mitochondria are potently proinflammatory (209). Most mtDAMPs are encoded by nuclear genes that after transcription translocate from nuclei to mitochondria. These mtDAMPs are then released into the circulation with infection (sepsis), trauma and/or systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). In support of this being relevant in the CNS we showed that mtDNA, a nucleic acid mtDAMP, was potently proinflammatory for neurons and microglia (210). Of interest, PCR-amplified purified mtDNA was not proinflammatory, rather only brain isolated mtDNA in the form of nucleoids bound to transcription factor of mitochondria A (TFAM), itself

a mtDAMP (211, 212), was proinflammatory (211, 212). Such studies support the prediction that mitochondrial dysfunction in neurodegeneration, and neurotrauma, is tightly linked to neuroinflammation (151, 213), especially with mtDAMP involvement in neurodegeneration (214). The potential roles of mtDAMPs in neurodegeneration are shown in **Figure 3**.

BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER (BBB)

Just as the CNS responds to PAMPs like LPS so does it respond to DAMPs, both initiating proinflammatory signaling and for the bridging or disruption of the BBB (63, 64). The history



of a perceived association between ALS and BBB dysfunction actually dates back to the 1940 s when Robert Aird began a 40 year involvement with the BBB in neurologic diseases (215–219). However, it took several more decades before technology caught up with the concept that ALS was associated with BBB or bloodspinal cord barrier (BSCB) dysfunction, perhaps even at the onset of the disorder (220–231).

Evans blue extravasation from capillaries into spinal cord parenchyma was found in early symptomatic SOD1 transgenic (G93A) mice but it was uncertain whether BBB/BSCB disruption was cause or effect of motor neuron degeneration (220, 221, 223, 232, 233). More evidence suggestive of causative influences have since appeared with further studies of SOD1 transgenic mice with an eye toward therapy as well (233–235). This situation is fundamentally the same for neuroinflammation in ALS—that is, is it cause or effect? The findings that the *C9orf72* expansions are also associated with myeloid cell abnormalities and early BBB dysfunction supports the role of these processes in pathogenesis (107, 236). The concept of the BBB being both *target* of circulating coag-inflammatory molecules as well as the *source* of pro-(neuro)inflammatory mediators is shown by Festoff et al. (63).

NEUROTRAUMA AND ALS

The progression of neurodegenerative disease following neurotrauma is both anecdotal and supported by epidemiologic statistics. Dementia, including AD, and microvascular dementia (mVAD), is now considered to have increased risk following traumatic brain injury (TBI), while the specific mechanistic details are still under study. Similarly, ALS occurs at an increased risk following TBI, more so, in fact than after typical SCI. Numerous mechanisms have been suggested for this association of neurotrauma and neurodegeneration including increased interest for almost 30 years in the nexus of inflammation, BBB disruption and coagulation.

Early reviews of mechanical and other forms of spinal and CNS injury associated with the development of ALS have appeared, some positive while others were negative (237, 238). Case-control studies, however, are few and those, such as that published from Olmsted County, Minnesota by Kurland and colleagues were not supportive (239). However, more recent larger population-based case control investigations, such as the Danish study, have shown an association especially with trauma at an early age (240, 241). Even broader studies such as the European EURALS consortium study (242) are giving credence to a role for trauma in ALS pathogenesis. This large study showed that more than 2 head injuries was associated with >3fold increased risk of ALS. Although the site of injury was not important the risk was only ~2-fold when trauma occurred between 35 and 54 years of age. Certainly the age at first trauma might help to explain discrepancies in results of past studies of trauma and ALS.

In addition, studies of chronic traumatic encephalopathy (CTE) with repeated mild traumatic brain injury (mTBI) or concussions (243–245), indicate that there may be methods to identify, monitor and treat and/or prevent neurodegenerative disease development in the context of neurotrauma. With more thorough investigation into CTE and former professional athletes, an increased incidence of clinical ALS diagnosis has been reported. A recent study of CTE and CTE associated with ALS (CTE-ALS) confirmed that molecular changes co-existed pathologically. Specifically, these were phosphorylation of tau at threonine 175 (Thr175) and at Thr231 along with GSK3 β were found in these tauopathies (246). Furthermore, similar findings were present in rats subjected to moderate TBI in a controlled cortical impact (CCI) model (246). These findings suggest that comparable underlying molecular mechanisms for abnormal tau

phosphorylation associated with CTE neuropathologic aspects may be mimicked in a rat moderate TBI model. However, they do not provide evidence for a neurotraumatic basis for sALS.

What neurotrauma does tell us for ALS is that there is a distinct relationship between trauma, BBB disruption and neuroinflammation (247–250), all potential contributing pathogenetic factors in ALS. From the BBB disruption perspective, mechanisms involved with TBI include impactinduced shear force stress that causes initial vascular injury followed by escape of proteins along with extravasation from brain to blood as well macromolecule leakage and cell transmigration from blood to brain.

COAGULATION ASPECTS OF ALS AND OTHER NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

Beginning in the 1980s through the 2000's our laboratory focused its attention on thrombin, the ultimate serine protease in the coagulation cascade, its inhibitors and receptors as specific mediators of either toxic or trophic effects on the nervous system. Our studies utilized in vitro tissue culture to probe the effects of thrombin, and inhibitors of thrombin, on neurons and glial cells. Once the thrombin receptor, subsequently named proteaseactivated receptor 1 (PAR1), was identified and sequenced by Coughlin's group in the early 1990 s, our studies also involved the expression of PAR1 in parts of the nervous system, in particular, the spinal cord as well as in the brain and neuromuscular system. Our translational interest was primarily in SCI and ALS, since the initial studies in neuronal types found exquisite sensitivity of spinal cord motor neurons that lead to apoptotic motor neuronal cell death in culture by thrombin cleavage of the G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR), PAR1. We also explored PARs in AD and PD as well. A number of other groups in Switzerland, Germany, Israel, Italy, Korea, China and Japan, amongst others, as well as the U.S. also began exploring coagulation and fibrinolytic proteases and inhibitors in the nervous system, especially after publication of The Maratea Meeting Proceedings in 1990 (251).

Although the emphasis of this review is on ALS similar results and concepts have been found for other neurodegenerative diseases including AD, PD, and multiple sclerosis (MS) and numerous reviews are available (252). Of interest, until recent evidence for biased signaling (see below) through PAR1 by APC was discovered (253), the previous data indicated that high thrombin concentrations were neurotoxic and pathologic in brain while low thrombin concentrations could induce neuronal and astrocytic survival after various brain insults. Interestingly, thrombin-mediated cell death and cell survival shared initial signaling proteins (48, 254).

THROMBOMODULIN (TM) IN CNS DEVELOPMENT, NEUROTRAUMA, AND NEURODEGENERATION

TM was discovered by Esmon and Owen in the 1970s and reported in 1982 (255, 256). This discovery came after a decade

or more of research that resulted in discovery of Protein C (PC), a vitamin-K dependent factor that is activated by thrombin that results in activated protein C (APC), a serine protease. Initially, the principal role of APC was thought to be its anticoagulant function whereby it proteolytically inactivated FV and FVIII (Figure 1). However, this multi-molecular system, now termed the PC-TM-EPCR (endothelial PC receptor) pathway (257, 258), is a natural mechanism to regulate hemostasis and to integrate it with other host defense system such as innate immunity, inflammation, and to control cell proliferation. Since its cloning, sequencing and chromosomal localization (259), the bulk of studies on TM have also been in terms of its role as a natural anticoagulant. However, as important as this action is, the integration by TM of hemostasis and innate immunity may determine its even greater future in disease processes that affect the CNS.

Of interest, shortly after the discovery of TM a report indicated the presence of a surface marker protein in developing mouse parietal endoderm that was modulated by cAMP (260). Shortly thereafter, fetomodulin was found to be identical to TM by contemporary gene cloning techniques (261). Thus, TM or fetomodulin (FM) is present at very early developmental stages and in adults TM expression is greatest in ECs, more predominant in small, microvascular than in large vessel ECs, and was found in essentially all ECs (262). However, the first article concerning TM and CNS vasculature was negative reporting its absence in brain ECs (263). This was not correct since it was subsequently reported that bovine as well-human brain capillaries expressed TM (264, 265), again suggesting its role as a microvascular EC marker. Not surprisingly given its early developmental appearance in parietal endoderm (FM), TM is also expressed in a number of other cells including keratinocytes, osteoblasts, monocytes, neutrophils and chondrocytes, amongst others. We first found that TM was expressed in mouse brain astrocytes, where it was functionally identical to its role in ECs (266). Subsequently, TM was found to be a novel marker of injury-induced astrogliosis, and identified the involvement of thrombin-activated PAR1 (267). This finding suggested its involvement in nervous system injury, i.e., neurotrauma. The TM gene (THBD) is intronless and is structurally separated into five distinct domains (see Figure 4). Biochemically, TM is a chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan (CSPG), and consistent with its role as a CNS injury-related CSPG would be increased in the "glial scar" and assemble along with other CSPGs such as neurocan and phosphacan that are also expressed in reactive astrocytes (268).

As shown in **Figure 4** TM's additional role in regulating inflammation, apart from coagulation and thrombin's proinflammatory role by PAR1 activation, is largely encoded at its –NH2 terminal, known as the C-type lectin like domain (TM-CTLD). The CTLD is involved in a host of inflammatory diseases, as described in the treatise by Conway (258), one of the leaders in this field. A mechanism for the CTLD in these conditions was provided by the pioneering work of Maruyama's group that discovered that the TM-CTLD bound and neutralized the DAMP alarmin HMGB1 (269). This same group found that HMGB1 was upregulated in spinal cord parenchyma



(thrombin) and proinflammatory (HMGB1) agents.

following SCI (270). Beyond its sequestering and neutralization of HMGB1 the TM-CTLD also interferes with complement activation and binds to LPS/endotoxin, and, in Gram-negative bacterial infections, to the Lewis Y antigen (271). Of interest, transgenic mice lacking the NH2-terminal CTLD (TM^{LeD/LeD}) have heightened susceptibility to treatment with LPS (258) and should be more vulnerable to weight-drop SCI than wild type mice. The deposition of HMGB1 in the injured spinal cord was shown in rats (270), along with its release into the circulation.

The relationship between the BBB, more precisely the BSCB, and the *coag-inflammation nexus* in ALS merits comment. As mentioned above, although BBB/BSCB dysfunction in ALS was discussed as far back as the 1940 s, it took many decades and newer technology to establish its actual existence. The identification by Garbuzova-Davis and her colleagues that BSCB dysfunction occurred in both ALS patients and fALS SOD1 mice, prior to motor neuron degeneration (220, 221, 226–229), has been confirmed by other groups (222–225, 230, 231). Furthermore, there is a connection between BSCB dysfunction and the PC–TM-EPCR pathway, as shown by the amelioration of motor problems in SOD1 mice by treatment with non-proteolytic/non-anticoagulant APC analogs (224).

A simultaneous activation of the coagulation cascade after injury, as occurs in sepsis, is an ancient host response dating back very early in the evolution of eukaryotes. The contemporary clinical correlate happens in sepsis and injury where excessive thrombin activation develops in disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) associated with sepsis and sterile traumatic SIRS (272, 273). A phylogenetic clue into the nexus of clotting and inflammation comes from studies of the omnipresent East Coast North American horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*, with its open circulatory system containing the hemolymph, and single cell, the amoebocyte, with properties of both platelets and phagocytes. Limulus has survived for >250 million years exposed to LPS or endotoxin in the ocean from *Cyanobacteria* or bluegreen algae where they have been for the past 2 billion years (274). The Limulus lysate detection kit for LPS in blood has been in use worldwide for over 30 years. Coagulopathy also commonly develops with TBI since the brain is a rich source of TF and thromboplastin (275).

It should be noted at this point that the thrombin \rightarrow PAR1 \rightarrow BBB dysfunction pathogenetic pathway is not specific for ALS but occurs in all situations where intravascular prothrombin activation to α-thrombin exceeds its neutralization either by circulating anti-thrombin (AT) or ECbound TM and the EPCR (276, 277). This dysfunction pathway would be applicable to AD, PD, ALS and neurodegeneration, in general, especially in those situations associated with antecedent trauma. In this regard, all PARs are expressed on ECs and brain microvascular ECs are no exception. However, PAR1 and PAR4 are also expressed on brain pericytes, which appear to be the most thrombin-sensitive perivascular cells to release membrane metalloprotease-9 (MMP-9) (278, 279). MMP-9 has been shown to cause BBB disruption by proteolyzing tight junction (TJ) proteins (280, 281).

Recombinant APC (rAPC; drotrecogin alfa, activated; XigrisTM) was the first agent shown to stimulate PAR1-mediated cytoprotection approved for human use (in severe sepsis). However, it was voluntarily removed from the market by Eli Lilly in 2011. A number of studies have emphasized the cytoprotective role of APC, encompassing anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory activities, as well as significant stabilization of endothelial barriers including the BBB and BSCB. Most studies indicated this was mediated by PAR1 or PAR3 (282). All PARs are expressed on ECs (9, 283, 284) and brain microvascular ECs of the BBB should be no exception. The evidence that thrombin, via PAR1 activation, caused vascular leakage and disruption across various vascular barriers (285–287), including the BBB (288)



while APC activation of PAR1 did the reverse, i.e., protection and prevention of leakage (253, 282), was a conundrum. However, as reviewed by Griffin et al. (282) this lead PAR/APC researchers to the notion of "biased signaling", a phenomenon found in other GPCRs, a group to which PARs belong. Biased signaling through PAR1 for thrombin and APC, as conceived by Griffin et al. is shown in Figure 5: thrombin cleaves PAR1 at ARG41 in the extracellular -NH2 domain, while APC does so at ARG46 (282). At PAR1 thrombin signals through the small GTPase RhoA and ERK1/2 to disrupt, while APC through RAC1, β-arrestin and P13k/Akt to protect. This puts PAR1 on BBB ECs in a very significant position and its different proteolytic ligands to destroy or save BBB function. APC is effective in compression SCI (289) and we found that recombinant TM is also neuroprotective in rat weight-drop contusion SCI (61). More recently, Noble-Haeusslein and colleagues reported that APC biased signaling through PAR1 enhanced locomotor recovery in rat SCI (290). Zlokovic and colleagues showed that treatment with non-proteolytic/non-anticoagulant APC analogs (224) improved motor functions in SOD1 mice.

PARs in ALS and Other Neurodegenerative Diseases

We found that nM thrombin concentrations induced tau neurofibrillary tangle-like aggregates (NFTs) in murine hippocampal neurons and that this required PAR activation that was followed by delayed synaptophysin reduction and apoptotic neuronal death (291). Subsequently, others showed that the initial fragmentation of tau, necessary to then cause aggregation into NFTs, was due to a thrombin-like protease (292). These authors wrote that fragmentation by a thrombin-like protease was a "prelude" to aggregation, although phosphorylation was not. HIV-associated neurodegeneration (HAND) was also shown to require thrombin and PAR1 expression in astrocytes, as subsequently reviewed (293). McGeer and colleagues then showed that thrombin, as well as prothrombin, accumulated with NFTs in the brains of AD patients (294). Additional evidence for thrombin and PAR1 in neurodegeneration was provided by others in AD (295, 296) and PD (297) and then reviewed as well (50).

Our preliminary data indicated that PARs were increased and active in several murine ALS models in which microglia express increased monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) and other markers. In regards to neurotrauma, we found that SCI was accompanied by an early and significant upregulation of neurotoxic serine proteases, prothrombin, and PAR1 in the rat spinal cord (298). It was subsequently reported that thrombinrecruited microglia also express MCP-1 (now CCL2) and that PAR1 activation is required for this (299).

The *wobbler* mouse is a model of motor neuron disease sharing many features with ALS, including loss of spinal motor neurons, neuromuscular loss of function over time, and TDP-43 aggregates and C-terminal fragments identical to those seen in the sporadic form of ALS (300). By optimizing transcription and quantitative PCR procedures to facilitate rapid copy number determination in small RNA samples, we documented a 5-fold greater level of PAR1 mRNA in the cervical spinal cord of *wobbler* (wr/wr) compared to wild type mice (301). Then we subsequently

confirmed and extended these results showing that PAR1 mRNA was dramatically increased in spinal cord alpha motor neurons in homozygous, spontaneously mutant autosomal recessive wr/wr mice (302). The gene for wobbler mutation is located on mouse chromosome 11 (303) and was since shown to be a point mutation on Vps54 (vacuolar protein sorting 54) involved with the Golgi apparatus (304). Even before the gene was determined an informative marker at the wobbler locus, the glutamine synthase 1 (glns-1) pseudogene, permitted genotyping mice prior to phenotype development as previously described (305). Using this technique, we found that homozygotes expressed an 8fold increase in PAR1 message by P8, more than 2 weeks prior to phenotype detection and this appeared primarily in motor neurons (301-303, 305, 306). These earlier studies focused attention on potential roles of coagulation proteases and PARs in the nervous system but took some time before they had generated additional interest in pursuing direct connections between them, neurotrauma, neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration.

Following our earlier reviews (47, 48, 251, 307) more recent efforts have emphasized the participation of coagulation in various neuroinflammatory diseases of the CNS (64, 308–310). Connections between tissue transglutaminase (tTG), in the same family as the clotting cascade Factor XIII, cross-linking and neuroinflammation in ALS also exist. SCI has been shown to upregulate cytokines, microglia and tTG (311). In addition, we found that SCI induced a "switch" from a GTPase function of tTG to a novel GTP-independent cross-linking isoform in the spinal cord (311). More recently, tTG has been implicated in promoting neuroinflammation in SOD1 mice (312). It would be of interest to determine whether tTG upregulation was present in ALS spinal cord and if alternative transcription to a short isoform existed.

EPILOG, AND POSSIBLY, PROLOG (TO THE NEXT PHASE)

Vorapaxar is a natural product-based orthosteric antagonist of thrombin-induced PAR1 that inhibits all signaling

REFERENCES

- 1. Berg DE. Components and defects of the coagulation system. *Nurse Pract Forum* (1992) 3:62–71.
- Mackman N, Tilley RE, Key NS. Role of the extrinsic pathway of blood coagulation in hemostasis and thrombosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2007) 27:1687–93. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.141911
- 3. Gando S. Disseminated intravascular coagulation in trauma patients. *Semi. Thrombosis Hemostasis* (2001) 27:585–92. doi: 10.1055/s-2001-18864
- Opal SM. The nexus between systemic inflammation and disordered coagulation in sepsis. J. Endotoxin Res. (2004) 10:125–9. doi: 10.1177/09680519040100020901
- Kirchhofer D, Nemerson Y. Initiation of blood coagulation: the tissue factor/factor VIIa complex. *Curr Opin Biotechnol.* (1996) 7:386–91. doi: 10.1016/S0958-1669(96)80112-1
- Shavit Stein E, Ben Shimon M, Artan Furman A, Golderman V, Chapman J, Maggio N. Thrombin inhibition reduces the expression of brain inflammation markers upon systemic LPS treatment. *Neural Plast.* (2018) 2018:7692182. doi: 10.1155/2018/7692182

downstream (313). The FDA approved it for post-myocardial infarction following success in two large pivotal multi-center Phase III outcome clinical trials in patients with coronary atherothrombosis. It has a low molecular weight (590.7) and a long effective half-life (3–4 days).

Surprisingly, the FDA review of the adverse events for both Phase III clinical trials revealed an increased number of ALS diagnoses in the vorapaxar arm compared to the placebo arm (314). This adverse event was not mentioned in the publication of the results and this vorapaxar-ALS association may recall the studies we and others carried out with thrombin, PAR1, thrombospondin, TM and related components of the coaginflamm system in development, neurotrauma, ALS and other neurodegenerative disorders, as described above (see Table 1). Since vorapaxar appears to inhibit all signaling downstream of the PAR1 GPCR it would seem that is where attention should be paid for clues to ALS pathogenesis related to it. Although it is still a relatively rare occurrence after vorapaxar we would hope that knowledge of this small but surprising ALS signal after vorapaxar will uncover novel therapeutic targets for this enigmatic and fatal neurodegenerative disorder and related disorders where synapse retraction may be the earliest pathophysiologic sign of the disease (22, 24-26) and where thrombin \rightarrow PAR1 activation may well play a role (51, 52).

In this regard, recent development of small molecule PAR antagonists termed *parmodulins* (315, 316) are based on findings that biased signaling peptides developed around APC are cytoprotective at PAR1 and not anticoagulant (282). We hope that such research will help advance whether or not potential neuronal degeneration and/or impaired neuromuscular activity is a class-specific adverse effect after PAR antagonists (317).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BF conceived of the review, and was lead on the evaluation of the literature and writing. BC also contributed to the reviewing, writing, and figures.

- Coughlin SR. How the protease thrombin talks to cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (1999) 96:11023–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.20.11023
- Derian CK, Damiano BP, D'Andrea MR, Andrade-Gordon P. Thrombin regulation of cell function through protease-activated receptors: implications for therapeutic intervention. *Biochemistry* (2002) 67:56–64. doi: 10.1023/A:1013900130415
- 9. Hollenberg MD. Proteinase-mediated signaling: proteinase-activated receptors (PARs) and much more. *Life Sci.* (2003) 74:237–46. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2003.09.010
- Snider RM, Richelson E. Thrombin stimulation of guanosine 3',5'monophosphate formation in murine neuroblastoma cells (clone N1E-115). *Science* (1983) 221:566–8. doi: 10.1126/science.6306770
- Means ED, Anderson DK. Thrombin interactions with central nervous system tissue and implications of these interactions. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (1986) 485:314–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1986.tb34593.x
- Snider RM. Thrombin effects on cultured nerve cells: clinical implications and evidence for a novel mechanism of neuronal activation. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (1986) 485:3 10–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1986.tb34592.x

- Gurwitz D, Cunningham DD. Thrombin modulates and reverses neuroblastoma neurite outgrowth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1988) 85:3440-4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.85.10.3440
- Rowland LP. Diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. (1998) 160 (Suppl. 1):S6–24. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(98)00193-2
- Rowland LP, Shneider NA. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (2001) 344:1688–700. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200105313442207
- Bruijn LI, Miller TM, Cleveland DW. Unraveling the mechanisms involved in motor neuron degeneration in ALS. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2004) 27:723–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.27.070203.144244
- Charcot JM. Sclerose des cordons lateraux de la moelle epiniere chez femme hysterique atteinte de contracture permanente des quatre membres. *Bull Soc Med Hop Paris* (1865) 2(Suppl. 2):24–42.
- Writing G, Edaravone ALSSG. Safety and efficacy of edaravone in well defined patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2017) 16:505–12. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30115-1
- Fernandez HL, Duell MJ, Festoff BW. Neurotrophic control of 16S acetylcholinesterase at the vertebrate neuromuscular junction. *J Neurobiol.* (1979) 10:441–54. doi: 10.1002/neu.480100503
- Fernandez HL, Duell MJ, Festoff BW. Cellular distribution of 16S acetylcholinesterase. J Neurochem. (1979) 32:581–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1979.tb00387.x
- Fernandez HL, Duell MJ, Festoff BW. Bidirectional axonal transport of 16S acetylcholinesterase in rat sciatic nerve. J Neurobiol. (1980) 11:31–9. doi: 10.1002/neu.480110105
- 22. Festoff BW. Neuromuscular junction macromolecules in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic leteral sclerosis. *Med Hypotheses*. (1980) 6:121–31. doi: 10.1016/0306-9877(80)90078-X
- Festoff BW, Fernandez HL. Plasma and red blood cell acetylcholinesterase in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Muscle Nerve* (1981) 4:41–7. doi: 10.1002/mus.880040108
- 24. Festoff BW. Release of acetylcholinesterase in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Adv Neurol.* (1982) 36:503–17.
- Campanari ML, Garcia-Ayllon MS, Ciura S, Saez-Valero J, Kabashi E. Neuromuscular junction impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: reassessing the role of acetylcholinesterase. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2016) 9:160. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2016.00160
- Cappello V, Francolini M. Neuromuscular junction dismantling in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E2092. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102092
- Festoff BW, Hantai D, Soria J, Thomaidis A, Soria C. Plasminogen activator in mammalian skeletal muscle: characteristics of effect of denervation on urokinase-like and tissue activator. *J Cell Biol.* (1986) 103:1415–21. doi: 10.1083/jcb.103.4.1415
- Festoff BW. Proteases, their inhibitors and the extracellular matrix: factors in nerve-muscle development and maintenance. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (1987) 209:25–39. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4684-5302-7_6
- Festoff BW, Rao JS, Maben C, Hantai D. Plasminogen activators and their inhibitors in the neuromuscular system: I. developmental regulation of plasminogen activator isoforms during *in vitro* myogenesis in two cell lines. *J Cell Physiol.* (1990) 144:262–71. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1041440212
- Festoff BW, Rao JS, Rayford A, Hantai D. Plasminogen activators and their inhibitors in the neuromuscular system: II. serpins and serpin: protease complex receptors increase during *in vitro* myogenesis. *J Cell Physiol*. (1990) 144:272–9. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1041440213
- Festoff BW, Rao JS, Hantai D. Plasminogen activators and inhibitors in the neuromuscular system: III. The serpin protease nexin I is synthesized by muscle and localized at neuromuscular synapses. J Cell Physiol. (1991) 147:76–86. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1041470111
- Hantai D, Rao JS, Festoff BW. Rapid neural regulation of muscle urokinaselike plasminogen activator as defined by nerve crush. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1990) 87:2926–30. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.8.2926
- Hantai D, Rao JS, Kahler C, Festoff BW. Decrease in plasminogen activator correlates with synapse elimination during neonatal development of mouse skeletal muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1989) 86:362–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.1.362

- Tian WH, Festoff BW, Blot S, Diaz J, Hantai D. Synaptic transmission blockade increases plasminogen activator activity in mouse skeletal muscle poisoned with botulinum toxin type A. Synapse (1995) 20:24–32. doi: 10.1002/syn.890200105
- Rao JS, Chen M, Festoff BW. Plasminogen activator inhibitor 1, the primary regulator of fibrinolysis, in normal human cerebrospinal fluid. *J Neurosci Res.* (1993) 34:340–5. doi: 10.1002/jnr.490340311
- Festoff BW, Rao JS, Chen M. Protease nexin I, thrombin- and urokinaseinhibiting serpin, concentrated in normal human cerebrospinal fluid. *Neurology* (1992) 42:1361–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL42.7.1361
- Blondet B, Barlovatz-Meimon G, Festoff BW, Soria C, Soria J, Rieger F, et al. Plasminogen activators in the neuromuscular system of the wobbler mutant mouse. *Brain Res.* (1992) 580:303–10. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92)90958-C
- Magnusson C, Hogklint L, Libelius R, Tagerud S. Expression of mRNA for plasminogen activators and protease nexin-1 in innervated and denervated mouse skeletal muscle. *J Neurosci Res.* (2001) 66:457–63. doi: 10.1002/jnr.10000
- Smirnova IV, Ma JY, Citron BA, Ratzlaff KT, Gregory EJ, Akaaboune M, et al. Neural thrombin and protease nexin I kinetics after murine peripheral nerve injury. J Neurochem. (1996) 67:2188–99. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.67052188.x
- Festoff BW, Reddy RB, VanBecelaere M, Smirnova I, Chao J. Activation of serpins and their cognate proteases in muscle after crush injury. *J Cell Physiol.* (1994) 159:11–8. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1041590103
- Citron BA, Suo Z, SantaCruz K, Davies PJ, Qin F, Festoff BW. Protein crosslinking, tissue transglutaminase, alternative splicing and neurodegeneration. *Neurochem Int.* (2002) 40:69–78. doi: 10.1016/S0197-0186(01)00062-6
- Festoff BW, Suo Z, Citron BA. Plasticity and stabilization of neuromuscular and CNS synapses: interactions between thrombin protease signaling pathways and tissue transglutaminase. *Int Rev Cytol.* (2001) 211:153–77. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7696(01)11018-1
- Citron BA, Gregory EJ, Steigerwalt DS, Qin F, Festoff BW. Regulation of the dual function tissue transglutaminase/Galpha(h) during murine neuromuscular development: gene and enzyme isoform expression. *Neurochem Int.* (2000) 37:337–49. doi: 10.1016/S0197-0186(00)00044-9
- 44. Turgeon VL, Lloyd ED, Wang S, Festoff BW, Houenou LJ. Thrombin perturbs neurite outgrowth and induces apoptotic cell death in enriched chick spinal motoneuron cultures through caspase activation. *J Neurosci.* (1998) 18:6882–91. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-17-06882.1998
- Chou SM, Taniguchi A, Wang HS, Festoff BW. Serpin=serine proteaselike complexes within neurofilament conglomerates of motoneurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. (1998) 160 (Suppl. 1):S73–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(98)00202-0
- Houenou LJ, Turner PL, Li L, Oppenheim RW, Festoff BW. A serine protease inhibitor, protease nexin I, rescues motoneurons from naturally occurring and axotomy-induced cell death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1995) 92:895–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.3.895
- Smirnova IV, Ho GJ, Fenton JW II, Festoff BW. Extravascular proteolysis and the nervous system: serine protease/serpin balance. Semi Thrombosis Hemostasis (1994) 20:426–32. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1001931
- Ho GJ, Smirnova IV, Akaaboune M, Hantai D, Festoff BW. Serine proteases and their serpin inhibitors in Alzheimer's disease. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (1994) 48:296–304. doi: 10.1016/0753-3322(94)90175-9
- Almonte AG, Sweatt JD. Serine proteases, serine protease inhibitors, and protease-activated receptors: roles in synaptic function and behavior. *Brain Res.* (2011) 1407:107–22. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.06.042
- Krenzlin H, Lorenz V, Danckwardt S, Kempski O, Alessandri B. The importance of thrombin in cerebral injury and disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:E84. doi: 10.3390/ijms17010084
- Liu Y, Fields RD, Fitzgerald S, Festoff BW, Nelson PG. Proteolytic activity, synapse elimination, and the Hebb synapse. J Neurobiol. (1994) 25:325–35. doi: 10.1002/neu.480250312
- Zoubine MN, Ma JY, Smirnova IV, Citron BA, Festoff BW. A molecular mechanism for synapse elimination: novel inhibition of locally generated thrombin delays synapse loss in neonatal mouse muscle. *Dev Biol.* (1996) 179:447–57. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1996.0274

- Watkins SC, Lynch GW, Kane LP, Slayter HS. Thrombospondin expression in traumatized skeletal muscle. correlation of appearance with post-trauma regeneration. *Cell Tissue Res.* (1990) 261:73–84. doi: 10.1007/BF00329440
- Smirnova IV, Festoff BW. Alterations in serum thrombospondin in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. (1994) 127:207–13. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(94)90074-4
- Rao JS, Hantai D, Festoff BW. Thrombospondin, a platelet alpha-granule and matrix glycoprotein, is increased in muscle basement membrane of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Sci.* (1992) 113:99–107. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(92)90271-L
- Hantai D, Rao JS, Reddy BR, Festoff BW. Developmental appearance of thrombospondin in neonatal mouse skeletal muscle. *Eur J Cell Biol.* (1991) 55:286–94.
- Ho GJ, Gregory EJ, Smirnova IV, Zoubine MN, Festoff BW. Cross-linking of beta-amyloid protein precursor catalyzed by tissue transglutaminase. *FEBS Lett.* (1994) 349:151–4. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(94)00663-6
- Vanhoutte D, Schips TG, Kwong JQ, Davis J, Tjondrokoesoemo A, Brody MJ, et al. Thrombospondin expression in myofibers stabilizes muscle membranes. *Elife* (2016) 5:e17589. doi: 10.7554/eLife.17589
- 59. Wang B, Guo W, Huang Y. Thrombospondins and synaptogenesis. *Neural Regen Res.* (2012) 7:1737–43. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-5374.2012.22.009
- Festoff BW. Designing drugs that encourage spinal cord injury healing. *Exp* Opin Drug Discov. (2014) 9:1151–65. doi: 10.1517/17460441.2014.941350
- Festoff BW, Ameenuddin S, Santacruz K, Morser J, Suo Z, Arnold PM, et al. Neuroprotective effects of recombinant thrombomodulin in controlled contusion spinal cord injury implicates thrombin signaling. *J Neurotrauma*. (2004) 21:907–22. doi: 10.1089/0897715041526168
- Festoff BW, Li C, Woodhams B, Lynch S. Soluble thrombomodulin levels in plasma of multiple sclerosis patients and their implication. *J Neurol Sci.* (2012) 323:61–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2012.08.008
- 63. Festoff BW, Sajja RK, van Dreden P, Cucullo L. HMGB1 and thrombin mediate the blood-brain barrier dysfunction acting as biomarkers of neuroinflammation and progression to neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *J Neuroinflam*. (2016) 13:194. doi: 10.1186/s12974-016-0670-z
- Festoff BW, Sajja RK, Cucullo L. Proximate mediators of microvascular dysfunction at the blood-brain barrier: neuroinflammatory pathways to neurodegeneration. *BioMed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:1549194. doi: 10.1155/2017/1549194
- Rosen DR. Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* (1993) 364:362. doi: 10.1038/364362c0
- Siddique T, Hentati A. Familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Clin Neurosci. (1995) 3:338–47.
- Brown RH, Jr. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. insights from genetics. Arch Neurol. (1997) 54:1246–50. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1997.00550220050013
- Ajroud-Driss S, Siddique T. Sporadic and hereditary amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2015) 1852:679–84. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.08.010
- Borel F, Gernoux G, Cardozo B, Metterville JP, Toro Cabrera GC, Song L, et al. Therapeutic rAAVrh10 mediated SOD1 silencing in adult SOD1(G93A) mice and nonhuman primates. *Hum Gene Ther.* (2016) 27:19– 31. doi: 10.1089/hum.2015.122
- Browne EC, Abbott BM. Recent progress towards an effective treatment of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis using the SOD1 mouse model in a preclinical setting. *Eur J Med Chem.* (2016) 121:918–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2016.02.048
- van Zundert B, Brown RH, Jr. Silencing strategies for therapy of SOD1-mediated ALS. *Neurosci Lett.* (2017) 636:32–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.07.059
- 72. Zhong Y, Wang J, Henderson MJ, Yang P, Hagen BM, Siddique T, et al. Nuclear export of misfolded SOD1 mediated by a normally buried NESlike sequence reduces proteotoxicity in the nucleus. *Elife* (2017) 6:023759. doi: 10.7554/eLife.23759
- Bali T, Self W, Liu J, Siddique T, Wang LH, Bird TD, et al. Defining SOD1 ALS natural history to guide therapeutic clinical trial design. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2017) 88:99–105. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2016-3 13521

- Cooper-Knock J, Kirby J, Ferraiuolo L, Heath PR, Rattray M, Shaw PJ. Gene expression profiling in human neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2012) 8:518–30. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2012.156
- Renton AE, Majounie E, Waite A, Simon-Sanchez J, Rollinson S, Gibbs JR, et al. A hexanucleotide repeat expansion in C9ORF72 is the cause of chromosome 9p21-linked ALS-FTD. *Neuron* (2011) 72:257–68. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.010
- 76. DeJesus-Hernandez M, Mackenzie IR, Boeve BF, Boxer AL, Baker M, Rutherford NJ, et al. Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of C9ORF72 causes chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. *Neuron* (2011) 72:245–56. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.011
- Cooper-Knock J, Hewitt C, Highley JR, Brockington A, Milano A, Man S, et al. Clinico-pathological features in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with expansions in C9ORF72. *Brain* (2012) 135:751–64. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr365
- Alsultan A, Waller, R, Heath, PR, Kirby, J. The genetics of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: current insights. *Degen Neurol Neuromusc Dis.* (2016) 6:49– 64. doi: 10.2147/DNND.S84956
- Sreedharan J, Blair IP, Tripathi VB, Hu X, Vance C, Rogelj B, et al. TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* (2008) 319:1668–72. doi: 10.1126/science.1154584
- Kabashi E, Valdmanis PN, Dion P, Spiegelman D, McConkey BJ, Vande Velde C, et al. TARDBP mutations in individuals with sporadic and familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Genet*. (2008) 40:572–4. doi: 10.1038/ng.132
- Gendron TF, Rademakers R, Petrucelli L. TARDBP mutation analysis in TDP-43 proteinopathies and deciphering the toxicity of mutant TDP-43. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2013) 33 (Suppl. 1):S35–45. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2012-129036
- Vance C, Rogelj B, Hortobagyi T, De Vos KJ, Nishimura AL, Sreedharan J, et al. Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. Science. (2009) 323:1208–11. doi: 10.1126/science.1165942
- Kwiatkowski TJ, Jr., Bosco DA, Leclerc AL, Tamrazian E, Vanderburg CR, Russ C, et al. Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* (2009) 323:1205–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1166066
- Robertson J, Sanelli T, Xiao S, Yang W, Horne P, Hammond R, et al. Lack of TDP-43 abnormalities in mutant SOD1 transgenic mice shows disparity with ALS. *Neurosci Lett.* (2007) 420:128–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2007.03.066
- Ramanan VK, Saykin AJ. Pathways to neurodegeneration: mechanistic insights from GWAS in Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, and related disorders. *Am J Neurodegener Dis.* (2013) 2:145–75.
- Marangi G, Traynor BJ. Genetic causes of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: new genetic analysis methodologies entailing new opportunities and challenges. *Brain Res.* (2015) 1607:75–93. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.10.009
- Nicolas A, Kenna KP, Renton AE, Ticozzi N, Faghri F, Chia R, et al. Genomewide analyses identify KIF5A as a novel ALS gene. *Neuron* (2018) 97:1268-83 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.02.027
- Gottesman, II, Shields J. Genetic theorizing and schizophrenia. Br J Psychiatry (1973) 122:15–30. doi: 10.1192/bjp.122.1.15
- Miller GA, Rockstroh B. Endophenotypes in psychopathology research: where do we stand? *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2013) 9:177–213. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185540
- Rosen AM, Spellman T, Gordon JA. Electrophysiological endophenotypes in rodent models of schizophrenia and psychosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 77:1041–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.03.021
- Reitz C, Mayeux R. Endophenotypes in normal brain morphology and Alzheimer's disease: a review. *Neuroscience* (2009) 164:174–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.04.006
- Berti V, Nacmias B, Bagnoli S, Sorbi S. Alzheimer's disease: genetic basis and amyloid imaging as endophenotype. *Q J Nucl Med Mol Imaging* (2011) 55:225–36.
- Looi JC, Walterfang M, Velakoulis D, Macfarlane MD, Svensson LA, Wahlund LO. Frontotemporal dementia as a frontostriatal disorder: neostriatal morphology as a biomarker and structural basis for an endophenotype. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2012) 46:422–34. doi: 10.1177/0004867411432076

- Pan XD, Chen XC. Clinic, neuropathology and molecular genetics of frontotemporal dementia: a mini-review. *Transl Neurodegener*. (2013) 2:8. doi: 10.1186/2047-9158-2-8
- Cooper-Knock J, Shaw PJ, Kirby J. The widening spectrum of C9ORF72related disease; genotype/phenotype correlations and potential modifiers of clinical phenotype. *Acta Neuropathologica* (2014) 127:333–45. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1251-9
- Prado LGR, Bicalho ICS, Magalhaes D, Caramelli P, Teixeira AL, de Souza LC. C9ORF72 and the FTD-ALS spectrum: a systematic review of neuroimaging studies. *Dement Neuropsychol.* (2015) 9:413–21. doi: 10.1590/1980-57642015DN94000413
- Ji AL, Zhang X, Chen WW, Huang WJ. Genetics insight into the amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/frontotemporal dementia spectrum. J Med Genet. (2017) 54:145–54. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2016-104271
- 98. Brooks BR. El Escorial World Federation of Neurology criteria for the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. subcommittee on motor neuron diseases/amyotrophic lateral sclerosis of the world federation of neurology research group on neuromuscular diseases and the El Escorial "Clinical limits of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis" workshop contributors. *J Neurol Sci.* (1994) 124 (Suppl):96–107. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(94)90191-0
- 99. Belsh JM. ALS diagnostic criteria of El Escorial Revisited: do they meet the needs of clinicians as well as researchers? *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord*. (2000) (Suppl. 1):S57–60. doi: 10.1080/14660820052415925
- 100. Brooks BR, Miller RG, Swash M, Munsat TL, World Federation of Neurology Research Group on Motor Neuron D. El Escorial revisited: revised criteria for the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Motor Neuron Disord*. (2000) 1:293–9. doi: 10.1080/146608200300079536
- Hudson AJ. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and its association with dementia, parkinsonism and other neurological disorders: a review. *Brain* (1981) 104:217–47. doi: 10.1093/brain/104.2.217
- Lee SE. Guam dementia syndrome revisited in 2011. Curr Opin Neurol. (2011) 24:517–24. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e32834cd50a
- McGeer PL, Steele JC. The ALS/PDC syndrome of Guam: potential biomarkers for an enigmatic disorder. *Progress Neurobiol.* (2011) 95:663–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.04.001
- 104. Strong MJ. The syndromes of frontotemporal dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotrop Lateral Sclerosis. (2008) 9:323–38. doi: 10.1080/17482960802372371
- Achi EY, Rudnicki SA. ALS and frontotemporal dysfunction: a review. Neurol Res Int. (2012) 2012:806306. doi: 10.1155/2012/806306
- 106. Liscic RM. Molecular basis of ALS and FTD: implications for translational studies. Arh Hig Rada Toksikol. (2015) 66:285–90. doi: 10.1515/aiht-2015-66-2679
- 107. Lall D, Baloh RH. Microglia and C9orf72 in neuroinflammation and ALS and frontotemporal dementia. J Clin Invest. (2017) 127:3250–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI90607
- Therrien M, Rouleau GA, Dion PA, Parker JA. Deletion of C9ORF72 results in motor neuron degeneration and stress sensitivity in C. elegans. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e83450. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083450
- 109. Shi Y, Lin S, Staats KA, Li Y, Chang WH, Hung ST, et al. Haploinsufficiency leads to neurodegeneration in C9ORF72 ALS/FTD human induced motor neurons. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:313–25. doi: 10.1038/nm.4490
- 110. Kramer NJ, Haney MS, Morgens DW, Jovicic A, Couthouis J, Li A, et al. CRISPR-Cas9 screens in human cells and primary neurons identify modifiers of C9ORF72 dipeptide-repeat-protein toxicity. *Nat Genet*. (2018) 50:603–12. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0070-7
- 111. Karch CM, Wen N, Fan CC, Yokoyama JS, Kouri N, Ross OA, et al. Selective genetic overlap between amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and diseases of the frontotemporal dementia spectrum. *JAMA Neurol.* (2018) 75:860–75. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.0372
- 112. Mendez EF, Sattler R. Biomarker development for C9orf72 repeat expansion in ALS. *Brain Res.* (2015) 1607:26–35. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.09.041
- Vu LT, Bowser R. Fluid-based biomarkers for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurotherapeutics (2017) 14:119–34. doi: 10.1007/s13311-016-0503-x
- 114. Boillee S, Vande Velde C, Cleveland DW. ALS: a disease of motor neurons and their nonneuronal neighbors. *Neuron* (2006) 52:39–59. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.09.018

- Ilieva H, Polymenidou M, Cleveland DW. Non-cell autonomous toxicity in neurodegenerative disorders: ALS and beyond. J Cell Biol. (2009) 187:761–72. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200908164
- 116. Rizzo F, Riboldi G, Salani S, Nizzardo M, Simone C, Corti S, et al. Cellular therapy to target neuroinflammation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2014) 71:999–1015. doi: 10.1007/s00018-013-1480-4
- 117. Brites D, Vaz AR. Microglia centered pathogenesis in ALS: insights in cell interconnectivity. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2014) 8:117. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2014.00117
- Yamanaka K, Komine O. The multi-dimensional roles of astrocytes in ALS. Neurosci Res. (2018) 126:31–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2017.09.011
- 119. Lino MM, Schneider C, Caroni P. Accumulation of SOD1 mutants in postnatal motoneurons does not cause motoneuron pathology or motoneuron disease. *J Neurosci.* (2002) 22:4825–32. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-12-04825.2002
- Lobsiger CS, Cleveland DW. Glial cells as intrinsic components of non-cellautonomous neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Neurosci.* (2007) 10:1355–60. doi: 10.1038/nn1988
- 121. Yamanaka K, Chun SJ, Boillee S, Fujimori-Tonou N, Yamashita H, Gutmann DH, et al. Astrocytes as determinants of disease progression in inherited amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Neurosci.* (2008) 11:251–3. doi: 10.1038/nn2047
- 122. Puentes F, Malaspina A, van Noort JM, Amor S. Non-neuronal cells in ALS: Role of glial, immune cells and blood-CNS barriers. *Brain Pathol.* (2016) 26:248–57. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12352
- 123. Qosa H, Lichter J, Sarlo M, Markandaiah SS, McAvoy K, Richard JP, et al. Astrocytes drive upregulation of the multidrug resistance transporter ABCB1 (P-Glycoprotein) in endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier in mutant superoxide dismutase 1-linked amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Glia* (2016) 64:1298–313. doi: 10.1002/glia.23003
- 124. Serrano A, Donno C, Giannetti S, Peric M, Andjus P, D'Ambrosi N, et al. The astrocytic S100B protein with its receptor RAGE is aberrantly expressed in SOD1(G93A) models, and its inhibition decreases the expression of proinflammatory Genes. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2017) 2017:1626204. doi: 10.1155/2017/1626204
- Sofroniew MV. Reactive astrocytes in neural repair and protection. Neuroscientist (2005) 11:400–7. doi: 10.1177/1073858405278321
- 126. Lukovic D, Stojkovic M, Moreno-Manzano V, Jendelova P, Sykova E, Bhattacharya SS, et al. Concise review: reactive astrocytes and stem cells in spinal cord injury: good guys or bad guys? *Stem Cells* (2015) 33:1036–41. doi: 10.1002/stem.1959
- Sofroniew MV. Astrocyte barriers to neurotoxic inflammation. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2015) 16:249–63. doi: 10.1038/nrn3898
- Hennessy E, Griffin EW, Cunningham C. Astrocytes are primed by chronic neurodegeneration to produce exaggerated chemokine and cell infiltration responses to acute stimulation with the cytokines IL-1beta and TNFalpha. J Neurosci. (2015) 35:8411–22. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2745-1 4.2015
- 129. Radulovic M, Yoon H, Wu J, Mustafa K, Scarisbrick IA. Targeting the thrombin receptor modulates inflammation and astrogliosis to improve recovery after spinal cord injury. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2016) 93:226–42. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2016.04.010
- Okada S, Hara M, Kobayakawa K, Matsumoto Y, Nakashima Y. Astrocyte reactivity and astrogliosis after spinal cord injury. *Neurosci Res.* (2018) 126:39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2017.10.004
- Ahmed S, Gull A, Khuroo T, Aqil M, Sultana Y. Glial cell: A potential target for cellular and drug based therapy in various CNS diseases. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2017) 23:2389–99. doi: 10.2174/1381612823666170316124500
- 132. Almer G, Guegan C, Teismann P, Naini A, Rosoklija G, Hays AP, et al. Increased expression of the pro-inflammatory enzyme cyclooxygenase-2 in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2001) 49:176–85. doi: 10.1002/ 1531-8249(20010201)49:2&dt;176::AID-ANA37>3.0.CO;2-X
- 133. Malaspina A, Kaushik N, de Belleroche J. Differential expression of 14 genes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis spinal cord detected using gridded cDNA arrays. J Neurochem. (2001) 77:132–45. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.t01-1-00231.x
- 134. Hensley K, Floyd RA, Gordon B, Mou S, Pye QN, Stewart C, et al. Temporal patterns of cytokine and apoptosis-related gene expression in spinal cords of

the G93A-SOD1 mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurochem.* (2002) 82:365–74. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00968.x

- McGeer PL, McGeer EG. Inflammatory processes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Muscle Nerve* (2002) 26:459–70. doi: 10.1002/mus.10191
- Appel SH, Smith RG, Engelhardt JI, Stefani E. Evidence for autoimmunity in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. (1994) 124 (Suppl):14–9. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(94)90171-6
- 137. Smith RG, Alexianu ME, Crawford G, Nyormoi O, Stefani E, Appel SH. Cytotoxicity of immunoglobulins from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients on a hybrid motoneuron cell line. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1994) 91:3393–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.8.3393
- Smith RG, Appel SH. Immunosuppression and anti-inflammatory agents in ALS. Amyotroph Later Scler Motor Neuron Disord. (2000) 1 (Suppl. 4):33–42. doi: 10.1080/14660820050515692
- 139. Engelhardt JI, Siklos L, Komuves L, Smith RG, Appel SH. Antibodies to calcium channels from ALS patients passively transferred to mice selectively increase intracellular calcium and induce ultrastructural changes in motoneurons. *Synapse* (1995) 20:185–99. doi: 10.1002/syn.890200302
- Appel SH, Smith RG, Alexianu MF, Engelhardt JI, Stefani E. Autoimmunity as an etiological factor in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Adv Neurol.* (1995) 68:47–57.
- 141. Kimura F, Smith RG, Delbono O, Nyormoi O, Schneider T, Nastainczyk W, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patient antibodies label Ca2+ channel alpha 1 subunit. Ann Neurol. (1994) 35:164–71. doi: 10.1002/ana.410350207
- 142. Hoffman PM, Festoff BW, Giron LT Jr, Hollenbeck LC, Garruto RM, Ruscetti FW. Isolation of LAV/HTLV-III from a patient with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (1985) 313:324–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198508013130511
- 143. Galassi G, Gentilini M, Ferrari S, Ficarra G, Zonari P, Mongiardo N, et al. Motor neuron disease and HIV-1 infection in a 30-year-old HIV-positive heroin abuser: a causal relationship? *Clin Neuropathol.* (1998) 17:131–5.
- 144. Ahmad K. HIV may underlie ALS-like condition. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2001) 1:217. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(01)00108-6
- MacGowan DJ, Scelsa SN, Waldron M. An ALS-like syndrome with new HIV infection and complete response to antiretroviral therapy. *Neurology* (2001) 57:1094–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.6.1094
- 146. von Giesen HJ, Kaiser R, Koller H, Wetzel K, Arendt G. Reversible ALS-like disorder in HIV infection. an ALS-like syndrome with new HIV infection and complete response to antiretroviral therapy. *Neurology* (2002) 59:474; author reply:5.
- 147. Cone LA, Nazemi R, Cone MO. Reversible ALS-like disorder in HIV infection. An ALS-like syndrome with new HIV infection and complete response to antiretroviral therapy. *Neurology* (2002) 59:474; author reply:5.
- 148. Griffiths M, Neal JW, Gasque P. Innate immunity and protective neuroinflammation: new emphasis on the role of neuroimmune regulatory proteins. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* (2007) 82:29–55. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7742(07)82002-2
- Ransohoff RM, Brown MA. Innate immunity in the central nervous system. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:1164–71. doi: 10.1172/JCI58644
- 150. Ransohoff RM, Schafer D, Vincent A, Blachere NE, Bar-Or A. Neuroinflammation: ways in which the immune system affects the brain. *Neurotherapeutics* (2015) 12:896–909. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0385-3
- Ransohoff RM. How neuroinflammation contributes to neurodegeneration. Science (2016) 353:777–83. doi: 10.1126/science.aag2590
- 152. Masgrau R, Guaza C, Ransohoff RM, Galea E. Should we stop saying 'Glia' and 'Neuroinflammation'? *Trends Mol Med.* (2017) 23:486–500. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2017.04.005
- 153. Geloso MC, Corvino V, Marchese E, Serrano A, Michetti F, D'Ambrosi N. The dual role of microglia in ALS: mechanisms and therapeutic approaches. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2017) 9:242. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017. 00242
- 154. Spiller KJ, Restrepo CR, Khan T, Dominique MA, Fang TC, Canter RG, et al. Microglia-mediated recovery from ALS-relevant motor neuron degeneration in a mouse model of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *Nat Neurosci.* (2018) 21:329–40. doi: 10.1038/s41593-018-0083-7
- 155. Ransohoff RM. A polarizing question: do M1 and M2 microglia exist? Nat Neurosci. (2016) 19:987–91. doi: 10.1038/n n.4338

- 156. Yuva-Aydemir Y, Almeida S, Gao FB. Insights into C9ORF72-Related ALS/FTD from *Drosophila* and iPSC Models. *Trends Neurosci.* (2018) 41:457–69. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2018.04.002
- 157. Tang BL. Patient-Derived iPSCs and iNs-shedding new light on the cellular etiology of neurodegenerative diseases. *Cells* (2018) 7:E38. doi: 10.3390/cells7050038
- Boulay AC, Gilbert A, Oliveira Moreira V, Blugeon C, Perrin S, Pouch J, et al. Connexin 43 controls the astrocyte immunoregulatory phenotype. *Brain Sci.* (2018) 8:E50. doi: 10.3390/brainsci8040050
- Hayakawa K, Esposito E, Wang X, Terasaki Y, Liu Y, Xing C, et al. Transfer of mitochondria from astrocytes to neurons after stroke. *Nature* (2016) 535:551–5. doi: 10.1038/nature18928
- 160. Torralba D, Baixauli F, Sanchez-Madrid F. Mitochondria know no boundaries: Mechanisms and functions of intercellular mitochondrial transfer. Front Cell Dev Biol. (2016) 4:107. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2016.00107
- Block ML, Zecca L, Hong JS. Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2007) 8:57–69. doi: 10.1038/nrn2038
- Liddelow SA, Barres BA. Reactive astrocytes: production, function, and therapeutic potential. *Immunity* (2017) 46:957–67. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.006
- 163. Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep.* (2014) 6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13
- Heppner FL, Ransohoff RM, Becher B. Immune attack: the role of inflammation in Alzheimer disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2015) 16:358–72. doi: 10.1038/nrn3880
- Liddelow SA, Guttenplan KA, Clarke LE, Bennett FC, Bohlen CJ, Schirmer L, et al. Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. *Nature* (2017) 541:481–7. doi: 10.1038/nature21029
- 166. Perry VH, Andersson PB. The inflammatory response in the CNS. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. (1992) 18:454–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.1992.tb00811.x
- Lee SJ, Lee S. Toll-like receptors and inflammation in the CNS. Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy (2002) 1:181–91. doi: 10.2174/1568010023344698
- Carty M, Bowie AG. Evaluating the role of Toll-like receptors in diseases of the central nervous system. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2011) 81:825–37. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2011.01.003
- Kielian T. Toll-like receptors in central nervous system glial inflammation and homeostasis. J Neurosci Res. (2006) 83:711–30. doi: 10.1002/jnr.20767
- 170. Rauvala H, Rouhiainen A. RAGE as a receptor of HMGB1 (Amphoterin): roles in health and disease. *Curr Mol Med.* (2007) 7:725–34. doi: 10.2174/156652407783220750
- Ilzecka J. Serum-soluble receptor for advanced glycation end product levels in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2009) 120:119–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2008.01133.x
- Heiman A, Pallottie A, Heary RF, Elkabes S. Toll-like receptors in central nervous system injury and disease: a focus on the spinal cord. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2014) 42:232–45. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.06.203
- 173. Barichello T, Generoso JS, Goularte JA, Collodel A, Pitcher MR, Simoes LR, et al. Does infection-induced immune activation contribute to dementia? *Aging Dis.* (2015) 6:342–8. doi: 10.14336/AD.2015.0521
- 174. Ray R, Juranek JK, Rai V. RAGE axis in neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration and its emerging role in the pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 62:48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.12.006
- 175. Matzinger P. Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol. (1994) 12:991–1045. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.005015
- 176. Gallucci S, Matzinger P. Danger signals: SOS to the immune system. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2001) 13:114–9. doi: 10.1016/S0952-79150000191-6
- 177. Matzinger P. The evolution of the danger theory. interview by lauren constable, commissioning editor. *Exp Rev Clin Immunol.* (2012) 8:311–7. doi: 10.1586/eci.12.21
- Harris HE, Raucci A. Alarmin(g) news about danger: workshop on innate danger signals and HMGB1. *EMBO Rep.* (2006) 7:774–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400759
- Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol. (2007) 81:1–5. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0306164

- 180. Andersson U, Tracey KJ. HMGB1 is a therapeutic target for sterile inflammation and infection. Annu Rev Immunol. (2011) 29:139–62. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-030409-101323
- 181. Fang P, Schachner M, Shen YQ. HMGB1 in development and diseases of the central nervous system. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2012) 45:499–506. doi: 10.1007/s12035-012-8264-y
- 182. Merenmies J, Pihlaskari R, Laitinen J, Wartiovaara J, Rauvala H. 30kDa heparin-binding protein of brain (amphoterin) involved in neurite outgrowth. amino acid sequence and localization in the filopodia of the advancing plasma membrane. J Biol Chem. (1991) 266:16722–9.
- 183. Parkkinen J, Raulo E, Merenmies J, Nolo R, Kajander EO, Baumann M, et al. Amphoterin, the 30-kDa protein in a family of HMG1-type polypeptides. enhanced expression in transformed cells, leading edge localization, and interactions with plasminogen activation. J Biol Chem. (1993) 268:19726–38.
- 184. Ito T, Kawahara K, Okamoto K, Yamada S, Yasuda M, Imaizumi H, et al. Proteolytic cleavage of high mobility group box 1 protein by thrombinthrombomodulin complexes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:1825– 30. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.150631
- 185. Zhao X, Kuja-Panula J, Rouhiainen A, Chen YC, Panula P, Rauvala H. High mobility group box-1 (HMGB1; amphoterin) is required for zebrafish brain development. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:23200–13. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.223834
- 186. Hoarau JJ, Krejbich-Trotot P, Jaffar-Bandjee MC, Das T, Thon-Hon GV, Kumar S, et al. Activation and control of CNS innate immune responses in health and diseases: a balancing act finely tuned by neuroimmune regulators (NIReg). CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets (2011) 10:25–43. doi: 10.2174/187152711794488601
- 187. Lo Coco D, Veglianese P, Allievi E, Bendotti C. Distribution and cellular localization of high mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1) in the spinal cord of a transgenic mouse model of ALS. *Neurosci Lett.* (2007) 412:73–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.10.063
- Casula M, Iyer AM, Spliet WG, Anink JJ, Steentjes K, Sta M, et al. Tolllike receptor signaling in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis spinal cord tissue. *Neuroscience* (2011) 179:233–43. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.02.001
- 189. Juranek JK, Daffu GK, Wojtkiewicz J, Lacomis D, Kofler J, Schmidt AM. Receptor for advanced glycation end products and its inflammatory ligands are upregulated in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2015) 9:485. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00485
- Yan SF, Ramasamy R, Schmidt AM. Soluble RAGE: therapy and biomarker in unraveling the RAGE axis in chronic disease and aging. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2010) 79:1379–86. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2010.01.013
- 191. Schmidt AM. Soluble RAGEs Prospects for treating & tracking metabolic and inflammatory disease. *Vascul Pharmacol.* (2015) 72:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2015.06.011
- 192. Juranek JK, Daffu GK, Geddis MS, Li H, Rosario R, Kaplan BJ, et al. Soluble RAGE treatment delays progression of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in SOD1 mice. *Front Cell Neurosci*. (2016) 10:117. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2016.00117
- 193. Derk J, MacLean, M., Juranek, J. Schmidt, A.M. The receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) and mediation of inflammatory neurodegeneration. J Alzheimers Dis Parkinson. (2018) 8:421. doi: 10.4172/2161-0460.1000421
- 194. Kawamata H, Manfredi G. Mitochondrial dysfunction and intracellular calcium dysregulation in ALS. *Mech Ageing Dev.* (2010) 131:517–26. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2010.05.003
- 195. Mathis S, Couratier P, Julian A, Corcia P, Le Masson G. Current view and perspectives in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neural Regen Res.* (2017) 12:181–4. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.200794
- 196. Islam MT. Oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunctionlinked neurodegenerative disorders. *Neurol Res.* (2017) 39:73–82. doi: 10.1080/01616412.2016.1251711
- 197. Lezi E, Swerdlow RH. Mitochondria in neurodegeneration. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2012) 942:269–86. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2869-1_12
- 198. Grimm A, Eckert A. Brain aging and neurodegeneration: from a mitochondrial point of view. J Neurochem. (2017) 143:418–31. doi: 10.1111/jnc.14037
- 199. Wilkins HM, Morris JK. New therapeutics to modulate mitochondrial function in neurodegenerative disorders. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2017) 23:731–52. doi: 10.2174/1381612822666161230144517

- Levine JB, Kong J, Nadler M, Xu Z. Astrocytes interact intimately with degenerating motor neurons in mouse amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). *Glia* (1999) 28:215–24. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1136(199912)28:3<215::AID-GLIA5>3.0.CO;2-C
- 201. Hensley K, Mhatre M, Mou S, Pye QN, Stewart C, West M, et al. On the relation of oxidative stress to neuroinflammation: lessons learned from the G93A-SOD1 mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2006) 8:2075–87. doi: 10.1089/ars.2006.8.2075
- 202. Bilsland LG, Nirmalananthan N, Yip J, Greensmith L, Duchen MR. Expression of mutant SOD1 in astrocytes induces functional deficits in motoneuron mitochondria. J Neurochem. (2008) 107:1271–83. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05699.x
- 203. Cassina P, Cassina A, Pehar M, Castellanos R, Gandelman M, de Leon A, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction in SOD1G93A-bearing astrocytes promotes motor neuron degeneration: prevention by mitochondrial-targeted antioxidants. *J Neurosci.* (2008) 28:4115–22. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5308-07.2008
- 204. Rojas F, Gonzalez D, Cortes N, Ampuero E, Hernandez DE, Fritz E, et al. Reactive oxygen species trigger motoneuron death in non-cell-autonomous models of ALS through activation of c-Abl signaling. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2015) 9:203. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00203
- 205. Agarwal A, Wu PH, Hughes EG, Fukaya M, Tischfield MA, Langseth AJ, et al. Transient opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore induces microdomain calcium transients in astrocyte processes. *Neuron* (2017) 93:587–605 e7. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2016.12.034
- Haidet-Phillips AM, Hester ME, Miranda CJ, Meyer K, Braun L, Frakes A, et al. Astrocytes from familial and sporadic ALS patients are toxic to motor neurons. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2011) 29:824–8. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1957
- 207. Qian K, Huang H, Peterson A, Hu B, Maragakis NJ, Ming GL, et al. Sporadic ALS astrocytes induce neuronal degeneration *in vivo. Stem Cell Rep.* (2017) 8:843–55. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.03.003
- Gray MW, Burger G, Lang BF. Mitochondrial evolution. Science (1999) 283:1476–81. doi: 10.1126/science.283.5407.1476
- 209. Krysko DV, Agostinis P, Krysko O, Garg AD, Bachert C, Lambrecht BN, et al. Emerging role of damage-associated molecular patterns derived from mitochondria in inflammation. *Trends Immunol.* (2011) 32:157–64. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2011.01.005
- Wilkins HM, Carl SM, Weber SG, Ramanujan SA, Festoff BW, Linseman DA, et al. Mitochondrial lysates induce inflammation and Alzheimer's diseaserelevant changes in microglial and neuronal cells. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2015) 45:305–18. doi: 10.3233/JAD-142334
- 211. Little JP, Simtchouk S, Schindler SM, Villanueva EB, Gill NE, Walker DG, et al. Mitochondrial transcription factor A (Tfam) is a pro-inflammatory extracellular signaling molecule recognized by brain microglia. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* (2014) 60:88–96. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2014.04.003
- 212. Picca A, Lezza AMS, Leeuwenburgh C, Pesce V, Calvani R, Landi F, et al. Fueling inflamm-aging through mitochondrial dysfunction: mechanisms and molecular targets. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E933. doi: 10.3390/ijms18050933
- 213. Wilkins HM, Carl SM, Greenlief AC, Festoff BW, Swerdlow RH. Bioenergetic dysfunction and inflammation in Alzheimer's disease: a possible connection. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2014) 6:311. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00311
- Wilkins HM, Weidling IW, Ji Y, Swerdlow RH. Mitochondria-derived damage-associated molecular patterns in neurodegeneration. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:508. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00508
- 215. Aird RB. Trypan red therapy of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; preliminary report. *Arch Neurol Psychiatry.* (1948) 59:779–89. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1948.02300410090005
- 216. Aird RB. The role of tissue permeability with particular reference to the blood-brain barrier in diseases of the central nervous system. *Calif Med.* (1948) 69:360–3.
- 217. Aird RB, Becker RA. The blood-brain barrier in clinical disease: a review. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1963) 136:517–26. doi: 10.1097/00005053-196306000-00002
- 218. Aird RB. Muscular atrophies and dystrophies in middle life. *Geriatrics* (1964) 19:689–700.
- Aird RB. Significance of the blood-brain barrier in neurological disorders of toxic and metabolic origin. *Rev Neuropsiquiatr.* (1964) 27:248–59.

- 220. Garbuzova-Davis S, Haller E, Saporta S, Kolomey I, Nicosia SV, Sanberg PR. Ultrastructure of blood-brain barrier and blood-spinal cord barrier in SOD1 mice modeling ALS. *Brain Res.* (2007) 1157:126–37. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.04.044
- 221. Garbuzova-Davis S, Saporta S, Haller E, Kolomey I, Bennett SP, Potter H, et al. Evidence of compromised blood-spinal cord barrier in early and late symptomatic SOD1 mice modeling ALS. *PLoS ONE* (2007) 2:e1205. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001205
- 222. Zhong Z, Deane R, Ali Z, Parisi M, Shapovalov Y, O'Banion MK, et al. ALScausing SOD1 mutants generate vascular changes prior to motor neuron degeneration. *Nat Neurosci.* (2008) 11:420–2. doi: 10.1038/nn2073
- 223. Nicaise C, Mitrecic D, Demetter P, De Decker R, Authelet M, Boom A, et al. Impaired blood-brain and blood-spinal cord barriers in mutant SOD1-linked ALS rat. *Brain Res.* (2009) 1301:152–62. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.09.018
- 224. Zhong Z, Ilieva H, Hallagan L, Bell R, Singh I, Paquette N, et al. Activated protein C therapy slows ALS-like disease in mice by transcriptionally inhibiting SOD1 in motor neurons and microglia cells. *J Clin Invest.* (2009) 119:3437–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI38476
- 225. Nicaise C, Soyfoo MS, Delporte C, Pochet R. Aquaporin-4 as a potential marker of BBB disruption in ALS models. *Amyotrophic Later Sclerosis* (2010) 11:253–4. doi: 10.3109/17482960902803457
- 226. Garbuzova-Davis S, Woods RL III, Louis MK, Zesiewicz TA, Kuzmin-Nichols N, Sullivan KL, et al. Reduction of circulating endothelial cells in peripheral blood of ALS patients. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e10614. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010614
- 227. Garbuzova-Davis S, Rodrigues MC, Hernandez-Ontiveros DG, Louis MK, Willing AE, Borlongan CV, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a neurovascular disease. *Brain Res.* (2011) 1398:113–25. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2011.04.049
- 228. Garbuzova-Davis S, Hernandez-Ontiveros DG, Rodrigues MC, Haller E, Frisina-Deyo A, Mirtyl S, et al. Impaired blood-brain/spinal cord barrier in ALS patients. *Brain Res.* (2012) 1469:114–28. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.05.056
- 229. Rodrigues MC, Hernandez-Ontiveros DG, Louis MK, Willing AE, Borlongan CV, Sanberg PR, et al. Neurovascular aspects of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* (2012) 102:91–106. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-386986-9.00004-1
- 230. Winkler EA, Sengillo JD, Sullivan JS, Henkel JS, Appel SH, Zlokovic BV. Blood-spinal cord barrier breakdown and pericyte reductions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathologica* (2013) 125:111–20. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-1039-8
- 231. Winkler EA, Sengillo JD, Sagare AP, Zhao Z, Ma Q, Zuniga E, et al. Blood-spinal cord barrier disruption contributes to early motor-neuron degeneration in ALS-model mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:E1035-42. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1401595111
- 232. Milane A, Fernandez C, Dupuis L, Buyse M, Loeffler JP, Farinotti R, et al. P-glycoprotein expression and function are increased in an animal model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurosci Lett.* (2010) 472:166–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2010.01.078
- 233. Chan GN, Evans RA, Banks DB, Mesev EV, Miller DS, Cannon RE. Selective induction of P-glycoprotein at the CNS barriers during symptomatic stage of an ALS animal model. *Neurosci Lett.* (2017) 639:103–13. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.12.049
- 234. Chen L, Watson C, Morsch M, Cole NJ, Chung RS, Saunders DN, et al. Improving the delivery of SOD1 antisense oligonucleotides to motor neurons using calcium phosphate-lipid nanoparticles. *Front Neurosci.* (2017) 11:476. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00476
- 235. Stamenkovic S, Pavicevic A, Mojovic M, Popovic-Bijelic A, Selakovic V, Andjus P, et al. In vivo EPR pharmacokinetic evaluation of the redox status and the blood brain barrier permeability in the SOD1(G93A) ALS rat model. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2017) 108:258–69. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.03.034
- Philips T, Rothstein JD. Glial cells in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Exp Neurol.* (2014) 262:111–20. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.05.015
- 237. Kurtzke JF, Beebe GW. Epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: 1. a case-control comparison based on ALS deaths. *Neurology* (1980) 30:453–62. doi: 10.1212/WNL.30.5.453

- Kondo K, Tsubaki T. Case-control studies of motor neuron disease: association with mechanical injuries. Arch Neurol. (1981) 38:220-6. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1981.00510040046007
- 239. Kurland LT, Radhakrishnan K, Smith GE, Armon C, Nemetz PN. Mechanical trauma as a risk factor in classic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: lack of epidemiologic evidence. J Neurol Sci. (1992) 113:133–43. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(92)90241-C
- 240. Kioumourtzoglou MA, Rotem RS, Seals RM, Gredal O, Hansen J, Weisskopf MG. Diabetes mellitus, obesity, and diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population-based study. *JAMA Neurol.* (2015) 72:905–11. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.0910
- 241. Seals RM, Hansen J, Gredal O, Weisskopf MG. Physical Trauma and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population-based study using danish National registries. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2016) 183:294–301. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv169
- 242. Pupillo E, Poloni M, Bianchi E, Giussani G, Logroscino G, Zoccolella S, et al. Trauma and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a european population-based case-control study from the EURALS consortium. Amyotrophic Later Sclerosis Frontotemporal Degener. (2018) 19:118–25. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2017.1386687
- McKee AC, Stern RA, Nowinski CJ, Stein TD, Alvarez VE, Daneshvar DH, et al. The spectrum of disease in chronic traumatic encephalopathy. *Brain* (2013) 136:43–64. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws307
- 244. Stein TD, Alvarez VE, McKee AC. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy: a spectrum of neuropathological changes following repetitive brain trauma in athletes and military personnel. *Alzheimers Res Ther.* (2014) 6:4. doi: 10.1186/alzrt234
- Kenney K, Iacono D, Edlow BL, Katz DI, Diaz-Arrastia R, Dams-O'Connor K, et al. Dementia after moderate-severe traumatic brain injury: coexistence of multiple proteinopathies. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2018) 77:50–63. doi: 10.1093/jnen/nlx101
- Moszczynski AJ, Strong W, Xu K, McKee A, Brown A, Strong MJ. Pathologic Thr(175) tau phosphorylation in CTE and CTE with ALS. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e380–e7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004899
- 247. Chodobski A, Zink BJ, Szmydynger-Chodobska J. Blood-brain barrier pathophysiology in traumatic brain injury. *Transl Stroke Res.* (2011) 2:492–516. doi: 10.1007/s12975-011-0125-x
- 248. Alves JL. Blood-brain barrier and traumatic brain injury. J Neurosci Res. (2014) 92:141-7. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23300
- Abdul-Muneer PM, Chandra N, Haorah J. Interactions of oxidative stress and neurovascular inflammation in the pathogenesis of traumatic brain injury. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2015) 51:966–79. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8 752-3
- Logsdon AF, Lucke-Wold BP, Turner RC, Huber JD, Rosen CL, Simpkins JW. Role of microvascular disruption in brain damage from traumatic brain injury. *Compr Physiol.* (2015) 5:1147–60. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140057
- 251. Festoff BW, Hantaï D, North Atlantic Treaty Organization. Scientific Affairs Division, editors. Serine Proteases and Their Serpin Inhibitors in the Nervous System: Regulation in Development and in Degenerative and Malignant Disease. New York, NY: Plenum Press (1990).
- 252. Xi G, Reiser G, Keep RF. The role of thrombin and thrombin receptors in ischemic, hemorrhagic and traumatic brain injury: deleterious or protective? *J Neurochem.* (2003) 84:3–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2003.01268.x
- 253. Mosnier LO, Sinha RK, Burnier L, Bouwens EA, Griffin JH. Biased agonism of protease-activated receptor 1 by activated protein C caused by noncanonical cleavage at Arg46. *Blood* (2012) 120:5237–46. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-08-452169
- 254. Luo W, Wang Y, Reiser G. The role of thrombin and thrombin receptors in the brain. In: Maragoudakis ME, Tsopanoglou N, editors. *Thrombin: Physiology and Disease*. New York, NY: Springer (2010). p. 133–59.
- 255. Esmon CT, Esmon NL, Harris KW. Complex formation between thrombin and thrombomodulin inhibits both thrombin-catalyzed fibrin formation and factor V activation. *J Biol Chem.* (1982) 257:7944–7.
- 256. Esmon CT, Owen WG. The discovery of thrombomodulin. J Thromb Haemost. (2004) 2:209–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1538-7933.2003.00537.x
- 257. Riewald M, Petrovan RJ, Donner A, Mueller BM, Ruf W. Activation of endothelial cell protease activated receptor 1 by the protein C pathway. *Science* (2002) 296:1880–2. doi: 10.1126/science.1071699

- 258. Conway EM. Thrombomodulin and its role in inflammation. Semin Immunopathol. (2012) 34:107-25. doi: 10.1007/s00281-011-0282-8
- 259. Wen DZ, Dittman WA, Ye RD, Deaven LL, Majerus PW, Sadler JE. Human thrombomodulin: complete cDNA sequence and chromosome localization of the gene. *Biochemistry* (1987) 26:4350–7. doi: 10.1021/bi00388a025
- 260. Imada M, Imada S, Iwasaki H, Kume A, Yamaguchi H, Moore EE. Fetomodulin: marker surface protein of fetal development which is modulatable by cyclic AMP. *Dev Biol.* (1987) 122:483–91. doi: 10.1016/0012-1606(87)90312-5
- 261. Imada S, Yamaguchi H, Nagumo M, Katayanagi S, Iwasaki H, Imada M. Identification of fetomodulin, a surface marker protein of fetal development, as thrombomodulin by gene cloning and functional assays. *Dev Biol.* (1990) 140:113–22. doi: 10.1016/0012-1606(90)90058-Q
- 262. Maruyama I, Bell CE, Majerus PW. Thrombomodulin is found on endothelium of arteries, veins, capillaries, and lymphatics, and on syncytiotrophoblast of human placenta. J Cell Biol. (1985) 101:363–71. doi: 10.1083/jcb.101.2.363
- 263. Ishii H, Salem HH, Bell CE, Laposata EA, Majerus PW. Thrombomodulin, an endothelial anticoagulant protein, is absent from the human brain. *Blood* (1986) 67:362–5.
- 264. Wong VL, Hofman FM, Ishii H, Fisher M. Regional distribution of thrombomodulin in human brain. *Brain Res.* (1991) 556:1–5. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(91)90540-C
- 265. Wang L, Tran ND, Kittaka M, Fisher MJ, Schreiber SS, Zlokovic BV. Thrombomodulin expression in bovine brain capillaries. anticoagulant function of the blood-brain barrier, regional differences, and regulatory mechanisms. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (1997) 17:3139–46. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.17.11.3139
- 266. Pindon A, Hantai D, Jandrot-Perrus M, Festoff BW. Novel expression and localization of active thrombomodulin on the surface of mouse brain astrocytes. *Glia* (1997) 19:259–68. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-1136(199703)19:3<259::AID-GLIA8>30.CO;2-U
- 267. Pindon A, Berry M, Hantai D. Thrombomodulin as a new marker of lesion-induced astrogliosis: involvement of thrombin through the Gprotein-coupled protease-activated receptor-1. J Neurosci. (2000) 20:2543– 50. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-07-02543.2000
- Burda JE, Sofroniew MV. Reactive gliosis and the multicellular response to CNS damage and disease. *Neuron* (2014) 81:229–48. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.12.034
- 269. Abeyama K, Stern DM, Ito Y, Kawahara K, Yoshimoto Y, Tanaka M, et al. The N-terminal domain of thrombomodulin sequesters high-mobility group-B1 protein, a novel antiinflammatory mechanism. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:1267–74. doi: 10.1172/JCI22782
- 270. Kawabata H, Setoguchi T, Yone K, Souda M, Yoshida H, Kawahara K, et al. High mobility group box 1 is upregulated after spinal cord injury and is associated with neuronal cell apoptosis. *Spine* (2010) 35:1109–15. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181bd14b6
- 271. Shi CS, Shi GY, Hsiao HM, Kao YC, Kuo KL, Ma CY, et al. Lectinlike domain of thrombomodulin binds to its specific ligand Lewis Y antigen and neutralizes lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory response. *Blood* (2008) 112:3661–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-1 42760
- 272. Iba T, Gando S, Murata A, Kushimoto S, Saitoh D, Eguchi Y, et al. Predicting the severity of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS)-associated coagulopathy with hemostatic molecular markers and vascular endothelial injury markers. *J Trauma*. (2007) 63:1093–8. doi: 10.1097/01.ta.0000251420.41427.d3
- 273. Ogura H, Gando S, Iba T, Eguchi Y, Ohtomo Y, Okamoto K, et al. SIRS-associated coagulopathy and organ dysfunction in critically ill patients with thrombocytopenia. *Shock* (2007) 28:411–7. doi: 10.1097/shk.0b013e31804f7844
- Opal SM. Phylogenetic and functional relationships between coagulation and the innate immune response. *Crit Care Med.* (2000) 28(Suppl. 9):S77–80. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200009001-00017
- 275. Wada T, Gando S, Maekaw K, Katabami K, Sageshima H, Hayakawa M, et al. Disseminated intravascular coagulation with increased fibrinolysis during the early phase of isolated traumatic brain injury. *Critical Care* (2017) 21:219. doi: 10.1186/s13054-017-1808-9

- Grammas P. Neurovascular dysfunction, inflammation and endothelial activation: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. J Neuroinflam. (2011) 8:26. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-26
- 277. Ott BR, Jones RN, Daiello LA, de la Monte SM, Stopa EG, Johanson CE, et al. Blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier gradients in mild cognitive impairment and alzheimer's disease: relationship to inflammatory cytokines and chemokines. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2018) 10:245. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00245
- 278. Machida T, Takata F, Matsumoto J, Takenoshita H, Kimura I, Yamauchi A, et al. Brain pericytes are the most thrombin-sensitive matrix metalloproteinase-9-releasing cell type constituting the blood-brain barrier *in vitro. Neurosci Lett.* (2015) 599:109–14. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.05.028
- 279. Machida T, Dohgu S, Takata F, Matsumoto J, Kimura I, Koga M, et al. Role of thrombin-PAR1-PKCtheta/delta axis in brain pericytes in thrombininduced MMP-9 production and blood-brain barrier dysfunction *in vitro*. *Neuroscience* (2017) 350:146–57. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.03.026
- 280. Higashida T, Kreipke CW, Rafols JA, Peng C, Schafer S, Schafer P, et al. The role of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha, aquaporin-4, and matrix metalloproteinase-9 in blood-brain barrier disruption and brain edema after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosurg.* (2011) 114:92–101. doi: 10.3171/2010.6.JNS10207
- 281. Wang Z, Meng CJ, Shen XM, Shu Z, Ma C, Zhu GQ, et al. Potential contribution of hypoxia-inducible factor-lalpha, aquaporin-4, and matrix metalloproteinase-9 to blood-brain barrier disruption and brain edema after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. J Mol Neurosci. (2012) 48:273–80. doi: 10.1007/s12031-012-9769-6
- Griffin JH, Zlokovic BV, Mosnier LO. Activated protein C: biased for translation. *Blood* (2015) 125:2898–907. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-02-355974
- 283. Rezaie AR. Protease-activated receptor signalling by coagulation proteases in endothelial cells. *Thromb Haemost.* (2014) 112:876–82. doi: 10.1160/th14-02-0167
- Alberelli MA, De Candia E. Functional role of protease activated receptors in vascular biology. *Vascul Pharmacol.* (2014) 62:72–81. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2014.06.001
- Garcia JG, Pavalko FM, Patterson CE. Vascular endothelial cell activation and permeability responses to thrombin. *Blood Coagul Fibrinol.* (1995) 6:609–26. doi: 10.1097/00001721-199510000-00001
- Bogatcheva NV, Garcia JG, Verin AD. Molecular mechanisms of thrombininduced endothelial cell permeability. *Biochemistry* (2002) 67:75–84. doi: 10.1023/A:1013904231324
- 287. van Nieuw Amerongen GP, Musters RJ, Eringa EC, Sipkema P, van Hinsbergh VW. Thrombin-induced endothelial barrier disruption in intact microvessels: role of RhoA/Rho kinase-myosin phosphatase axis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. (2008) 294:C1234–41. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00551.2007
- Guan JX, Sun SG, Cao XB, Chen ZB, Tong ET. Effect of thrombin on blood brain barrier permeability and its mechanism. *Chin Med J.* (2004) 117:1677–81.
- 289. Taoka Y, Okajima K, Uchiba M, Murakami K, Harada N, Johno M, et al. Activated protein C reduces the severity of compression-induced spinal cord injury in rats by inhibiting activation of leukocytes. J Neurosci. (1998) 18:1393–8. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-04-01393.1998
- 290. Whetstone WD, Walker B, Trivedi A, Lee S, Noble-Haeusslein LJ, Hsu JC. Protease-Activated Receptor-1 supports locomotor recovery by biased agonist activated protein c after contusive spinal cord injury. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0170512. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170512
- 291. Suo Z, Wu M, Citron BA, Palazzo RE, Festoff BW. Rapid tau aggregation and delayed hippocampal neuronal death induced by persistent thrombin signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2003) 278:37681–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M301406200
- 292. Khlistunova I, Biernat J, Wang Y, Pickhardt M, von Bergen M, Gazova Z, et al. Inducible expression of Tau repeat domain in cell models of tauopathy: aggregation is toxic to cells but can be reversed by inhibitor drugs. J Biol Chem. (2006) 281:1205–14. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M507753200
- 293. Rohatgi T, Sedehizade F, Reymann KG, Reiser G. Proteaseactivated receptors in neuronal development, neurodegeneration, and neuroprotection: thrombin as signaling molecule in the brain. *Neuroscientist* (2004) 10:501–12. doi: 10.1177/1073858404269955
- 294. Arai T, Miklossy J, Klegeris A, Guo JP, McGeer PL. Thrombin and prothrombin are expressed by neurons and glial cells and accumulate in

neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer disease brain. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2006) 65:19–25. doi: 10.1097/01.jnen.0000196133.74087.cb

- 295. Mhatre M, Nguyen A, Kashani S, Pham T, Adesina A, Grammas P. Thrombin, a mediator of neurotoxicity and memory impairment. *Neurobiol Aging* (2004) 25:783–93. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2003.07.007
- 296. Grammas P, Martinez JM. Targeting thrombin: an inflammatory neurotoxin in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimer's Dis. (2014) 42(Suppl. 4):S537–44. doi: 10.3233/JAD-141557
- 297. Ishida Y, Nagai A, Kobayashi S, Kim SU. Upregulation of protease-activated receptor-1 in astrocytes in Parkinson disease: astrocyte-mediated neuroprotection through increased levels of glutathione peroxidase. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (2006) 65:66–77. doi: 10.1097/01.jnen.0000195941.48033.eb
- Citron BA, Smirnova IV, Arnold PM, Festoff BW. Upregulation of neurotoxic serine proteases, prothrombin, and protease-activated receptor 1 early after spinal cord injury. *J Neurotrau.* (2000) 17:1191–203. doi: 10.1089/neu.2000.17.1191
- 299. Chen D, Carpenter A, Abrahams J, Chambers RC, Lechler RI, McVey JH, et al. Protease-activated receptor 1 activation is necessary for monocyte chemoattractant protein 1-dependent leukocyte recruitment *in vivo. J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:1739–46. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071427
- Dennis JS, Citron BA. Wobbler mice modeling motor neuron disease display elevated transactive response DNA binding protein. *Neuroscience* (2009) 158:745–50. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.10.030
- 301. Salcedo RM, Festoff BW, Citron BA. Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR to gauge increased protease-activated receptor 1 (PAR-1) mRNA copy numbers in the Wobbler mutant mouse. J Mol Neurosci. (1998) 10:113–9. doi: 10.1007/BF02737122
- 302. Festoff BW, D'Andrea MR, Citron BA, Salcedo RM, Smirnova IV, Andrade-Gordon P. Motor neuron cell death in wobbler mutant mice follows overexpression of the G-protein-coupled, protease-activated receptor for thrombin. *Mol Med.* (2000) 6:410–29. doi: 10.1007/BF03401784
- 303. Wichmann H, Jockusch H, Guenet JL, Gallwitz D, Kaupmann K. The mouse homolog to the ras-related yeast gene YPT1 maps on chromosome 11 close to the wobbler (wr) locus. *Mamm Genome* (1992) 3:467–8. doi: 10.1007/BF00356159
- 304. Schmitt-John T, Drepper C, Mussmann A, Hahn P, Kuhlmann M, Thiel C, et al. Mutation of Vps54 causes motor neuron disease and defective spermiogenesis in the wobbler mouse. *Nat Genet.* (2005) 37:1213–5. doi: 10.1038/ng1661
- 305. des Portes V, Coulpier M, Melki J, Dreyfus PA. Early detection of mouse wobbler mutation: a model of pathological motoneurone death. *Neuroreport* (1994) 5:1861–4. doi: 10.1097/00001756-199410000-00005
- 306. Wedemeyer N, Lengeling A, Ronsiek M, Korthaus D, Baer K, Wuttke M, et al. YAC contigs of the Rab1 and wobbler (wr) spinal muscular atrophy gene region on proximal mouse chromosome 11 and of the homologous region on human chromosome 2p. *Genomics* (1996) 32:447–54. doi: 10.1006/geno.1996.0140
- 307. Festoff BW, Smirnova IV, Ma J, Citron BA. Thrombin, its receptor and protease nexin I, its potent serpin, in the nervous system.

Semi Thrombosis Hemostasis (1996) 22:267-71. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-9 99018

- Chapman J. Coagulation in inflammatory diseases of the central nervous system. Semi Thrombosis Hemostasis (2013) 39:876–80. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1357482
- De Luca C, Virtuoso A, Maggio N, Papa M. Neuro-coagulopathy: blood coagulation factors in central nervous system diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E2128. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102128
- Petersen MA, Ryu JK, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen in neurological diseases: mechanisms, imaging and therapeutics. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2018) 19:283– 301. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2018.13
- 311. Festoff BW, SantaCruz K, Arnold PM, Sebastian CT, Davies PJ, Citron BA. Injury-induced "switch" from GTP-regulated to novel GTP-independent isoform of tissue transglutaminase in the rat spinal cord. *J Neurochem*. (2002) 81:708–18. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00850.x
- 312. Oono M, Okado-Matsumoto A, Shodai A, Ido A, Ohta Y, Abe K, et al. Transglutaminase 2 accelerates neuroinflammation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis through interaction with misfolded superoxide dismutase 1. J Neurochem. (2014) 128:403–18. doi: 10.1111/jnc.12441
- 313. Hashemzadeh M, Arreguin JM, Roberts T, Movahed MR. A Novel Inhibitor of Protease-activated Receptor 1: a review of chemical structure and mode of action. Rev *Cardiovasc Med.* (2015) 16:68–73. doi: 10.3909/ri cm0754
- Serebruany VL, Fortmann SD, Hanley DF, Kim MH. Vorapaxar and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: coincidence or adverse association? *Am J Ther*. (2017) 24:e139–e43. doi: 10.1097/MJT.00000000000395
- 315. Aisiku O, Peters CG, De Ceunynck K, Ghosh CC, Dilks JR, Fustolo-Gunnink SF, et al. Parmodulins inhibit thrombus formation without inducing endothelial injury caused by vorapaxar. *Blood* (2015) 125:1976–85. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-09-599910
- 316. De Ceunynck K, Peters CG, Jain A, Higgins SJ, Aisiku O, Fitch-Tewfik JL, et al. PAR1 agonists stimulate APC-like endothelial cytoprotection and confer resistance to thromboinflammatory injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:E982–E91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1718600115
- 317. Flaumenhaft R, De Ceunynck K. Targeting PAR1: now what? Trends Pharmacol Sci. (2017) 38:701–16. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2017.05.001

Conflict of Interest Statement: BF is the Founder of PHLOGISTIX LLC, a startup biotech company.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Festoff and Citron. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Perspective of Coagulation Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis and in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis

Domenico Plantone¹, Matilde Inglese², Marco Salvetti^{3,4*} and Tatiana Koudriavtseva⁵

¹ S.O.C. Neurologia, Ospedale San Biagio, Domodossola, Italy, ² Department of Neurology, Radiology and Neuroscience, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, ³ Department of Neuroscience Mental Health and Sensory Organs (NEMOS), Sapienza University, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Rome, Italy, ⁴ IRCCS Istituto Neurologico Mediterraneo (INM) Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy, ⁵ Department of Clinical Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy

A key role of both coagulation and vascular thrombosis has been reported since the first descriptions of multiple sclerosis (MS). Subsequently, the observation of a close concordance between perivascular fibrin(ogen) deposition and the occurrence of clinical signs in experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE), an animal model of MS, led to numerous investigations focused on the role of thrombin and fibrin(ogen). Indeed, the activation of microglia, resident innate immune cells, occurs early after fibrinogen leakage in the pre-demyelinating lesion stage of EAE and MS. Thrombin has both neuroprotective and pro-apoptotic effects according to its concentration. After exposure to high concentrations of thrombin, astrocytes become reactive and lose their neuroprotective and supportive functions, microglia proliferate, and produce reactive oxygen species, IL-1 β , and TNF α . Heparin inhibits the thrombin generation and suppresses EAE. Platelets play an important role too. Indeed, in the acute phase of the disease, they begin the inflammatory response in the central nervous system by producing of IL-1alpha and triggering and amplifying the immune response. Their depletion, on the contrary, ameliorates the course of EAE. Finally, it has been proven that the use of several anticoagulant agents can successfully improve EAE. Altogether, these studies highlight the role of the coagulation pathway in the pathophysiology of MS and suggest possible therapeutic targets that may complement existing treatments.

Keywords: coagulation, neuroinflammation, multiple sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders, thrombosis

INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an inflammatory demyelinating and degenerative disease of the central nervous system (CNS) characterized by neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration and affecting prevalently women (1). Most commonly, MS begins with a relapsing–remitting course with alternation of clinical relapses and remissions (2). With time, most of these cases switch to a secondary progressive phase with steady accumulation of disability. In a lower percentage of patients (about 20%) the disease is progressive from the beginning and is defined as primarily progressive form. Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) is the most studied animal model of MS (3). It is possible to induce EAE in mice by immunization with spinal cord homogenates or by passive transfer of sensitized T cells.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Scott S. Zamvil, University of California, San Francisco, United States

Reviewed by:

Bruno Gran, Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust, United Kingdom Tatsuro Misu, Tohoku University, Japan

> ***Correspondence:** Marco Salvetti

marco.salvetti@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 September 2018 Accepted: 18 December 2018 Published: 14 January 2019

Citation:

Plantone D, Inglese M, Salvetti M and Koudriavtseva T (2019) A Perspective of Coagulation Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis and in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis. Front. Neurol. 9:1175. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01175

64

Several recent studies have highlighted the importance of the interplay between the activation of the coagulation cascade and neuroinflammation, suggesting that coagulation factors are crucial not only for the activation of the acute hemostatic cascade, but have a broader role involving neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation (4-20).

We will review this evidence, trying to offer an overview of possible targets that may complement existing immunomodulatory therapeutic tools.

HISTORY

The role of vascular thrombosis due to increased coagulation in MS has been taken into consideration since its first description based on histopathological observations. In 1882, Ribbert postulated that MS lesion could be consequent to central vascular thrombosis due to bloodstream infection (21). This hypothesis was supported by Pierre Marie, who thought that infections have a causative role in MS through the induction of brain vascular damage and thrombosis (21). Thereafter in 1930-40s, Tracy Putnam pointed out venular thrombosis as the primary MS cause based on histologic and experimental observations (22). He observed thrombi in acute lesions with small plaques surrounding the engorged veins. He occasionally observed thrombi also in other body organs of MS patients. Moreover, Putnam found that most MS patients had a peculiar defect of the clotting mechanism, suggesting that thrombosis was not consequent to the vessel wall injury but to blood alterations such as an increase in fibrinogen.

The first studies on serum coagulation factors were conducted in small MS patient cohorts and led to conflicting results. The clotting time was found shortened (23), normal (24) or prolonged (25). There was disagreement also regarding the prothrombin time since it was similarly reported either shortened (26), prolonged, (27, 28) or normal (25, 29). Putnam (30) and Persson (31) showed an increase of fibrinogen especially during the exacerbations while other studies found it to be normal in 9 patients in active clinical progression except one (25) as well as in 33 MS patients except two patients with increased fibrinogen, of which one examined during a relapse (32).

Furthermore, thrombocytes were studied in MS with divergent results. One study reported a short clot retraction time during acute disease exacerbation (33), whereas it was found to be normal or prolonged in other works (25, 32). An elevated platelet adhesiveness and a short clot retraction time was found mainly during acute disease exacerbation (33). Fog et al. found the reduction in thrombocyte count during the disease exacerbation and its increase during the clinical improvement (34) whereas other authors found thrombocyte count normal in MS patients (24, 29, 32) or reduced in several patients in phase of disease remission (32). Persson found an increase in adhesive platelets in the prodromal phase of thrombosis, which rapidly decreased during the thrombi formation (35). Similarly, Wright et al demonstrated increased adhesiveness of platelets in acute and severe cases compared to controls suffering from other neurological disorders and reporting normal values of platelet adhesiveness (36). However, the possibility that steroid therapy could influence this adhesiveness was not excluded. Another explanation for the negative results related to platelet adhesiveness in MS patients found by Field and Caspary could be presence of edetic acid (EDTA) in the test tubes which is known to reduce platelet adhesiveness (37).

Interestingly, Putnam treated his MS patients with Dicumarol in the 1940s and concluded that only patients with acute relapses benefited from this therapy (21). All in all, the enthusiasm for anticoagulant therapy in the scientific community waned in the following years because of its doubtful effectiveness (21).

At the same time, in the 1930s the pathological MS research radically changed its own course after the development of EAE, a prototypic model of MS, through the immunization of susceptible animals with CNS components. Since then, the majority of the studies on disease pathophysiology focused on immunological mechanisms (38). While the results of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) (39) and the success of treatments based on immunological targets reinforce this hypothesis, other studies still suggest a key role for a dysfunction of coagulation, possibly linked to the ongoing inflammation, in CNS autoimmunity (9–11, 15, 40–42).

COAGULATION CASCADE SUMMARY

Coagulation is a complex process involving blood changes that lead to the formation of a blood clot (43). It is classically aimed to ensure haemostasis, an important biological process that contrasts bleeding after vessel injury. However, coagulation is activated not only by direct vascular injury but also by functional injury due to hypoxia, sepsis, malignancy, inflammation, etc (44, 45). A pathological imbalance of haemostasis may lead to intravascular thrombosis despite the coagulation process is controlled by several inhibitors limiting the clot formation. However, in certain conditions thrombosis is a physiological process called "immunothrombosis" involving an intrinsic effector mechanism of innate immunity (46). Immunothrombosis is specifically activated by either bloodborne pathogens or circulating altered-self components on a local platform consisting of fibrin, monocytes, neutrophils, and platelets contributing to pathogen recognition. Innate immune cells such as monocytes, neutrophils, dendritic cells participate actively in this process propagating fibrin formation and triggering platelet activation. This process contrasts either tissue invasion, dissemination, or survival of pathogens. The delimitation of immunothrombosis to only a restricted number of microvessels likely ensures a sufficient overall organ perfusion.

Briefly, two traditional coagulation cascade pathways, socalled intrinsic, and extrinsic, lead to the same final common pathway of factor X and thrombin ending with fibrin formation. These coagulation pathways are a series of reactions converting the inactive precursors to active ones in order to catalyze the next reaction in the cascade. Majority of clotting factors are precursors of proteolytic enzymes known as zymogens that circulate in an inactive form. Platelets exert potent procoagulant functions via the calciumdependent cell-surface exposure of phospholipids such as phosphatidylserine, which act as cofactors for the proteolytic reactions triggered by coagulation factors. Coagulation process, in turn, fosters platelet activation and accumulation, mainly through the protease thrombin, which promotes platelet activation by both cleavage and activation of platelet's proteinaseactivated receptors (PAR). Platelets early aggregate to form a "platelet plug" to close provisionally the vessel wall injury. This platelet adhesion to subendothelial surface is reinforced by von Willebrand factor (vWF), which is a glycoprotein present in blood plasma and produced in endothelium, megakaryocytes, and subendothelial connective tissue. Activated platelets release into the plasma the contents of their granules, which activate other platelets.

In the extrinsic *tissue factor* (TF) pathway, after vessel damage blood-based coagulation factor VII links with TF, which is present in the subendothelial tissue and fibroblasts as well as in a smaller quantity in circulating form on monocytes, to form an activated complex TF-FVIIa. FVII is also activated by FXa, FIXa, FXIIa and thrombin. Under some pathologic circumstances, TF is expressed also by monocytes, neutrophils, endothelial cells, and platelets with increased levels of circulating TF-positive microparticles that amplify the process of coagulation cascade. The activated complex TF-FVIIa activates coagulation factors FIX and FX.

Intrinsic *contact activation* pathway, which mainly activates thrombin, begins with formation of the primary complex on exposed collagen by factor XII, high-molecular-weight kininogen, prekallekerin, and factor XI. Endothelial collagen is exposed only in course of endothelial damage. Factor XII convers in active FXIIa that converts FXI into activated FXIa. FXIa further activates factor IX, which acts with its cofactor FVIII to form tenase complex on a phospholipid surface and to activate factor X to FXa.

In common pathway FXa along with its cofactor FVa, tissue phospholipids, platelet phospholipids and calcium forms the prothrombinase complex, which activates prothrombin to thrombin. Thrombin activates FV and FVIII, releasing the latter from its link with vWF. Thrombin further cleaves circulating fibrinogen to insoluble fibrin and activates factor XIII, which covalently crosslinks fibrin polymers incorporated in the platelet plug. This creates a fibrin network the building block of a hemostatic plug. Thrombin has also pro-inflammatory effects exciting the PAR present on monocytes, lymphocytes, endothelium and dendritic cells. In addition, it is the most important platelet activator activating FVIII and FV and their inhibitor protein C in the presence of thrombomodulin (TM).

PLATELETS

Various studies have highlighted the contribution of blood platelets to the inflammatory process that characterizes MS. These cells may be involved also in the pathophysiology of other neurological diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease (47). The role of blood platelets during the acute and chronic phase of inflammation is not marginal. These cells release proinflammatory mediators, display molecules on their surface with inflammatory functions and interact with endothelial cells and leukocytes (48).

Platelets release several proinflammatory mediators. Three types of secretory granules have been described in platelets: dense granules, lysosomes, and alpha-granules (48). The latter type is the most abundant. They are produced during megakaryocyte maturation and are considered crucial for platelet functions. Hundreds of soluble factors are stored in these alpha-granules, including prothrombin, tissue factor, high molecular weight kininogen, chemokines (RANTES, CXCL1, CXCL4, CXCL5, CXCL7, CXCL8, CXCL12, CCL2, macrophage inflammatory protein 1-alpha), proangiogenic and antiangiogenic proteins, growth factors, and inhibitory proteases [e.g., plasminogen activator inhibitor, alpha2-antiplasmin, antithrombin III (AT III), protein S, protease nexin-2, plasminogen, and tissue factor pathway inhibitor](48). Dense granules store ATP, GDP, ADP, 5-HT, Ca, Mg and histamine, whereas lysosomal granules contain glycohydrolases, and acid proteases (48). Interestingly, platelets synthesize and secrete matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) as well as tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs). The main MMP in platelets is MMP-1, which is important because it activates protease activated receptor 1 (PAR-1), which, in turn, is important for platelet aggregation (48). Through the cyclooxygenase (COX) and platelet activating factor (PAF) pathways, platelets are also able to synthesize lipid mediators, including eicosanoids. PAF can also induce the production of IL-1beta in platelets (48).

Platelets express many molecules on their surface that play a role during the inflammatory response. P-selectin, which translocates from the granules to the surface during the platelet activation, can interact with leukocytes and endothelial cells through the interaction with P-selectin glycoprotein-I (PSGL-1). Platelets express also CD40L on their surface and release its soluble form during activation. The latter, (49) together with PAF (50) and MMPs (51), is crucial in order to increase the permeabilization of the blood brain barrier (BBB).

Whether platelet activation is a primary event of MS pathogenesis or it is secondary to endothelial injury is still matter of debate (52). Platelets interact with leukocytes at the endothelium of the BBB by releasing the adhesion molecule PECAM-1 that triggers leukocyte infiltration (53). Moreover, PAF disrupts endothelial BBB junctions and PAF receptors are up-regulated in MS lesions (53).

Platelets are among the first cell types to begin the inflammatory response in the CNS in the acute phase of MS immune response and may be important to trigger and amplify it by producing significant amounts of IL-1alpha (54).

Finally, activated platelets can produce large amounts of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) and Reactive Nitrogen Species (RNS) that can cause damage to proteins, lipids and nucleic acids, leading to death of CNS cells. Importantly, CNS has low antioxidant defenses and the composition of myelin seems particularly vulnerable to ROS (55).

The importance of platelets in MS and in EAE has been demonstrated also in experimental settings. Platelet depletion

has been found to ameliorate the course of EAE (56). Moreover, during EAE, platelets have been demonstrated to activate in response to sialated glycolipids integrated into neuronal and astroglial lipid rafts found within the BBB (57).

Starossom et al demonstrated that glatiramer acetate (GA), a disease modifying treatment for MS, significantly inhibited thrombin-induced activation of human and mouse platelets (58). They showed that GA was able to inhibit calcium influx, upregulation of CD62P and other markers of activation and aggregation in human and mouse thrombin-activated platelets. They also found that GA significantly reduced platelet-induced upregulation of CD86 and MHC class II on macrophages, leading to a decreased platelet-mediated activation of macrophages.

THROMBIN

Thrombin is a 36-kDa serine protease, a key enzyme in the coagulation cascade formed after cleavage of its precursor, prothrombin (with a molecular weight of \sim 72-kDa), by the coagulation factor Xa (59). Prothrombin contains gamma-carboxyglutamic acid, is synthesized in the liver and released into bloodstream. It can be activated by vascular injury, through limited proteolysis following upstream activation of the coagulation cascade. Serum inhibitors and its own action regulate the activity of thrombin. With its procoagulant and anticoagulant functions, the role of thrombin is pivotal in thrombosis and haemostasis. However thrombin has also hormone-like properties that can influence many cells, including platelets, lymphocytes, neurons and astrocytes (60).

Thrombin converts fibrinogen into fibrin and activates factor XIII, affecting the cross-linking of fibrin monomers to produce a stable fibrin clot. Thrombin's function is peculiar as it has both procoagulant and anticoagulant functions. The latter is mediated through binding to TM, a receptor protein expressed on the endothelial membranes, triggering a series of reactions that lead to fibrinolysis. The endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR), shed from the endothelial cells by inflammatory mediators and thrombin, increases protein C activation by the thrombin-TM complex, and inhibits leukocyte extravasation. Interestingly, TNF alpha can down-regulate EPCR, and TM (61).

Depending on the concentrations, thrombin has been demonstrated to have both neuroprotective and pro-apoptotic effects (6, 62). At low to moderate concentrations, thrombin is neuroprotective for hippocampal neurons and astrocytes that lose their star morphology and maintain their supportive role in the production of glutathione and in the reduction of glutamate (7). On the contrary, at high concentrations, thrombin is able to induce cell death (63). In fact, after exposure to high concentrations of thrombin, astrocytes become reactive and lose their neuroprotective and supportive functions, microglia proliferate and produce reactive oxygen species, IL- 1β , and TNF α . Moreover, high concentrations of thrombin may produce axonal damage and retraction, intracellular calcium upregulation, and finally cell death. Furthermore, thrombin can induce BBB damage by digestion of extracellular matrix mediated by MMPs (7).

Another function that thrombin has in common with activated factor VII (FVIIa) and FXa is the activation of PARs family proteins, expressed on the surface of several tissues (preferentially PAR1 and PAR3 rather than PAR4 due to their hirudin-like motif) (64) and involved in hemostasis, phlogosis, cancer development, and embryologic differentiation (65).

There are two main thrombin inhibitors: Protease nexin 1 (PN-1) and ATIII. PN-1 is a 47 kDa serine protease inhibitor (SERPIN) that acts as a suicide substrate for thrombin and urokinase-type plasminogen activator (66). It represents the most abundant and potent endogenous brain thrombin inhibitor (67). The expression of PN-1 is high in the brain and this glycoprotein is secreted by glial cells (68) and neurons (69). ATIII is also a SERPIN normally expressed in the liver and at low levels in brain tissue (70, 71). ATIII is a non-vitamin K-dependent protease that inhibits the activity of thrombin and factors IXa and Xa. These SERPINs have been demonstrated to be highly expressed in mice with EAE. The expression of PN-1 in the brain of the mice with EAE peaks at day 8 post-immunization (during the preclinical phase), whereas ATIII peaks at day 13, when the mice experience the highest clinical score and correlate to the disease severity (6).

Significantly higher plasma levels of both prothrombin and factor X have been found in relapsing-remitting MS whereas increased levels of prothrombin have been found in secondaryprogressive MS patients compared to healthy controls (9). Conversely, no significant difference was found between controls and patients with both primary-progressive MS and NMOSD. Interestingly, relapse free time negatively correlated with level of either prothrombin, factor XII, or factor X indicating disease exacerbation as a condition characterized by increased coagulation activity (9). Similarly, the speed of thrombin generation was found faster in relapsing-remitting than in primary progressive MS or healthy controls and correlated with time from clinical diagnosis likely reflecting the differential active proinflammatory state in each MS subtype (72). Dermatan sulfate and heparin inhibit the generation of thrombin activity and both have been demonstrated to be effective therapeutic agent for EAE (73 - 75).

Drugs available to block thrombin action include heparins, hirudins (lepirudin and bivalirudin), vitamin K antagonists and a new generation of direct thrombin inhibitors such as dabigatran and argatroban.

FIBRINOGEN

Fibrinogen is a soluble 340-kDa glycoprotein comprised of three distinct polypeptide chains: A-alpha, B-beta, and gamma produced in the liver by the hepatocytes (76). Plasma concentration of fibrinogen is 2-4 g/L, and its half-life is about 4 days (77). Fibrinogen represents an acute-phase reactant, therefore its plasma concentrations increase during inflammatory response. Thrombin cleaves off fibrinopeptides A and B from the fibrinogen molecule, exposing multiple polymerization sites, leading to the polymerization, formation of insoluble and stable fibrin clot and finally, with the involvement of circulating platelets, formation of a platelet plug (78). Platelets

bind to the C terminus of fibrinogen's gamma-chain binds, through their surface $\alpha IIb\beta 3$ integrin receptor, facilitating the formation of a platelet plug (41).

The deposition of fibrin is frequently associated with inflammation (40) and fibrin can increase the expression of several cytokines which, in turn, modulate cell adhesion, and migration (79). The pattern of fibrin deposition in MS coincides with the areas occupied by demyelinating lesions (80), and with the areas characterized by axonal damage (81). Interestingly, fibrin deposition may precede the formation of demyelinating lesions (82–84).

Plasminogen and fibrinogen were found to be lower in MS compared to healthy controls (85). These results have been explained by a possible fibrinogen consumption and fibrin formation due to activation of coagulation cascade leading to upregulation of fibrinolytic system with both increased plasmin's and reduced plasminogen's levels. A recent study showed in patients with both clinically isolated syndrome (CIS) and relapsing-remitting MS that a high plasma fibrinogen levels had a high specificity and specificity, but a low sensitivity for detection of active lesions on MRI during relapses supporting a role of fibrinogen on the development of MS lesions (86). A microarray study has demonstrated the presence of fibrinogen transcripts in chronic lesions of MS patients (87). Fibrinogen is able to directly activate microglia in vitro and increase its phagocytic ability (88). The importance of fibrinogen, especially in the early phases of MS, has been postulated and eventually demonstrated in mice with EAE, in which the leakage of fibrinogen from the BBB is crucial for microglial activation (89). The deposition of fibrin interferes with axonal regeneration (4) and pharmacologic removal of fibrin in EAE mice has been demonstrated to suppress disease development and improve the resulting disability (90, 91). Fibrinogen can bind to members of three major families of integrins, beta-1 (alpha5-beta1), beta-2 (CD11b/CD18 and CD11c/CD18), and beta-3 (alpha-v-beta3), that are expressed by leukocytes on their surface (92).

The conversion of fibrinogen to insoluble fibrin exposes the cryptic epitope γ 377–395. This epitope in crucial for the binding of fibrin to the integrin receptor CD11b/CD18, expressed by microglia (41). Fibrinogen induces release of ROS in microglia and its signaling through CD11b/CD18 is necessary for the formation of perivascular microglial clusters and axonal damage in EAE (89). By the activation of CD11b/CD18 pathway, fibrinogen can stimulate the production of tissue factor (93) and Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) (94) by monocytes. Furthermore, the binding of fibrinogen to CD11b/CD18 can result in activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) or the phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) pathway, important for neutrophil survival (95). Nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kappaB) pathway is also activated by fibrinogen and results in increased production of IL-1alpha in monocytes (96).

Mice with EAE, treated with pharmacological depletion of fibrinogen showed a direct reduction of microglia activation (88, 97). An interesting transgenic mouse model (Fib-gamma^{390-396A}), characterized by the suppression of the interaction of fibrinogen with CD11b/CD18 was studied in order to analyse the exact role of fibrinogen in EAE. The

Fib-gamma^{390–396A} mice with EAE had better clinical scores, decreased inflammation, increased survival rate, and improved motor function than laboratory controls.

A new generation of inhibitors of the coagulation pathway, for example inhibiting fibrinogen binding to CD11b/CD18, with decreased haemorrhagic side effects have been proposed as future treatments of chronic inflammatory diseases, including MS (15, 41). Recently, fibrin-targeting immunotherapy with monoclonal antibody 5B8, targeted against the cryptic fibrin epitope $\gamma_{377-395}$, has been demonstrated to inhibit autoimmunityand amyloid-driven neurotoxicity without globally suppressing innate immunity or interfering with coagulation in MS and Alzheimer's disease (42).

FIBRINOLYTIC SYSTEM AND ANTICOAGULANT PATHWAYS

Several studies have documented presence of products of the fibrinolytic system in MS. Plasminogen is a 93-kDa single chain glycoprotein with an average plasma concentration of 0.2 mg/mL (98). Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) is a 69-kDa glycoprotein consisting of 527 or 530 amino acids, released as a single chain enzyme, with an average plasma concentration of 5–10 ng/mL (98, 99). Urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) exists in two forms with different molecular weight: high molecular weight uPA [54 kD], and low molecular weight uPA [33 kD], with a plasma concentration of 1 ng/mL (98). The binding of uPA to its receptor (uPAR) is crucial for the activation of plasminogen to plasmin (100). Leukocytes constitutively express uPAR and the presence of soluble forms of uPAR has been associated with BBB disruption in neurological diseases (101).

Both tPA and uPA convert plasminogen to plasmin and, through a positive feedback mechanism, plasmin cleaves both tPA and uPA, transforming them from their single chain forms to the more active double-chain forms (102). Fibrin represents the major plasmin substrate and enhances plasmin generation by binding both plasminogen and tPA on its surface, increasing also the affinity between tPA and plasminogen (102). Plasmin cleaves fibrin, generating soluble degradation products.

Samples of CSF from MS patients have increased tPA activity as compared to control subjects and the increase in tPA activity correlates with the disease progression (103, 104). In mice with EAE, tPA is detected in macrophages of inflammatory cuffs in the spinal cord (105), and tPA mRNA and protein expression are upregulated, also in neurons (106, 107). Moreover, it has been shown that in MS and in EAE, the uPA, and tPA mediated activation of ubiquitous plasminogen represents a key step in the activation cascade of the four classes of matrix MMPs: collagenases, stromelysins, membrane-type MMPs, and gelatinases. MMPs contribute to the extravasation of circulating lymphocytes and monocytes, by modifying matrix components and can generate encephalitogenic peptides from myelin basic protein (107).

Neurons and microglia in the CNS express tPA (108) and it has been shown that tPA has also an interesting function in neural plasticity. In fact, tPA system has a significant role also in brain tissue remodeling and cell migration (109, 110). tPA is secreted during axonal growth and regeneration, facilitating nerve outgrowth through a tissue matrix (111). tPA levels are reduced in mature brain, with highest levels found in the dentate gyrus and cerebellum (112). tPA mRNA expression is enhanced during cerebellar motor learning tasks in rats and this is considered as a mechanism of synaptic plasticity (113).

In contrast with the increased tPA activity in the CSF from MS patients, tPA deficient mice experienced an early and a more severe and acute EAE as compared to wild-type controls. On the contrary, uPAR deficient mice experienced a delayed and less acute EAE, with a delayed but steadily increased infiltration of inflammatory cells (114). These data highlight the complex role of tPA and uPAR in the pathogenesis of EAE by regulating fibrin deposition at sites of inflammation and cell trafficking into the CNS (114).

Protein C is a vitamin K-dependent zymogen of a serine protease. Protein C is activated by thrombin when both bind to endothelial cell TM. The endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR) also binds protein C. Activated protein C (APC) is a natural anticoagulant. With its cell membrane localizing cofactor, protein S (PS), APC binds to endothelium and activated platelet membranes and intervenes in degradation of procoagulant factor Va and VIIIa, consequently limiting further thrombin formation (115). Impaired TM-dependent aPC generation aggravates EAE disturbing myelination and mitochondrial function and increasing mitochondrial ROS (116). Soluble TM ameliorates EAE and dampened demyelination in the cuprizone-diet model. Recombinant TM ameliorated the clinical and pathological severity of EAE by suppressing plasma levels of inflammatory cytokines (117). Protein C deficiency can be inherited or acquired and causes an important predisposition to thrombosis. However, the roles of APC are not limited to coagulation. APC helps maintain endothelial cell integrity (118), inhibits leukocyte adhesion and BBB crossing (119), reduces the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (118, 120-123) and has anti-oxidant properties (124). EPCR has structural similarities with the MHC1/CD1 family of molecules, suggesting further possible roles of the protein C pathway in regulating the immune response (118, 125).

Protein C activity was found reduced in MS patients independently from their lupus-anticoagulant activity or factor Va resistance (126). The role of APC in MS has become matter of debate (125).

ANTIPHOSPHOLIPID ANTIBODIES

In common clinical practice serum reactivity for antiphospholipid antibodies (APLs), reduction of prothrombin time or increase of both fibrinogen and D-dimer (a product of fibrin degradation) are accepted indicators of increased coagulation activity, which may indicate intravascular thrombosis. APLs have been widely studied in MS with conflicting results, in part depending on the type of antibodies used in the assays (127). Recently, most authors agree on a higher APL reactivity in MS than in healthy controls even if

it is variable according to different disease forms and phases (127-130). APL positivity in MS patients is associated with a more severe clinical and MRI disease progression supporting the concept that the degree of involvement of coagulation in inflammatory-demyelinating diseases is proportional to disease severity (127, 131). Increased APL reactivity has been found in both relapsing-remitting and secondary-progressive MS compared to healthy controls with the highest APL positive rate (> 50%) during the clinical exacerbations and with its decrease a few months after relapse (132). Interestingly, among a broad different APLs only anti-prothrombin and anti-B2 glycoprotein-I antibodies were independently higher in relapse compared to both remission and secondary progressive phase (132). Furthermore, as an example of the close correlation between neurodegenerative and thrombogenic mechanisms in MS, it was showed that high total and LDL levels of cholesterol in MS patients were significantly associated with both disease duration and disability as well as with anti-annexin V positivity (133). Since hydroxychloroquine, a drug with antiinfective, anti-inflammatory and anti-thrombotic properties, protects the annexin V anticoagulant shield from disruption by antiphospholipid antibodies on phospholipid bilayers (134), annexin V has been proposed as a new attractive therapeutic target in MS (135). Ongoing clinical trials are currently testing the effect of hydroxychloroquine in slowing down the progression of clinical disability in MS (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers NCT02913157 and NCT03109288).

ALTERATION OF THE COAGULATION PATHWAY IN NEUROMYELITIS OPTICA SPECTRUM DISORDERS

Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD) represent a more severe CNS inflammatory-demyelinating disorder than MS, characterized by optic neuritis, longitudinally extensive myelitis, and water channel aquaporin-4 autoantibody positivity (136). There are only a few studies comparing coagulation markers including APLs and thrombotic events between MS and NMOSD. A higher anticardiolipin positive rate was found in NMOSD compared to MS patients, associated with a greater ATIII activity and D-dimer level (137). Farber and coauthors reported a significantly higher association of venous thromboembolism with NMOSD than with MS, within 6 weeks of acute relapse, after its correction for influencing factors such as age, length of stay and ambulatory disability (138). These findings are not surprising since a coagulation activation is greater in so far as there is a more severe disease. Partially common pathogenetic mechanisms mediated by coagulation factors and complement, which are part of innate immunity and activate the adaptive immunity, have been supposed for both inflammatorydemyelinating and thrombotic (e.g., antiphospholipid syndrome) CNS diseases (139).

In a recent study investigating the coagulation status of NMO and MS patients, Zhang and colleagues demonstrated that fibrinogen levels were significantly higher in NMO and MS patients compared to non-inflammatory neurological disease subjects as a control group and that there was no difference between MS and NMO. Moreover, fibrinogen levels were significantly associated with the severity of the disease (19). In another study, Göbel and colleagues showed that fibrinogen level was significantly lower in NMOSD compared to both relapsing-remitting and secondary-progressive MS, albeit NMOSD patient's number was low (10). Undoubtedly, peripheral blood measurement of coagulation factors in organ-specific diseases such as MS and NMOSD has some limitations, however their role in the pathogenesis of these disease is matter of intense debate.

MS PATHOGENIC HYPOTHESIS INVOLVING COAGULATION PATHWAYS

Although there is only a few histopathological examinations of MS samples from the acute phase of the disease (140–143), they have shown early microglia activation (pre-demyelinating lesion stage) after fibrinogen leakage through the damaged BBB (143), as well as the presence of some clotting factors in chronic active lesions identified by a proteomic approach (144).

Moreover, quantitative contrast-enhanced MRI studies found a low grade of BBB leakage in visibly non-enhancing MS lesions, distinct from a significantly greater BBB damage in visibly enhancing lesions (145). The authors showed that this low grade BBB leakage was not influenced by ongoing immunomodulatory therapies supposing a permanent structural changes of vessel walls in chronic long-standing lesions. The abnormalities in "tight" junctions (TJ) between adjacent endothelial cells, which are part of BBB, were found even in normal-appearing white matter (NAWM) (146). The TJ abnormality was not confined to microvasculature but involved the full range of vessels either in MS lesions or in NAWM by a possible effect of pro-inflammatory soluble mediators such as cytokines acting "a distance" (147). The association of fibrinogen leakage with astrocyte's processes as well as with TJ abnormality was most pronounced in active lesions. Also ex vivo pathological-imaging correlations using magnetization-transfer ratio and diffusion-tensor imaging showed subtle abnormalities in NAWM, closes to MS lesions and correlated with diffuse microglia activation along with impaired axonal and myelin integrity (148). Furthermore, dynamic-susceptibility enhanced T2*-weighted MRI demonstrated prolonged brain blood mean transit time and decreased cerebral blood flow in both white and gray normal-appearing matter of relapsing-remitting MS patients as well as in NAWM of patients with CIS suggesting a continuum of tissue perfusion slowdown starting from white matter and spreading to gray matter (149).

Similarly, histological studies in chronic MS have showed a small deposition of extravascular fibrin in chronic, non-active MS lesions suggesting a persistent BBB damage (82). This steady BBB dysfunction, likely due to its permanent reparative thickening, could determine a continuous low outflow of soluble mediators and inflammatory cells from blood to CNS. Inflammation in progressive MS occurs in the form of compartmentalized immune reaction behind a closed/repaired BBB leading to a formation of lymph-follicle like structures in the meninges and perivascular spaces (150). These local structures produce cytokines, chemokines, and intrathecal immunoglobulins leading to brain damage and disease progression. Compartmentalized inflammation could in part explain the incongruity between greater brain atrophy and fewer radiological inflammatory lesions in progressive MS.

Based on these observations, we could speculate that "soluble" clotting factors and pro-inflammatory mediators released from platelet's granules may in part mediated MS pathogenesis by innate immune activation and consequent adaptive immune stimulation. They pass persistently and subtly in the CNS due to a long-lasting BBB dysfunction in the course of the disease, and more strikingly during MS relapses through acute BBB damage. The big question remains: what triggers these processes and why they occur only in a subgroup of people?

In the health, CNS "immune privilege" status is determined by BBB integrity together with neurons, glia, and the extracellular matrix, which form the neurovascular unit regulating immune responses in the CNS (151). Cell-contact signals expressed by neurons and glia (as a result of neuronal cell adhesion molecules) inhibit both microglia activation and maturation of antigenpresenting cells. Additionally, neurons produce chemokines, neuropeptides, neurotransmitters, and neurotrophins acting as neuroimmunoregulatory mediators to inhibit microglia activation and limit the survival of activated lymphocytes. The impairment of these cell-contact signals due to neuronal damage depletes CNS homeostatic protective environment increasing neuroinflammation (151). This occurs physiologically in aging due to neuronal loss, genetic mutations, oxidative, or metabolic stress with endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondrial dysfunction.

Neurodegeneration seems to be closely associated with neuroinflammation not only in MS, but also in other neurodegenerative disorders due to a chronic activation of the local innate immunity, and in particular of microglia. Microglia is involved in defense against CNS infections and in cleaning of cell debris and damaged proteins, however, its excessive or prolonged activation may cause tissue damage (151). Furthermore, local innate immune activation largely determines adaptive immune response. In fact, neuroinflammation manifests not only with activation of local microglia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes but also with a recruitment of peripheral innate immune cells such as natural killer, natural killer T cells, mast cells, granulocytes and $\gamma\delta$ -T cells as well as of circulating lymphocytes and myeloid cells from the periphery. Activated microglia, by secreting Il-1a, TNF and C1q, induce reactive A1 astrocytes that induce the death of neurons and oligodendrocytes due to their lost ability to promote neuronal survival, outgrowth, synaptogenesis and phagocytosis in neurodegenerative disorders (152). Mutually, systemic immune activation influences the local innate immunity. Peripheral ongoing and precedent infections determine the so-called "primed" environment that increases CNS susceptibility to injury. Experimental studies showed that peripheral inflammation is associated with disease exacerbations in experimental models of either MS, stroke or other neurodegenerative diseases (151).

The same mediators and cells that are involved in neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration, have provide for CNS repair, growth and development (151). Astrocytes are the major source in the CNS of nerve growth factor and glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor, which are secreted also by T cells. Microglia/macrophages release growth factors and cytochines stimulating axonal regeneration and oligodendrocyte-precursors maturation. However, as in other neurodegenerative diseases, in MS spontaneous regeneration or self-repair of damaged CNS tissue is inadequate compared to the extent of neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration, which co-exist in different degree depending on many factors including tissue localization, lesion formation stage, disease phase and immune system age (153). In acute and limited CNS injury, neuroinflammation could circumscribe neurodegeneration and stimulate regeneration. Conversely, chronic neuroinflammation leads to increased neurodegeneration that in turn impairs homeostatic protective environment further amplifying neuroinflammation and weakening regeneration.

Recurrent or chronic infections lead to immunothrombosis, which is activated by blood-borne pathogens and circulating damaged self-components (46), and are presumably among the causes of chronic neuroinflammation. There is a continuous crosstalk between the immune system and blood coagulation components, closely inter-correlated, and essential for an effective immune response to limit pathogen dissemination and support pathogen killing and tissue repair (45). However, overactivation of coagulation may induce thrombotic complication, excessive inflammation, and tissue damage. Infections cause the modification of proteins' structure and function by increased oxidative stress. A progressive trend of oxidation of several serum proteins including coagulation factors from remission to relapse was found in relapsing-remitting MS patients (154). Moreover, a possible role of transient virus-BBB interactions during viral infections triggering focal inflammation, BBB breakdown and demyelination in some cases of MS has been previously supposed (155). The study of gene-environment interactions showed the relevant relationship between MS genotype and Epstein Barr virus, however also other viruses may perturb the human molecular system by common and unique virus strategies (156). A Danish nationwide nested case-control study found that

REFERENCES

- Yadav SK, Mindur JE, Ito K, Dhib-Jalbut S. Advances in the immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2015) 28:206–19. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000205
- Compston A, Coles A. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet (2008) 372:1502–17. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61620-7
- Lassmann H. Comparative neuropathology of chronic experimental allergic encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. *Springer Schriftenr Neurol.* (1983) 25:1–135. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-45558-2
- Akassoglou K, Kombrinck KW, Degen JL, Strickland S. Tissue plasminogen activator-mediated fibrinolysis protects against axonal degeneration and demyelination after sciatic nerve injury. J Cell Biol. (2000) 149:1157–66. doi: 10.1083/jcb.149.5.1157

children with MS have more infections in the 3 years preceding MS beginning that is influenced also by their immune response to infections (157). It is known that several micro-organisms play a role in MS relapse and pathogenesis. Additionally, a recent review based on Cochrane library guidelines concluded that some micro-organisms such as Human herpesvirus 6, Chlamydia pneumoniae and Torque teno virus have contributed to making MS a chronic progressive disease, but it does not rule out the role of other pathogens in MS progression (158). Finally, by immunohistochemistry using specific antifungal antibodies, the microfoci of fungal structures in CNS tissue sections, which was also positive for bacteria, were observed in MS patients but not in controls supporting the polymicrobial infections as a possible cause of MS (159).

CONCLUSIONS

In addition to histopathological observations on early microglia and astrocyte activation after fibrinogen leakage through the damaged BBB in MS and EAE, many observational and experimental studies in MS and NMOSD showed their association either with pro-thrombotic risk factors, increased prevalence of thrombotic and vascular diseases or involvement of clotting factors as well as of complement and platelets, other components of coagulation cascade.

Taken all together, there is evidence for a role of coagulation in the pathogenesis of both MS and NMOSD. It will be important to better define the exact links between immune response and coagulation pathways dysregulation. The new challenge ahead will be to understand how this interaction converges on recently described mechanisms of neurodegeneration induced by activated microglia and reactive astrocytes. This approach may lead to improved treatment options (e.g., polytherapies), not only for demyelinating diseases but also for other neurodegenerative conditions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DP, MI, MS, and TK all contributed equally to the literature research and writing.

- 5. Beggs S, Salter MW. SnapShot: microglia in disease. *Cell* (2016) 165:1294–1294.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.036
- Chapman J. Thrombin in inflammatory brain diseases. Autoimmun Rev. (2006) 5:528–31. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2006.02.011
- De Luca C, Virtuoso A, Maggio N, Papa M. Neuro-coagulopathy: blood coagulation factors in central nervous system diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E2128. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102128
- García PS, Ciavatta VT, Fidler JA, Woodbury A, Levy JH, Tyor WR. Concentration-dependent dual role of thrombin in protection of cultured rat cortical neurons. *Neurochem Res.* (2015) 40:2220–9. doi: 10.1007/s11064-015-1711-1
- Göbel K, Kraft P, Pankratz S, Gross CC, Korsukewitz C, Kwiecien R, et al. Prothrombin and factor X are elevated in multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol.* (2016) 80:946–51. doi: 10.1002/ana.24807
- Göbel K, Pankratz S, Asaridou CM, Herrmann AM, Bittner S, Merker M, et al. Blood coagulation factor XII drives adaptive immunity during neuroinflammation via CD87-mediated modulation of dendritic cells. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:11626. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11626
- Göbel K, Eichler S, Wiendl H, Chavakis T, Kleinschnitz C, Meuth SG. The coagulation factors fibrinogen, thrombin, and factor XII in inflammatory disorders-a systematic review. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1731. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01731
- Lin C-C, Lee I-T, Wu W-B, Liu CJ, Hsieh HL, Hsiao LD, et al. Thrombin mediates migration of rat brain astrocytes via PLC, Ca2+, CaMKII, PKCα, and AP-1-dependent matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2013) 48:616–30. doi: 10.1007/s12035-013-8450-6
- Park GH, Ryu JR, Shin CY, Choi MS, Han B-H, Kim W-K, et al. Evidence that protease-activated receptor-2 mediates trypsin-induced reversal of stellation in cultured rat astrocytes. *Neurosci Res.* (2006) 54:15–23. doi: 10.1016/j.neures.2005.09.007
- Petersen MA, Ryu JK, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen in neurological diseases: mechanisms, imaging and therapeutics. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2018) 19:283– 301. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2018.13
- Ryu JK, Petersen MA, Murray SG, Baeten KM, Meyer-Franke A, Chan JP, et al. Blood coagulation protein fibrinogen promotes autoimmunity and demyelination via chemokine release and antigen presentation. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 10:8164. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9164
- Simón D, Martín-Bermejo MJ, Gallego-Hernández MT, Pastrana E, García-Escudero V, García-Gómez A, et al. Expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 by olfactory ensheathing glia promotes axonal regeneration. *Glia* (2011) 59:1458–71. doi: 10.1002/glia.21189
- Stolz L, Derouiche A, Devraj K, Weber F, Brunkhorst R, Foerch C. Anticoagulation with warfarin and rivaroxaban ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroinflamm. (2017) 14:152. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0926-2
- Yates RL, Esiri MM, Palace J, Jacobs B, Perera R, DeLuca GC. Fibrin(ogen). and neurodegeneration in the progressive multiple sclerosis cortex. *Ann. Neurol.* (2017) 82:259–70. doi: 10.1002/ana.24997
- Zhang Y, Zhang X, Liu D, Wang H, Pan S, Wang D, et al. Elevated fibrinogen levels in neuromyelitis optica is associated with severity of disease. *Neurol. Sci.* (2016) 37:1823–9. doi: 10.1007/s10072-016-2628-4
- Ziliotto N, Baroni M, Straudi S, Manfredini F, Mari R, Menegatti E, et al. Coagulation factor XII levels and intrinsic thrombin generation in multiple sclerosis. *Front Neurol.* 9:245. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00245
- 21. Murray TJ. *MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS: The History of a Disease*. New York, NY: Demos Medical Publishing.
- Putnam TJ. Lesions of encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis. venous thrombosis as the primary alteration. *JAMA* (1937) 108:1477–80. doi: 10.1001/jama.1937.02780180001001
- 23. Huszak I, Szak J. Data on the pathology of disseminated sclerosis; the pathology of the blood clotting system of disseminated sclerosis. *Acta Med Scand*. (1950) 138:57–64. doi: 10.1111/j.0954-6820.1950.tb10097.x
- 24. Dekaban AS, Brodrick RJ, Waugh TR. The hematologic, gastric acidity and cerebrospinal fluid findings in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (1952) 2:514–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.2.11-12.514
- Albright SD, Kupfer HG, Kinne DR. A study of coagulation factors in blood and spinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *Arch Neurol.* (1959) 1:315–26. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1959.03840030073008
- 26. Lesny I, Polacek L. Therapeutique anticoagulante de la sclerose cerebrospinale disseminee. *Casopis Lekaru Ceskych* (1949) 88:11
- Jones HH, Howard RR, Bunch LD. Metabolic characteristics of multiple sclerosis: chemical abnormalities in the blood 6 urine of a large series of patients. *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (1954) 58:656. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1954.tb54104.x
- 28. Reese HH. Multiple sclerosis and dicoumaryl therapy. *Tr Am Neurol Ass.* (1944) 70:78.
- Roizin L, Abell RC, Winn J. Preliminary studies of sludged blood in multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (1953) 3:250–60. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 3.4.250
- Putnam TJ. Studies in multiple sclerosis: etiologic factors in multiple sclerosis. Ann Int Med. (1936) 84:91.

- Persson I. Variations in the plasma fibrinogen during the course of multiple sclerosis. AMA Arch Neur Psych. (1955) 74:17–30. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1955.02330130019004
- Feldman S, Izak G, Nelken D. Blood coagulation studies and serotonin determinations in serum and cerebrospinal fluid in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Psychiatr Neurol Scand.* (1957) 32:37–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1957.tb07543.x
- Savitky JP, Wernian R. Clot retraction time as a diagnostic aid in neurology. AMA Arch Neur Psych. (1954) 71:496–500. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1954.02320400092009
- Fog T, Kristensen I, Helweg-Larsen HF. Blood platelets in disseminated sclerosis. AMA Arch Neur Psych. (1955) 73:267–85. doi: 10.1001/archneurpsyc.1955.02330090013002
- Persson I. Changes in plasma fibrinogen and thrombocytes in multiple sclerosis occurring during the course of a case of thrombophlebitis. *Acta Psychiatr Neurol Scand.* (1957) 32:203–10.
- Wright HP, Thompson RH, Zilkha KJ. Platelet adhesiveness in multiple sclerosis. Lancet (1965) 2:1109–10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(65)90069-3
- Field EJ, Caspary EA. Behaviour of blood-platelets in multiple sclerosis. some observations with a possible bearing on pathogenesis. *Lancet* (1964) 2:876–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(64)90736-6
- Lassmann H. Multiple sclerosis pathology: evolution of pathogenetic concepts. *Brain Pathol.* (2005) 15:217–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2005.tb00523.x
- International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Hafler DA, Compston A, Sawcer S, Lander ES, Daly MJ, et al. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis identified by a genomewide study. N Engl J Med. (2007) 357:851–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa073493
- 40. Akassoglou K, Strickland S. Nervous system pathology: the fibrin perspective. *Biol Chem*. (2002) 383:37–45. doi: 10.1515/BC.2002.004
- Davalos D, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen as a key regulator of inflammation in disease. Semin Immunopathol. (2012) 34:43-62. doi: 10.1007/s00281-011-0290-8
- Ryu JK, Rafalski VA, Meyer-Franke A, Adams RA, Poda SB, Rios Coronado PE, et al. Fibrin-targeting immunotherapy protects against neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration. *Nat Immunol.* (2018) 19:1212– 23. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0232-x
- Smith SA, Travers RJ, Morrissey JH. How it all starts: initiation of the clotting cascade. *Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol.* (2015) 50:326–36. doi: 10.3109/10409238.2015.1050550
- 44. van der Poll T, Levi M. Crosstalk between inflammation and coagulation: the lessons of sepsis. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol.* (2012) 10:632–8. doi: 10.2174/157016112801784549
- Antoniak S. The coagulation system in host defense. *Res Pract Thromb Haemost*. (2018) 2:549–57. doi: 10.1002/rth2.12109
- Engelmann B, Massberg S. Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:34–45. doi: 10.1038/nri3345
- Bronstein JM, Paul K, Yang L, Haas RH, Shults CW, Le T, et al. Platelet mitochondrial activity and pesticide exposure in early Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*. (2015) 30:862–6. doi: 10.1002/mds.26164
- Wachowicz B, Morel A, Miller E, Saluk J. The physiology of blood platelets and changes of their biological activities in multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurobiol Exp.* (2016) 76:269–81. doi: 10.21307/ane-2017-026
- Davidson DC, Hirschman MP, Sun A, Singh MV, Kasischke K, Maggirwar SB. Excess soluble CD40L contributes to blood brain barrier permeability *in vivo*: implications for HIV-associated neurocognitive disorders. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e51793. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051793
- Starossom SC, Veremeyko T, Yung AWY, Dukhinova M, Au C, Lau AY, et al. Platelets play differential role during the initiation and progression of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Circ Res.* (2015) 117:779– 92. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.306847
- Brkic M, Balusu S, Libert C, Vandenbroucke RE. Friends or foes: matrix metalloproteinases and their multifaceted roles in neurodegenerative diseases. *Mediators Inflamm*. (2015) 2015:620581. doi: 10.1155/2015/620581
- Sheremata WA, Jy W, Horstman LL, Alexander JS, Minagar A. Evidence of platelet activation in multiple sclerosis. J Neuroinflamm. (2008) 5:1–6. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-5-27

- Horstman LL, Jy W, Ahn YS, Zivadinov R, Maghzi AH, Etemadifar M, et al. Role of platelets in neuroinflammation: a wide-angle perspective. J Neuroinflamm. (2010) 7:10. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-7-10
- Ed Rainger G, Chimen M, Harrison MJ, Yates CM, Harrison P, Watson SP, et al. The role of platelets in the recruitment of leukocytes during vascular disease. *Platelets* (2015) 26:507–20. doi: 10.3109/09537104.2015.10 64881
- Alizadeh A, Dyck SM, Karimi-Abdolrezaee S. Myelin damage and repair in pathologic CNS: challenges and prospects. *Front Mol Neurosci.* (2015) 8:35. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00035
- Langer HF, Choi EY, Zhou H, Schleicher R, Chung KJ, Tang Z, et al. Platelets contribute to the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Circ Res.* (2012) 110:1202–10. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.256370
- 57. Sotnikov I, Veremeyko T, Starossom SC, Barteneva N, Weiner HL, Ponomarev ED. Platelets recognize brain-specific glycolipid structures, respond to neurovascular damage and promote neuroinflammation. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e58979. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058979
- Starossom SC, Veremeyko T, Dukhinova M, Yung AWY, Ponomarev ED. Glatiramer acetate (Copaxone). modulates platelet activation and inhibits thrombin-induced calcium influx: Possible role of copaxone in targeting platelets during autoimmune neuroinflammation. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e96256. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0096256
- Davie EW, Kulman JD. An overview of the structure and function of thrombin. Semin Thromb Hemost. (2006) 32 Suppl 1:3–15. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-939550
- 60. Coughlin SR. Thrombin signalling and protease-activated receptors. *Nature* (2000) 407:258–64. doi: 10.1038/35025229
- 61. Esmon CT. Crosstalk between inflammation and thrombosis. *Maturitas* (2008) 61:122–31. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2008.11.008
- Donovan FM, Cunningham DD. Signaling pathways involved in thrombin-induced cell protection. J Biol Chem. (1998) 273:12746–52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.21.12746
- Pike CJ, Vaughan PJ, Cunningham DD, Cotman CW. Thrombin attenuates neuronal cell death and modulates astrocyte reactivity induced by beta-amyloid *in vitro*. J Neurochem. (1996) 66:1374–82. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.66041374.x
- Lane DA, Philippou H, Huntington JA. Directing thrombin. Blood (2005) 106:2605–12. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-04-1710
- Wittinghofer A, Vetter IR. Structure-function relationships of the G domain, a canonical switch motif. *Annu Rev Biochem*. (2011) 80:943–71. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-062708-134043
- 66. Knauer MF, Kridel SJ, Hawley SB, Knauer DJ. The efficient catabolism of thrombin-protease nexin 1 complexes is a synergistic mechanism that requires both the LDL receptor-related protein and cell surface heparins. J Biol Chem. (1997) 272:29039–45. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.46.29039
- Guenther J, Nick H, Monard D. A glia-derived neurite-promoting factor with protease inhibitory activity. *EMBO J.* (1985) 4:1963–6. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1985.tb03878.x
- Gloor S, Odink K, Guenther J, Nick H, Monard D. A glia-derived neurite promoting factor with protease inhibitory activity belongs to the protease nexins. *Cell* (1986) 47:687–93. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(86)9 0511-8
- Reinhard E, Suidan HS, Pavlik A, Monard D. Glia-derived nexin/protease nexin-1 is expressed by a subset of neurons in the rat brain. *J Neurosci Res.* (1994) 37:256–70. doi: 10.1002/jnr.490370211
- Deschepper CF, Bigornia V, Berens ME, Lapointe MC. Production of thrombin and antithrombin III by brain and astroglial cell cultures. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res.* (1991) 11:355–8. doi: 10.1016/0169-328X(91) 90045-Y
- Kalaria RN, Golde T, Kroon SN, Perry G. Serine protease inhibitor antithrombin III and its messenger RNA in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Pathol.* (1993) 143:886–93.
- 72. Parsons ME, O'Connell K, Allen S, Egan K, Szklanna PB, McGuigan C, et al. Thrombin generation correlates with disease duration in multiple sclerosis (MS): novel insights into the MS-associated prothrombotic state. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin.* (2017) 3:2055217317747624. doi: 10.1177/2055217317747624

- Chelmicka-Szorc E, Arnason BG. Partial suppression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis with heparin. *Arch Neurol.* (1972) 27:153–8. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1972.00490140057009
- Inaba Y, Ichikawa M, Koh CS, Inoue A, Itoh M, Kyogashima M, et al. Suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by dermatan sulfate. *Cell Immunol.* (1999) 198:96–102. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1999.1588
- Lider O, Baharav E, Mekori YA, Miller T, Naparstek Y, Vlodavsky I, et al. Suppression of experimental autoimmune diseases and prolongation of allograft survival by treatment of animals with low doses of heparins. *J Clin Invest.* (1989) 83:752–6. doi: 10.1172/JCI113953
- Weisel JW. Fibrinogen and Fibrin. Adv Protein Chem. (2005) 70:247–99. doi: 10.1016/S0065-3233(05)70008-5
- Tennent GA, Brennan SO, Stangou AJ, O'Grady J, Hawkins PN, Pepys MB. Human plasma fibrinogen is synthesized in the liver. *Blood* (2007) 109:1971–4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-040956
- 78. Phillips DR, Charo IF, Parise LV, Fitzgerald LA. The platelet membrane glycoprotein IIb-IIIa complex. *Blood* (1988) 71:831–43.
- Flick MJ, Du X, Witte DP, Jirousková M, Soloviev DA, Busuttil SJ, et al. Leukocyte engagement of fibrin(ogen). via the integrin receptor alphaMbeta2/Mac-1 is critical for host inflammatory response *in vivo. J Clin Invest.* (2004) 113:1596–606. doi: 10.1172/JCI20741
- Kwon EE, Prineas JW. Blood-brain barrier abnormalities in longstanding multiple sclerosis lesions. an immunohistochemical study. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* (1994) 53:625–36. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199411000-00010
- Gveric D, Hanemaaijer R, Newcombe J, van Lent NA, Sier CF, Cuzner ML. Plasminogen activators in multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the inflammatory response and axonal damage. *Brain* (2001) 124:1978–88. doi: 10.1093/brain/124.10.1978
- Claudio L, Raine CS, Brosnan CF. Evidence of persistent blood-brain barrier abnormalities in chronic-progressive multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1995) 90:228–38. doi: 10.1007/BF00296505
- Sobel RA, Mitchell ME. Fibronectin in multiple sclerosis lesions. *Am J Pathol.* (1989) 135:161–8.
- Wakefield AJ, More LJ, Difford J, McLaughlin JE. Immunohistochemical study of vascular injury in acute multiple sclerosis. J Clin Pathol. (1994) 47:129–33. doi: 10.1136/jcp.47.2.129
- Brunetti A, Ricchieri GL, Patrassi GM, Girolami A, Tavolato B. Rheological and fibrinolytic findings in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1981) 44:340–3. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.44.4.340
- Miranda Acuña J, Hidalgo de la Cruz M, Ros AL, Tapia SP, Martínez Ginés ML, de Andrés Frutos CD. Elevated plasma fibrinogen levels in multiple sclerosis patients during relapse. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2017) 18:157–60. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2017.09.033
- Lock C, Hermans G, Pedotti R, Brendolan A, Schadt E, Garren H, et al. Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Nat Med.* (2002) 8:500–8. doi: 10.1038/nm0502-500
- Adams RA, Bauer J, Flick MJ, Sikorski SL, Nuriel T, Lassmann H, et al. The fibrin-derived gamma377-395 peptide inhibits microglia activation and suppresses relapsing paralysis in central nervous system autoimmune disease. J Exdoiop Med. (2007) 204:571–82. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061931
- Davalos D, Kyu Ryu J, Merlini M, Baeten KM, Le Moan N, Petersen MA, et al. Fibrinogen-induced perivascular microglial clustering is required for the development of axonal damage in neuroinflammation. *Nat Commun.* (2012) 3:1227. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2230
- Inoue A, Koh CS, Shimada K, Yanagisawa N, Yoshimura K. Suppression of cell-transferred experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in defibrinated Lewis rats. J Neuroimmunol. (1996) 71:131–7. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(96)00150-6
- Paterson PY. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: role of fibrin deposition in immunopathogenesis of inflammation in rats. *Fed Proc.* (1976) 35:2428–34.
- Ugarova TP, Yakubenko VP. Recognition of fibrinogen by leukocyte integrins. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2001) 936:368–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb03523.x
- Fan ST, Edgington TS. Coupling of the adhesive receptor CD11b/CD18 to functional enhancement of effector macrophage tissue factor response. *J Clin Invest.* (1991) 87:50–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI115000

- Fan ST, Edgington TS. Integrin regulation of leukocyte inflammatory functions. CD11b/CD18 enhancement of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha responses of monocytes. *J Immunol.* (1993) 150:2972–80.
- Whitlock BB, Gardai S, Fadok V, Bratton D, Henson PM. Differential roles for alpha(M)beta(2). integrin clustering or activation in the control of apoptosis via regulation of akt and ERK survival mechanisms. *J Cell Biol.* (2000) 151:1305–20. doi: 10.1083/jcb.151.6.1305
- Perez RL, Ritzenthaler JD, Roman J. Transcriptional regulation of the interleukin-1beta promoter via fibrinogen engagement of the CD18 integrin receptor. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. (1999) 20:1059–66. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.20.5.3281
- Adams RA, Schachtrup C, Davalos D, Tsigelny I, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen signal transduction as a mediator and therapeutic target in inflammation: lessons from multiple sclerosis. *Curr Med Chem.* (2007) 14:2925–36. doi: 10.2174/092986707782360015
- Castellino FJ, Ploplis VA. Structure and function of the plasminogen/plasmin system. *Thromb Haemost.* (2005) 93:647–54. doi: 10.1160/TH04-12-0842
- 99. Lin L, Hu K. Tissue plasminogen activator and inflammation: from phenotype to signaling mechanisms. *Am J Clin Exp Immunol.* (2014) 3:30–6.
- 100. Mahmood N, Mihalcioiu C, Rabbani SA. Multifaceted role of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA). and its receptor (uPAR): diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic applications. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:24. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00024
- 101. Garcia-Monco JC, Coleman JL, Benach JL. Soluble urokinase receptor (uPAR, CD 87). is present in serum and cerebrospinal fluid in patients with neurologic diseases. J Neuroimmunol. (2002) 129:216–23. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(02)00186-8
- Cesarman-Maus G, Hajjar KA. Molecular mechanisms of fibrinolysis. Br J Haematol. (2005) 129:307–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05444.x
- Akenami FO, Sirén V, Koskiniemi M, Siimes MA, Teräväinen H, Vaheri A. Cerebrospinal fluid activity of tissue plasminogen activator in patients with neurological diseases. J Clin Pathol. (1996) 49:577–80.
- 104. Teesalu T, Kulla A, Asser T, Koskiniemi M, Vaheri A. Tissue plasminogen activator as a key effector in neurobiology and neuropathology. *Biochem Soc Trans.* (2002) 30:183–9. doi: 10.1042/bst0300183
- 105. Kreutzberg GW. Microglia, the first line of defence in brain pathologies. *Arzneimittelforschung* (1995) 45:357–60.
- Akenami FO, Sirén V, Wessman M, Koskiniemi M, Vaheri A. Tissue plasminogen activator gene expression in multiple sclerosis brain tissue. J Neurol Sci. (1999) 165:71–6.
- 107. Cuzner ML, Opdenakker G. Plasminogen activators and matrix metalloproteases, mediators of extracellular proteolysis in inflammatory demyelination of the central nervous system. J Neuroimmunol. (1999) 94:1–14. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00241-0
- Lu W, Bhasin M, Tsirka SE. Involvement of tissue plasminogen activator in onset and effector phases of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J Neurosci. (2002) 22:10781–9. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-24-10781.2002
- 109. Danø K, Andreasen PA, Grøndahl-Hansen J, Kristensen P, Nielsen LS, Skriver L. Plasminogen activators, tissue degradation, and cancer. Adv. Cancer Res. (1985) 44:139–266. doi: 10.1016/S0065-230X(08)60028-7
- Seeds NW, Haffke S, Christensen K, Schoonmaker J. Cerebellar granule cell migration involves proteolysis. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (1990) 265:169–78. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-5876-4_16
- Verrall S, Seeds NW. Characterization of 125I-tissue plasminogen activator binding to cerebellar granule neurons. J Cell Biol. (1989) 109:265–71. doi: 10.1083/jcb.109.1.265
- Friedman GC, Seeds NW. Tissue plasminogen activator mRNA expression in granule neurons coincides with their migration in the developing cerebellum. J Comp Neurol. (1995) 360:658–70. doi: 10.1002/cne.903600410
- Seeds NW, Williams BL, Bickford PC. Tissue plasminogen activator induction in Purkinje neurons after cerebellar motor learning. *Science* (1995) 270:1992–4. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5244.1992
- 114. East E, Baker D, Pryce G, Lijnen HR, Cuzner ML, Gverić D. A role for the plasminogen activator system in inflammation and neurodegeneration in the central nervous system during experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 167:545–54. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62996-3
- 115. Stavrou EX, Schmaier AH. Venous and arterial thrombosis. In: Willis MS, Homeister JW, Stone JR, editors. *Cellular and Molecular Pathobiology*

of Cardiovascular Disease. London: Academic Press (2014). p. 277-96. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-405206-2.00015-6

- 116. Wolter J, Schild L, Bock F, Hellwig A, Gadi I, Al-Dabet MM, et al. Thrombomodulin-dependent protein C activation is required for mitochondrial function and myelination in the central nervous system. J Thromb Haemost. (2016) 14:2212–26. doi: 10.1111/jth.13494
- 117. Uzawa A, Mori M, Masuda H, Ohtani R, Uchida T, Kuwabara S. Recombinant thrombomodulin ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by suppressing high mobility group box 1 and inflammatory cytokines. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2018) 193:47–54. doi: 10.1111/cei.13123
- 118. Esmon C. Inflammation and the activated protein C anticoagulant pathway. Semin Thromb Hemost. (2006) 32:49–60. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-939554
- Festoff BW, Li C, Woodhams B, Lynch S. Soluble thrombomodulin levels in plasma of multiple sclerosis patients and their implication. *J Neurol Sci.* (2012) 323:61–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2012.08.008
- 120. Griffin JH, Fernández JA, Mosnier LO, Liu D, Cheng T, Guo H, et al. The promise of protein C. blood cells. *Mol Dis.* (2006) 36:211–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bcmd.2005.12.023
- 121. Griffin JH, Fernandez JA, Gale AJ, Mosnier LO. Activated protein C. J Thromb Haemost. (2007) 5:73–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007. 02491.x
- 122. Xue M, Dervish S, Harrison LC, Fulcher G, Jackson CJ. Activated protein C inhibits pancreatic islet inflammation, stimulates T regulatory cells, and prevents diabetes in non-obese diabetic (NOD). *Mice J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:16356–64. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.325951
- 123. Yuksel M, Okajima K, Uchiba M, Horiuchi S, Okabe H. Activated protein C inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor-alpha production by inhibiting activation of both nuclear factor-kappa B and activator protein-1 in human monocytes. *Thromb Haemost*. (2002) 88:267– 73. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1613197
- 124. Yamaji K, Wang Y, Liu Y, Abeyama K, Hashiguchi T, Uchimura T, et al. Activated protein C, a natural anticoagulant protein, has antioxidant properties and inhibits lipid peroxidation and advanced glycation end products formation. *Thromb Res.* (2005) 115:319–25. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2004.09.011
- Genc K. Activated protein C: Possible therapeutic implications for multiple sclerosis. *Med Hypotheses* (2007) 68:710. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2006.09.004
- Kirichuk VF, Streknev AG. The role of hemostasis system in the pathogenesis and course of multiple sclerosis. *Zh Nevrol Psikhiatr Im S S Korsakova Spec No* (2003) 2:34–8.
- 127. Koudriavtseva T, Plantone D, Renna R. Antiphospholipid antibodies: a possible biomarker of disease activity in multiple sclerosis and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. J Neurol. (2014) 261:2028–9. doi: 10.1007/s00415-014-7506-5
- 128. Spadaro M, Amendolea MA, Mazzucconi MG, Fantozzi R, Di Lello R, Zangari P, et al. Autoimmunity in multiple sclerosis: study of a wide spectrum of autoantibodies. *Mult. Scler.* (1999) 5:121–5. doi: 10.1177/135245859900500209
- 129. Bidot CJ, Horstman LL, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Bidot C Jr, Ahn YS, et al. Clinical and neuroimaging correlates of antiphospholipid antibodies in multiple sclerosis: a preliminary study. *BMC Neurol.* (2007) 7:36. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-7-36
- 130. Garg N, Zivadinov R, Ramanathan M, Vasiliu I, Locke J, Watts K, et al. Clinical and MRI correlates of autoreactive antibodies in multiple sclerosis patients. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2007) 187:159–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2007.04.008
- 131. Zivadinov R, Ramanathan M, Ambrus J, Hussein S, Ramasamy DP, Dwyer MG, et al. Antiphospholipid antibodies are associated with response to interferon-beta1a treatment in MS: results from a 3-year longitudinal study. *Neurol Res.* (2012) 34:761–9. doi: 10.1179/1743132812Y.00000 00076
- 132. Koudriavtseva T, D'Agosto G, Mandoj C, Sperduti I, Cordiali-Fei P. High frequency of antiphospholipid antibodies in relapse of multiple sclerosis: a possible indicator of inflammatory-thrombotic processes. *Neurol Sci.* (2014) 35:1737–41. doi: 10.1007/s10072-014-1823-4
- 133. Mandoj C, Renna R, Plantone D, Sperduti I, Cigliana G, Conti L, et al. Anti-annexin antibodies, cholesterol levels and disability in multiple

sclerosis. Neurosci Lett. (2015) 606:156-60. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015. 08.054

- 134. Rand JH, Wu X-X, Quinn AS, Chen PP, Hathcock JJ, Taatjes DJ. Hydroxychloroquine directly reduces the binding of antiphospholipid antibody-beta2-glycoprotein I complexes to phospholipid bilayers. *Blood* (2008) 112:1687–95. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-144204
- 135. Plantone D, Koudriavtseva T. Current and future use of chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in infectious, immune, neoplastic, and neurological diseases: a mini-review. *Clin. Drug Investig.* (2018) 38:653–71. doi: 10.1007/s40261-018-0656-y
- 136. Jacob A, McKeon A, Nakashima I, Sato DK, Elsone L, Fujihara K, et al. Current concept of neuromyelitis optica (NMO). and NMO spectrum disorders. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2013) 84:922–30. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-302310
- 137. Iong Y, He Y, Zheng Y, Chen M, Zhang B, Gao C. Serum anticardiolipin antibodies in patients with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. *J Neurol.* (2013) 260:3150–7. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-7128-3
- Farber RS, Gross R, Zakin E, Fabian M. Risk of venous thromboembolism in neuromyelitis optica patients hospitalized for acute relapse. *Mult Scler*. (2017) 23:988–94. doi: 10.1177/1352458516670736
- 139. Koudriavtseva T, Renna R, Plantone D, Mainero C. Demyelinating and thrombotic diseases of the central nervous system: common pathogenic and triggering factors. *Front Neurol.* (2015) 6:63. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015. 00063
- 140. Ferguson B, Matyszak MK, Esiri MM, Perry VH. Axonal damage in acute multiple sclerosis lesions. *Brain* (1997) 120(Pt 3):393–9. doi: 10.1093/brain/120.3.393
- 141. Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Bunkowski S, Kuhlmann T, Brück W. Acute axonal injury in multiple sclerosis. Correlation with demyelination and inflammation. *Brain* (2000) 123(Pt 6):1174–83.
- 142. Kuhlmann T, Lingfeld G, Bitsch A, Schuchardt J, Brück W. Acute axonal damage in multiple sclerosis is most extensive in early disease stages and decreases over time. *Brain* (2002) 125(Pt 10):2202–12.
- 143. Marik C, Felts PA, Bauer J, Lassmann H, Smith KJ. Lesion genesis in a subset of patients with multiple sclerosis: a role for innate immunity? *Brain* (2007) 130:2800–15. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm236
- 144. Han MH, Hwang S-I, Roy DB, Lundgren DH, Price JV, Ousman SS, et al. Proteomic analysis of active multiple sclerosis lesions reveals therapeutic targets. *Nature* (2008) 451:1076–81. doi: 10.1038/nature06559
- 145. Soon D, Tozer D, Altmann D, Tofts P, Miller D. Quantification of subtle blood-brain barrier disruption in non-enhancing lesions in multiple sclerosis: a study of disease and lesion subtypes. *Mult Scler.* (2007) 13:884– 894. doi: 10.1177/1352458507076970
- 146. Plumb J, McQuaid S, Mirakhur M, Kirk J. Abnormal endothelial tight junctions in active lesions and normal-appearing white matter in multiple sclerosis. *Brain Pathol.* (2002) 12:154–169. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2002.tb00430.x
- 147. Kirk J, Plumb J, Mirakhur M, McQuaid S. Tight junctional abnormality in multiple sclerosis white matter affects all calibres of vessel and is associated with blood-brain barrier leakage and active demyelination. *J Pathol.* (2003) 201:319–27. doi: 10.1002/path.1434
- 148. Moll NM, Rietsch AM, Thomas S, Ransohoff AJ, Lee JC, Fox R, et al. Multiple sclerosis normal-appearing white matter: pathology-imaging correlations. *Ann Neurol.* (2011) 70:764–73. doi: 10.1002/ana.22521

- 149. Varga AW, Johnson G, Babb JS, Herbert J, Grossman RI, Inglese M. White matter hemodynamic abnormalities precede sub-cortical gray matter changes in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci. (2009) 282:28–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2008.12.036
- Lassmann H. Multiple sclerosis: is there neurodegeneration independent from inflammation? J Neurol Sci. (2007) 259:3–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2006.08.016
- 151. Amor S, Peferoen LA, Vogel DY, Breur M, van der Valk P, Baker D, et al. Inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases-an update. *Immunology* (2014) 142:151–66. doi: 10.1111/imm.12233
- Liddelow SA, Guttenplan KA, Clarke LE, Bennett FC, Bohlen CJ, Schirmer L, et al. Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. *Nature* (2017) 541:481–7. doi: 10.1038/nature21029
- 153. Koudriavtseva T, Mainero C. Neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration and regeneration in multiple sclerosis: intercorrelated manifestations of the immune response. *Neural Regen Res.* (2016) 11:1727–30. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.194804
- 154. Fiorini A, Koudriavtseva T, Bucaj E, Coccia R, Foppoli C, Giorgi A, et al. Involvement of oxidative stress in occurrence of relapses in multiple sclerosis: the spectrum of oxidatively modified serum proteins detected by proteomics and redox proteomics analysis. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e65184. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065184
- 155. Kirk J, Zhou AL. Viral infection at the blood-brain barrier in multiple sclerosis:-an ultrastructural study of tissues from a UK Regional Brain Bank. *Mult Scler*. (1996) 1:242–52. doi: 10.1177/1352458596001 00410
- 156. Mechelli R, Umeton R, Policano C, Annibali V, Coarelli G, Ricigliano VA, et al. A "candidate interactome" aggregate analysis of genome-wide association data in multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8:e63300. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0063300
- 157. Boesen MS, Koch-Henriksen N, Thygesen LC, Eriksson F, Greisen G, Born AP, et al. Infections seem to be more frequent before onset of pediatric multiple sclerosis: a Danish nationwide nested case-control study. *Mult Scler.* (2018) 1:1352458518771871. doi: 10.1177/13524585187 71871
- Saberi A, Akhondzadeh S, Kazemi S. Infectious agents and different course of multiple sclerosis: a systematic review. *Acta Neurol Belg.* (2018). doi: 10.1007/s13760-018-0976-y. [Epub ahead of print].
- 159. Alonso R, Fernández-Fernández AM, Pisa D, Carrasco L. Multiple sclerosis and mixed microbial infections. direct identification of fungi and bacteria in nervous tissue. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2018) 117:42–61. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2018.05.022

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Plantone, Inglese, Salvetti and Koudriavtseva. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Corrigendum: A Perspective of Coagulation Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis and in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis

Domenico Plantone¹, Matilde Inglese², Marco Salvetti^{3,4*} and Tatiana Koudriavtseva⁵

¹ S.O.C. Neurologia, Ospedale San Biagio, Domodossola, Italy, ² Department of Neurology, Radiology and Neuroscience, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States, ³ Department of Neuroscience Mental Health and Sensory Organs (NEMOS), Sapienza University, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Rome, Italy, ⁴ IRCCS Istituto Neurologico Mediterraneo (INM) Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy, ⁵ Department of Clinical Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Approved by:

Frontiers in Neurology Editorial Office, Frontiers Media SA, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Marco Salvetti marco.salvetti@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 15 February 2019 Accepted: 18 February 2019 Published: 12 March 2019

Citation:

Plantone D, Inglese M, Salvetti M and Koudriavtseva T (2019) Corrigendum: A Perspective of Coagulation Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis and in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis. Front. Neurol. 10:210. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00210 Keywords: coagulation, neuroinflammation, multiple sclerosis, neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders, thrombosis

A Corrigendum on

A Perspective of Coagulation Dysfunction in Multiple Sclerosis and in Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis

by Plantone, D., Inglese, M., Salvetti, M., and Koudriavtseva, T. (2019). Front. Neurol. 9:1175. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01175

In the published article, there was an error regarding the affiliations for Marco Salvetti. As well as having affiliation "3," he should also have "IRCCS Istituto Neurologico Mediterraneo (INM) Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy."

There was also an omission in the affiliation for Tatiana Koudriavtseva. Instead of "Department of Clinical Experimental Oncology, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy", it should be "Department of Clinical Experimental Oncology, IRCCS Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy".

The authors apologize for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way. The original article has been updated.

Copyright © 2019 Plantone, Inglese, Salvetti and Koudriavtseva. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Blocking Thrombin Significantly Ameliorates Experimental Autoimmune Neuritis

Efrat Shavit-Stein^{1*†}, Ramona Aronovich^{2†}, Constantin Sylantiev², Orna Gera^{1,2}, Shany G. Gofrit¹, Joab Chapman^{1,2,3,4,5†} and Amir Dori^{1,2,3,4†}

¹ Department of Neurology, The Chaim Sheba Medical Center, Ramat Gan, Israel, ² Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, ³ Joseph Sagol Neuroscience Center, Sheba Medical Center, Ramat Gan, Israel, ⁴ Department of Neurology, Sackler School of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, ⁵ Robert and Martha Harden Chair in Mental and Neurological Diseases, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv, Israel

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tatiana Koudriavtseva, Istituto Nazionale del Cancro Regina Elena. Italv

Reviewed by:

Evan B. Stubbs, Loyola University Chicago, United States Andrea Pace, Istituto Nazionale Tumori Regina Elena, Italy

*Correspondence: Efrat Shavit-Stein efrat.shavit.stein@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 02 August 2018 Accepted: 10 December 2018 Published: 04 January 2019

Citation:

Shavit-Stein E, Aronovich R, Sylantiev C, Gera O, Gofrit SG, Chapman J and Dori A (2019) Blocking Thrombin Significantly Ameliorates Experimental Autoimmune Neuritis. Front. Neurol. 9:1139. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01139

Thrombin and its protease-activated receptor 1 (PAR1) are potentially important in peripheral nerve inflammatory diseases. We studied the role of thrombin and PAR1 in rat experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN), a model of the human Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS). EAN was induced by bovine peripheral myelin with complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA). Thrombin activity in the sciatic nerves, clinical scores and rotarod performance were measured. Thrombin activity in the sciatic nerve was elevated in EAN compared to CFA control rats (sham rats) ($p \leq 0.004$). The effect of blocking the thrombin-PAR1 pathway was studied using the non-selective thrombin inhibitor N-Tosyl-Lys-chloromethylketone (TLCK), and the highly specific thrombin inhibitor N-alpha 2 naphtalenesulfonylglycyl 4 amidino-phenylalaninepiperidide (NAPAP). In-vitro TLCK and NAPAP significantly inhibited specific thrombin activity in EAN rats sciatics (p<0.0001 for both inhibitors). Treatment with TLCK 4.4 mg/kg and NAPAP 69.8 mg/kg significantly improved clinical and rotarod scores starting at day 12 and 13 post immunization (DPI12, DPI13) respectively (p < 0.0001) compared to the untreated EAN rats. In nerve conduction studies, distal amplitude was significantly lower in EAN compared to sham rats (0.76 ± 0.34 vs. 9.8 ± 1.2 , mV, p < 0.0001). Nerve conduction velocity was impaired in EAN rats (23.6 \pm 2.6 vs. sham 43 \pm 4.5, m/s p = 0.01) and was normalized by TLCK (41.2 \pm 7.6 m/s, p < 0.05). PAR1 histology of the sciatic node of Ranvier indicated significant structural damage in the EAN rats which was prevented by TLCK treatment. These results suggest the thrombin-PAR1 pathway as a possible target for future intervention in GBS.

Keywords: thrombin, experimental autoimmune neuritis, node of Ranvier, PAR1, Guillain-Barré syndrome

INTRODUCTION

The inflammatory neuropathies are a diverse group of conditions. They share common features of inflammatory damage to myelin/axons (1, 2). Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) is a representative of the inflammatory neuropathies. The most common variant of GBS is acute inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (AIDP), characterized by a progressive and sometimes painful weakness of limbs (3). GBS has an incidence rate of 0.8–1.9 cases per 100,000 people per year

77

(4), and is potentially fatal. Although patients with GBS show a high recovery rate, it still causes extensive disability. 20 to 30% of the patients suffer respiratory failure (5). During the 6 months period after the onset of the disease, 20% of adult patients are still unable to walk without support (6).

The mechanisms by which nerve conduction dysfunction is generated in GBS are a topic of debate (2, 7). GBS pathophysiology includes a wide variety of immune responses. T cells are thought to participate mainly in the induction phase of the disease, whereas the progressive phase of the disease includes humoral mediated response (5). Perivascular presence of T cells can be seen in the experimental autoimmune neuritis (EAN) rat model for GBS soon after disease induction. The T cells activate monocytes to macrophages. The macrophages in turn, participate in nerve damage via inflammatory cytokines (8). B cells are thought to play a role via the creation of autoantibodies cross reactive to the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of Campylobacter jejuni and the ganglioside GM1 (9). These autoantibodies bind nodal membrane and fix complement. They are suspected to be the cause of nodal dysfunction. They may also lead to axonal degeneration (10), and cause direct axonal damage (11). Recent evidence connects Zika infections with GBS as well, with negative anti-ganglioside antibodies (12, 13).

Current treatments of GBS include plasmapheresis and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG). The physiological mechanisms by which these treatments improve patients' condition are still unclear as is GBS pathophysiology itself. Despite treatment, 9–17% of GBS patients die or remain severely disabled (14). Other treatments, including adding steroids to IVIG, showed only minor short term improvement (15).

Inflammatory states are tightly related to the coagulation system, with extensive crosstalk between the two, as can be seen in the pathogenesis of vascular diseases (16, 17). This relationship was demonstrated in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the animal model for multiple sclerosis, where elevation of thrombin was shown to precede the appearance of clinical signs (18–20).

Thrombin is a key factor in the coagulation cascade and is known to participate in a wide variety of cellular and physiological processes including inflammation (21, 22), neurotrauma (23, 24), neuronal plasticity after vascular damage (25) and neuronal degeneration (26). Thrombin has a known role in central nervous system inflammatory diseases as shown in the EAE model (18, 19). Thrombin has been previously shown to have a role in the peripheral nervous system (PNS) and in pathophysiology of pain (27). We have demonstrated that the thrombin receptor protease active receptor 1 (PAR1) is localized to the nodes of Ranvier in peripheral nerves and that its activation creates a conduction block (28). These findings have suggested that excess levels of thrombin with PAR1 activation may play an important role in causing conduction failure in inflammatory diseases and thrombotic nerve diseases such as infarctions or trauma.

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of thrombin inhibition on clinical, histological and electrophysiological EAN parameters.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Females Lewis rats were purchased from Harlan (Jerusalem Israel) at age of 8 weeks, and were housed at the animal facility at Tel Aviv University Medical School 1 week prior to experiment for acclimatization. The animals were kept under standard conditions of $23 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C with a 12 h light-dark cycle and access to food and water ad libitum. The animals were in weight range of 160–180gr at the beginning of the experiment.

All experiments were approved by the animal welfare committee (M-06-004) and appropriate measures to avert pain and suffering to the rats were taken.

Induction of EAN

The animals were immunized with 200 µl of inoculum containing 10 mg of bovine peripheral myelin (BPM), prepared in our laboratory from a bovine spinal cord roots, using the method of Kadlubowski (29), and 4 mg of Mycobacterium tuberculosis (strain H37RA; Difco, Detroit, Michigan) emulsified in 100 µl saline and 100 µl of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), injected into hind footpad and one subcutaneous site (flank). Control animals (sham) were injected with an inoculums containing Mycobacterium tuberculosis emulsified in saline and CFA. Immunization of the animals was marked as day 0, and the days that followed were marked as days post-immunization (DPI). Subjective clinical evaluation for neurological signs was performed before immunization and every 1-2 days (total of 24 time points) by an evaluator blinded to treatment. Severity of weakness was graded as follows: 0-undetected; 1-limp tail; 2-abnormal gait; 3-mild paraparesis; 4-severe paraparesis; 5paraplegia; 6-paraplegia with forelimb involvement; 7-paraplegia with forelimb involvement and respiratory distress; and 8moribund or dead (30).

Motor Performance

Motor performance was assessed by means of a rotarod test. The rats were pre-trained before immunization to run on the rod, which rotated at a fixed speed of 13 rounds per minute. After immunization the rats were assessed every 1–2 days (total of 24 time points). The rats were allowed to run for up to 60 sec on each trial, or until they fell off. The mean of the three consecutive trials was recorded for each rat.

Treatment Protocol for TLCK and NAPAP

N-alpha 2 naphtalenesulfonylglycyl 4 amidinophenylalaninepiperidide (NAPAP-pefablock 76308, Fluka), N-Tosyl-Lyschloromethylketone (TLCK-616382) were purchased from Calbiochem, La Jolla, California.

The effect of treatment timing was determined based upon a preliminary study comparing 3 different treatment regimens for TLCK and NAPAP to untreated, adjuvant injected (marked sham) group and saline treated EAN (marked EAN). The specific time frames and number of animals used for the different protocols were chosen based on a previous work (31). First, an evaluation of clinical scores and rotarod scores was made in EAN versus sham rats. Follow-up was conducted in two independent repeated experiments for the sham rats (a total number of 9 animals) and four independent repeated experiments for the EAN rats (a total of 24 animals).

Second, three different protocols were compared to untreated EAN. The protocols included "early protocol" (EP) with daily injections at DPI5-15, "late protocol" (LP) with daily injections at DPI10-20, and "short protocol" (SP) with daily injections for DPI10-15. EP was started before the appearance of EAN symptoms as previously described in the literature (31, 32).

The EP experiment included 8 animals in each treatment group (NAPAP and TLCK). The SP experiment included 4 animals in each treatment group (NAPAP and TLCK). Main study was based on the preliminary study results. The LP protocol was chosen for the main *in-vivo* study, and therefore, was repeated in four independent experiments (a total number of 16 animals in the NAPAP group and 18 animals in the TLCK groups). The animals in the treatment groups were injected with 1 ml carrier solution (saline) containing either 4.4 mg/kg of TLCK (33) or 69.8 mg/kg of NAPAP intraperitoneally (IP) once daily.

Thrombin Activity

In order to measure thrombin activity in the sciatic nerve, it was dissected, washed with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) to remove overt blood and moved to a PBS buffer. The activity was measured as previously described in detail (34, 35). Briefly, the PBS surrounding the nerve was evaluated utilizing a fluorometric assay, quantifying the cleavage of the synthetic peptide substrate N-p-Tos-Gly-L-Pro-L-Arg-7- amido-4-methylcoumarin (tos-GPR-AMC; excitation 350 nm, emission 430 nm, Sigma T-0273). Substrate $(20 \,\mu$ l, final concentration $10 \,\mu$ M) was added to $140 \,\mu$ l of PBS containing 0.1% bovine serum albumin (BSA). The fluorescence was measured continuously for 20 min at 37°C. The hydrolysis of tos-GPR-AMC substrate was determined from the increase in fluorescence (measured on FL-600 microplate fluorescence reader, BIOTEK, excitation wavelength/bandwidth 360/20 nm; emission wavelength/bandwidth 465/20 nm). Known concentrations of purified human thrombin (Sigma T 0553; 300 units/mg protein) were used in the same assay for calibration.

Localization of PAR1 in Sciatic Nerve Slices

Sciatic nerves were dissected from rats at DPI32. Four animals were randomly selected from each group (sham, EAN, EAN treated with NAPAP and EAN treated with TLCK). 7-8 nodescontaining-fields were analyzed from each animal, adding up to a total of 30 per group. The sciatic nerves were fixed overnight in 4% PFA in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4, and then placed in 30% sucrose for 4h. Frozen sagittal sections (50 µm) were then cut on a sliding cryostat and collected serially. Slides were then washed with PBS, blocked for 1 h in PBS containing 1% goat serum, 0.2% glycine and 0.1% Triton X-100, and incubated overnight with rabbit anti-PAR1 antibody (1:50) and mouse monoclonal anti-Caspr I (1:500; a generous gift of Professor Elior Peles). After subsequent washes in PBS, the slides were reacted with RRX- and Cy2coupled secondary antibodies: Rhodamine Red-X-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (1:400; Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, ME, United States) and cy2-conjugated donkey anti-mouse (1:400; Jackson Laboratories).

Immunofluorescence slides were viewed and analyzed using a confocal ZEISS CLSM 410 microscope, using magnification of X630. Specific localization of PAR1 in sections from sciatic nerves was made using immunofluorescence, utilizing double staining for PAR1 together with specific markers of the node of Ranvier, including the paranodal axonal marker Caspr I. Normal node architecture was defined as the presence of Caspr paranodal staining, and PAR1 staining in the node between the paranodal Caspr stains (28). The data was evaluated blindly.

Electrophysiological Studies

Electrophysiological tests were performed on DPI26. The rats were anesthetized with Equitezin (4% chloral hydrate, 6% sodium pentobarbital, IP, 0.5 ml/100 g). Body temperature was maintained warm by placing the rats on a heating mat. Temperature differences were minimized by conducting the study as soon as the anesthesia had taken effect and by warming the tail with a heating lamp. Electrophysiological studies were conducted on the rats tails in order to minimize an effect of local inflammation in sciatic nerve of the EAN rats (36, 37). Furthermore, length measurements were more accurate at the tail. The tail skin was cleaned carefully with alcohol before the electrodes were placed. Recordings of responses were from the muscles of the tail using a pair of ring electrodes coated with electrode jelly and placed 50 mm distal to the base of the tail. A pair of monopolar needle electrodes were inserted to a depth of 4-5 mm to stimulate the tail nerves. Stimulation was performed 10 (distal site) and 50 (proximal site) mm proximal to the recording electrodes. A ground electrode was placed between the stimulating electrode and recording electrodes. Supra-maximal stimulation, at a range of 3-5 mA was employed, and the low and high frequency filters were set at 10 Hz and 10 kHz, respectively. The responses were displayed on a fully digital recording Keypoint apparatus (Dantec, Skovlunde, Denmark). Both proximal and distal latencies were measured using time intervals from the stimulus artifact to the first deflection from the baseline. To calculate the motor nerve conduction velocity (MNCV), the distance between the stimulation sites (40 mm) was divided by the latency difference. Amplitudes of the compound muscle action potential (CMAP) from both proximal and distal stimulations were measured from the preceding baseline to negative peak.

Splenocytes Proliferation Assay

Single-cell suspensions of freshly dissected spleens were obtained on DPI14 (n = 4 per each group) and assayed *ex-vivo* for their response to antigen (myelin) and immune-inducer (LPS) by a proliferation assay. Each well was seeded 2 × 10⁴ cells in 0.2 ml of proliferation medium (RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum, 2 mM l-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin) containing myelin (10 µg/ml) or LPS (1 µg/ml). The experiments were performed in triplicate in 96-well, flat bottom microplates (Costar, Cambridge, USA). Cultures were incubated for 72 h in a humidified atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Cell proliferation was determined by a Colorimetric Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) Cell Proliferation kit (Roche Applied Science) following manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, $20 \,\mu$ l of BrdU labeling solution diluted 1:100 in culture medium was added to each well for the last 18 h of the assay. After removing the medium, cells were fixed, and anti-BrdU-peroxidase solution was added to each well. Cell cultures were incubated for 90 min at room temperature. The wells were washed and substrate solution was added. The absorbance was measured by means of microplate reader at 370 nm, using 492 nm as reference for subtraction.

Statistics

Statistical analysis of the differences between clinical scores and rotarod progression were assessed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures. The scores at disease peak were compared by one-way ANOVA. The use of ANOVA test with Tukey's post-hoc analysis for clinical scores was possible due to the high number of animals, and after normal distribution was evaluated (by D'Agostino-Pearson normality test). The difference in thrombin activity was calculated using two-way ANOVA. One-way ANOVA was used to compare the means of TLCK, NAPAP and sham in the immune biochemical and electrophysiological measures. Dunnett's test was used in ANOVA with multiple comparisons. A two-way ANOVA with Sidak test for multiple comparisons was performed for the effect of EAN and progression in time on clinical score and rotarod. Comparison of immune-histochemical images was performed using Fisher's exact test. Calculations were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.

RESULTS

Clinical Course and Thrombin Activity in the Sciatic Nerve of EAN

EAN rats showed first clinical signs at DPI12 (Figure 1A), including flaccid tail and slight paresis rapidly progressing to severe paraparesis. The mean clinical score of EAN rats was significantly elevated when comparing to the sham group $[F_{(13, 403)} = 28.08, p < 0.001$ the interaction between all-time points and the two groups was analyzed by repeated measure ANOVA]. Multiple comparisons with Sidak post-hoc analysis indicated that the significant increase in clinical score began starting at DPI14, and continued throughout the experiment $(2.46 \pm 0.35, 0.00 \pm 0, \text{ mean} \pm \text{SEM}, \text{ compared to sham}, p < 0.00 \pm 0.00 \pm 0.00 \pm 0.000$ 0.01). The mean rotarod walking time of the EAN rats was found to be significantly decreased when comparing to sham group $[F_{(12, 403)} = 11.87, p < 0.001$, the interaction between all-time points and the two groups was analyzed by repeated measure ANOVA]. No neurological signs were observed in the sham group during the experiment. EAN rats demonstrated decreased mean rotarod walking times indicated by multiple comparisons with Sidak post-hoc analysis beginning at DPI14 (Figure 1B, 41.42 \pm 4.8 seconds, mean \pm SEM, compared to sham rats, p =0.013).

Thrombin activity in EAN rat sciatic nerves was found to be increased early in the clinical course of the disease, but was normalized in the progression and at the peak of disease. Thrombin activity was significantly elevated in the EAN rat sciatic nerves compared to sham rats at DPI10 prior to the appearance of clinical signs (**Figure 1C**, 182 ± 17.8 vs. 100 ± 4.85 , percent of sham, $p \leq 0.005$). Thrombin levels measured in the sciatic nerves from EAN and sham rats ceased to be statistically different at DPI14.

Both the highly specific thrombin inhibitor NAPAP and the non-selective thrombin inhibitor TLCK reduced the *in-vitro* EAN excess thrombin activity to sham baseline (**Figure 1D**, 182.4 \pm 17, 120.7 \pm 16.5, 107.4 \pm 10.7, percent of sham, respectively, p < 0.0001 for both inhibitors). Measurements indicate the specificity of this early thrombin activity.

Inhibition of Thrombin Activity as a Treatment for EAN

We further verified the importance of thrombin-like protease activity in the EAN nerves by performing therapeutic experiments utilizing exogenous protease inhibitors. These included the highly specific thrombin inhibitor NAPAP and the non-selective thrombin and trypsin-like serine protease inhibitor TLCK. The effects of these treatments were compared to saline treated EAN controls.

Preliminary Treatment Protocols Study

Three protocols were assessed as described in detail in the Methods section: an early pre-clinical protocol (EP), a short protocol (SP) covering the period of disease progression and a long protocol (LP) covering both the early clinical stage and peak of disease (**Figure 2**). Clinical score and rotarod scores were recorded for all TLCK and NAPAP treatment protocols. Animals were assigned to different protocol groups prior to the development of disease, but later all of them showed clinical signs of EAN.

The effect of NAPAP treatment protocols on clinical score are presented in Figure 2A. Following the onset of clinical deterioration, all treatment protocols were found to significantly reduced disease severity compared to EAN $[F_{(33, 484)} = 3.38, p]$ < 0.001, for the interaction between all-time points and groups, analyses using two-way ANOVA with Dunnett's correction for multiple comparisons]. At disease peak (DPI18) all NAPAP treatment protocols had a similar modest non-significant effect on clinical score relative to EAN $[F_{(3, 31)} = 1.79, p = 0.17, for$ the comparison between different treatment groups to the EAN, using one-way ANOVA, with Dunnetts' correction for multiple comparisons]. EP and LP treatment protocols improved clinical score during the recovery phase of EAN $[F_{(9, 105)} = 2.149, p =$ 0.0316 for the interaction between groups and days of recovery calculated using two-way ANOVA with Tukey's post-hoc analysis revealing the EP and LP effect]. Motor function assessed by rotarod score detected similar effects of NAPAP treatment. The treatment was not found to improve the rotarod function over the entire course of disease $[F_{(27, 387)} = 1.29, p = 0.16, \text{ for interaction}]$ between all-time points and groups, Figure 2B].

Following the onset of clinical score deterioration (DPI14) all TLCK treatment protocols were found to be better than EAN [$F_{(39, 598)} = 11.72$, p < 0.01, the interaction between all-time points and the groups was analyzed by repeated measure



FIGORE 1 Cinical parameters and thrombin activity. Cinical parameters were followed using clinical score and rotardo score. Thrombin activity Mas measured using fluorometric assay, quantifying the cleavage of the synthetic peptide substrate, after the removal of the nerve from the animals. Thrombin activity following NAPAP and TLCK administration was measured *in-vitro*. (A) Mean clinical score (CS) of EAN rats compare to sham. (B) Rotaroad score (RR) of EAN rats compare to sham. (C) Thrombin activity in EAN rats sciatic nerve compare to sham rats (thrombin activity in sham rats was defined as 100%). Thrombin activity was measured at DP110, DP114, and DP119. Thrombin activity levels were significantly increase in DP10 in EAN compare to sham ($\rho < 0.0001$). (D) Increased thrombin activity in sciatic nerves of EAN rats in DP110 is inhibited *in-vitro* by NAPAP and TLCK (thrombin activity in sham rats treated with NAPAP was defined as 100%). Results are presented as mean±SEM. ** $\rho \leq 0.001$. Total number of animals in each group: A.B. CS and RR: EAN-24, sham-9. C. Thrombin activity EAN: DP110-3, DP114-4, DP119-4. Sham: DP110-3, DP114-5, DP119-4. D. Thrombin activity *in-vitro* EAN and sham: No treatment-3, NAPAP-3, TLCK-3. Statistical analysis used: Statistical analysis of the differences between clinical scores and rotarod progression were assessed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures. Sidak correction was done for multiple comparisons. The difference in thrombin activity was calculated using two-way ANOVA with Dunnett's correction for multiple comparisons.

ANOVA, with Dunnett's correction for all treatments compare to EAN]. At disease peak, (DPI17) all treatments improve clinical score $[1 \pm 0.4, 1.75 \pm 0.16, 0.72 \pm 0.13, 4.07 \pm 1.47, SP, EP, LP, vs. EAN respectively, mean ± SEM, <math>F_{(3, 40)} = 25.04$, p < 0.001] and there was no significant difference between treatment protocols. During the recovery phase (DPI18-20) EP and LP treatments improved clinical score [$F_{(3, 37)} = 11.57$, p < 0.001, analyzed by repeated measure ANOVA, followed by Tukey's *post-hoc* analysis, **Figure 2C**]. Motor function assessed by rotarod score detected similar effects of TLCK treatment. From the beginning of motor deterioration, all treatments had a beneficial effect [$F_{(36, 552)} = 2.9$, p < 0.001 for the interaction between all-time points and groups, **Figure 2D**]. LP treatment was found to enhance recovery compare to EAN [$F_{(3, 37)} = 3.82$, p = 0.017 analyzed by repeated measure ANOVA with Tukey's correction].

Electrophysiology

NCV studies were carried out at a late phase of disease (DPI26) since there is a known 1–2 weeks delay between the disease onset

and the appearance of electrophysiological changes in both EAN and GBS. Furthermore, performance of electrophysiology studies requires anesthesia, which by morbidity and mortality may have deleteriously affected the clinical measures. All EAN rats demonstrated severe pathology in electrophysiology parameters (Figure 3). Distal amplitude was significantly lower in EAN compared to sham rats (0.76 \pm 0.34, 9.8 \pm 1.2 mV, respectively, p < 0.0001, Figure 3A) and was not significantly improved with either treatment. Latency was longer in EAN compared to sham $(1.43 \pm 0.02, 0.54 \pm 0.03 \text{ msec}, p < 0.0001, Figure 3B)$, with some improvement with TLCK and NAPAP treatments (no statistical significance, p = 0.27, p = 0.4, respectively). The results obtained confirm a severe axonal and demyelinating neuropathy in the EAN animals compared to sham. The effects of NAPAP and TLCK treatments on the axonal component of the disease were minimal, as expressed by muscle response amplitude. Nerve conduction velocities were slower in EAN compared to sham (23.6 \pm 2.16, 43 \pm 3.7 m/s. Figure 3C, p = 0.0214) and were significantly improved by TLCK treatment (23.6 \pm 2.65,



FIGURE 2 | Time course of clinical parameters in EAN rats under different treatment protocols. Comparison between 3 treatment protocols for NAPAP and TLCK in order to evaluate the most effective time frame for treatment. Treatment protocols included early protocol (EP), with daily injections at DPI5-15, late protocol (LP) with daily injections at DPI10-20, and short protocol (SP) with daily injections at DPI10-15. Each protocol was applied in both NAPAP and TLCK. Days are marked DPI following immunization day (DPI0). The bars above mean clinical score graphs mark the length of each treatment protocol. (A) Mean clinical scores (CS) with different NAPAP treatment protocols. (B) Rotarod (RR) scores with different NAPAP treatment protocols. (C) Mean CS with different TLCK treatment protocols. (D) RR scores with different TLCK treatment protocols. The late treatment protocol marked with gray circles, was the most effective. Results are presented as Mean±SEM. Total number of animals in each group: For NAPAP (CS, RR): SP-4, LP-18, EP-8, EAN-20. For TLCK (CS, RR): SP-4, LP-16, EP-8, EAN-20. Statistical analysis used: Two-way ANOVA with Tukey test for multiple comparisons was performed for the effect of EAN and progression in time on clinical score and rotarod.

41.27 \pm 7.7 m/s, p = 0.047). Significant beneficial effects were demonstrated in the demyelination measure of nerve conduction velocity by TLCK, which is in-line with the more striking effect of TLCK on the clinical measures.

Immune-Histochemical Evaluation and Splenocyte Proliferation

Nerve sections taken from sham, EAN, EAN treated with NAPAP and TLCK were quantitatively analyzed using randomly mixed images. EAN nerve sections showed abnormal structure defined as lack of PAR1 staining as described earlier, in 25 out of 30 images compare to 1 out of 30 in sham sections (p = 0.0001, Fisher's exact test, **Figures 4A,B**). Sections taken from NAPAP and TLCK treated EAN showed abnormal structure in 21 out of 30 nodes and 17 out of 30 nodes (p = 0.18, p = 0.02 respectively, when compared to EAN, **Figures 4C,D**).

The beneficial effects of inhibiting thrombin on EAN neuropathy may be due to local inhibition of thrombin in the nerve or through a more general immune-suppressive effect. We

tested this possibility by isolating immune cells from the spleens of EAN animal treated by TLCK or sham. The general B-cell and macrophage stimulator LPS induced splenocytes proliferation reaction increase in EAN compare to sham (p = 0.01, **Figure 4E**). TLCK did not affect this proliferation significantly. The specific antigen used to induce EAN in this mode, bovine spinal root myelin induced a small increase in splenocytes proliferation in EAN rats (p = 0.37, sham vs. EAN), and the effect of TLCK was to further increase proliferation (p = 0.2, sham vs. TLCK treated EAN, **Figure 4F**).

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrates specific thrombin and PAR1-related biochemical, histological and electrophysiological changes in peripheral nerves of EAN rats. The initial event is an early elevation of thrombin levels in the sciatic nerve and destruction of the PAR1-associated structures at the node of Ranvier. The functional importance of increased thrombin levels is supported



FIGURE 3 [Electrophysiological findings in sham, EAN, and treated EAN, DPI26. Electrophysiological measurements were conducted on the tail nerve. Amplitudes of distal compound muscle action potential (CMAP), distal latency and nerve conduction velocities were evaluated. (A) CMAP in sham, EAN, and different treatment protocols. Amplitude was significantly lower in EAN compared to sham rats. (B) Distal latency in sham, EAN, and different treatment protocols. Latency was significantly longer in EAN rats. (C) Nerve conduction velocities (NCV) in sham, EAN, and different treatment protocols. Velocity was significantly slower in EAN compared to sham rats. (B) Distal latency in sham, EAN, and different treatment protocols. Velocity was significantly slower in EAN compare to sham rats. This was partially corrected by TLCK treatment. Results are presented as Mean±SEM. * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.001$. Number of animals in each group (amplitude, latency, NCV): Sham-3, EAN-3, EAN-NAPAP-3, EAN-TLCK-3. Statistical analysis used: One-way ANOVA with Dunnett's correction for multiple comparisons was used to compare the means of electrophysiological measures.

by the major beneficial effect of exogenous thrombin inhibitors on the severity and course of EAN. All treatments in different protocols had various degree of beneficial effect on the clinical and rotatod scores of the EAN rats. This was expressed as a lower disease peak, and as better final outcome. It is interesting to note that EP and SP treatments, which were limited to the time period prior to recovery, had an impact on recovery phase as well. This may indicate a complex series of event induced by early intervention.

The EAN rats developed the expected monophasic diseases course, characterized by a relatively rapid deterioration to paresis, followed by a gradual recovery. The EAN rats showed a significant rise in thrombin activity in the sciatic nerve. The rise in thrombin activity was an early event, noted just prior to the appearance of clinical signs on DPI10. In EAN rats, nerve thrombin activity was higher compared to sham rats and was inhibited to levels close to baseline activity using TLCK, which is a non-selective thrombin and trypsin-like proteases inhibitor. This effect was also found by using the highly specific thrombin inhibitor NAPAP. The significant inhibition caused by NAPAP supports the specific involvement of thrombin rather than other serine proteases in EAN nerve pathology. These results are thus compatible with an early increase in specific thrombin activity which is then probably countered by an increase in endogenous thrombin inhibitors, as can be seen in other reported animal models for neuroinflammation such as the EAE (18, 34).

The peak of measured excess thrombin activity is on day 10 and therefore the treatment protocols included one that preceded this point by 5 days, a short protocol for the period when this elevation occurred and a longer protocol which was initiated from the elevation of thrombin well into the recovery phase. Of these protocols, the long protocol gave significantly better results in the TLCK treatment, thus supporting a role for thrombinlike proteases from the first appearance of clinical signs into the recovery phase. The longer protocol was significantly better in

the recovery phase than both other protocols, which ended on day 15. Indeed, following the cessation of treatment on day 15, both protocol groups demonstrated an exacerbation of motor deficit (as measured by rotarod), in contrast to improvement in the long treatment protocol group which were still treated. In the NAPAP group there was an early effect on the severity of disease in all 3 protocols, similar to the TLCK group. The results strongly suggest that at these early time points (DPI10-15) thrombin is specifically important in disease propagation. In contrast, in both the peak of disease and in the recovery phase, the non-selective TLCK treatment was significantly better than NAPAP in all study measures: clinical score, motor deficit, nerve conduction and histology of PAR1 staining at the node of Ranvier. These results suggest that at later stages of disease a more general trypsin and thrombin-like protease activation is important in disease progression. These results suggest that targeting thrombin and trypsin-like proteases that can affect the node of Ranvier through PAR1 is a viable approach to the therapy of GBS.

The node of Ranvier is thought to be a primary structural and functional participant in the pathophysiology of GBS and EAN. The presence of relevant antigens such as gangliosides in the nodes of Ranvier was reported before (38). We have previously found PAR1 localized to the node of Ranvier (28). Thrombin, the main PAR1 activator, was found to cause a sciatic nerve conduction block in a PAR1 mediated manner (28). It is also known that thrombin is related to neuronal inflammation and glial activation (20, 39, 40). In the present study, we found degeneration of the nodes of Ranvier containing PAR1 structure as seen by immune-histochemistry, together with a reduction of nerve conduction velocity. These findings further support the node of Ranvier as an important participant in GBS and EAN pathophysiology. The mode of action of the treatments used in the present study is hypothesized to be essentially protease inhibition and specifically thrombin inhibition since one of the substances used is a highly selective for this protease.



TOCHE 4 Immune-instochemistry for holdes of harmer and spleriodytes proliferation assay. Representative images from EAN, sharm and treated rate, taken at DPI32. Normal node architecture was defined as the presence of paranodal CasprI stain, and staining of PAR1 in the node between the paranodal CasprI stains. Sciatic nerve fibers of sham (A) EAN (B), EAN treated with NAPAP (C) and EAN treated with TLCK (D) rats. Nodes of Ranvier taken from EAN showed abnormal lack of PAR1 stain compare to sham rats. TLCK treatment significantly improves the appearance of the nodes. Splenocytes proliferation reaction in response to LPS (E) and myelin (F) in sham, EAN and EAN treated TLCK rats. Proliferation in EAN in response to LPS was not significantly inhibited by TLCK. Results are presented as Mean±SEM. *p < 0.05. The sciatic nerves have been double-stained for PAR1 (red) and CasprI (green). Scale bar: 7.5 µm. Magnification X630. Immune-histochemistry: four animals were taken from each group (sham, EAN, EAN treated with NAPAP and EAN treated with TLCK), and 7–8 nodes of Ranvier were taken from each animal, to a total number of 30 nodes per group. Proliferation assay: four specimens were analyzed in each group. Experiments were performed in triplicate. Analysis of immune-histochemistry was done using Fisher's exact test. Analysis of proliferation assay was done using one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post-hoc* analysis.

Direct evidence is provided to substantiate that the increased thrombin activity is inhibited by both TLCK and NAPAP. The proteolytic consumption of PAR1 is demonstrated in the present results and supports this hypothesis. Thus, the hypothesis that excess activation of thrombin cause first dysfunction through the activation of PAR1, and then tissue destruction at the node of Ranvier, is substantiated by a number of findings in the present study. Further modes of action are certainly possible, and subjected to future research. Thrombin causes a secretion of interleukins from blood dendritic cells (41), it is therefore reasonable to suspect that its mechanism of action in EAN may include additional immunological effects besides its role in the node of Ranvier. In our hands, using splenocytes proliferation assay, TLCK was not found to have a significant immunological effect. There are very few studies on the modulation of immune and inflammatory cells by thrombin inhibition and this may well be systematically approached in further research.

Both node of Ranvier structure and nerve conduction function were partially restored using thrombin inhibitors. Electrophysiological studies demonstrated the expected lower CMAP amplitude as well as slower nerve conduction velocity and longer latency in the EAN rats compared to sham. The treatment with thrombin inhibitors improved these functions achieving statistical significance in measures of nerve conduction velocity. Lack of statistical significance in other electrophysiological measures might be due to the small number of animals in each group. This number of animals (three from each group) was set due to the known high risk of mortality during this part of the experiment and the great importance in continuing monitoring the treatment effect over the study period (electrophysiology was done on DPI26). The statistical significance found in nerve conduction velocities, despite the limited number of animals, may indicates a solid therapeutic effect. Alternatively, since the mechanisms for the changes in electrophysiology remains elusive, amplitude and latency may not participate in its pathophysiology.

Current GBS treatments include IVIG (42), plasma exchange (43) and supportive care. The natural history of GBS is to eventually subside, although only about 57% of the patients show complete cure without treatment. The underlying mechanism of these treatments is partially understood as well of the disease pathophysiology itself. Our study suggests a novel treatment target not previously used for treatment of GBS, and improves our understanding of GBS pathophysiology.

Thrombin inhibitors have anticoagulation properties. Although this might be of use in some patients with the appropriate comorbidities, they carry risks as well. The nonselective thrombin inhibitor TLCK used in this study caused bleeding tendency in laboratory animals (was detected post mortem, not shown). TLCK caused more bleeding than NAPAP, perhaps due to its wide range of activities. Although NAPAP did not cause evident bleeding in this study, it is a potent thrombin inhibitor and the use of similar medication in GBS would require caution. Further research is needed in order to develop more selective thrombin inhibitors, in order to allow separation of the inflammatory and anti-coagulatory effects. The current use of these agents allow better understanding of GBM underlying mechanism, for future development of therapies.

REFERENCES

- Lunn MP, Willison HJ. Diagnosis and treatment in inflammatory neuropathies. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr. (2009) 80:249–58. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2008.158303
- Feldman EL, Hughes RAC, Willison HJ. Progress in inflammatory neuropathy- the legacy of Dr Jack Griffin. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2015) 11:646–50. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2015.192
- Wijdicks EFM, Klein CJ. Guillain-Barré syndrome. Mayo Clin Proc. (2017) 92:467–79. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.12.002
- Sejvar JJ, Baughman AL, Wise M, Morgan OW. Population incidence of Guillain-Barré syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neuroepidemiology* (2011) 36:123–33. doi: 10.1159/000324710
- Willison HJ, Jacobs BC, van Doorn PA. Guillain-Barré syndrome. Lancet (2016) 388:717–27. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00339-1

In conclusion, thrombin and PAR1 inhibitors offer new directions in the treatment and understanding of GBS. Further research is needed in order to find more specific thrombin inhibitors and in order to understand the interplay between thrombin and the damage to nodes of Ranvier. Future structural, physiological and immunological evaluation of the changes associated with thrombin inhibition in EAN rats may shed light on the mechanism by which inhibition of PAR1 activation induces its beneficial effect.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the animal welfare committee (M-06-004). All experiments were approved by the animal welfare committee (M-06-004) and appropriate measures to avert pain and suffering to the rats were taken.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ES-S: planning of experiments, analysis of results, writing manuscript; RA: planning of experiments and execution; CS: execution and analysis of nerve conduction experiments; OG: writing manuscript, consultation regarding electrophysiology; SG: analysis of results, writing manuscript; JC: planning of experiments, analysis and interpretation of results; AD: consultation regarding electrophysiology, interpretation of results. All authors have approved the final manuscript. The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

FUNDING

Partly supported by a grant from the Wolfson Foundation, Israel.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Raphael Rosenbaum for his contribution in editing and proofreading of this manuscript.

- van den Berg B, Walgaard C, Drenthen J, Fokke C, Jacobs BC, van Doorn, PA. Guillain-Barre syndrome: pathogenesis, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2014) 10:469–82. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2014.121
- Hadden RD, Hughes RA. Treatment of immune-mediated inflammatory neuropathies. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (1999) 12:573–9. doi: 10.1097/00019052-199910000-00011
- Soliven B. Animal models of autoimmune neuropathy. *ILAR J.* (2014) 54:282– 90. doi: 10.1093/ilar/ilt054
- Yuki N, Koga M. Bacterial infections in Guillain-Barre and Fisher syndromes. Curr Opin Neurol. (2006) 19:451–7. doi: 10.1097/01.wco.0000245367.36576.e9
- Hafer-Macko C, Hsieh ST, Li CY, Ho TW, Sheikh K, Cornblath DR, et al. Acute motor axonal neuropathy: an antibody-mediated attack on axolemma. *Ann Neurol.* (1996) 40:635–44. doi: 10.1002/ana.410400414
- Goodfellow JA, Willison HJ. Guillain–Barré syndrome: a century of progress. Nat Rev Neurol. (2016) 12:723–31. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.172

- White MK, Wollebo HS, David Beckham J, Tyler KL, Khalili K. Zika virus: an emergent neuropathological agent. Ann Neurol. (2016) 80:479–89. doi: 10.1002/ana.24748
- Simon O, Acket B, Forfait C, Girault D, Gourinat AC, Millon P, et al. Zika virus outbreak in New Caledonia and Guillain-Barré syndrome: a case-control study. J Neurovirol. (2018) 24:1–7. doi: 10.1007/s13365-018-0621-9
- Hughes RA, Swan AV, Raphael JC, Annane D, van Koningsveld R, van Doorn PA. Immunotherapy for Guillain-Barre syndrome: a systematic review. *Brain* (2007) 130:2245–57. doi: 10.1093/brain/awm004
- Hughes RAC, Brassington R, Gunn AA, van Doorn PA. Corticosteroids for Guillain-Barré syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2016) 2016:CD001446. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001445
- Levi M, Van Der Poll T, Büller HR. Bidirectional relation between inflammation and coagulation. *Circulation* (2004) 109:2698–704. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000131660.51520.9A
- Bushi D, Stein ES, Golderman V, Feingold E, Gera O, Chapman J, et al. A linear temporal increase in thrombin activity and loss of its receptor in mouse brain following ischemic stroke. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:138. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00138
- Beilin O, Karussis DM, Korczyn AD, Gurwitz D, Aronovich R, Hantai D, et al. Increased thrombin inhibition in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurosci Res. (2005) 79:351–9. doi: 10.1002/jnr. 20270
- Beilin O, Karussis DM, Korczyn AD, Gurwitz D, Aronovich R, Mizrachi-Kol R, et al. Increased KPI containing amyloid precursor protein in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis brains. *Neuroreport* (2007) 18:581–4. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0b013e328091c1e6
- Davalos D, Baeten KM, Whitney MA, Mullins ES, Friedman B, Olson ES, et al. Early detection of thrombin activity in neuroinflammatory disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2014) 75:303–8. doi: 10.1002/ana.24078
- Dugina TN, Kiseleva EV, Lange MA, Vasil'eva TV, Grandfils C, Markvicheva EA, et al. Effect of synthetic peptide thrombin receptor agonist encapsulated in microparticles based on lactic and glycolic acid copolymer on healing of experimental skin wounds in mice. *Bull Exp Biol Med.* (2004) 138:463–6. doi: 10.1007/s10517-005-0071-2
- 22. Ebrahimi S, Jaberi N, Avan A, Ryzhikov M, Keramati MR, Parizadeh MR, et al. Role of thrombin in the pathogenesis of central nervous system inflammatory diseases. *J Cell Physiol.* (2017) 232:482–5. doi: 10.1002/jcp. 25501
- Gera O, Shavit-Stein E, Bushi D, Harnof S, Shimon MB, Weiss R, et al. Thrombin and protein C pathway in peripheral nerve Schwann cells. *Neuroscience* (2016) 339:587–98. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016. 10.034
- 24. Itsekson-Hayosh Z, Shavit-Stein E, Katzav A, Rubovitch V, Maggio N, Chapman J, et al. Minimal traumatic brain injury in mice: protease-activated receptor 1 and thrombin-related changes. *J Neurotrauma* (2016) 33:1848–54. doi: 10.1089/neu.2015.4146
- Stein ES, Itsekson-Hayosh Z, Aronovich A, Reisner Y, Bushi D, Pick CG, et al. Thrombin induces ischemic LTP, (iLTP): implications for synaptic plasticity in the acute phase of ischemic stroke. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:7912. doi: 10.1038/srep07912
- Festoff BW, Nelson PG, Brenneman DE. Prevention of activity-dependent neuronal death: vasoactive intestinal polypeptide stimulates astrocytes to secrete the thrombin-inhibiting neurotrophic serpin, protease nexin I. J Neurobiol. (1996) 30:255–66.
- Garcia PS, Gulati A, Levy JH. The role of thrombin and protease-activated receptors in pain mechanisms. *Thromb Haemost.* (2010) 103:1145–51. doi: 10.1160/TH09-12-0848
- Shavit E, Beilin O, Korczyn AD, Sylantiev C, Aronovich R, Drory VE, et al. Thrombin receptor PAR-1 on myelin at the node of Ranvier: a new anatomy and physiology of conduction block. *Brain* (2008) 131:1113–22. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn005

- Kadlubowski M, Hughes RA, Gregson NA. Experimental allergic neuritis in the Lewis rat: characterization of the activity of peripheral myelin and its major basic protein, P2. Brain Res. (1980) 184:439–54. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(80)90811-2
- Hoffman PM, Powers JM, Weise MJ, Brostoff SW. Experimental allergic neuritis. I Rat strain differences in the response to bovine myelin antigens. *Brain Res.* (1980) 195:355–62. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(80)90071-2
- Kafri M, Kloog Y, Korczyn AD, Ferdman-Aronovich R, Drory V, Katzav A, et al. Inhibition of Ras attenuates the course of experimental autoimmune neuritis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2005) 168:46–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.07.008
- Ramkalawan H, Wang YZ, Hurbungs A, Yang YF, Tian FF, Zhou W, et al. Pioglitazone, PPARγ agonist, attenuates experimental autoimmune neuritis. *Inflammation* (2012) 35:1338–47. doi: 10.1007/s10753-012-9447-4
- 33. Zhang JL, Yamaguchi Y, Mori K, Okabe K, Hidaka H, Ohshiro H, et al. A serine protease inhibitor, N-alpha-tosyl-l-lysine chloromethyl ketone, prolongs rat hepatic allograft survival. J Surg Res. (2001) 96:296–303. doi: 10.1006/jsre.2000.6065
- Beilin O, Gurwitz D, Korczyn AD, Chapman J. Quantitative measurements of mouse brain thrombin-like and thrombin inhibition activities. *Neuroreport* (2001) 12:2347–51. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200108080-00013
- Shavit E, Michaelson DM, Chapman J. Anatomical localization of protease-activated receptor-1 and protease-mediated neuroglilal crosstalk on peri-synaptic astrocytic endfeet. J Neurochem. (2011) 119:460–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07436.x
- Kafri M, Drory VE, Wang N, Rabinowitz R, Korczyn AD, Chapman J. Assessment of experimental autoimmune neuritis in the rat by electrophysiology of the tail nerve. *Muscle Nerve* (2002) 25:51–7. doi: 10.1002/mus.10011
- Xia RH, Yosef N, Ubogu EE. Dorsal caudal tail and sciatic motor nerve conduction studies in adult mice: technical aspects and normative data. *Muscle Nerve* (2010) 41:850–6. doi: 10.1002/mus.21588
- Willison HJ, Yuki N. Peripheral neuropathies and anti-glycolipid antibodies. Brain (2002) 125:2591–625. doi: 10.1093/brain/awf272
- Suo Z, Wu M, Ameenuddin S, Anderson HE, Zoloty JE, Citron BA, et al. Participation of protease-activated receptor-1 in thrombininduced microglial activation. J Neurochem. (2002) 80:655–66. doi: 10.1046/j.0022-3042.2001.00745.x
- Krenzlin H, Lorenz V, Danckwardt S, Kempski O, Alessandri B. The importance of thrombin in cerebral injury and disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:84. doi: 10.3390/ijms17010084
- Yanagita M, Kobayashi R, Kashiwagi Y, Shimabukuro Y, Murakami S. Thrombin regulates the function of human blood dendritic cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2007) 364:318–24. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.10.002
- Hughes RA, Swan AV, van Doorn PA. Intravenous immunoglobulin for Guillain-Barré syndrome. In: Hughes RA, editor. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd. (2014). p. 6–22.
- Chevret S, Hughes RAC, Annane D. Plasma exchange for Guillain-Barré syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 2017:5–21. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001798.pub3

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Shavit-Stein, Aronovich, Sylantiev, Gera, Gofrit, Chapman and Dori. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pharmacokinetic Interactions of Clinical Interest Between Direct Oral Anticoagulants and Antiepileptic Drugs

Alessandro Galgani¹, Caterina Palleria², Luigi Francesco Iannone², Giovambattista De Sarro², Filippo Sean Giorgi¹, Marta Maschio^{3*} and Emilio Russo²

¹ Neurology Unit, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Pisana, Pisa, Italy, ² Department of Science of Health, University Magna Graecia of Catanzaro, Catanzaro, Italy, ³ UOSD Neurology, Center for Tumor-related Epilepsy, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Svetlana Lorenzano, La Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

Reviewed by:

Olagide Wagner Castro, Federal University of Alagoas, Brazil Francesco Paladin, Ospedale SS. Giovanni e Paolo, Italy

> *Correspondence: Marta Maschio marta.maschio@ifo.gov.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Epilepsy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 08 August 2018 Accepted: 23 November 2018 Published: 07 December 2018

Citation:

Galgani A, Palleria C, Iannone LF, De Sarro G, Giorgi FS, Maschio M and Russo E (2018) Pharmacokinetic Interactions of Clinical Interest Between Direct Oral Anticoagulants and Antiepileptic Drugs. Front. Neurol. 9:1067. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01067 Direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs), namely apixaban, dabigatran, edoxaban, and rivaroxaban are being increasingly prescribed among the general population, as they are considered to be associated to lower bleeding risk than classical anticoagulants, and do not require coagulation monitoring. Likewise, DOACs are increasingly concomitantly prescribed in patients with epilepsy taking, therefore, antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), above all among the elderly. As a result, potential interactions may cause an increased risk of DOAC-related bleeding or a reduced antithrombotic efficacy. The objective of the present review is to describe the pharmacokinetic interactions between AEDs and DOACs of clinical relevance. We observed that there are only few clinical reports in which such interactions have been described in patients. More data are available on the pharmacokinetics of both drugs classes which allow speculating on their potential interactions. Older AEDs, acting on cytochrome P450 isoenzymes, and especially on CYP3A4, such as phenobarbital, phenytoin, and carbamazepine are more likely to significantly reduce the anticoagulant effect of DOACs (especially rivaroxaban, apixaban, and edoxaban). Newer AEDs not affecting significantly CYP or P-gp, such as lamotrigine, or pregabalin are not likely to affect DOACs efficacy. Zonisamide and lacosamide, which do not affect significantly CYP activity in vitro, might have a quite safe profile, even though their effects on P-gp are not well-known, yet. Levetiracetam exerts only a potential effect on P-gp activity, and thus it might be safe, as well. In conclusion, there are only few case reports and limited evidence on interactions between DOACs and AEDs in patients. However, the overall evidence suggests that the interaction between these drug classes might be of high clinical relevance and therefore further studies in larger patients' cohorts are warranted for the future in order to better clarify their pharmacokinetic and define the most appropriate clinical behavior.

Keywords: DOACs, antiepileptics, interactions, CYP, P-gp, AEDs, dabigatran, rivaroxaban

INTRODUCTION

The *direct-acting oral anticoagulants* (DOACs), also known as *non-vitamin K oral anticoagulants* (NOACs), are five drugs acting on coagulation cascade, without the use of anti-thrombin as a mediator, subdivided in factor Xa inhibitors (apixaban, edoxaban, and rivaroxaban) and direct thrombin inhibitors (argatroban and dabigatran).

Their indication in the clinical practice is as anticoagulants for primary and secondary prevention of ischaemic stroke, in patients suffering from non-valvular atrial fibrillation (AF) (1), but also for prevention and treatment of pulmonary embolism and deep venous thrombosis (2).

Strokes and cerebrovascular diseases represent the main cause (30–40%) of symptomatic epilepsy among elderly (3) and most of these patients need a chronic treatment with antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). Therefore, it is not rare that some patients might undergo concomitant treatment AEDs-DOACs and this co-treatment could lead to pharmacological interactions with serious consequences for patient's health. In particular, AEDs causing a reduced absorption or an increase of DOAC metabolism can cause a reduced antithrombotic efficacy of these drugs; conversely, a reduced DOAC metabolism can increase significantly the risk of bleeding in these patients [(4); and see below].

The aspect of drug-drug interactions is particularly important in persons with epilepsy, since optimal seizure control is often achieved only after different treatment attempts or using AEDs polytherapy (5). Furthermore, convulsive seizures expose patients to potential traumatic injuries that can be more dangerous in patients under anticoagulant treatment. Consequently, the potential interactions between DOACs and AEDs represent a field of particular clinical interest.

Aim of this review is to provide an overview on interactions between DOACs and AEDs using clinical and pharmacokinetic data. We considered only DOACs that are currently marketed in EU countries: edoxaban, rivaroxaban, apixaban, and dabigatran.

METHODS

The articles on clinical series and case reports specifically addressing the interactions between DOACs and AEDs were selected starting from a PubMed search with the following search terms: "eslicarbazepine" or "felbamate" or "gabapentin" or "lamotrigine" or "levetiracetam" or "oxcarbazepine" or "perampanel" or "pregabalin" or "retigabine" or "rufinamide" or "stiripentol" or "tiagabine" or "topiramate" or "lacosamide" or "vigabatrin" or "zonisamide" or "phenobarbital" or "phenytoin" or "ethosuximide" or "carbamazepine" or "valproate," and "dabigatran" or "rivaroxaban" or "apixaban" or "edoxaban," with publication dates between 2005 and 2018. The Flow-Chart in **Figure 1** details the process of inclusion/exclusion of the articles.

Data on pharmacokinetics of AEDs and DOACs for this review article were collected performing a search on PubMed using the following search terms: "eslicarbazepine," "felbamate," "gabapentin," "lamotrigine," "levetiracetam," "oxcarbazepine," "perampanel," "pregabalin," "rufinamide," "stiripentol," "tiagabine," "topiramate," "lacosamide," "vigabatrin," "zonisamide," "phenobarbital," "phenytoin," "ethosuximide," "carbamazepine," or "valproate" and "CYP3A5" or "CYP2J2," or "CYP3A4" or "P-gp," or "P-glycoprotein," They were considered *in vitro* and *in vivo* experimental studies, and studies in humans from 1975 to March 2018. Similarly, it was subsequently performed another PubMed search, from 1999 to March 2018, for "dabigatran," "rivaroxaban," "apixaban," "edoxaban" and "CYP3A5," "CYP2J2," "CYP3A4," "P-gp," "P-glycoprotein." To reduce publication bias, we also searched the abstract proceedings of the international congresses by the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) and by the American Epilepsy Society.

The latter searches aimed at the definition of pharmacokinetic parameters and the most salient review papers, together with all product characteristics (SPCs) of the single drugs, were selected by the authors based on their experience in the field.

PHARMACOKINETIC OF DOACS

All DOACs pharmacokinetic features are summarized in **Figure 2**.

Direct Thrombin Inhibitor

Dabigatran reversibly binds the active site of thrombin and it is administered as a pro-drug, dabigatran etexilate, since it is not absorbed by gastrointestinal tract after oral intake because of its high polarity; the etexilate form is rapidly hydrolyzed by carboxyl esterases (CES) to the active compound. The intestinal absorption of dabigatran etexilate, as well as other treated DOACs, depends on Permeability glycoprotein (*P-gp*) (6). The latter, is an ATP-dependent efflux transporter located in the plasma membrane of many different cell types; it regulates the absorption of xenobiotics from the gut lumen and is involved in the hepatic and renal excretion of these substances; it is also involved in blood-brain barrier permeability to drugs (7).

Bioavailability is 6.5% after administration, the lowest of all DOACs, is probably due to Pg-p intestinal excretion and low solubility of the pro-drug considering that it is not a substrate of cytochrome P-450 system. Considered a 12 h half-life, with a maximum concentration reduced by 30% after 4–6 h, dabigatran is administered twice a day (8).

This DOAC is dialyzable considering its very low binding with plasma proteins (\sim 30%) and its 80% eliminated by kidneys (75% unchanged and 4% as active acyl-glucuronide metabolites), the remaining non-renal excretion is due to conjugation by uridine *diphosphate-glucuronyl-transferase* (UGT)2B15. Conjugation with activated glucuronic acid apparently represents the only metabolic modification of dabigatran (9). Food has no interaction with dabigatran, but the concurrent intake could decrease the plasma peak concentration (8).

Direct Factor Xa Inhibitors

Apixaban, edoxaban and rivaroxaban are selective inhibitors of Xa factor (FXa) by binding its active site both when free or thrombin-bound.



Unlike dabigatran, these are not pro-drugs and have, when orally administered, an optimal and rapid absorption profile through the gastrointestinal tract that also depends on P-gp (9, 10) and this transporter also contributes to the renal excretion of rivaroxaban (11). The latter have a very high oral bioavailability (~90% with food), compared with apixaban and edoxaban (~ 50 and ~62% for apixaban and edoxaban, respectively).

Apixaban and edoxaban need to be administered twice a day and have a plasma half-life of 9–14 and 9–10 h, respectively, after administration of multiple doses. On the other hands, rivaroxaban is administered once a day due to a persistence of high concentration after 24 h from oral intake. FXa inhibitors are not dialyzable and plasma protein binding is higher for rivaroxaban and apixaban (\sim 93%) compared to edoxaban (\sim 55%) and are excreted unchanged for 27, 33, and 50% of their bioavailable dose, respectively (12–14).

These DOACs are substrates of the cytochrome P-450 system, and especially the CYP3A4 isoform (15, 16). In particular, rivaroxaban undergoes CYP3A4/3A5- and CYP2J2-mediated oxidative metabolism (18 and 14% of the total absorbed dose, respectively) (17). Apixaban is primarily metabolized by CYP3A4/3A5 and secondly by sulpho-transferase (SULT) 1A1, while edoxaban is minimally metabolized by CYP3A4/3A5 and mainly eliminated unchanged in bile (40%) (18).

None of the FXa inhibitors have interactions with food, have been tested in pregnancy and have shown any liver toxicity but dedicated safety studies should be realized to better define DOACs drug-induced liver injury (19).

PHARMACOKINETICS OF AEDS

The most important pharmacokinetic interactions of different AEDs with each other and with other classes of drugs, involve cytochrome P450 (CYP) and, to a lesser extent, the uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) system (20). Carbamazepine, phenytoin, and phenobarbital, among first-generation agents, are inducers of several enzymes such as CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, and CYP3A4, but also of UGTs and epoxide hydrolase (21–23).

Lamotrigine does not interfere significantly with drug metabolizing enzymes at low dosages, but at a dose higher than 300 mg/day, it has been proven to cause a reduction of 20% of levonorgestrel serum concentration (24). Valproate is able to inhibit the activity of CYP2C9, and, to a lesser extent CYP3A4 and CYP2C19, as well as UGT1A4 and UGT2B7 (25). By contrast, valproate does not inhibit CYP2D6, CYP1A2, and CYP2E1 (23, 26, 27).

Even though newer AEDs have a limited enzyme-inducing potential compared with older-generation compounds,





some of them are involved in metabolic modifications. In particular, perampanel (at doses $\geq 8 \text{ mg/day}$), eslicarbazepine acetate, felbamate, oxcarbazepine (at doses $\geq 1,200 \text{ mg/day}$), topiramate, levetiracetam and rufinamide (at doses $\geq 400 \text{ mg/day}$) bear weaker enzyme-inducing properties and may stimulate the activity of CYP3A4 and/or some UGT isoenzymes (21, 22, 28). Furthermore, oxcarbazepine, eslicarbazepine, felbamate, and topiramate show a weak inhibitory activity on CYP2C19 (29); stiripentol, on the other hand, is a strong inhibitor of CYP3A4, CYP2D6, CYP2C19, and CYP1A2 (30).

At therapeutic doses, zonisamide inhibits *in vitro* the activity of CYP2A6, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, and CYP2E1, but does not affect significantly CYP3A4, CYP1A2, and CYP2D6 (21). No data on the induction or inhibition capacity of ethosuximide, lacosamide, gabapentin, pregabalin, and vigabatrin, on human CYP or UGT isoenzymes have been published (21).

Some AEDs affect P-gp functions; in animal studies, levetiracetam, phenytoin and phenobarbital have been shown to cause P-gp induction, as well as carbamazepine for which there are also data in humans (31–33). An *in vitro* study shows that

TABLE 1	Interactions between	AEDs and P-gp or	r CYP3A4/3A5 and CYP2J2 systems	ι.

AEDs	P-gp	References	CYP3A4	CYP3A5/CYP2J2	References
Eslicarbazepine acetate	Substrate (in vitro)	(35)	Weak inductor (<i>in vitro e</i> <i>vivo</i>)	NR	(21)
Felbamate	Substrate (in vivo)	(36)	Weak inductor/No effects (in vitro)	NR	(26, 37)
Gabapentin	Not substrate	(38)	NR	NR	(21)
Lamotrigine	No effects/substrate	(39)	No effects	No effects	(40)
_evetiracetam	Inductor/substrate (in vivo)	(41)	Weak inductor (in vitro)	No effects	(42)
Oxcarbazepine	NR		Inductor (in vivo e vitro)	Inductor 3A5 <i>(in vivo e</i> <i>vitro)</i>	(43)
Perampanel	No effects	(44)	Weak inductor (in vitro)	Weak inductor 3A5 <i>(in vitro)</i>	(28)
Pregabalin	No effects	(45)	No effects	No effects	(46)
Rufinamide	NR		Mild induction (in vitro)	No effects	(47)
Stiripentol	NR		Inhibitor (in vitro)	No effects	(48)
Tiagabine	NR		Substrate	No effects	(49)
Topiramate	No effects/substrate	(39)	Mild inductor (in vitro)	No effects	(50)
Lacosamide	No effects	(51)	No effects (in vitro)	No effects	(52)
Vigabatrin	NR		No effects	No effects	(21)
Zonisamide	Weak inhibitor	(34)	No effects/substrate	No effects	(53)
Phenobarbital	Inductor/substrate	(54)	Inductor	No effects	(55)
Phenytoin	Inductor/substrate (in vivo)	(56)	Inductor/substrate (in vivo)	NR	(55)
Ethosuximide	NR		Substrate	NR	(26)
Carbamazepine	Inductor <i>(in vivo)</i>	(57)	Substrate/inductor (in vitro and vivo)	NR	(58)
Valproate	Inductor/inhibitor (in vitro)	(59, 60)	Inductor/weak inhibitor (in vitro)	NR	(25, 61)

zonisamide is a weak inhibitor of P-gp with a CI50 of 267 μ mol/L (34) All the main evidence on the effects of AEDs on P-gp and CYP3A4 (obtained from *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies) are listed in **Table 1**.

The main interaction between DOACs and AEDs are related to the effects of the two classes of drugs on CYP3A4 and viceversa and can be hypothesized by knowing their effects on these targets; for P-gp, interactions are less intuitive.

CASE REPORTS

We performed a detailed search, including Pubmed publications and abstract proceedings of the international congresses by the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) and by the American Epilepsy Society, of all clinical descriptions, without language limits, concerning all the AEDs and all of the DOACs in the search. Unfortunately, up to date, there are only 12 clinically relevant articles available on this topic (**Table 2**).

Phenytoin

The AED for which most of studies and interactions with DOACs have been reported is phenytoin, which bears relevant clinical interactions with dabigatran, rivaroxaban, and apixaban. In 2017, Chang et al. found that in a large cohort of 91.330 patients suffering from non-valvular AF and treated with dabigatran, rivaroxaban or apixaban, there was a higher risk of major

bleeding when the patients were taking phenytoin (N-7158) for concomitant epilepsy, as compared with patients not assuming this drug with an adjusted incidence rate difference (99% CI) per 1,000 person-years of 52.31 (32.18–72.44; p < 0.01). However, this study bears the strong limitations of a Health Insurance database system analysis (including the lack of detailed clinical/radiological information on the single patients) (66). In the same year, Hager et al. (68) described the occurrence of a left atrial thrombus in a 70-years-old patient whit a clinical history of hypertension, persistent AF, heterozygous factor V Leiden, recurrent deep venous thrombosis (DVT), and a pulmonary embolus, in co-treatment with atenolol, betahistine, diltiazem, valsartan, phenytoin 300 mg orally QD, and dabigatran etexilate 150 mg BID.

Phenytoin can affect both the absorption and metabolism of dabigatran, suggesting that could have led to a decreased anticoagulant effect and the development of atrial thrombus. Clinical relevance of this drug interaction has not been well described; anyway, the co-administration should be avoided (68). In 2016, Wiggins et al. had hypothesized the same type of interaction. They showed undetectable serum levels of dabigatran in a 45-years-old Afro-American male patient with AF treated also with phenytoin indicating that this drug could have a significant influence on dabigatran's metabolism and that this patient was at high risk for stroke (67).

AEDs	Dabigatran	Rivaroxaban	Apixaban
Eslicarbazepine acetate	/	/	/
Felbamate	/	/	/
Gabapentin	/	/	/
Lamotrigine	/	/	/
Levetiracetam	/	/	/
Oxcarbazepine	/	(62)	/
Perampanel	/	/	/
Pregabalin	/	/	/
Retigabin	/	/	/
Rufinamide	/	/	/
Stiripentol	/	/	/
Tiagabine	/	/	/
Topiramate	/	/	/
Lacosamide	/	/	/
Vigabatrin	/	/	/
Zonisamide	/	/	/
Phenobarbital	(63)	/	(64)
Phenytoin	(63) (66) (67) (68)	(65) (66)	(66)
Ethosuximide	/	/	/
Carbamazepine	(69)	(70) (71) (72)	/
Valproate	/	(73)	/

Similarly, Becerra et al. (65) observed, in the first case documenting laboratory interaction between rivaroxaban and phenytoin, that DOAC levels were considerably low in a 48-years-old woman with cerebral vein thrombosis receiving also phenytoin, a combined CYP3A4 and P- glycoprotein inducer, which might reduce rivaroxaban levels (65).

Phenobarbital

Phenobarbital may bear relevant interactions, too. In 2014, Chin et al. (63) evaluated median dose- corrected steady-state plasma dabigatran concentration (60 lg/L; range 9–279) in 52 patients (38–94 years). The dose-corrected concentration in a patient with co-administration of phenobarbital and dabigatran etixilate 110 mg BID was found 3 standard deviations below the cohort mean (concentration of 9 lg/L; dabigatran = 0.04l g/L per mg/day, z-score of the log-transformed dabigatran = -3.25). Authors hypothesized that this could occur via P-gp induction (63). In 2018, King et al. (64) reported the case of a 77-years-old patient on low-dose phenobarbital treatment for essential tremor, who was diagnosed with AF and, after dabigatran (150 mg BID) failure, she was switched to apixaban 5 mg BID.

In the following year, she suffered from two distinct episodes of cardioembolic stroke, and apixaban serum levels were lower (89 ng/mL approximately 11 h post-dose) than the expected therapeutic concentration. Furthermore, after phenobarbital discontinuation, the DOAC concentration rose to normal levels (361 ng/mL; unknown time post-dose) confirming a direct effect (64).

Carbamazepine

Carbamazepine may affect the anticoagulant efficacy of dabigatran and rivaroxaban. In 2016, Laureano et al. described 2 patients, a 53-years-old man with epilepsy and AF (CHADS2 score of 2) and a 66-years-old woman with bipolar disorder, previous pulmonary embolism, and right leg deep vein thrombosis, receiving carbamazepine and dabigatran 150 mg BID. In both patients, dabigatran serum concentrations were reduced (steady state 24 ng/mL and 20 ng/mL, respectively), effect probably due to induction of P-gp by carbamazepine (69). In 2017, Stollberger and Finsterer, described the case of a 55-years-old Caucasian male, suffering from recurrent venous thrombosis in treatment with rivaroxaban (10 mg BID) and carbamazepine (900 mg/die) for structural epilepsy with complex partial seizures and secondary generalization. He was hospitalized because of increasing pain and swelling of his right leg starting spontaneously. Sonography showed a thrombosis of the right popliteal and femoral vein and analysis of drug concentrations showed a serum-carbamazepine level in the therapeutic range while anti-Xa activity was low (<20 ng/ml) (70). Independently, in 2018, Burden et al. reported the case of a 71-years-old woman with clinical history of pulmonary embolism, subjected to the same therapy as the previous case. Presented to the Emergency department with acute onset shortness of breath, chest pain and palpitations, computed tomographic pulmonary angiography (CTPA) revealed multiple bilateral pulmonary emboli. Carbamazepine was hypothesized to be responsible of the DOAC inefficacy as the anti Xa activity was reduced in both cases (71).

Finally, Risselada et al. reported in 2013, only in Dutch language, a case of a 53-years-old man who underwent a partial knee arthroplasty and 4 days before developing a pulmonary embolism, whose symptoms started 1 day after he was switched from prophylactic dalteparin 5000 IE QD to rivaroxaban 10 mg one a day. Being the patient also in therapy with carbamazepine 600 mg BID for epilepsy, the authors of the case report hypothesized that pulmonary embolism was caused by a decrease in serum rivaroxaban levels due to the enzymatic induction of CYP3A4 by carbamazepine (72).

Valproate and Oxcarbazepine

Rivaroxaban efficacy may also be affected by valproate and oxcarbazepine. In 2014, Stollberger and Finsterer described the case of an 88-years-old female patient, taking valproate and rivaroxaban 15 mg/die together, and whose anti-Xa activity was higher than expected. Indeed, coagulation tests after 28 h rivaroxaban-intake showed INR 2.26, PT 35%, aPTT 38.3 s and anti-Factor Xa-activity 2.00 U/m.

Even after the DOAC withdrawal, it took several days before coagulation was normalized, despite the short half-life of rivaroxaban (5–9 h) (16). The authors themselves acknowledged a potential key role of the patient's poor renal function and low body-mass-index (eGFR 34–42 ml/min/1.73 m² and BMI = 19.95), but they could not exclude a drug interaction

between rivaroxaban and valproate (73). The potential role of oxcarbazepine as a rivaroxaban inhibitor was suggested by Serra et al. (62), which described the case of a 68 years old man, suffering from permanent AF who had been put on rivaroxaban treatment, before undergoing external electrical cardioversion. He eventually did not undergo cardioversion because he developed a left atrial thrombosis despite DOAC treatment. The authors supposed that the thrombotic event was due to the interaction between rivaroxaban and oxcarbazepine, which the patient was taking for epilepsy, and which, as a strong CYP3A4 inducer, could have reduced rivaroxaban efficacy (62).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

In this focused review, we summarized the clinical data available on the potential interactions existing between DOACs and AEDs. Although most of the clinical descriptions are merely anecdotal and do not allow further speculations, we can summarize that some old AEDs might modify DOACs efficacy; phenytoin, carbamazepine and phenobarbital might reduce significantly all DOACs efficacy while for oxcarbazepine and valproate, there are some data demonstrating a reduction of rivaroxaban efficacy, even though an interaction with other DOACs cannot be excluded. Finally, the interaction between phenobarbital and dabigatran has been better studied and it seems very convincing that phenobarbital reduces significantly dabigatran blood levels and efficacy. Based on their well-known enzymatic induction effects, phenytoin, carbamazepine and phenobarbital all potentially decrease the efficacy of rivaroxaban, apixaban, and edoxaban. One case report suggests that this would be the case also for dabigatran, even though this interaction was not easily predicted by knowing dabigatran CYP metabolism. This further emphasizes that specific predictions on the interactions between DOACs and AEDs are difficult, that many more clinical data are needed and that predictions based only on theoretical models might lead to wrong assumptions. However, theoretically based on the well-known effects of DOACs and AEDs on CYP and Pgp, several interactions can be hypothesized and should be kept in mind when starting a therapy with AEDs and DOACs.

Concerning newer AEDs, it can be speculated that those not affecting significantly CYP or Pg-p are not likely to affect DOACs efficacy and thus may be safer; this would be the case for lamotrigine or pregabalin. Lacosamide and zonisamide do not affect significantly CYP 3A4 activity, but their effects on Pg-p are not well-known yet. If the latter will be shown to be weak, they might be a good choice for patients on DOACs. For levetiracetam (which is otherwise considered quite neutral and "safe" in terms of pharmacokinetics interactions with many common drugs), an effect on CYP has not been shown but, since this AED may induce Pg-p activity, and is a substrate itself of this transporter, its safety in patients taking DOACs still needs to be demonstrated. Valproate and oxcarbazepine are AEDs still largely used in epileptic patients. Concerning valproate, its use is likely to affect significantly the pharmacokinetics of DOACs, as it affects significantly both CYP and Pg-p activity in vitro; the only case report available on valproate and rivaroxaban apparently contradicts this speculation, as it showed a reduced anti-Xa activity in 1 patient taking both drugs. However, the renal comorbidity of this patient probably played a role in these results. Oxcarbazepine, which is predicted to induce CYP activity, might also affect in a relevant way DOACs metabolism.

In conclusion, when a clinician has to choose an AED in a patient already taking DOACs, he might potentially choose among different second and third generation compounds which possess similar, significant, antiepileptic activity.

On other hand, it might be more complicated to start anticoagulants in patients with an established epilepsy that is well-controlled by old AEDs, and especially phenytoin, carbamazepine, phenobarbital or valproate. In these patients it might be risky, in terms of seizures recurrence, to modify an established AED. Such risk might be even increase when they are under anticoagulant drugs, i.e., at higher risk of major bleeding due to traumatic injury. Furthermore, previously pharmacoresistant epileptic patients often take a combination of two or more of these AEDs at the same time, which further complicates predicting their effect on drug metabolism. In these patients, it might be still a reasonable clinical choice to use classical anticoagulants, such as warfarin, and tailoring its dosage in the single subject based on their INR values.

It is clear that population-based studies are needed to establish whether the pharmacological interactions between the two classes of drugs really represent a problem of clinical interest. Potentially, these aspects could be addressed at least in two ways. First, in order to establish the safest pharmacological combinations, it would be useful to perform cohort's studies comparing the compatibility between the most frequently administered AEDs and DOACs, starting at least with the ones which have the lower influence on CYP3A4, CYP3A5, and Pgp (e.g., lamotrigine, pregabalin, lacosamide or levetiracetam). Another approach might consist in assessing in vivo, in the single patients taking both DOACs and AEDs, the efficacy of DOACs. Actually, one of the main reasons why DOACs have been developed is indeed to avoid the problem of strict coagulation monitoring, which is needed for patients using Vitamin-K antagonists. Some epileptic patients might represent one of the special populations in which such monitoring is indicated also for DOACs (which are considered, in any case safer, in terms of bleeding risk, than old anticoagulants, and thus to be preferred also in this population of subjects). Unfortunately, nowadays it is difficult to evaluate in vivo the antithrombotic effects of DOACs, and especially for those acting on factor Xa. These tests are not routinely available in some laboratories and their use needs a specific expertise. Moreover, mainly due to technical reasons, there are still differences in the results obtained among different laboratories and even among different specific DOACs within the same laboratory (74, 75). Hopefully, when in the future these methods (or different ones) will be more reproducible and approachable by different laboratories, it will be possible to assess in the single patient the existence of potential interactions between the DOAC and the AED(s) he/she is taking; once in the single patient such interaction has been excluded, it is likely that they would not need further evaluations (as usual for DOACs).

In conclusion, the risk of drug-drug interaction might be significant among patients taking AEDs and DOACs simultaneously, at least for some AEDs; future studies will help to better quantify this risk and to facilitate an optimal therapeutic handling of these patients.

LIMITATIONS

The main limitations of this review consist in the lack of *in vivo/clinical* studies specifically addressing interactions between most DOACs and most AEDs, and the results reported are mainly

REFERENCES

- Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Eur Heart J.* (2016) 37:2893–962. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw210
- Ghazvinian R, Gottsäter A, Elf JL. Efficacy and safety of outpatient treatment with direct oral anticoagulation in pulmonary embolism. J Thrombosis Thrombolysis (2018) 45:319–24. doi: 10.1007/s11239-017-1607-9
- Wang JZ, Vyas MV, Saposnik G, Burneo JG. Incidence and management of seizures after ischemic stroke. *Neurology* (2017) 89:1220–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004407
- Stöllberger C, Finsterer J. Concerns about the use of new oral anticoagulants for stroke prevention in elderly patients with atrial fibrillation. *Drugs Aging* (2013) 30:949–58. doi: 10.1007/s40266-013-0119-3
- Devinsky O, Vezzani A, O'Brien TJ, Jette N, Scheffer IE, de Curtis M, et al. Epilepsy. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2018) 4:18024. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.24
- Stangier J, Clemens A. Pharmacology, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of dabigatran etexilate, an oral direct thrombin inhibitor. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost.* (2009) 15 (Suppl. 1):98–16S. doi: 10.1177/1076029609343004
- Wolking S, Schaeffeler E, Lerche H, Schwab M, Nies AT. Impact of genetic polymorphisms of ABCB1 (MDR1, P-Glycoprotein) on drug disposition and potential clinical implications: update of the literature. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2015) 54:709–35. doi: 10.1007/s40262-015-0267-1
- Antonijevic NM, Zivkovic ID, Jovanovic LM, Matic DM, Kocica MJ, Mrdovic IB, et al. Dabigatran—metabolism, pharmacologic properties and drug interactions. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2017) 18:622–35. doi: 10.2174/1389200218666170427113504
- Voukalis C, Lip GY, Shantsila E. Drug-drug interactions of non-vitamin K oral anticoagulants. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2016) 12:1445–61. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2016.122503
- Härtter S, Sennewald R, Nehmiz G, Reilly P. Oral bioavailability of dabigatran etexilate (Pradaxa[®]) after co-medication with verapamil in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2013) 75:1053–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2012.04453.x
- Gnoth MJ, Buetehorn U, Muenster U, Schwarz T, Sandmann S. In vitro and in vivo P-glycoprotein transport characteristics of rivaroxaban. J Pharmacol Exp Therapeut. (2011) 338:372–80. doi: 10.1124/jpet.111.180240
- Kubisz P, Stanciakova L, Dobrotova M, Samos M, Mokan M, Stasko J. Apixaban—Metabolism, pharmacologic properties and drug interactions. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2017) 18:609–21. doi: 10.2174/1389200218666170424151551
- Kvasnicka T, Malikova I, Zenahlikova Z, Kettnerova K, Brzezkova R, Zima T, et al. Rivaroxaban—Metabolism, pharmacologic properties and drug interactions. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2017) 18:636–42. doi: 10.2174/1389200218666170518165443
- Poulakos M, Walker JN, Baig U, David T. Edoxaban: a direct oral anticoagulant. Am J Heal Pharm. (2017) 74:117–29. doi: 10.2146/ajhp150821
- Perzborn E, Roehrig S, Straub A, Kubitza D, Misselwitz F. Rivaroxaban: a new oral factor Xa inhibitor. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis Vascular Biol.* (2010) 30:376–81. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.202978

speculative based on the knowledge of their pharmacokinetics features. Concerning some AEDs, we do not even know these effects in detail, and thus, their interaction with DOACs are not even predictable yet. The few data available from case reports are not strong enough to allow drawing definitive conclusions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AG, CP, LI, GD, and FG: Text writing, bibliographic research and literature analysis. MM: Text review. ER: Text review and team coordination.

- Mueck W, Schwers S, Stampfuss J. Rivaroxaban and other novel oral anticoagulants: pharmacokinetics in healthy subjects, specific patient populations and relevance of coagulation monitoring. *Thrombosis J.* (2013) 11:10. doi: 10.1186/1477-9560-11-10
- Weinz C, Schwarz T, Kubitza D, Mueck W, Lang D. Metabolism and excretion of rivaroxaban, an oral, direct factor xa inhibitor, in rats, dogs, and humans. *Drug Metab Disposit.* (2009) 37:1056–64. doi: 10.1124/dmd.108.025569
- Bathala MS, Masumoto H, Oguma T, He L, Lowrie C, Mendell J. Pharmacokinetics, biotransformation, and mass balance of edoxaban, a selective, direct factor Xa inhibitor, in humans. *Drug Metab Disposit.* (2012) 40:2250–5. doi: 10.1124/dmd.112.046888
- Ingrasciotta Y, Crisafulli S, Pizzimenti V, Marcianò I, Mancuso A, Andò G, et al. Pharmacokinetics of new oral anticoagulants: implications for use in routine care. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2018) 14:1057–69. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2018.1530213
- Zaccara G, Perucca E. Interactions between antiepileptic drugs, and between antiepileptic drugs and other drugs. *Epileptic Disord*. (2014) 16:409–31. doi: 10.1684/epd.2014.0714
- Patsalos PN. Drug interactions with the newer antiepileptic drugs (AEDs)— Part 1: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics interactions between AEDs. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2013) 52:927–66. doi: 10.1007/s40262-013-0087-0
- Patsalos PN. Drug interactions with the newer antiepileptic drugs (AEDs)— Part 2: pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics interactions between AEDs and drugs used to treat non-epilepsy disorders. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2013) 52:1045–61. doi: 10.1007/s40262-013-0088-z
- Perucca E. Clinically relevant drug interactions with antiepileptic drugs. Br J Clin Pharmacol. (2006) 61:246–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005. 02529.x
- Sidhu J, Job S, Singh S, Philipson R. The pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic consequences of the co-administration of lamotrigine and a combined oral contraceptive in healthy female subjects. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2006) 61:191–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02539.x
- Zhou SF, Xue CC, Yu XQ, Li C, Wang G. Clinically important drug interactions potentially involving mechanism-based inhibition of cytochrome P4503A4 and the role of therapeutic drug monitoring. *Ther Drug Monit.* (2007) 29:687–710. doi: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e31815c16f5
- Patsalos PN, Perucca E. Clinically important drug interactions in epilepsy: general features and interactions between antiepileptic drugs. *Lancet Neurol.* (2003) 2:347–56. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(03)00409-5
- Patsalos PN, Perucca E. Clinically important drug interactions in epilepsy: interactions between antiepileptic drugs and other drugs. *Lancet Neurol.* (2003) 2:473–81. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(03)00483-6
- Patsalos PN. The clinical pharmacology profile of the new antiepileptic drug perampanel: a novel noncompetitive AMPA receptor antagonist. *Epilepsia* (2015) 56:12–27. doi: 10.1111/epi.12865
- Patsalos PN, Fröscher W, Pisani F, van Rijn CM. The importance of drug interactions in epilepsy therapy. *Epilepsia* (2002) 43:365–85 doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2002.13001.x
- Johannessen Landmark C, Patsalos PN. Drug interactions involving the new second- and third-generation antiepileptic drugs. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2010) 10:119–40. doi: 10.1586/ern.09.136

- Zhang C, Kwan P, Zuo Z, Baum L. The transport of antiepileptic drugs by P-glycoprotein. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* (2012) 64:930–42. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2011.12.003
- O'Brien FE, Dinan TG, Griffin BT, Cryan JF. Interactions between antidepressants and P-glycoprotein at the blood-brain barrier: clinical significance of *in vitro* and *in vivo* findings. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2012) 165:289– 312. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01557.x
- Akamine Y, Yasui-Furukori N, Ieiri I, Uno T. Psychotropic drugdrug interactions involving P-glycoprotein. CNS Drugs (2012) 26:959–73. doi: 10.1007/s40263-012-0008-z
- European Medicines Agency. Zonisamide. Summary of Product Characteristics (2017). Available online at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/documents/productinformation/zonegran-epar-product-information_en.pdf
- 35. Zhang C, Zuo Z, Kwan P, Baum L. In vitro transport profile of carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, eslicarbazepine acetate, and their active metabolites by human P-glycoprotein. *Epilepsia* (2011) 52:1894–904. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03140.x
- Potschka H, Fedrowitz M, Löscher W. P-Glycoprotein-mediated efflux of phenobarbital, lamotrigine, and felbamate at the blood-brain barrier: evidence from microdialysis experiments in rats. *Neurosci Lett.* (2002) 327:173–6. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00423-8
- Italiano D, Spina E, de Leon J. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic interactions between antiepileptics and antidepressants. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2014) 10:1457–89. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2014.956081
- Nakanishi H, Yonezawa A, Matsubara K, Yano I. Impact of P-glycoprotein and breast cancer resistance protein on the brain distribution of antiepileptic drugs in knockout mouse models. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2013) 710:20–8 doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2013.03.049
- Wang-Tilz Y, Tilz C, Wang B, Tilz GP, Stefan H. Influence of lamotrigine and topiramate on MDR1 expression in difficult-to-treat temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia* (2006) 47:233–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.00414.X
- Yasam VR, Jakki SL, Senthil V, Eswaramoorthy M, Shanmuganathan S, Arjunan K, et al. A pharmacological overview of lamotrigine for the treatment of epilepsy. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol.* (2016) 9:1533–46. doi: 10.1080/17512433.2016.1254041
- Moerman L, Wyffels L, Slaets D, Raedt R, Boon P, De Vos F. Antiepileptic drugs modulate P-glycoproteins in the brain: a mice study with11C-desmethylloperamide. *Epilepsy Res.* (2011) 94:18–25. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2010.12.013
- Wright C, Downing J, Mungall D, Khan O, Williams A, Fonkem E, et al. Clinical pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of levetiracetam. *Front Neurol.* (2013) 4:192. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2013.00192
- May TW, Korn-Merker E, Rambeck B. Clinical pharmacokinetics of oxcarbazepine. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2003) 42:1023–42. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200342120-0000
- Majid O, Laurenza A, Ferry J, Hussein Z. Impact of perampanel on pharmacokinetics of concomitant antiepileptics in patients with partial-onset seizures: pooled analysis of clinical trials. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2016) 82:422– 30. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12951
- Schulze-Bonhage A. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profile of pregabalin and its role in the treatment of epilepsy. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* (2013) 9:105–15. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2013.749239
- Ben-Menachem E. Pregabalin pharmacology and its relevance to clinical practice. *Epilepsia* (2004) 45:13–8. doi: 10.1111/j.0013-9580.2004.455003.x
- Perucca E, Cloyd J, Critchley D, Fuseau E. Rufinamide: clinical pharmacokinetics and concentrationresponse relationships in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsia* (2008) 49:1123–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008. 01665.x
- 48. Tran A, Rey E, Pons G, Rousseau M, d'Athis P, Olive G, et al. Influence of stiripentol on cytochrome P450-mediated metabolic pathways in humans: *in vitro* and *in vivo* comparison and calculation of *in vivo* inhibition constants. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* (1997) 62:490–504. doi: 10.1016/S0009-9236(97)90044-8
- Preissner S, Kroll K, Dunkel M, Senger C, Goldsobel G, Kuzman D, et al. SuperCYP: a comprehensive database on Cytochrome P450 enzymes including a tool for analysis of CYP-drug interactions. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2010) 38:D237–43. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp970

- Bialer M, Doose DR, Murthy B, Curtin C, Wang S-S, Twyman RE, et al. Pharmacokinetic interactions of topiramate. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. (2004) 43:763–80. doi: 10.2165/00003088-200443120-00001
- European Medicines Agency. Lacosamide. Summary of Product Characteristics (2013). Available online at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/documents/productinformation/vimpat-epar-product-information_en.pdf
- Cawello W. Clinical pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profile of lacosamide. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* (2015) 54:901–14. doi: 10.1007/s40262-015-0276-0
- 53. Leppik IE. Zonisamide: chemistry, mechanism of action, and pharmacokinetics. *Seizure* (2004) 13:5–9. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2004.04.016
- 54. Jing X, Liu X, Wen T, Xie S, Yao D, Liu X, et al. Combined effects of epileptic seizure and phenobarbital induced overexpression of P-glycoprotein in brain of chemically kindled rats. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2010) 159:1511–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00634.x
- 55. Spina E, Pisani F, De Leon J. Clinically significant pharmacokinetic drug interactions of antiepileptic drugs with new antidepressants and new antipsychotics. *Pharmacol Res.* (2016) 106:72–86. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2016.02.014
- Alvariza S, Fagiolino P, Vázquez M, Feria-Romero I, Orozco-Suárez S. Chronic administration of phenytoin induces efflux transporter overexpression in rats. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2014) 66:946–51. doi: 10.2165/11539230-000000000-00000
- 57. Giessmann T, May K, Modess C, Wegner D, Hecker U, Zschiesche M, et al. Carbamazepine regulates intestinal P-glycoprotein and multidrug resistance protein MRP2 and influences disposition of talinolol in humans. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. (2004) 76:192–200. doi: 10.1016/j.clpt.2004.04.011
- 58. Sugiyama I, Murayama N, Kuroki A, Kota J, Iwano S, Yamazaki H, et al. Evaluation of cytochrome P450 inductions by anti-epileptic drug oxcarbazepine, 10-hydroxyoxcarbazepine, and carbamazepine using human hepatocytes and HepaRG cells. *Xenobiotica* (2016) 46:765–74. doi: 10.3109/00498254.2015.1118774
- Tang R, Faussat AM, Majdak P, Perrot JY, Chaoui D, Legrand O, et al. Valproic acid inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in acute myeloid leukemia cells expressing P-gp and MRP1. *Leukemia* (2004) 18:1246–51. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403390
- Eyal S, Lamb JG, Smith-Yockman M, Yagen B, Fibach E, Altschuler Y, et al. The antiepileptic and anticancer agent, valproic acid, induces P-glycoprotein in human tumour cell lines and in rat liver. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2006) 149:250–60. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0706830
- Cerveny L, Svecova L, Anzenbacherova E, Vrzal R, Staud F, Dvorak Z, et al. Valproic acid induces CYP3A4 and MDR1 gene expression by activation of constitutive androstane receptor and pregnane X receptor pathways. *Drug Metab Dispos*. (2007) 35:1032–41. doi: 10.1124/dmd.106.014456
- 62. Serra W, Li Calzi M, Coruzzi P. Left atrial appendage thrombosis during therapy with rivaroxaban in elective cardioversion for permanent atrial fibrillation. *Clin Pract.* (2015) 5:788. doi: 10.4081/cp.2015.788
- Chin PKL, Wright DFB, Zhang M, Wallace MC, Roberts RL, Patterson DM, et al. Correlation between trough plasma dabigatran concentrations and estimates of glomerular filtration rate based on creatinine and cystatin C. Drugs R D (2014) 14:113–23. doi: 10.1007/s40268-014-0045-9
- King PK, Stump TA, Walkama AM, Ash BM, Bowling SM. Management of phenobarbital and apixaban interaction in recurrent cardioembolic stroke. *Ann Pharmacother*. (2018) 52:605–6. doi: 10.1177/1060028018759938
- Becerra AF, Amuchastegui T, Tabares AH. Decreased rivaroxaban levels in a patient with cerebral vein thrombosis receiving phenytoin. *Case Rep Hematol.* (2017) 2017:4760612. doi: 10.1155/2017/4760612
- 66. Chang S, Chou IJ, Yeh YH, Chiou MJ, Wen MS, Kuo CT, et al. Association between use of non-vitamin K oral anticoagulants with and without concurrent medications and risk of major bleeding in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Am Med Assoc. (2017) 318:1250–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.13883
- Wiggins BS, Northup A, Johnson D, Senfield J. Reduced anticoagulant effect of dabigatran in a patient receiving concomitant phenytoin. *Pharmacother Publ.* (2016) 36:e5–7. doi: 10.1002/phar.1698
- Hager N, Bolt J, Albers L, Wojcik W, Duffy P, Semchuk W. Development of left atrial thrombus after coadministration of dabigatran etexilate and phenytoin. *Can J Cardiol.* (2017) 33:554.e13–4. doi: 10.1016/j.cjca.2016.10.022

- Laureano M, Crowther M, Eikelboom J, Boonyawat K. Measurement of dabigatran drug levels to manage patients taking interacting drugs: a case report. Am J Med. (2016) 129:e247–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.06.017
- Stöllberger C, Finsterer J. Recurrent venous thrombosis under rivaroxaban and carbamazepine for symptomatic epilepsy. *Neurol Neurochir Pol.* (2017) 51:194–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pjnns.2017.01.010
- Burden T, Thompson C, Bonanos E, Medford AR. Pulmonary embolism in a patient on rivaroxaban and concurrent carbamazepine. *Clin Med.* (2018) 18:103–5. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.18-1-103
- Risselada AJ, Visser MJ, van Roon EN. Pulmonary embolism due to interaction between rivaroxaban and carbamazepine. *Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd*. (2013) 157:A6568.
- Stollberger C, Finsterer J. Prolonged anticoagulant activity of rivaroxaban in a polymorbid elderly female with non-convulsive epileptic state. *Heart Lung* (2014) 43:262–3. doi: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2014.03.004
- 74. Salmonson T, Dogné JM, Janssen H, Garcia Burgos J, Blake P. Non-vitamin-K oral anticoagulants and laboratory testing: now and in the future: views from a workshop at the European Medicines Agency (EMA). Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother. (2017) 3:42–7. doi: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvw032

 Lippi G, Favaloro EJ. Laboratory monitoring of direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs)-The perfect storm? *Ann Transl Med.* (2017) 5:6. doi: 10.21037/atm.2017.01.03

Conflict of Interest Statement: ER has received speaker fees and participated to advisory boards for Eisai. MM has received speaker fees and participated to advisory boards for Eisai and UCB Pharma.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Galgani, Palleria, Iannone, De Sarro, Giorgi, Maschio and Russo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Emerging Role of Microbial Biofilm in Lyme Neuroborreliosis

Enea Gino Di Domenico^{1*}, Ilaria Cavallo¹, Valentina Bordignon¹, Giovanna D'Agosto¹, Martina Pontone¹, Elisabetta Trento¹, Maria Teresa Gallo¹, Grazia Prignano¹, Fulvia Pimpinelli¹, Luigi Toma² and Fabrizio Ensoli¹

¹ Clinical Pathology and Microbiology Unit, San Gallicano Dermatological Institute IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Research, Advanced Diagnostics, and Technological Innovation, Translational Research Area, Regina Elena National Cancer Institute IRCCS, Rome, Italy

Lyme borreliosis (LB) is the most common tick-borne disease caused by the spirochete Borrelia burgdorferi in North America and Borrelia afzelii or Borrelia garinii in Europe and Asia, respectively. The infection affects multiple organ systems, including the skin, joints, and the nervous system. Lyme neuroborreliosis (LNB) is the most dangerous manifestation of Lyme disease, occurring in 10-15% of infected individuals. During the course of the infection, bacteria migrate through the host tissues altering the coagulation and fibrinolysis pathways and the immune response, reaching the central nervous system (CNS) within 2 weeks after the bite of an infected tick. The early treatment with oral antimicrobials is effective in the majority of patients with LNB. Nevertheless, persistent forms of LNB are relatively common, despite targeted antibiotic therapy. It has been observed that the antibiotic resistance and the reoccurrence of Lyme disease are associated with biofilm-like aggregates in B. burgdorferi, B. afzelii, and B. garinii, both in vitro and in vivo, allowing Borrelia spp. to resist to adverse environmental conditions. Indeed, the increased tolerance to antibiotics described in the persisting forms of Borrelia spp., is strongly reminiscent of biofilm growing bacteria, suggesting a possible role of biofilm aggregates in the development of the different manifestations of Lyme disease including LNB.

Keywords: Borrelia, lyme, neuroborreliosis, biofilm, skin, erythema migrans

INTRODUCTION

Lyme borreliosis (LB) is the most prevalent vector-borne disease (1) caused by the spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi*. This Gram-negative bacterium is an obligate pathogen, transmitted to different hosts by ticks in the genus *Ixodes*. LB is frequently reported in North America, Europe, in different parts of Asia, including Mongolia and China as well as in Australia and in Africa (2–4).

LB affects multiple organ systems, including the skin, eyes, joints, muscles, cardiac, and nervous system, presenting, at different stages, with a variety of clinical manifestations (5). Incubation varies from 3 to 32 days, after which a characteristic skin rash, known as erythema migrans, appears in association with fever, headache, malaise, and myalgias (stage 1) (6). After several weeks to months, in 8–15% of patients can be reported the presence of neurologic and cardiac abnormalities (stage 2). Within few weeks, in untreated patients or in case of delayed antibiotic treatment, the infection can disseminate leading to systemic inflammation (7, 8). In the last phase of LB (stage 3), patients may experience chronic monoarticular or oligoarticular arthritis, involving large joints, particularly the knee (9–11).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Matilde Inglese, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Manola Comar, University of Trieste, Italy Yoshiro Ohara, Kanazawa Medical University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Enea Gino Di Domenico enea.didomenico@ifo.gov.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 29 September 2018 Accepted: 19 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

Citation:

Di Domenico EG, Cavallo I, Bordignon V, D'Agosto G, Pontone M, Trento E, Gallo MT, Prignano G, Pimpinelli F, Toma L and Ensoli F (2018) The Emerging Role of Microbial Biofilm in Lyme Neuroborreliosis. Front. Neurol. 9:1048. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01048

97

The most severe manifestations of LB, is Lyme neuroborreliosis (LNB), reported in 10-15% of individuals with localized erythema migrans (12, 13). The activation of the inflammatory response in LNB contributes to the pathogenesis of a broad spectrum of neurologic disorders. Different geographical distribution of *B. burgdorferi* species correlates with specific manifestation of LNB, which is more frequent in Europe than in the North America (6). The most common symptoms of LNB in Europe are painful meningoradiculitis known as Bannwarth syndrome and facial nerve palsy (14). Symptoms involving the central nervous system (CNS) are less common and their exact incidence is not known. B. burgdorferi infection of the CNS cause mainly encephalitis, segmental myelitis, cranial neuritis, radiculoneuritis, vasculitis, and intracranial hypertension (13, 15, 16). The clinical manifestation of the LNB may include ataxia, paraparesis, sphincter dysfunction, Parkinson-like symptoms, confusion and cognitive impairment (17, 18). Ischemic stroke is the most frequent cerebrovascular manifestation of LNB presenting in 76% of cases, followed by transient ischemic attack (11%) (19).

LNB is, in many cases, responsive to appropriate antimicrobial therapy and the clinical improvement sustained by the antibiotic treatment provide further evidence for the direct contribution of B. burgdorferi in disease pathogenesis. However, the chronic persistence, the frequent reoccurrence of LNB and the ability of B. burgdorferi to tolerate multiple cycles of antibiotic treatment is strongly suggestive for the formation of biofilm or biofilmlike protective structure (20-23). Indeed, different studies have shown that *B. burgdorferi* can switch from a motile to a stationary status, in which the cells are embedded within a biofilm matrix (22). B. burgdorferi biofilms have been observed both in vitro and in human infected skin tissues (22, 23). These structures express different mucopolysaccharides, particularly alginate, extracellular DNA and calcium, which are all typical markers of biofilm (22). The presence of biofilm may explain the low rate of Borrelia detection in the blood of infected patients as well as the ability of the spirochetes to evade the host immune system and resist the antibiotic therapy (21, 24–27).

This review investigates the differences in the epidemiology and clinical manifestations of LNB with particular emphasis on the pathogenetic role of *B. burgdorferi* biofilm in tissue adhesion, colonization and survival.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The present review focuses on a systematic review of the literature to identify all published articles of LNB using online databases (PubMed, Web of Science, and Google Scholar). The reference list was updated in September 2018. There were no language restrictions; The search terms were "*Borrelia*," "*B. burgdorferi*," "*Borrelia* biofilm," "Lyme disease," "neuroborreliosis," "LNB," "borreliosis." We reviewed titles, abstracts, case reports, and full articles to assess their relationship with the research criteria. References reported in each article were also reviewed to identify additional study not found by initial search terms.

Epidemiology of *Borrelia burgdorferi* Infection

LB is increasing worldwide with \sim 300,000 new cases annually in the United States and 85,000 cases in Europe each year (28–30). Incidence of human LB in endemic areas of the United States ranges from 10 to 100 per 100,000 population with a peak of 134 per 100,000, reported in Connecticut in 2002 (4, 31, 32). The number of documented LB cases and the geographic distribution has expanded during the last two decades, from the Northeastern and North Central United States (4). LB is widespread also in Europe and the incidence for LB ranges from 20 to 80 per 100,000 in the Czech Republic, Germany, Latvia, the Netherlands, Poland, Switzerland, and Sweden, peaking to more than 100 per 100,000 in Austria, Estonia, Lithuania, and Slovenia (4, 29, 33, 34). Incidence of LB decreases southward, in Spain, France, Italy, and Greece with approximately 1 case per 100,000 (4, 29).

B. burgdorferi sensu stricto, *B. garinii*, and *B. afzelii*, are primarily responsible for human LB in different geographical regions presenting specific symptoms (34–38).

The genomes of *Borrelia* species consist of a set of circular and linear plasmids and a linear chromosome of \sim 900 kb ending with DNA sequences regulated by breakage and reunion reactions (39, 40). Different isolates show a variable number of plasmids depending on the species and affected by frequent reorganization (41–47). *B. burgdorferi* B31 strain harbors 10 circulars and 12 linear plasmids while *B. afzelii* B023 and *B. garinii* CIP 103362 have 6 linear and 2 circular plasmids and 4 linear and 1 circular plasmids in Fraser et al. (41), Casjens et al. (42), and Bontemps-Gallo et al. (47).

Most of the essential genes involved in metabolism or regulation are located in the linear chromosome while only a subset of genes encoding proteins required for growth and specific virulence factors are located on plasmids (41, 48–50).

B. burgdorferi sensu stricto is the predominant causative agent of LB, Lyme arthritis, and also LNB in the United States (51). Nevertheless, consistent differences in the ability to induce LB exist between *B. burgdorferi* sensu stricto subtypes suggesting that, neurotropism is an ability present only in a restricted subtype of *Borrelia* (52, 53). Different genotypes of *B. burgdorferi* sensu stricto diverge ecologically and epidemiologically, suggesting that genotype classification is relevant to understanding the basic biology of the spirochete (54–56). Studies conducted in endemic areas of the United States revealed that patients with disseminated infection were more likely infected by the RST1 strains of *B. burgdorferi* than with RST3 strains (57, 58). Moreover, dissemination of *B. burgdorferi* to oblood or cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) was mostly related to *ospC* genotypes A, B, I, or K (58–62).

The distribution and relative frequency of infection by the different genospecies of *Borrelia* sensu latu vary across European regions. *B. burgdorferi* sensu lato comprises 20 different genospecies and this diversity correlates with the large variability in the clinical manifestations observed in LB (4, 13, 63). In the northern and eastern Europe *B. afzelii* is the most prevalent species, whereas in Western European countries *B. garinii* is the most common pathogen (4, 29). *B. afzelii*, *B. garini*, and the recently identified species *B. bavariensis*

are major cause of LB and LNB in Europe (52, 64-68). The heterogeneity among B. burgdorferi sensu lato genospecies is linked to different geographical areas, which, in turn, correlates with the different clinical expression of human LB (69). For instance, B. afzelii induces prevalently skin infections, whereas B. garinii is in most cases neurotropic (5, 69). Other species, such as B. lusitaniae or B. valaisiana, have only occasionally been associated with human disease (70-72). In endemic areas of Europe was proposed that the variety of symptoms observed in children and adults with LNB correlated with the B. burgdorferi sensu lato genotype (73-75). Individuals with erythema migrans caused by B. afzelii and B. garinii showed distinct epidemiological and clinical characteristics. Indeed, erythema migrans caused by B. garinii were located prevalently on the trunk and less often on extremities, had shorter incubation and faster evolution, leading to frequent systemic symptoms, abnormal liver function test results than individuals with erythema migrans caused by B. afzelii (76, 77).

The genetic diversity observed in *B. burgdorferi*, at both interand intra-species level, is probably the reason for the multiple epidemiological and clinical presentation of these bacteria in humans (62, 78–80). A major role in maintaining the intraspecific genetic diversity of *B. burgdorferi* is the adaptation to multiple vertebrate hosts, which act as ecological niches for different genotypes (81, 82). Consequently, variations in the vertebrate host fitness may result in changes in the abundance of the more pathogenic species (83–85).

Host Invasion Strategies of Borrelia burgdorferi

Colonization, dissemination and invasion of the tick vector and mammalian host by B. burgdorferi requires a complex temporal and spatial regulation of borrelial genes to adapt to environmental challenges. Transition of B. burgdorferi from the tick midgut to the hemolymph during a blood meal is an important step for bacterial diffusion through the salivary glands to a mammalian host (86). Borrelia possesses a sophisticated mechanism of gene regulation based on the two-component pathways HK1/Rrp1 and Rrp2-RpoN-RpoS, which regulate metabolism, antigenic variation, chemotaxis, and adhesion in a tissue- and temporal-specific manner in both the tick vector and mammalian host (48, 87). During the blood uptake B. burgdorferi expresses the outer surface proteins (Osp) A and B. These proteins mediate the adherence to the tick's gut by the binding to the tick receptor of OspA (TROSPA), thus facilitating the subsequent transmission into the mammalian host (88-90). Infection of the mammalian host requires the migration of the spirochetes from the midgut to the salivary glands of the tick. After the blood uptake into the midgut of the tick, the production of OspA and OspB decrease while ospC is expressed in conjunction with many other genes controlled by the RpoN, RpoS, and Rrp2 system (90-96).

OspC is required to establish the early phase of *B. burgdorferi* infection in mammalian host and to promote evasion from the innate immune defenses (96–98). Different studies revealed that the OspC mutant strains are unable to establish infection in

mice, suggesting a protective role of this protein against host innate defenses (96, 99–104). Nevertheless, to escape from the host immune system, the expression of *ospC* decreases within 2–3 weeks after infection in response to anti-OspC antibodies in mice (105, 106). In addition to OspC, *B. burgdorferi* hides other important immunogenic surface proteins (107). In particular, OspA, which stimulates neutrophils and a strong inflammatory response mediated by interleukin (IL)-1 β , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and IL-6, is highly expressed in the tick gut but it is rapidly downregulated in the host (108–112). OspA-positive strains of *B. burgdorferi* penetrate the host, but are unable to establish an infection (113). Similarly, *Borrelia* strains isolated from mice 4 days after infection, were found to be OspA negative suggesting that this protein is not expressed in the early phase of the host infection (114, 115).

The expression of different proteins, including OspC, ErpP, ErpA, ErpC, and enolase is required to readily immobilize host plasminogen on spirochetal surface, facilitating efficient dissemination (116-118). Plasminogen is a glycoprotein produced by the liver and abundant in the plasma and in certain tissues (119). Conversion of plasminogen to active plasmin is promoted by proteolytic activation induced by either tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA) and/or urokinase-type plasminogen activator urokinase (uPA). Plasmin is responsible for intravascular fibrinolysis and contributes to numerous physiological and pathological processes, including tissue remodeling, cell migration, thrombolysis, wound healing, and cancer progression (120, 121). Invasive forms of B. burgdorferi are known to expresses multiple plasminogen-binding surface proteins that likely assist pathogen dissemination through host tissues (120, 122). Enolase is an integral enzyme of the glycolysis and gluconeogenesis pathways, and a multifunctional protein found in both prokaryote and eukaryotes (123). In eukaryotic cells, surface enolase acts as a plasminogen receptor in certain tumor cells (123, 124). Similarly, this enzyme is also localized on the cell surface of different microorganisms including B. burgdorferi (118, 125-127). The surface-localized enolase acts as a plasminogen receptor contributing to spirochetal survival in feeding ticks (118). Although dispensable for infection, plasminogen is required for dissemination in ticks, and its absence is associated with a decreased spirochetemia in plasminogen-deficient mice (128). Surface-associated plasmin on B. burgdorferi degrade fibronectin, which is an important component of the ECM, laminin and vitronectin (129, 130). B. burgdorferi also induces the release of host matrix metalloproteases 9 (MMP-9) and MMP-1, and plasmin-coated B. burgdorferi activates pro-MMP-9, leading to degradation of basement membranes (131).

B. burgdorferi exhibits a specific affinity for the CNS as demonstrated by the presence of spirochetes in the human CSF within 14–18 days after the tick bite (18, 132, 133). From the initial site of entry in the skin the spirochetes can reach the CNS either through the bloodstream or, alternatively, by the peripheral nerves (114).

Hematogenous dissemination from the tick bite on the skin to the CNS is a key pathogenetic event in LNB (114). However, it has been proposed that, at least for *B. garinii* which is mostly

responsible for LNB in Europe, spirochetes can pass along the peripheral nerves (114). To penetrate the brain, spirochetes must first cross the blood-brain barrier reaching the brain microvascular endothelium and astrocytes (134). This barrier is composed by the brain microvascular endothelial cells (BMEC), astrocytes, basement membrane, pericytes, and neurons. The BMEC are firmly held together by tight junctions, presenting with a reduced transcytotic vesicles and an absence of fenestrae. All of these elements contribute to reduce the transport of solutes defending the brain from most pathogens or toxic agents (135, 136). Invasion of the blood-brain barrier by *B. burgdorferi* is still a matter of debate. Some studies suggest that Borrelia uses a paracellular route of translocation (134, 137), although other evidences suggest a possible transcellular passage of the spirochetes (138). Neurotropic B. burgdorferi strains showed the activation of the host plasminogen system, MMPs, and calcium signaling pathway to facilitate an efficient translocation through the blood-brain barrier (120, 134, 139). Compelling evidence suggest that *spirochetes* can adhere to murine neural and glial cell lines, primary neural cells, and primary rat brain cultures (140). In addition, *in vitro* studies show that *B. burgdorferi* can promote an intracellular invasion of human fibroblast, umbilical vein endothelial, synovial, neuronal, and glial cells without affecting the cell viability. This suggests that spirochetal cellular invasion may provide a mechanism for immune evasion and disease pathogenesis (140-142).

Lyme Neuroborreliosis

A common clinical and pathological manifestations of LNB in Europe is painful lymphocytic meningoradiculitis also known as Bannwarth syndrome, frequently accompanied by CSF signs of inflammation (13, 14, 143). The early manifestation of LNB generally appears within 2–18 weeks after infection (13, 143). The clinical description of painful meningoradiculitis was first reported in 1922, but the etiology remained unknown till the isolation of spirochetes by Burgdorfer in 1982 and the isolation in 1984 of spirochetes from the CSF of a patient with Bannwarth syndrome (144–146).

In addition to Bannwarth syndrome, other important neurological symptoms of the early stages of LNB include meningitis, meningeal perivascular, and vasculitic lymphoplasmocytic infiltrates, neuritis, and in rare acute LNB cases encephalitis and myelitis (143, 147). CNS vasculitis are rare in LNB, affecting mainly the large/medium-sized vessels and are associated with ischemia and stroke (19, 148). However, in European patients with LNB the mortality rate is comparable to that of the general population. Nevertheless, LNB is associated with increased risk of hematological and non-melanoma skin cancers (149).

Treatment with conventional intravenous antibiotic therapy, leads, in most cases, to a gradual improvement of the symptoms after several weeks or months, accompanied frequently by a normalization of CSF findings (150, 151). However, <2% of patients treated for LNB experience late neurological manifestations that persist months or years after *B. burgdorferi* infection (14, 143). The clinical symptoms of late LNB include several neurological and psychiatric symptoms such

as meningoradiculitis, encephalomyelitis, chronic meningitis, and cerebral vasculitis (152–154). The presence of depressive states was described in 26–66% of patients with late LNB together with psychosis, schizophrenia, hallucinations, paranoia, anorexia nervosa, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and dementia (155–163). A frequent manifestation appearing in the late stage of LNB is the chronic vascular damage, clinically characterized by recurrent stroke or transient ischemic attacks (153, 154). Other distinctive findings in patients with late LNB are inflammatory CSF changes (CSF pleocytosis and elevated total protein content) and the presence of specific *B. burgdorferi* intrathecal antibody (150, 151).

The clinical outcome of antibiotic treatment of either early or late manifestations of LNB may include progression to a chronic form characterized by nonspecific and persistent fatigue, arthralgia, myalgia, musculoskeletal, and cognitive symptoms. This condition, frequently defined as posttreatment Lyme disease syndrome (PTLDS), can be intermittent or persistent, lasting for at least six or more months after completion of antibiotic treatment (143, 164).

Specific diagnostic criteria for PTLDS proposed by the Infectious Disease Society of America relies on the objective proof of previous LB, the presence of subjective symptoms that compromise function in daily life, and the absence of clinical evidences for another underlying illness (7). However, those criteria have rarely used in clinical studies, contributing to confusion and controversy about the clinical significance of PTLDS syndrome (7). The frequency of PTLDS among patients with LB varies largely, ranging from 0 to 50%, depending upon differences in study design and enrollment criteria (165, 166). A long-term follow-up study of patients with early presentation of erythema migrans and treated with antibiotics at the time of diagnosis showed an excellent rate of remission, with only 4% of patients remaining symptomatic during follow-up evaluation (167). Conversely, other trials reported rates of PTLDS ranging from approximatively 10-20% (168). Nevertheless, in the community medical practice, where prompt LB diagnosis and treatment are not common, PTLDS rates may reach 50% (169, 170). Notably, xenodiagnoses demonstrated the presence of B. burgdorferi DNA in a patient with PTLDS, despite repeated cycles of antibiotic treatments (171). B. burgdorferi DNA was detected in mice after prolonged (up to 12 months) treatment with antibiotics despite the persistence of non-cultivable bacteria. Moreover, the study revealed B. burgdorferi DNA and the presence of RNA transcripts of multiple spirochetal genes in host tissues (172). These findings suggest that B. burgdorferi persist within the host indicating that the immune system and antimicrobial treatment may not be effective at eradicating B. burgdorferi. This may contribute to antibiotic-refractory arthritis, as observed in a murine model in which spirochetal antigens, but not infectious spirochetes, were recovered near cartilage for extended periods after LB therapy (173).

According to the guidelines of the European Federation of Neurological Sciences and the Infectious Diseases Society of America, treatment with beta-lactams antibiotics, like ceftriaxone, penicillin, or cefotaxime, or oral doxycycline for 14–21 days is recommended for the treatment of LNB (7, 25, 174). Intravenous administration of ceftriaxone is often recommended for the treatment of Lyme meningitis. Oral treatment with doxycycline demonstrated to be as effective as ceftriaxone for Lyme meningitis in adults in Europe, although not recommended as first-line therapy in the United States (175). Nevertheless, four NIH-sponsored trials aimed at assessing the administration of antibiotic treatment in patients with persistent unexplained symptoms despite previous antimicrobial treatment of LB indicated that the new treatment cycle provides little if any clinical benefit (176). A randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled trial conducted in Europe, in patients with persistent symptoms attributed to Lyme disease showed that longer-term antibiotic treatment did not have a better outcome as compared with shorter-term treatment (177).

Biofilm Production and Antimicrobial Tolerance in *Borrelia burgdorferi*

B. burgdorferi can switch from motile cellular forms into several defensive morphological forms such as round bodies, stationary phase, persister cells, and biofilm (23, 24, 178–182). Transition between different morphologies represents an adaptation strategy to survive in unfavorable environmental conditions, including pH variations, nutrient starvation, host immune system attacks, or the presence of antimicrobial agents (21, 23, 24, 172, 179, 181).

Notably, within the biofilm, bacteria are physically joined together producing a matrix, characterized by the presence of an extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) composed by polysaccharides, proteins, and extracellular DNA (183). Bacterial biofilms are intrinsically more resistant to environmental agents and antimicrobials than the corresponding planktonic counterpart and this can lead to chronic and recurrent infections (184-186). In vitro and in vivo studies revealed that both B. burgdorferi sensu stricto and sensu lato (B. afzelii and B. garinii) aggregates, but not free-floating spirochetes, present typical markers found in the EPS of other pathogenic bacteria such as sulfated mucins, non-sulfated mucins (mainly alginate), extracellular DNA and calcium (22, 23, 187). B. burgdorferi biofilm is also characterized by the presence of a distinctive architecture with channel-like elements that in mature biofilm are required for oxygen and nutrient diffusion and waste removal (22, 23, 187). Biofilm formation by B. burgdorferi follows the same evolution described for other bacteria. Initially, individual spirochetes adhere to biotic or abiotic surfaces forming microcolonies, coated by the EPS. From this point, Borrelia aggregates expand undergoing changes in the growth rate, gene expression and structural rearrangements in the EPS components (22, 23). The rapid rearrangements occurring within the biofilm matrix, culminate in a complex three-dimensional structure with common traits observed among Borrelia genera (Figure 1) (23, 189). The existence of biofilm-like structures was further found in human skin biopsies obtained from patients with borrelial lymphocytoma, a common manifestation of LB in Europe, revealing the presence of Borrelia-positive aggregates characterized by mucopolysaccharides, especially alginate (22). Other reports demonstrated that *Borrelia* DNA is deposited in the Alzheimer brain showing structural similarities between spirochetal aggregates and the profiles of amyloid plaques in patients with Alzheimer disease (188, 190). Nevertheless, the specific contribution of biofilm to borrelial persistent infections remain unclear. Besides, additional *in vivo* studies showed the presence of *Borrelia* aggregates in the midguts of naturallyinfected nymphs during their blood meal (191). These results strongly suggest that biofilm may contribute to the spirochetal successful transmission to the mammalian host and to the ensuing disease manifestations (191).

Biofilm production in Borrelia requires the modulation of a complex array of signaling processes which allows spirochetes to communicate with the surrounding environment. The RpoN-RpoS alternative sigma factor and the LuxS quorumsensing pathways, which are involved in several cellular functions in response to environmental stresses (pH and temperature variations, high osmolarity, oxidative stress, high cell density, nutrient starvation, host infection), participate in biofilm production in B. burgdorferi (22, 192). The RpoN-RpoS pathway, also known as the σ^{54} - σ^{S} cascade, regulates adaptive changes in B. burgdorferi during the transition between the tick vector and mammalian host (91, 95). The RpoN-RpoS pathway relies on the activity of RpoN (σ^{54}), which controls the transcription of RpoS (σ^{S}) through the binding to a canonical -24/-12 RpoN-type promoter sequence (95, 193). The activation of the σ^{54} - σ^{S} cascade, in turn, is modulated by a bacterial enhancer-binding protein (bEBP)/ σ 54-dependent activator (Rrp2) in concert with BosR (91, 95, 193–198). After the activation, RpoS acts as a global gene regulator controlling the expression of over 100 different genes involved in stress responses, host infection and survival, including biofilm formation (87, 95, 182).

Mutant strains of B. burgdorferi lacking RpoN, RpoS, presented a less compact biofilm with loose and dispersed small aggregates compared to wild-type strains (182). Notably, all mutants expressed Borrelia biofilm markers such as alginate, extracellular DNA, and calcium, although they showed significantly higher sensitivity to low MIC dose of doxycyline $(0.1 \,\mu g/ml)$ than the wild-type strain (182). In addition, the quorum sensing (QS) molecules LuxS also contributes to B. burgdorferi biofilm. The QS signaling system is a cell-to-cell communication mechanism, shared by different bacteria, which is based on the release of small molecules called autoinducers (AI) in environment (199). LuxS pathways regulate biofilm formation in various ways according to bacterial species and environmental conditions (183). Specifically, luxS mutant strains of Streptococcus gordonii and Porphyromonas gingivalis, which are two important components of dental plaque, are unable to produce a mixed-species biofilm (200). Besides, in Helicobacter pylori the presence of luxS mutation leads to a more efficient biofilm formation than the wild type whereas a luxS mutant of Streptococcus mutans shows an altered biofilm structure (183, 201-203). B. burgdorferi significantly increases transcription of *luxS* during transition from ticks to mammalian hosts where it is involved in the regulation of several genes such as vlsE, erpA, and ipLA7 (204-207). luxS mutant strains in stationary cultures of B. burgdorferi showed a higher tendency



FIGURE 1 | (A) Confocal microscopy images of *B. burgdorferi* B31 strain (American Type Tissue Collection 35210) biofilms. Upper panel show the X-Y planes (top view), while the lower panel show the Z section (side view). The sample was stained with *BacLight* Live/Dead (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) (188). Representative images of biofilms developed on polystyrene pegs following 72 h incubation at 37°C. Spirochetes were grown in a μ-Slide 8-well system (ibidi, Germany) and cultured in BSK-H medium containing 6% rabbit serum (Sigma-Aldrich). **(B)** Schematic representation of a *B. burgdorferi* biofilm. The biofilm matrix produced by spirochetes (green) provides shelter from host defenses, and reduces the diffusion of antibiotics. Persister forms of *B. burgdorferi* (in blue), exhibit multidrug tolerance and are likely responsible for the recalcitrance of chronic LB. The illustration is adapted from Mind the Graph (https://mindthegraph.com) under the Creative Commons License.

to form smaller and looser aggregates and a greater sensitivity to antibiotics than the wild-type counterpart (182).

Although antibiotic treatment resolves most of clinical manifestations of LB, persistent forms occur in ~10% of patients after treatment for erythema migrans disease (208, 209). The long-term persistence of symptoms and failure of the antibiotic therapy are reminiscent of chronic biofilmassociated infections. Biofilm aggregates display an enhanced tolerance to various antibiotics, which, conversely, are effective against the planktonic spirochetes and round body forms of B. burgdorferi (210). In particular, doxycycline and amoxicillin were found to effectively kill the motile spirochete forms in vitro, but failed to completely remove B. burgdorferi in biofilms (20, 21, 24, 26, 210-214). High throughput screens of B. burgdorferi identified several promising Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved drugs that have excellent antipersister activity (24, 181, 213, 215). Among them, daptomycin, which is a lipopeptide targeting bacterial cell membranes, clofazimine, carbomycin, sulfa drugs such as sulfamethoxazole, and certain cephalosporins such as cefoperazone, showed higher activity against B. burgdorferi persister cells resulting more effective than doxycycline or amoxicillin (213). Although the combination of these drugs was found to be active against B. burgdorferi persisters, they showed poor activity when used individually (24). Daptomycin was found to be the most active antibiotic when combined with doxycycline plus either betalactams like cefoperazone or carbenicillin or alternatively with clofazimine (212). Daptomycin in combination with doxycycline and cefoperazone was found to be able to completely eradicate B. burgdorferi persisters, revealing a durable killing activity that was not achieved by any other drug combinations (212). These results where further supported by prospective randomized clinical studies which failed to demonstrate significant beneficial effect of additional prolonged therapy with doxycycline, amoxicillin or ceftriaxone in monotherapy, in patients with Lyme encephalopathy and post-treatment symptoms of Lyme disease (176, 215).

In addition to biofilm formation, the ability of *Borrelia* to localize intracellularly in the host has been proposed as a mechanism which might favor chronic or persistent infection and may contribute in reducing the efficacy of antibiotics. However, *Borrelia* predominantly occupies the extracellular matrix, and the antibiotics recommended for the treatment of LB are first-line drugs in several intracellular infections (216, 217). Doxycycline and azithromycin are commonly used for the treatment of *Mycoplasma*, *Chlamydia*, and *Legionella*, while ceftriaxone is effective against *Salmonella* and *Neisseria*, and amoxicillin is used to treat *Listeria* infections (217, 218). Nevertheless, biofilm production by extracellular bacteria and intracellular localization of *Borrelia* are not mutually exclusive and may both participate in supporting chronic bacterial persistence in the host.

On the other hand, a polymicrobial infection is a frequent occurrence in ticks (219, 220). Chronic and persistent forms of Lyme have been also associated to infections caused by *Babesia* spp. and *Anaplasma phagocytophilum*, *Bartonella henselae*, or other minor pathogens (217, 219, 221). This condition may add a further level of complexity to the clinical and therapeutic management of LB since it may lead to inappropriate diagnoses and apparent failure of the antibiotic treatment targeted exclusively against *Borrelia*. However, the real clinical relevance of these coinfections is unclear and requires further, more in depth evaluation.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

LNB is the most dangerous manifestation of Lyme disease. Although the early antimicrobial treatment is effective in the majority of patients, persistent forms are relatively common. The mechanisms underlying chronic LNB and other persistent forms of Lyme are unknown. Patients who have late manifestations of LB generally show a slower response to therapy with incomplete resolution. Persistent Borrelia infection requires prolonged antimicrobial treatment, with limited and controversial clinical efficacy. Recent evidences suggest that the antibiotic resistance and the reoccurrence of LB are associated with biofilm-like aggregates, which allow Borrelia spp. to resist to adverse environmental conditions. Several promising FDA-approved drugs have been shown to have excellent antipersister activity when used in combination while their use in monotherapy regimens showed a poor effectiveness. This notion should be taken into careful consideration for the clinical management of Lyme Disease in order to prevent long-term complications.

In preliminary studies by the clinical Biofilm Ring $\text{Test}^{(\mathbb{R})}$ (cBRT), we found that *Borrelia* is able to readily produce biofilm

REFERENCES

- 1. Steere AC, Strle F, Wormser GP, Hu LT, Branda JA, Hovius JW, et al. Lyme borreliosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2016) 2:16090. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.90
- Ai CX, Zhang WF, Zhao JH. Sero-epidemiology of Lyme disease in an endemic area in China. *Microbiol Immunol.* (1994) 38:505–9.
- Rudenko N, Golovchenko M, Grubhoffer L, Oiver JH, Jr. Updates on Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato complex with respect to public health. Ticks Tick Borne Dis. (2011) 2:123–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2011.04.002
- Mead PS. Epidemiology of lyme disease. *Infect Dis Clin North Am.* (2015) 29:187–210. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2015.02.010
- Steere AC, Strle F, Wormser GP, Hu LT, Branda JA, Hovius JW, et al. Correction: lyme borreliosis. *Mead Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2017) 3:17062. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.62
- Hengge UR, Tannapfel A, Tyring SK, Erbel R, Arendt G, Ruzicka T. Lyme *borreliosis*. *Lancet Infect Dis*. (2003) 3:489–500. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(03)00722-9
- Wormser GP, Dattwyler RJ, Shapiro ED, Halperin JJ, Steere AC, Klempner MS, et al. The clinical assessment, treatment, and prevention of lyme disease, human granulocytic anaplasmosis, and babesiosis: clinical practice guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2006) 43:1089–134. doi: 10.1086/508667
- Halperin JJ. Nervous system lyme disease. *Curr Infect Dis Rep.* (2015) 17:445. doi: 10.1007/s11908-014-0445-6
- 9. Steere AC. Musculoskeletal manifestations of Lyme disease. *Am J Med.* (1995) 98:44S-48S.
- Vanzieleghem B, Lemmerling M, Carton D, Achten E, Vanlangenhove P, Matthys E, et al. Lyme disease in a child presenting with bilateral facial nerve palsy: MRI findings and review of the literature. *Neuroradiology* (1998) 40:739–42.
- Stonehouse A, Studdiford JS, Henry CA. An update on the diagnosis and treatment of early Lyme disease: "focusing on the bull's eye, you may miss the mark". J Emerg Med. (2010) 39:e147–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2007.06.007
- 12. Reik L, Steere AC, Bartenhagen NH, Shope RE, Malawista SE. Neurologic abnormalities of Lyme disease. *Medicine* (1979) 58:281–94.
- Koedel U, Fingerle V, Pfister HW. Lyme neuroborreliosis-epidemiology, diagnosis and management. Nat Rev Neurol. (2015) 11:446–56. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2015.121

within 24–48 h. Diagnostic procedures such as the cBRT, which allow for a rapid biofilm measurement may represent very useful tools for clinical applications (222, 223), since the rapid identification of biofilm-producing *Borrelia* strains, may help identify forms of LB which are at risk of chronicity (224). Further, characterization of *Borrelia* biofilm as well as the ensuing inflammatory process will likely provide novel insight to better understand the mechanism(s) concurring to LNB pathogenesis and may offer new therapeutic targets for intervention.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceived and designed the study: ED, IC, LT, FP, and FE. Performed the confocal microscopy analysis: ED, IC, MP, GP, and MG. All authors analyzed data. Wrote the paper: ED, IC, LT, VB, GD, ET, and FE. All the authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was partially supported by L'Associazione Nazionale Contro le Infezioni Ospedaliere (L'ANCIO).

- Ogrinc K, Lusa L, Lotric-Furlan S, Bogovič P, Stupica D, Cerar T, et al. Course and outcome of early European Lyme neuroborreliosis (Bannwarth syndrome): clinical and laboratory findings. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2016) 63:346– 53. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw299
- Uldry PA, Regli F, Bogousslavsky J. Cerebral angiopathy and recurrent strokes following *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1987) 50:1703–4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.50. 12.1703
- Stanek G, Fingerle V, Hunfeld KP, Jaulhac B, Kaiser R, Krause A, et al. Lyme borreliosis: clinical case definitions for diagnosis and management in Europe. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2011) 17:69–79. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2010.03175.x
- Oschmann P, Dorndorf W, Hornig C, Schafer C, Wellensiek HJ, Pflughaupt KW. Stages and syndromes of neuroborreliosis. J Neurol. (1998) 245:262–72.
- Fallon BA, Levin ES, Schweitzer PJ, Hardesty D. Inflammation and central nervous system Lyme disease. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2010) 37:534–41. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.11.016
- Garkowski A, Zajkowska J, Zajkowska A, Kułakowska A, Zajkowska O, Kubas B, Jurgilewicz D, et al. Cerebrovascular manifestations of lyme neuroborreliosis-a systematic review of published cases. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:146. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00146
- Steere AC, Angelis SM. Therapy for Lyme arthritis: strategies for the treatment of antibiotic-refractory arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2006) 54:3079– 86. doi: 10.1002/art.22131
- Berndtson K. Review of evidence for immune evasion and persistent infection in Lyme disease. Int J Gen Med. (2013) 6:291–306 doi: 10.2147/IJGM.S44114
- Sapi E, Bastian SL, Mpoy CM, Scott S, Rattelle A, Pabbati N, et al. Characterization of biofilm formation by *Borrelia burgdorferi in vitro*. *PLoS* ONE (2012) 7:e48277. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048277
- Sapi E, Balasubramanian K, Poruri A, Maghsoudlou JS, Socarras KM, Timmaraju AV, et al. Evidence of *in vivo* existence of Borrelia Biofilm in Borrelial Lymphocytomas. *Eur J Microbiol Immunol.* (2016) 6:9–24. doi: 10.1556/1886.2015.00049
- 24. Feng J, Wang T, Shi W, Zhang S, Sullivan D, Auwaerter PG, et al. Identification of novel activity against *Borrelia burgdorferi* persisters using an FDA approved drug library. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2014) 3:e49. doi: 10.1038/emi.2014.53

- Bremell D, Dotevall L. Oral doxycycline for Lyme neuroborreliosis with symptoms of encephalitis, myelitis, vasculitis or intracranial hypertension. *Eur J Neurol.* (2014) 21:1162–7. doi: 10.1111/ene.12420
- Feng J, Shi W, Zhang S, Zhang Y. Identification of new compounds with high activity against stationary phase *Borrelia burgdorferi* from the NCI compound collection. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* (2015) 4:e31. doi: 10.1038/emi.2015.31
- Middelveen MJ, Sapi E, Burke J, Filush KR, Franco A, Fesler MC, et al. Persistent borrelia infection in patients with ongoing symptoms of lyme disease. *Healthcare* (2018) 6:E33. doi: 10.3390/healthcare6020033
- Hinckley AF, Connally NP, Meek JI, Johnson BJ, Kemperman MM, Feldman KA, et al. Lyme disease testing by large commercial laboratories in the United States. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2014) 59:676–81. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu397
- Sykes RA, Makiello P. An estimate of lyme borreliosis incidence in western europe. J Public Health (2017) 39:74–81. doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdw017
- van den Wijngaard CC, Hofhuis A, Simões M, Rood E, van Pelt W, Zeller H, et al. Surveillance perspective on Lyme borreliosis across the European Union and European Economic Area. *Euro Surveill.* (2017) 22:27. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.27.30569
- Bacon RM, Kugeler KJ, Mead PS. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Surveillance for lyme disease—United States, 1992–2006. MMWR Surveill Summ. (2008) 57:1–9.
- Connecticut Department of Public Health. Lyme disease Connecticut, 2008. Connecticut Epidemiol. (2009) 29:14–16.
- Lindgren E, Jaenson T. Lyme Borreliosis in Europe: Influences of Climate and Climate Change, Epidemiology, Ecology and Adaptation Measures. (2006). Available online at: http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/ 96819/E89522.pdf (Accessed October 1, 2010).
- EUCALB. European Union Concerted Action on Lyme Borreliosis. (2014) Available online at: http://www.eucalb.com (Accessed October 1, 2014).
- 35. van Dam AP, Kuiper H, Vos K, Widjojokusumo A, de Jongh BM, Spanjaard L, et al. Different genospecies of *Borrelia burgdorferi* are associated with distinct clinical manifestations of Lyme borreliosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (1993) 17:708–17.
- Wilske B. Epidemiology and diagnosis of Lyme borreliosis. Ann Med. (2005) 37:568–79. doi: 10.1080/07853890500431934
- Brisson D, Drecktrah D, Eggers CH, Samuels DS. Genetics of Borrelia burgdorferi. Annu Rev Genet. (2012) 46:515–36. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-011112-112140
- Seifert SN, Khatchikian CE, Zhou W, Brisson D. Evolution and population genomics of the Lyme borreliosis pathogen, *Borrelia burgdorferi. Trends Genet.* (2015) 31:201–7. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2015.02.006
- 39. Di Domenico EG, Auriche C, Viscardi V, Longhese MP, Gilson E, Ascenzioni F. The Mec1p and Tel1p checkpoint kinases allow humanized yeast to tolerate chronic telomere dysfunctions by suppressing telomere fusions. DNA Repair (2009) 8: 209–18. doi: 10.1016/j.dnarep.2008. 10.005
- Kobryn K, Chaconas G. Hairpin telomere resolvases. *Microbiol Spectr.* (2014) 2:6. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.MDNA3-0023-2014
- Fraser CM, Casjens S, Huang WM, Sutton GG, Clayton R, Lathigra R, et al. Genomic sequence of a Lyme disease spirochaete, *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Nature* (1997) 390:580–586.
- 42. Casjens S, Palmer N, van Vugt R, Huang WM, Stevenson B, Rosa P, et al. A bacterial genome in flux: the twelve linear and nine circular extrachromosomal DNAs in an infectious isolate of the Lyme disease spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Mol Microbiol*. (2000) 35:490–516.
- Casjens SR, Mongodin EF, Qiu WG, Dunn JJ, Luft BJ, Fraser-Liggett CM, et al. Whole-genome sequences of two *Borrelia afzelii* and two *Borrelia garinii* Lyme disease agent isolates. *J Bacteriol.* (2011) 193:6995–6. doi: 10. 1128/JB.05951-11
- Schutzer SE, Fraser-Liggett CM, Casjens SR, Qiu WG, Dunn JJ, Mongodin EF, et al. Whole-genome sequences of thirteen isolates of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *J Bacteriol*. (2011) 193:1018–20. doi: 10.1128/JB.01158-10
- 45. Casjens SR, Mongodin EF, Qiu WG, Luft BJ, Schutzer SE, Gilcrease EB, et al. Genome stability of Lyme disease spirochetes: comparative genomics of *Borrelia burgdorferi* plasmids. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7: e33280. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033280

- Schutzer SE, Fraser-Liggett CM, Qiu WG, Kraiczy P, Mongodin EF, Dunn JJ, et al. Whole-genome sequences of *Borrelia bissettii, Borrelia valaisiana*, and *Borrelia spielmanii. J Bacteriol.* (2012) 194:545–6. doi: 10.1128/JB.06263-11
- Bontemps-Gallo S, Lawrence KA, Richards CL, Gherardini FC. Genomic and phenotypic characterization of *Borrelia afzelii* BO23 and *Borrelia garinii* CIP 103362. *PLoS ONE* (2018) 13:e0199641. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199641
- Radolf JD, Caimano MJ, Stevenson B, Hu LT. Of ticks, mice and men: understanding the dual-host lifestyle of Lyme disease spirochaetes. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2012) 10:87–99. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2714
- Verhaegh D, Joosten LAB, Oosting M. The role of host immune cells and Borrelia burgdorferi antigens in the etiology of Lyme disease. Eur Cytokine Netw. (2017) 28: 70–84. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2017.0396
- Stewart PE, Rosa PA. Physiologic and genetic factors influencing the zoonotic cycle of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*. (2017) 415:63–82. doi: 10.1007/82_2017_43
- Tijsse-Klasen E, Pandak N, Hengeveld P, Takumi K, Koopmans MP, Sprong H. Ability to cause erythema migrans differs between *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato isolates. *Parasit Vectors* (2013) 6:23. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-6-23
- Brisson D, Baxamusa N, Schwartz I, Wormser GP. Biodiversity of *Borrelia burgdorferi* strains in tissues of Lyme disease patients. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e22926. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022926
- 53. Wormser GP, Halperin JJ. Toward a better understanding of European lyme neuroborreliosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2013) 57:510–2. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit322
- Hanincová K, Kurtenbach K, Diuk-Wasser M, Brei B, Fish D. Epidemic spread of Lyme borreliosis, northeastern United States. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2006) 12:604–11. doi: 10.3201/eid1204.051016
- Hanincová K, Ogden NH, Diuk-Wasser M, Pappas CJ, Iyer R, Fish D, et al. Fitness variation of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu stricto strains in mice. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2007) 74:153–7. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01567-07
- Brisson D, Dykhuizen DE, Ostfeld RS. Conspicuous impacts of inconspicuous hosts on the Lyme disease epidemic. *Proc Biol Sci.* (2008) 275:227–35. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2007.1208
- Wormser GP, Liveris D, Nowakowski J, Nadelman RB, Cavaliere LF, McKenna D, et al. Association of specific subtypes of *Borrelia burgdorferi* with hematogenous dissemination in early Lyme disease. *J Infect Dis.* (1999) 180:720–5.
- Jones KL, Glickstein LJ, Damle N, Sikand VK, McHugh G, Steere AC. *Borrelia burgdorferi* genetic markers and disseminated disease in patients with early Lyme disease. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2006) 44:4407–13. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01077-06
- Seinost G, Dykhuizen DE, Dattwyler RJ, Golde WT, Dunn JJ, Wang IN, et al. Four clones of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu stricto cause invasive infection in humans. *Infect Immun.* (1999) 67:3518–24.
- 60. Earnhart CG, Buckles EL, Dumler JS, Marconi RT. Demonstration of OspC type diversity in invasive human Lyme disease isolates and identification of previously uncharacterized epitopes that define the specificity of the OspC murine antibody response. *Infect Immun* (2005) 73:7869–77. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.12.7869-7877.2005
- Alghaferi MY, Anderson JM, Park J, Auwaerter PG, Aucott JN, Norris DE, et al. *Borrelia burgdorferi* ospC heterogeneity among human and murine isolates from a defined region of northern Maryland and southern Pennsylvania: lack of correlation with invasive and noninvasive genotypes. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2005) 43:1879–84. doi: 10.1128/JCM.43.4.1879-1884.2005
- Wormser GP, Brisson D, Liveris D, Hanincova K, Sandigursky S, Nowakowski J, et al. *Borrelia burgdorferi* genotype predicts the capacity for hematogenous dissemination during early Lyme disease. *J Infect Dis.* (2008) 198:1358–64. doi: 10.1086/592279
- Lin YP, Benoit V, Yang X, Martínez-Herranz R, Pal U, Leong JM. Strainspecific variation of the decorin-binding adhesin DbpA influences the tissue tropism of the Lyme disease spirochete. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1004238. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004238
- 64. Ornstein K, Berglund J, Bergstrom S, Norrby R, Barbour AG. Three major Lyme Borrelia genospecies (*Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu stricto, *B. afzelii* and *B. garinii*) identified by PCR in cerebrospinal fluid from patients with neuroborreliosis in Sweden. *Scand J Infect Dis.* (2002) 34:341–6. doi: 10.1080/00365540110080313
- 65. Fingerle V, Schulte-Spechtel UC, Ruzic-Sabljic E, Leonhard S, Hofmann H, Weber K, et al. Epidemiological aspects and molecular characterization

of *Borrelia burgdorferi* s.l. from southern Germany with special respect to the new species *Borrelia spielmanii* sp. nov. *Int J Med Microbiol.* (2008) 298:279–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2007.05.002

- 66. Bazovska S, Durovska J, Derdakova M, Taragelova V, Pancak J, Zaborska M, et al. The genospecies *B. burgdorferi* s.l., isolated from ticks and from neurological patients with suspected Lyme borreliosis. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett.* (2011) 32:491–495.
- Ogrinc K, Lotrič-Furlan S, Maraspin V, Lusa L, Cerar T, RuŽič-Sabljič E, et al. Suspected early Lyme neuroborreliosis in patients with erythema migrans. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2013) 57:501–9. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit317.
- Margos G, Wilske B, Sing A, Hizo-Teufel C, Cao WC, Chu C, et al. Borrelia bavariensis sp. nov. is widely distributed in Europe and Asia. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. (2013) 63:4284–8. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.052001-0
- Margos G, Vollmer SA, Ogden NH, Fish D. Population genetics, taxonomy, phylogeny and evolution of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2011) 11:1545–63. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2011. 07.022
- Collares-Pereira M, Couceiro S, Franca I, Kurtenbach K, Schafer SM, Vitorino L, et al. First isolation of *Borrelia lusitaniae* from a human patient. J *Clin Microbiol.* (2004) 42:1316–8. doi: 10.1128/JCM.42.3.1316-1318.2004
- Diza E, Papa A, Vezyri E, Tsounis S, Milonas I, Antoniadis A. Borrelia valaisiana in cerebrospinal fluid. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2004) 10:1692–3. doi: 10.3201/eid1009.030349
- Derdáková M, Lenčáková D. Association of genetic variability within the Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato with the ecology, epidemiology of Lyme borreliosis in Europe. Ann Agric Environ Med. (2005) 12:165–72.
- Strle F, RuŽic'-Sabljic' E, Cimperman J, Lotric-Furlan S, Maraspin V. Comparison of findings for patients with *Borrelia garinii* and *Borrelia afzelii* isolated from cerebrospinal fluid. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2006) 43:704–10. doi: 10.1086/506936
- Øymar K, Tveitnes D. Clinical characteristics of childhood Lyme neuroborreliosis in an endemic area of northern Europe. *Scand J Infect Dis.* (2009) 41:88–94. doi: 10.1080/00365540802593453
- Barstad B, Quarsten H, Tveitnes D, Noraas S, Ask IS, Saeed M, et al. Direct molecular detection and genotyping of *Borrelia burgdorferi* Sensu Lato in cerebrospinal fluid of children with lyme neuroborreliosis. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2018) 56:e01868–17. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01868-17
- Carlsson SA, Granlund H, Jansson C, Nyman D, Wahlberg P. Characteristics of erythema migrans in *Borrelia afzelii* and *Borrelia garinii* infections. *Scand J Infect Dis.* (2003) 35:31–3.
- 77. Logar M, Ruzic-Sabljic E, Maraspin V, Lotric-Furlan S, Cimperman J, Jurca T, et al. Comparison of erythema migrans caused by *Borrelia afzelii* and *Borrelia garinii*. *Infection* (2004) 32:15–9. doi: 10.1007/s15010-004-3042-z
- Dykhuizen DE, Brisson D, Sandigursky S, Wormser GP, Nowakowski J, Nadelman RB, et al. The propensity of different *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu stricto genotypes to cause disseminated infections in humans. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2008) 78:806–10.
- 79. Strle K, Jones KL, Drouin EE, Li X, Steere AC. Borrelia burgdorferi RST1 (OspC type A) genotype is associated with greater inflammation and more severe Lyme disease. Am J Pathol. (2011) 178:2726–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.02.018
- Coipan EC, Jahfari S, Fonville M, Oei GA, Spanjaard L, Takumi K, et al. Imbalanced presence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* s.l. multilocus sequence types in clinical manifestations of Lyme borreliosis. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2016) 42: 66–76. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.04.019
- Levene H. Genetic equilibrium when more than one ecological niche is available. Am Nat. (1953) 87:331–3.
- Gliddon C, Strobeck C. Necessary and sufficient conditions for multipleniche polymorphism in haploids. *Am Nat.* (1975) 109:233–5.
- Norman R, Bowers RG, Begon M, Hudson PJ. Persistence of tick-borne virus in the presence of multiple host species: tick reservoirs and parasitemediated competition. *J Theor Biol.* (1999) 200:111–8.
- Schmidt KA, Ostfeld RS. Biodiversity and the dilution effect in disease ecology. *Ecology* (2001) 82:609–19. doi: 10.1890/0012-9658(2001)082[0609:BATDEI]2.0.CO;2
- 85. States SL, Brinkerhoff RJ, Carpi G, Steeves TK, Folsom-O'Keefe C, DeVeaux M, et al. Lyme disease risk not amplified in a species-poor

vertebrate community: similar *Borrelia burgdorferi* tick infection prevalence and OspC genotype frequencies. *Infect Gen Evol.* (2014) 27:566–75. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2014.04.014

- Hyde JA. Borrelia burgdorferi keeps moving and carries on: a review of borrelial dissemination and invasion. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:114. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00114
- Caimano MJ, Drecktrah D, Kung F, Samuels DS. Interaction of the Lyme disease spirochete with its tick vector. *Cell Microbiol.* (2016) 18:919–27. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12609
- Yang XF, Pal U, Alani SM, Fikrig E, Norgard MV. Essential role for OspA/B in the life cycle of the Lyme disease spirochete. *J Exp Med.* (2004) 199:641–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.20031960
- Fikrig E, Pal U, Chen M, Anderson JF, Flavell RA. OspB antibody prevents Borrelia burgdorferi colonization of Ixodes scapularis. Infect Immun. (2004) 72:1755–9.
- Pal U, Li X, Wang T, Montgomery RR, Ramamoorthi N, Desilva AM, et al. TROSPA, an Ixodes scapularis receptor for *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Cell* (2004) 119:457–68. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.10.027
- Hubner A, Yang X, Nolen DM, Popova TG, Cabello FC, Norgard MV. Expression of *Borrelia burgdorferi* OspC and DbpA is controlled by a RpoN-RpoS regulatory pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2001) 98:12724–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.231442498
- Anguita J, Hedrick MN, Fikrig E. Adaptation of *Borrelia burgdorferi* in the tick and the mammalian host. *FEMS Microbiol Rev.* (2003) 27:493–504. doi: 10.1016/S0168-6445(03)00036-6
- Srivastava SY, de Silva AM. Reciprocal expression of ospA and ospC in single cells of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. J Bacteriol. (2008) 190:3429–33. doi: 10.1128/JB.00085-08
- 94. Shi Y, Dadhwal P, Li X, Liang FT. BosR functions as a repressor of the ospAB operon in *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e109307. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109307
- Ouyang Z, Zhou J, Norgard MV. Synthesis of RpoS is dependent on a putative enhancer binding protein Rrp2 in *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e96917. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0096917
- 96. Carrasco SE, Troxell B, Yang Y, Brandt SL, Li H, Sandusky GE, et al. Outer surface protein OspC is an antiphagocytic factor that protects *Borrelia burgdorferi* from phagocytosis by macrophages. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:4848–60. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01215-15
- Gilmore RD Jr, Kappel KJ, Dolan MC, Burkot TR, Johnson BJ. Outer surface protein C (OspC), but not P39, is a protective immunogen against a ticktransmitted *Borrelia burgdorferi* challenge: evidence for a conformational protective epitope in OspC. *Infect Immun.* (1996) 64:2234–9.
- Bockenstedt LK, Hodzic E, Feng S, Bourrel KW, de Silva A, Montgomery RR, et al. Borrelia burgdorferi strain-specific OspC-mediated immunity in mice. *Infect Immun.* (1997) 65:4661–7.
- Grimm D, Tilly K, Byram R, Stewart PE, Krum JG, Bueschel DM, et al. Outer-surface protein C of the Lyme disease spirochete: a protein induced in ticks for infection of mammals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:3142–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0306845101
- 100. Tilly K, Krum JG, Bestor A, Jewett MW, Grimm D, Bueschel D, et al. Borrelia burgdorferi OspC protein required exclusively in a crucial early stage of mammalian infection. Infect Immun. (2006) 74:3554–64. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01950-05
- 101. Xu Q, McShan K, Liang FT. Identification of an ospC operator critical for immune evasion of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Mol Microbiol*. (2007) 64:220–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05636.x
- Gilbert MA, Morton EA, Bundle SF, Samuels DS. Artificial regulation of ospC expression in *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Mol Microbiol*. (2007) 63:1259–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05593.x
- Tilly K, Bestor A, Jewett MW, Rosa P. Rapid clearance of Lyme disease spirochetes lacking OspC from skin. *Infect Immun.* (2007) 75:1517–9. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01725-06
- 104. Xu Q, McShan K, Liang FT. Essential protective role attributed to the surface lipoproteins of *Borrelia burgdorferi* against innate defences. *Mol Microbiol.* (2008) 69:15–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06264.x
- Liang FT, Jacobs MB, Bowers LC, Philipp MT. An immune evasion mechanism for spirochetal persistence in Lyme borreliosis. *J Exp Med.* (2002) 195:415–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.20011870

- 106. Liang FT, Yan J, Mbow ML, Sviat SL, Gilmore RD, Mamula M, et al. Borrelia burgdorferi changes its surface antigenic expression in response to host immune responses. Infect Immun. (2004) 72:5759–67. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.10.5759-5767.2004
- Norris SJ. Antigenic variation with a twist: the Borrelia story. *Mol Microbiol.* (2006) 60:1319–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05204.x
- Wilske B, Pfister HW. Lyme borreliosis research. Curr Opin Infect Dis. (1995) 8:137–44.
- Morrison TB, Weis JH, Weis JJ. Borrelia burgdorferi outer surface protein A (OspA) activates and primes human neutrophils. J Immunol. (1997) 158:4838–45.
- 110. Häupl T, Landgraf S, Netusil P, Biller N, Capiau C, Desmons P, et al. Activation of monocytes by three OspA vaccine candidates: lipoprotein OspA is a potent stimulator of monokines. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol.* (1997) 19:15–23.
- 111. Pal U, de Silva AM, Montgomery RR, Fish D, Anguita J, Anderson JF, et al. Attachment of *Borrelia burgdorferi* within Ixodes scapularis mediated by outer surface protein A. J Clin Invest. (2000) 106:561–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI9427
- 112. Schwan TG, Piesman J. Temporal changes in outer surface proteins A and C of the Lyme disease-associated spirochete, *Borrelia burgdorferi*, during the chain of infection in ticks and mice. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2000) 38:382–8.
- Ohnishi J, Piesman J, de Silva AM. Antigenic and genetic heterogeneity of Borrelia burgdorferi populations transmitted by ticks. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2001) 98:670–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.98.2.670
- 114. Rupprecht TA, Koedel U, Fingerle V, Pfister HW. The pathogenesis of Lyme neuroborreliosis: from infection to inflammation. *Mol Med.* (2008) 14:205–12. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.01.024
- Cassatt DR, Patel NK, Ulbrandt ND, Hanson MS. DbpA, but not OspA, is expressed by *Borrelia burgdorferi* during spirochetemia and is a target for protective antibodies. *Infect Immun.* (1998) 66:5379–87.
- 116. Brissette CA, Verma A, Bowman A, Cooley AE, Stevenson B. The Borrelia burgdorferi outer-surface protein ErpX binds mammalian laminin. Microbiology (2009) 155:863–72. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.024604-0
- 117. Önder Ö, Humphrey PT, McOmber B, Korobova F, Francella N, Greenbaum DC, et al. OspC is potent plasminogen receptor on surface of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. J Biol Chem. (2012) 287:16860–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.290775
- 118. Nogueira SV, Smith AA, Qin JH, Pal U. A surface enolase participates in *Borrelia burgdorferi*-plasminogen interaction and contributes to pathogen survival within feeding ticks. *Infect Immun.* (2012) 80:82–90. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05671-11
- Sun H. The interaction between pathogens and the host coagulation system. *Physiology* (2006) 21:281–8. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00059.2005
- Vieira ML, Nascimento AL. Interaction of spirochetes with the host fibrinolytic system and potential roles in pathogenesis. *Crit Rev Microbiol.* (2016) 42:573–87. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2014.972336
- 121. Plow EF, Herren T, Redlitz A, Miles LA, Hoover-Plow JL. The cell biology of the plasminogen system. *FASEB J.* (1995) 9:939–45.
- 122. Lagal V, Portnoï D, Faure G, Postic D, Baranton G. Borrelia burgdorferi sensu stricto invasiveness is correlated with OspC-plasminogen affinity. Microbes Infect. (2006) 8:645–52. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2005.08.017
- Pancholi V. Multifunctional alpha-enolase: its role in diseases. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2001) 58:902–20.
- Pancholi V, Fischetti VA. Alpha-enolase, a novel strong plasmin-(ogen) binding protein on the surface of pathogenic streptococci. J Biol Chem. (1998) 273:14503–15.
- 125. Bercic RL, Slavec B, Lavric M, Narat M, Bidovec A, Dovc P, et al. Identification of major immunogenic proteins of Mycoplasma synoviae isolates. *Vet Microbiol.* (2008) 127:147–54. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2007. 07.020
- Mundodi V, Kucknoor AS, Alderete JF. Immunogenic and plasminogenbinding surface-associated alpha-enolase of Trichomonas vaginalis. *Infect Immun.* (2008) 76:523–31. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01352-07
- 127. Pitarch A, Jimenez A, Nombela C, Gil C. Decoding serological response to Candida cell wall immunome into novel diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic candidates for systemic candidiasis by proteomic and bioinformatic analyses. *Mol Cell Proteom.* (2006) 5:79–96. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M500243-MCP200

- 128. Coleman JL, Gebbia JA, Piesman J, Degen JL, Bugge TH, Benach JL. Plasminogen is required for efficient dissemination of B. burgdorferi in ticks and for enhancement of spirochetemia in mice. *Cell* (1997) 89:1111–9.
- 129. Fuchs H, Wallich R, Simon MM, Kramer MD. The outer surface protein A of the spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi* is a plasmin(ogen) receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1994) 91:12594–8.
- Coleman JL, Roemer EJ, Benach JL. Plasmin-coated Borrelia burgdorferi degrades soluble and insoluble components of the mammalian extracellular matrix. Infect Immun. (1999) 67:3929–36.
- 131. Gebbia JA, Coleman JL, Benach JL. Borrelia spirochetes upregulate release and activation of matrix metalloproteinase gelatinase B (MMP-9) and collagenase 1 (MMP-1) in human cells. *Infect Immun.* (2001) 69:456–62. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.1.456-462.2001
- 132. Allal J, Thomas P, Mazzonelli J. Borrelia isolated from cerebrospinal fluid in a French case of Lyme disease. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (1986) 45:789–90.
- 133. Luft BJ, Steinman CR, Neimark HC, Muralidhar B, Rush T, Finkel MF, et al. Invasion of the central nervous system by *Borrelia burgdorferi* in acute disseminated infection. *JAMA* (1992) 267:1364–7.
- 134. Grab DJ, Perides G, Dumler JS, Kim KJ, Park J, Kim YV, et al. Borrelia burgdorferi, host-derived proteases, and the blood-brain barrier. Infect Immun. (2005) 73:1014–22. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.2.1014-10 22.2005
- Biegel D, Spencer DD, Pachter JS. Isolation and culture of human brain microvessel endothelial cells for the study of blood-brain barrier properties *in vitro. Brain Res.* (1995) 692:183–9.
- Coureuil M, Lécuyer H, Bourdoulous S, Nassif X. A journey into the brain: insight into how bacterial pathogens cross blood-brain barriers. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2017) 15:149–59. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.178
- 137. Szczepanski A, Furie MB, Benach JL, Lane BP, Fleit HB. Interaction between Borrelia burgdorferi and endothelium in vitro. J Clin Invest. (1990) 85:1637– 47. doi: 10.1172/JCI114615
- Comstock LE, Thomas DD. Penetration of endothelial cell monolayers by Borrelia burgdorferi. Infect Immun. (1989) 57:1626–8.
- 139. Grab DJ, Nyarko E, Nikolskaia OV, Kim YV, Dumler JS. Human brain microvascular endothelial cell traversal by *Borrelia burgdorferi* requires calcium signaling. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2009) 15:422–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009.02869.x
- 140. Livengood JA, Gilmore J. Invasion of human neuronal and glial cells by an infectious strain of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Microbes Infect*. (2006) 8:2832–40. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2006.08.014
- 141. Ma Y, Sturrock A, Weis JJ. Intracellular localization of *Borrelia burgdorferi* within human endothelial cells. *Infect Immun.* (1991) 59:671–8.
- 142. Girschick HJ, Huppertz HI, Russmann H, Krenn V, Karch H. Intracellular persistence of *Borrelia burgdorferi* in human synovial cells. *Rheumatol Int.* (1996) 16:125–32. doi: 10.1007/BF01409985
- Koedel U, Pfister HW. Lyme neuroborreliosis. Curr Opin Infect Dis. (2017) 30:101–7. doi: 10.1097/QCO.0000000000332
- 144. Garin C, Bujadoux C. Paralysie par les tiques. J Med Lyon (1922) 71:765-7.
- 145. Burgdorfer W, Barbour AG, Hayes SF, Benach JL, Grunwaldt E, Davis JP. Lyme disease: a tick-borne spirochetosis? *Science* (1982) 216:1317–9.
- 146. Pfister HW, Einhaupl K, Preac-Mursic V, Wilske B, Schierz G. The spirochetal etiology of lymphocytic meningoradiculitis of Bannwarth (Bannwarth's syndrome). J Neurol. (1984) 231:141–4.
- 147. Miklossy J. Chronic or late lyme neuroborreliosis: analysis of evidence compared to chronic or late neurosyphilis. Open Neurol J. (2012) 6:146–57. doi: 10.2174/1874205X01206010146
- 148. Alba MA, Espígol-Frigolé G, Prieto-González S, Tavera-Bahillo I, García-Martínez A, Butjosa M, et al. Central nervous system vasculitis: still more questions than answers. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2011) 9:437–48. doi: 10.2174/157015911796557920
- 149. Obel N, Dessau RB, Krogfelt KA, Bodilsen J, Andersen NS, Møller JK, et al. Long term survival, health, social functioning, and education in patients with European Lyme neuroborreliosis: nationwide population based cohort study. *BMJ* (2018) 361:k1998. doi: 10.1136/bmj.k1998
- 150. Kruger H, Heim E, Schuknecht B, Scholz S. Acute and chronic neuroborreliosis with and without CNS involvement: a clinical, MRI, and HLA study of 27 cases. J Neurol. (1991) 238:271–80.

- 151. Hansen K, Lebech AM. The clinical and epidemiological profile of Lyme neuroborreliosis in Denmark 1985–1990. A prospective study of 187 patients with *Borrelia burgdorferi* specific intrathecal antibody production. *Brain* (1992) 115:399–423.
- 152. Kruger H, Reuss K, Pulz M, Rohrbach E, Pflughaupt KW, Martin R, et al. Meningoradiculitis and encephalomyelitis due to *Borrelia burgdorferi*: a follow-up study of 72 patients over 27 years. *J Neurol.* (1989) 236:322–8.
- 153. Back T, Grunig S, Winter Y, Bodechtel U, Guthke K, Khati D, et al. Neuroborreliosis-associated cerebral vasculitis: long-term outcome and health-related quality of life. *J Neurol.* (2013) 260:1569–75. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-6831-4
- 154. Pearson S. On the radar: Lyme neuroborreliosis, an infectious cause of cerebral vasculitis. *QJM* (2015) 108:755. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcv043
- 155. Reik L Jr, Burgdorfer W, Donaldson JO. Neurologic abnormalities in Lyme disease without erythema chronicum migrans. *Am J Med.* (1986) 81:73–8.
- 156. Dupuis MJ. Multiple neurologic manifestations of *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection. *Rev Neurol.* (1988) 144:765–75.
- Roelcke U, Barnett W, Wilder-Smith E, Sigmund D, Hacke W. Untreated neuroborreliosis: Bannwarth's syndrome evolving into acute schizophrenialike psychosis. A case report. J Neurol. (1992) 239:129–31.
- van den Bergen HA, Smith JP, van der Zwan A. Lyme psychosis. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd (1993) 137:2098–100.
- 159. Stricker RB, Winger EE. Musical hallucinations in patients with Lyme disease. South Med J. (2003) 96:711–5. doi: 10.1097/01.SMJ.0000053458.21691.2E
- 160. Almeida OP, Lautenschlager NT. Dementia associated with infectious diseases. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2005) 17:S65–77.
- Hassett AL, Radvanski DC, Buyske S, Savage SV, Gara M, Escobar JI, et al. Role of psychiatric comorbidity in chronic Lyme disease. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2008) 59:1742–9. doi: 10.1002/art.24314
- Cameron D. Severity of Lyme disease with persistent symptoms. Insights from a double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Minerva Med.* (2008) 99:489–496.
- Miklossy J. Historic evidence to support a causal relationship between spirochetal infections and Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2015) 7:46. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00046
- Aucott JN. Posttreatment Lyme disease syndrome. Infect Dis Clin North Am. (2015) 29:309–23. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2015.02.012
- 165. Steere AC, Hutchinson GJ, Rahn DW, Sigal LH, Craft JE, DeSanna ET, et al. Treatment of the early manifestations of Lyme disease. *Ann Intern Med.* (1983) 99:22–26.
- Cerar D, Cerar T, Ruzic-Sabljic E, Wormser GP, Strle F. Subjective symptoms after treatment of early Lyme disease. *Am J Med.* (2010) 123:79–86. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.05.011
- 167. Nowakowski J, Nadelman RB, Sell R, McKenna D, Cavaliere LF, Holmgren D et al. Long-term follow-up of patients with culture-confirmed Lyme disease. *Am J Med.* (2003) 115:91–6. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9343(03)00308-5
- Marques A. Chronic lyme disease: a review. *Infect Dis Clin North Am.* (2008) 22:341–60. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2007.12.011
- Asch ES, Bujak DI, Weiss M, Peterson MG, Weinstein A. Lyme disease: an infectious and postinfectious syndrome. J Rheumatol. (1994) 21:454–61.
- 170. Aucott J, Morrison C, Munoz B, Rowe PC, Schwarzwalder A, West SK. Diagnostic challenges of early Lyme disease: lessons from a community case series. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2009) 9:79. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-9-79
- 171. Marques A, Telford SR III, Turk SP, Chung E, Williams C, Dardick K, et al. Xenodiagnosis to detect *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection: a first-in-human study. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2014) 58:937–45. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit939
- 172. Hodzic E, Imai D, Feng S, Barthold SW. Resurgence of persisting noncultivable *Borrelia burgdorferi* following antibiotic treatment in mice. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e86907. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086907
- 173. Bockenstedt LK, Gonzalez DG, Haberman AM, Belperron AA. Spirochete antigens persist near cartilage after murine Lyme borreliosis therapy. J Clin Invest. (2012) 122:2652–60. doi: 10.1172/JCI58813
- 174. Mygland A, Ljostad U, Fingerle V, Rupprecht T, Schmutzhard E, Steiner I, European Federation of Neurological S. EFNS guidelines on the diagnosis and management of European Lyme neuroborreliosis. *Eur J Neurol Off J Eur Fed Neurol Soc.* (2010) 17:e11–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009. 02862.x

- Shapiro ED. Borrelia burgdorferi (Lyme disease). Pediatr Rev. (2014) 35:500– 9. doi: 10.1542/pir.35-12-500
- Klempner MS, Baker PJ, Shapiro ED, Marques A, Dattwyler RJ, Halperin JJ, et al. Treatment trials for post-Lyme disease symptoms revisited. *Am J Med.* (2013) 126:665–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2013.02.014
- 177. Berende A, ter Hofstede HJ, Vos FJ, van Middendorp H, Vogelaar ML, Tromp M, et al. Randomized trial of longer-term therapy for symptoms attributed to Lyme disease. N Engl J Med. (2016) 374:1209–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1505425
- Kersten A, Poitschek C, Rauch S, Aberer E. Effects of penicillin, ceftriaxone, and doxycycline on morphology of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (1995) 39:1127–33.
- 179. Miklossy J, Kasas S, Zurn AD, McCall S, Yu S, McGeer PL. Persisting atypical and cystic forms of *Borrelia burgdorferi* and local inflammation in Lyme neuroborreliosis. *J Neuroinflammation* (2008) 5:1–18. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-5-40
- 180. Brorson Ø, Brorson S-H, Scythes J, MacAllister J, Wier A, Margulis L. Destruction of spirochete *Borrelia burgdorferi* round-body propagules (RBs) by the antibiotic tigecycline. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:18656–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0908236106
- 181. Feng J, Shi W, Zhang S, Zhang Y. Persister mechanisms in Borrelia burgdorferi: implications for improved intervention. Emerg Microbes Infect. (2015) 4:e51. doi: 10.1038/emi.2015.51
- 182. Sapi E, Theophilus PA, Pham TV, Burugu D, Luecke DF. Effect of RpoN, RpoS and LuxS pathways on the biofilm formation and antibiotic sensitivity of *Borrelia Burgdorferi. Eur J Microbiol Immunol.* (2016) 6:272–86. doi: 10.1556/1886.2016.00026
- Koo H, Allan RN, Howlin RP, Stoodley P, Hall-Stoodley L. Targeting microbial biofilms: current and prospective therapeutic strategies. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2017) 15:740–55. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.99
- 184. Hall-Stoodley L, Stoodley P. Evolving concepts in biofilm infections. Cell Microbiol. (2009) 11:1034–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2009.0 1323.x
- 185. Di Domenico EG, Toma L, Provot C, Ascenzioni F, Sperduti I, Prignano G, et al. Development of an *in vitro* Assay, Based on the BioFilm Ring Test®, for rapid profiling of biofilm-growing bacteria. *Front Microbiol.* (2016) 7:1429. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01429
- 186. Di Domenico EG, Farulla I, Prignano G, Gallo MT, Vespaziani M, Cavallo I, et al. Biofilm is a major virulence determinant in bacterial colonization of chronic skin ulcers independently from the multidrug resistant phenotype. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:E1077. doi: 10.3390/ijms18051077
- 187. Timmaraju VA, Theophilus PA, Balasubramanian K, Shakih S, Luecke DF, Sapi E. Biofilm formation by *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* (2015) 362:fnv120. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnv120
- 188. Allen HB. Alzheimer's Disease: assessing the role of spirochetes, biofilms, the immune system, and amyloid-β with regard to potential treatment and prevention. J Alzheimers Dis. (2016) 53:1271–6. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160388
- Donlan RM, Costerton WJ. Biofilms: survival mechanisms of clinically relevant microorganisms. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2002) 15:167–93. doi: 10.1128/ CMR.15.2.167-193.2002
- 190. MacDonald AB. Plaques of Alzheimer's disease originate from cysts of Borrelia burgdorferi, the Lyme disease spirochete. Med Hypotheses (2006) 67:592-600. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2006.02.035
- 191. Dunham-Ems SM, Caimano MJ, Pal U, Wolgemuth CW, Eggers CH, Balic A, et al. Live imaging reveals a biphasic mode of dissemination of *Borrelia burgdorferi* within ticks. *J Clin Invest.* (2009) 119:3652–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI39401
- 192. Kazmierczak MJ, Wiedmann M, Boor KJ. Alternative sigma factors and their roles in bacterial virulence. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.* (2005) 69:527–43. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.69.4.527-543.2005
- 193. Caimano M, Iyer R, Eggers C, Gonzalez C, Morton E, Gilbert M, et al. Analysis of the RpoS regulon in *Borrelia burgdorferi* in response to mammalian host signals provides insight into RpoS function during the enzootic cycle. *Mol Microbiol.* (2007) 65:1193–217. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05860.x
- 194. Yang XF, Alani SM, Norgard MV. The response regulator Rrp2 is essential for the expression of major membrane lipoproteins in *Borrelia burgdorferi*.
Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2003) 100:11001-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.18343 15100

- 195. Fisher MA, Grimm D, Henion AK, Elias AF, Stewart PE, Rosa PA, et al. Borrelia burgdorferi sigma54 is required for mammalian infection and vector transmission but not for tick colonization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2005) 102:5162–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408536102
- 196. Boardman BK, He M, Ouyang Z, Xu H, Pang X, Yang XF. Essential role of the response regulator Rrp2 in the infectious cycle of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Infect Immun.* (2008) 76:3844–53. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00467-08
- 197. Yin Y, Yang Y, Xiang X, Wang Q, Yang ZN, Blevins J, et al. Insight into the Dual functions of bacterial enhancer-binding protein Rrp2 of *Borrelia burgdorferi. J Bacteriol.* (2016) 198:1543–52. doi: 10.1128/JB.01010-15
- 198. Ouyang Z, Zhou J. The putative Walker A and Walker B motifs of Rrp2 are required for the growth of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Mol Microbiol*. (2017) 103:86–98. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13545
- 199. Favre-Bonté S, Chamot E, Köhler T, Romand JA, Van Delden C. Auto inducer production and quorum-sensing dependent phenotypes of Pseudomonas aeruginosa vary according to isolation site during colonization of incubated patients. J Sci BMC Microbiol. (2010) 8:623e33. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-7-33
- 200. McNab R, Ford SK, El-Sabaeny A, Barbieri B, Cook GS, Lamont RJ. LuxS-based signaling in Streptococcus gordonii: autoinducer 2 controls carbohydrate metabolism and biofilm formation with Porphyromonas gingivalis. J Bacteriol. (2003) 185:274–84. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.1.274-284.2003
- 201. Merritt J, Qi F, Goodman SD, Anderson MH, Shi W. Mutation of luxS affects biofilm formation in Streptococcus mutans. *Infect Immun.* (2003) 71:1972–1979. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.4.1972-1979.2003
- Cole SP, Harwood J, Lee R, She R, Guiney DG. Characterization of monospecies biofilm formation by Helicobacter pylori. *J Bacteriol.* (2004) 186:3124–32. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.10.3124-3132.2004
- 203. Wen ZT, Nguyen AH, Bitoun JP, Abranches J, Baker HV, Burne RA. Transcriptome analysis of LuxS-deficient Streptococcus mutans grown in biofilms. *Mol Oral Microbiol.* (2011) 26:2–18. doi: 10.1111/j.2041-1014.2010.00581.x
- 204. Narasimhan S, Santiago F, Koski RA, Brei B, Anderson JF, Fish D, et al. Examination of the *Borrelia burgdorferi* transcriptome in Ixodes scapularis during feeding. *J Bacteriol.* (2002) 184:3122–5. doi: 10.1128/JB.184.11.3122-3125.2002
- Stevenson B, Babb K. LuxS-mediated quorum sensing in *Borrelia burgdorferi*, the Lyme disease spirochete. *Infect Immun.* (2002) 70:4099–105. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.8.4099-4105.2002
- 206. Babb K, von Lackum K, Wattier RL, Riley SP, Stevenson B. Synthesis of autoinducer 2 by the Lyme disease spirochete, *Borrelia burgdorferi. J Bacteriol.* (2005) 187:3079–87. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.9.3079-3087.2005
- Arnold WK, Savage CR, Antonicello AD, Stevenson B. Apparent role for *Borrelia burgdorferi* LuxS during mammalian infection. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 83:1347–53. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00032-15
- 208. Steere AC, Malawista SE, Snydman DR, Shope RE, Andiman WA, Ross MR, et al. Lyme arthritis: an epidemic of oligoarticular arthritis in children and adults in three Connecticut communities. *Arthritis Rheum*. (1997) 20:7–17.
- 209. Rudenko N, Golovchenko M, Vancova M, Clark K, Grubhoffer L, Oliver JH Jr. Isolation of live *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato spirochaetes from patients with undefined disorders and symptoms not typical for Lyme borreliosis. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* (2016) 22:267.e9–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cmi.2015. 11.009
- Barthold SW, Hodzic E, Imai DM, Feng S, Yang S, Luft BJ. Ineffectiveness of tigecycline against persistent *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2010) 54:643–51. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00788-09
- 211. Feng J, Weitner M, Shi W, Zhang S, Zhang Y. Eradication of biofilmlike microcolony structures of *Borrelia burgdorferi* by daunomycin and

daptomycin but not mitomycin C in combination with doxycycline and cefuroxime. *Front Microbiol.* (2016) 7:62. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00062

- 212. Feng J, Auwaerter PG, Zhang Y. Drug combinations against *Borrelia burgdorferi* persisters *in vitro*: eradication achieved by using daptomycin, cefoperazone and doxycycline. *PLoS ONE* (2015) 10:e0117207. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117207
- Caskey JR, Embers ME. Persister development by Borrelia burgdorferi populations in vitro. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. (2015) 59:6288–95. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00883-15
- 214. Feng J, Zhang S, Shi W, Zhang Y. Activity of sulfa drugs and their combinations against stationary phase *B. burgdorferi in vitro*. *Antibiotics* (2017) 6:E10. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics6010010
- 215. Fallon BA, Keilp JG, Corbera KM, Petkova E, Britton CB, Dwyer E, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of repeated IV antibiotic therapy for Lyme encephalopathy. *Neurology* (2008) 70:992–1003. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000284604.61160.2d
- Cabello FC, Godfrey HP, Newman SA. Hidden in plain sight: Borrelia burgdorferi and the extracellular matrix. Trends Microbiol. (2007) 15:350–4. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2007.06.003
- 217. Lantos PM. Chronic lyme disease. Infect Dis Clin N Am. (2015) 325-40. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2015.02.006
- 218. Lantos PM, Auwaerter PG, Wormser GP. A systematic review of *Borrelia burgdorferi* morphologic variants does not support a role in chronic Lyme disease. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2014) 58:663–71. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit810
- 219. Stricker RB, Gaito A, Harris NS, et al. Coinfection in patients with Lyme disease: how big a risk? *Clin Infect Dis.* (2003) 37:1277-8. doi: 10.1086/378893
- Tokarz R, Jain K, Bennett A, Briese T, W. Ian Lipkin. Assessment of polymicrobial infections in ticks in New York State. *Vector Borne Zoo Dis.* (2010) 10:217–21. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2009.0036
- 221. Owen DC. Is Lyme disease always poly microbial? The jigsaw hypothesis. *Med Hypotheses* (2006) 67:860–4. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2006. 03.046
- 222. Di Domenico EG, Cavallo I, Bordignon V, Prignano G, Sperduti I, Gurtner A, et al. Inflammatory cytokines and biofilm production sustain Staphylococcus aureus outgrowth and persistence: a pivotal interplay in the pathogenesis of Atopic Dermatitis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:9573. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-2 421-1
- 223. Cavallo I, Di Domenico EG. Rapid profiling of *Borrelia burgdorferi* biofilm by the clinical Biofilm Ring Test(R). In: *Italian National Congress, Gruppo italiano per lo studio della Malattia di Lyme.* (2018) Milan (Accessed June 9, 2018).
- 224. Sharma B, Brown AV, Matluck NE, Hu LT, Lewis K. Borrelia burgdorferi, the causative agent of lyme disease, forms drug-tolerant persister cells. Antimicrob Agents Chemother (2015) 59:4616–24. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00864–15

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Di Domenico, Cavallo, Bordignon, D'Agosto, Pontone, Trento, Gallo, Prignano, Pimpinelli, Toma and Ensoli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Antiphospholipid Syndrome and the Neurologist: From Pathogenesis to Therapy

Thomas Fleetwood¹, Roberto Cantello¹ and Cristoforo Comi^{1,2*}

¹ Section of Neurology, Department of Translational Medicine, University of Eastern Piedmont, Novara, Italy, ² Interdisciplinary Research Centre of Autoimmune Diseases, University of Eastern Piedmont, Novara, Italy

Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) is an autoimmune antibody-mediated condition characterized by thrombotic events and/or pregnancy morbidity in association with persistent positivity to antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL). The nervous system is frequently affected, as intracranial vessels are the most frequent site of arterial pathology. Over the course of years, many other neurological conditions not included in the diagnostic criteria, have been associated with APS. The pathogenic mechanisms behind the syndrome are complex and not fully elucidated. aPL enhance thrombosis, interfering with different pathways. Nevertheless, ischemic injury is not always sufficient to explain clinical features of the syndrome and immune-mediated damage has been advocated. This may be particularly relevant in the context of neurological complications. The reason why only a subgroup of patients develop non-criteria nervous system disorders and what determines the clinical phenotype are questions that remain open. The double nature, thrombotic and immunologic, of APS is also reflected by therapeutic strategies. In this review we summarize known neurological manifestations of APS, revisiting pathogenesis and current treatment options.

Keywords: APS, antiphospholipid syndrome, aPL, antiphospholipid antibodies, neurological manifestations, pathogenic mechanisms, therapy

INTRODUCTION

Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) is an autoimmune antibody-mediated disorder defined by the occurrence of thrombosis and/or pregnancy morbidity in presence of persistent antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL) (1). The estimated incidence of APS is approximately 5 cases every 100,000 subjects/year with a prevalence of 40–50 every 100,000 subjects (2). The diseases can occur alone (primary APS) or in the context of other autoimmune conditions, in particular systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), Sjögren's syndrome and rheumatoid arthritis (secondary APS). Veins, arteries and small vessels can all be affected by thrombosis, with deep veins of the legs and intracranial arteries being the most common sites of venous and arterial thrombosis, respectively. Pregnancy morbidity includes embryonic losses, fetal death, and premature birth. The diagnosis is made according to the updated international Sydney consensus criteria (**Table 1**) (1). However, patients with persistent aPL may present with clinical manifestations not included in the criteria (the so called "non-criteria" symptoms), among which thrombocytopenia, hemolytic anemia, cardiac valve disease, renal microangiopathy, livedo reticularis, and neurologic disturbances other than ischemic cerebrovascular accidents (CVA) (3).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tatiana Koudriavtseva, Istituto Nazionale del Cancro Regina Flena. Italv

Reviewed by:

Noriko Isobe, Kyushu University, Japan Danieli Castro Oliveira De Andrade, Universidade de São Paulo, Brazil Luca Prosperini, Azienda Ospedaliera San Camillo-Forlanini, Italy

*Correspondence:

Cristoforo Comi cristoforo.comi@med.uniupo.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 31 July 2018 Accepted: 06 November 2018 Published: 26 November 2018

Citation:

Fleetwood T, Cantello R and Comi C (2018) Antiphospholipid Syndrome and the Neurologist: From Pathogenesis to Therapy. Front. Neurol. 9:1001. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01001

109

In this paper we summarize current concepts regarding the pathogenesis of APS, reviewing neurological clinical features and related therapeutic implications.

PATHOGENESIS OF APS: THROMBOSIS AND OTHER MECHANISMS

Clinical manifestations in APS are associated with aPL presence. aPL, namely lupus anticoagulant (LA), anti-cardiolipin (aCL), anti-\beta2-glycoprotein-I (anti-\beta2-GPI), are an heterogeneous group of auto-antibodies directed against phospholipid binding proteins (4). The current hypothesis is that susceptible individuals develop aPL upon exposure to an external trigger, such as an infective agent, through a mechanism of molecular mimicry (2). β2-GPI, one of the main antigens recognized by aPL, is a plasma protein composed of five domains (I-V) (5). Circulating β 2-GPI presents a circular form, in which epitopes present in domain I and recognized by B-cells are hidden. Upon binding to an anionic phospholipid surface, β 2-GPI undergoes a conformational change exposing the cryptic epitopes (6). Oxidative stress seems to enhance the immune reaction, leading to the formation of disulfide bonds in domain I that further increase its immunogenic potential (7). Prevalence of aPL in the general population is around 1–5% (8) but only a minority of subjects develops APS, suggesting that the presence of autoantibodies alone is not sufficient to cause pathology. Following aPL formation, a "second hit" thus is necessary. It has been demonstrated that β2-GPI only binds its ApoE receptor 2 (ApoER2) when vessel endothelial cells become activated (9), inducing dimerization of the receptor and activation of intracellular signaling. A number of conditions that increase oxidative stress, including infection, malignancy, pregnancy and smoking, may act as triggers for endothelium priming (10, 11). The mechanisms through which aPL enhance thrombosis is complex and in part still to be understood. Different mediators are likely to be involved, among which endothelium, platelets, complement, and innate immune systems (9) (Figure 1). First, aPL stimulate the expression of proadhesive, procoagulant, and proinflammatory molecules. Tissue factor (TF) is a key component of the extrinsic coagulation pathway, implicated in the activation of thrombin, that becomes exposed upon vessel injury. aPL enhance surface expression of TF on endothelial cells by binding to annexin A2 and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and activating the nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) signaling pathway (12-14). aPL also seem to interact directly with monocytes and neutrophils, inducing mitochondrial dysfunction and subsequent expression of TF and proinflammatory tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) (15). Annexin A5 is a protein involved in many biological processes. On endothelial cells it binds to phosphatidylserine molecules, forming a shield that inhibits the activation of procoagulant complexes. In vitro studies have shown that aPL binding to annexin A5 disrupts the shield leading to thrombosis (16). Endothelial cells also contribute to modulate the activity of vessel wall muscular cells through the production of nitric oxide by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS). In murine models, aPL inhibit the

activity of eNOS (17). This can lead to impaired regulation of vascular tone, increase in superoxide and peroxynitrite, and cell adhesion (18, 19). Confirming this hypothesis, APS patients have reduced plasma levels of nitric oxide compared to controls (20). Platelets play a pivotal role in thrombus formation. B2-GPI binds to the von Willebrand factor (vWF) receptor glycoprotein Iba and to the ApoER2 on the platelet surface inducing the release of thromboxane A2 and enhancing aggregation and adhesiveness (21). Interestingly, binding of aPL to platelet membrane phospholipids leads to activation and possible dysregulation of serotonin metabolism, which could be involved in the pathogenesis of aPL-mediated migraine (22). Some authors have also identified anti-platelet antibodies in the setting of APS (23). aPL can activate the classical complement pathway, inducing production of C5a, which in turn can bind to neutrophils and stimulate the expression of TF (24). Previous studies have also suggested that aPL impair thrombolysis by interfering with tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and plasmin (25). Despite the amount of evidence gathered over the course of years, thrombosis alone is perhaps not sufficient to explain all of the clinical effects of aPL. Direct binding of aPL to nervous system antigens has been proposed to explain some neurologic manifestations of APS, which may be mediated by inflammation and neurodegeneration (26, 27). An experimental model of APS (eAPS) can be obtained by immunizing normal mice with β2GPI, therefore inducing aPL and typical clinical features of APS (28). Interestingly, in eAPS mice, long-term exposition to aPL also leads to behavioral hyperactivity and decline in cognitive performances (29, 30), which resolve after elimination of aPL through ultraviolet irradiation (26). A proposed mechanism of neuronal injury focuses on the disruption of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), secondary to diffuse endothelial dysfunction caused by aPL binding (31). Katzav et al. have demonstrated impaired integrity of the BBB and accumulation of aPL in cortical and inhibitory hippocampal neurons of immunized mice (32), which may be linked to behavioral changes and cognitive impairment. Furthermore, in a previous study eAPS mice displayed higher brain levels of proinflammatory TNF- α and prostaglandin E (PGE) and lower levels of thrombin inhibitors compared to controls (33). Treatment with aspirin and enoxaparin ameliorated concentrations of TNF-a, PGE and thrombin inhibitors, as well as behavioral patterns. An interesting correlation between coagulation and autoimmunity has been investigated in eAPS mice carrying the factor V Leiden mutation (FVL), either in homozygosis (FVL^{Q/Q}) or in heterozygosis (FVL^{Q/-}). Induced aPL levels were higher in $FVL^{Q/Q}$ mutated mice compared to $FVL^{Q/-}$ and controls, as well as the burden of behavioral and cognitive impairment and of neurodegenerative changes on histological examination (34). It is known from previous studies that aPL have the potential to bind to myelin, brain ependyma and choroid epithelium epitopes in the animal model (35). A direct interaction between aPL and specific, yet still unidentified, basal ganglia epitopes, may lead to the development of movement disorders in APS patients. Supporting this hypothesis Dale et al. in 2011 demonstrated binding of IgG from the serum of pediatric APS patients with chorea to neuronal cell-surface antigens of cultured neuronal cells with

TABLE 1 | Revised classification criteria for APS [adapted from Miyakis et al. (1)].

Clinical criteria (one or more of the following):

VASCULAR THROMBOSIS

 One or more clinical episodes of arterial, venous, or small vessel thrombosis, in any tissue or organ.

PREGNANCY MORBIDITY

- One or more unexplained deaths of a morphologically normal fetus at or beyond the 10th week of gestation
- One or more premature births of a morphologically normal neonate before the 34th week of gestation because of eclampsia or severe preeclampsia (placental insufficiency).
- Three or more unexplained consecutive spontaneous abortions before the 10th week of gestation.

LABORATORY CRITERIA (ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING):

- Lupus anticoagulant (LA) in plasma, on two or more occasions at least 12 weeks apart, detected according to the guidelines of the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis.
- Anticardiolipin antibody (aCL) of IgG and/or IgM isotype in serum or plasma, present in medium or high titer (i.e., >40 GPL or MPL, or >the 99th percentile), on two or more occasions, at least 12 weeks apart, measured by a standardized ELISA.
- Anti-beta-2-glycoprotein-I antibody (anti-β2-GPI) of IgG and/or IgM isotype in serum or plasma (in titer > the 99th percentile), present on two or more occasions, at least 12 weeks apart, measured by a standardized ELISA.

dopaminergic characteristics (36). Furthermore it has been shown that aPL can impair GABA receptor activity and induce depolarization of synaptoneurosomes, disrupting neuronal function by acting on nerve terminals (37, 38), with possible implications in APS-associated epileptogenesis. Energetic dysfunction in neuronal cells and altered neurotransmission may also play a role in APS pathology, since it has been demonstrated that aPL from patients with neurological involvement also bind to adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (39).

NEUROLOGICAL MANIFESTATIONS OF APS

The nervous system is a major target of APS. This appeared clear since the first description of the syndrome by Hughes in 1983 in which he described CVA and transverse myelitis (40). Although thrombotic damage has been advocated to explain many neurologic manifestations, direct immune-mediated processes may also be involved (41). Neurologic symptoms have been therefore classified in thrombotic and non-thrombotic according to the supposed primary pathogenic mechanism (**Table 2**) (42). The reason why some patients develop neurological symptoms is unknown as well as what determines the site of lesion (e.g., central vs. peripheral nervous system) and the clinical phenotype. Possible explanations may be related to antibody subtypes, individual susceptibility or even genetic predisposition.

Cerebrovascular Disease

Acute ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack (TIA) are the most common manifestations of arterial pathology in APS (2). According to the Euro-Phospholipid Project Study Group the cumulative prevalence of stroke and TIA in APS patients are

19.8 and 11.1%, respectively, (43). On the other hand, aPL may be detected in up to 13.5% of stroke patients (44), with higher rates in young subjects. Moreover, age at onset in aPL-positive patients is anticipated. A previous study on 128 patients with CVA and aPL showed a mean age was 46 years (45). It has been suggested that APS accounts for over 20% of cases in the young population (46). A 2015 systematic review of 43 studies showed that the presence of aPL in subjects under the age of 50 increased the risk for thrombotic cerebrovascular events by 5.48-fold (47). The association between aPL and stroke incidence in older patients is less clear, due to the higher prevalence of other vascular risk factors (48). Clinical manifestations depend on the site and entity of the lesion. In a sequence of 110 SLE and non-SLE aPLpositive patients undergoing neuroradiological evaluation, the most common finding was large infarcts (22%), followed by white matter changes (17%), small cortical infarcts (10%), and lacunar infarcts (9%) (49). In a cohort of 55 APS patients, 25 of which suffered an ischemic stroke, the most common site of occlusion was the middle cerebral artery (31%) (50). In situ thrombosis is thought to be the most frequent pathogenic mechanism, whereas in other cases, cardiac embolisms can arise from involvement of the cardiac valvular apparatus, with thickening of valve leaflets by deposition of immune complexes (Liebman-Sacks endocarditis) (51). Besides stem or branch occlusion of intracranial arteries, a vasculitis-like pattern, with multiple sites of narrowing and dilation has also been described through arteriography (52). Alterations of extracranial arteries appear to be less frequent (52), though early atherosclerosis seems to affect APS patients (53), and some authors have proposed a direct role of the autoantibodies through oxidative damage (54). Although rare, cerebral venous thrombosis (CVT) can complicate APS or, in some cases, be the presenting symptom (55). Presence of aPL in non-SLE patients with CVT has been reported in previous studies (56). aCL positivity may be found in 7-22% of patients (51). APS accounts for \sim 6–17% of all CVT cases, being one of the most frequent prothrombotic conditions associated (57). Other vascular conditions have also been reported in association with APS, including Sneddon's syndrome and reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome (RCVS). Sneddon's syndrome is a rare non-inflammatory thrombotic vasculopathy, characterized by livedo reticularis and recurrent cerebral infarctions (53). Other clinical manifestations include headache, seizures and cognitive decline (58). Details of the pathogenetic mechanisms are still to be clarified but non-inflammatory thrombotic vasculopathy is seen in medium- and small-sized arteries in the brain and skin (59). Indeed, neuroradiological findings show that leukoaraiosis and small lacunar infarcts are more common than infarcts in the territory of large cerebral arteries (60). Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome (RCVS) is a neurological disorder marked by severe headaches variably associated with seizures, ischemic stroke, and subarachnoid hemorrhage (61). The cause has been related to a possible disturbance in the regulation of cerebrovascular tone (62).

Headache

Headache, specifically in the form of migraine, is the most common neurologic symptom of APS patients, with an estimated



determined by both mechanisms.

prevalence of 20.2% (43). Indeed, aPL antibodies are more frequently found in migraineurs than in age-matched controls (63). However, given its high prevalence in the general population, it is difficult to establish whether APS is a risk factor for developing migraine or if this represents a comorbid condition. Previous CVA represent a strong risk factor for developing migraine. However, not all patients have a positive history for stroke or TIA, which suggests non-ischemic mechanisms (64). On the contrary some authors have found long-standing migraine to be a risk factor for stroke in APS patients (65). Further studies are necessary to elucidate such interplay. Notably, APS-associated migraine may be difficult to control with classic analgesic regimens (66).

Seizures and Epilepsy

APS seems to confer a higher risk of developing seizures, with an estimated prevalence of $\sim 8\%$ (67), which may further increase in APS secondary to SLE (68). All forms of epilepsy may be seen, including subclinical forms, determined by the presence of abnormal electroencephalography findings alone (46). It has been suggested that 20% of idiopathic juvenile epilepsy cases may be associated with aPL (69). According to existing studies, previous CVA have been identified has the most solid risk factor

for developing seizures (68). It is therefore easy to speculate that the most plausible pathogenic mechanism is ischemic damage to brain tissue, leading to the formation of cortical epileptogenic foci (64). However, seizures may also develop in structurally normal brains, suggesting an antibody-mediated mechanism (70).

Movement Disorders

Movement disorders are a possible, though rare, neurological manifestations in the setting of APS. Chorea in particular occurs in 1.3-4.5% of patients (71), and may be the first symptom of the syndrome (72, 73). Other less frequently reported conditions include parkinsonism (corticobasal-like syndrome and progressive supranuclear palsy phenotype), dystonia, ballismus, paroxysmal dyskinesias, tremor, tic, myoclonus, cerebellar ataxia (41). Mixed clinical presentations have also been described (74). The pathogenesis of movement disorders in the setting of APS is matter of debate. On the one hand, cerebral infarctions and white matter changes on MRI suggest a thrombo-occlusive mechanism, which could account for the majority of cases (51, 75). On the other, immune-mediated attack against basal ganglia epitopes has been suggested and reported in some cases (41). No specific correlations between the type of antibody and clinical features have been reported

TABLE 2 | Neurological manifestations of APS.

Thrombotic	Non-thrombotic
Acute ischemic stroke	Headache
 Transient ischemic attack (TIA) 	 Seizures and epilepsy
Cerebral venous thrombosis (CVT)	 Movement disorders
 Sneddon's syndrome 	 Multiple sclerosis-like disease
Reversible cerebral	Transverse myelitis
vasoconstriction syndrome (RCVS)	Cognitive impairment and dementia
	 Neuropsychiatric symptoms
	 Peripheral neuropathy
	Autonomic dysfunction

(41). Nevertheless, it is likely that genetic predisposition might partially explain phenotypic variability, in analogy to what was reported in Parkinson's disease (76).

Multiple Sclerosis-Like Disease

Overlap of clinical and laboratory findings of multiple sclerosis (MS) and SLE have been described long ago, leading to the proposal of a hybrid condition named "lupoid sclerosis" (77, 78). Diagnostic criteria, as well as the role of anti-nuclear antibodies (ANA) and aPL are still matter of debate (79). Several studies have provided different estimates of aPL prevalence in definite MS patients, ranging from 2 to 88% (80), with higher titers observed during exacerbations of the disease (81). aCL and antiβ2GPI appear to be more prevalent compared to LA, although the latter have been studied to a lesser extent and the real prevalence remains to be clarified (80). Some authors have suggested that aPL may alter the integrity of the BBB and facilitate the access of immune cells to the central nervous system (CNS) compartment (81, 82). APS can also present with symptoms resembling MS, including visual, sensitive or motor deficits with a relapsing remitting course, with similar MRI T2 lesions (83-87). This condition is referred to as MS-like disease (64). Indeed, the differential diagnosis between these two conditions may be challenging. Acute onset of atypical MS symptoms, coexistence of other typically APS-related neurological manifestations (for example headache or epilepsy), connective tissue-like features or a history of thrombosis, pregnancy morbidity should orientate toward APS (88, 89). Neuroimaging studies may also help in the differential diagnosis. APS lesions on MRI are smaller, frequently localized in the subcortical area, are stable over time and may also improve with anticoagulation therapy (80, 90). Normal cell count and absence of oligoclonal bands on CSF analysis also suggests APS (91). Some authors have suggested that aPL may alter the integrity of the BBB and facilitate the access of immune cells to the central nervous system (CNS) compartment (81, 82).

Transverse Myelitis

Transverse myelitis (TM) is an inflammatory condition affecting the gray and white matter of the spinal cord (92). Symptoms include motor and sensory level deficits and sphincter abnormalities. Estimated prevalence in APS is around 0.4–4% (71, 93). Although the exact pathogenesis is unsure, vasculitis and arterial thrombosis resulting in ischemic cord necrosis have been suggested (89). Furthermore, APS has been described in overlap with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder (NMOSD) (94, 95), another autoimmune condition characterized by recurrent episodes of optic neuritis and longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis (that is, extended over 3 or more spinal cord segments) and positivity for anti-aquaporin-4 (anti-AQP4) or anti-myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (anti-MOG) (96). Therefore, some authors suggest screening APS patients presenting with optic neuritis or myelitis for NMO-associated autoantibodies (95).

Cognitive Impairment and Dementia

A high percentage of patients with primary APS (which may reach 42-80%) develop some degree of cognitive impairment, usually with a subcortical pattern (64, 97). In some cases, deficits may even precede the diagnosis of APS, as demonstrated in a study by Jacobson et al. on aPL-positive non-elderly subjects who displayed differences in executive functioning, verbal learning and memory, and visuospatial ability compared to age- and education-matched controls (98). Dementia frequency has been estimated around 2.5% in APS patients (71). MRI studies have shown a high burden of white matter lesions in APS patients with cognitive impairment (99) resembling multi-infarct dementia. However, vascular damage may not be the only mechanism. Findings of degenerative rather than multi-infarct dementia have also been described in aPL-positive elderly subjects (100). Other studies and a meta-analysis have underlined a strong association with aCL antibodies (101). Furthermore, some animal models showed that cognitive dysfunction can be induced by intraventricular injection of neuronal-binding antibodies from APS patients (26), while other failed to demonstrate an association with ischemic lesions (102). Such findings support the idea of a direct effect of aPL on congnition. aPL-mediated dysregulation of the dopaminergic system has also been proposed (103). Given the clinical overlap, MS-like disease should also be considered in the differential diagnosis.

Neuropsychiatric Symptoms

Psychiatric symptoms, including psychosis, mania, depression, bipolar disorders, obsessive-compulsive disorders, and schizophrenia have been described in APS patients (64). Older age, cerebral lesions, and triple aPL positivity (i.e., anti- β 2-GPI, aCL, and LA) are considered risk factors (104). A high prevalence of aPL has been described in patients with psychosis, though such finding must be interpreted carefully as antipsychotic medications are though to induce aPL and aCL in particular (66).

Peripheral Neuropathy

A small study by Santos et al. in 2010 has investigated the involvement of the peripheral nervous system in APS (105). The most frequent findings were sensori-motor neuropathy and isolated carpal tunnel syndrome. Most patients were asymptomatic and showed no sign of pathology upon physical examination. The underlying pathogenic mechanism is not clear, and may be linked to thrombosis of the vasa nervorum, vasculitis or even targeting of lipidic components of myelin by aPL. Reports of Guillain-Barré syndrome in APS patients support this hypothesis (106).

Autonomic Dysfunction

Several reports exist of autonomic dysfunction in the context of APS. A 2017 work by Schofield describes the clinical findings in 22 patients with autonomic dysfunction as the initial symptom of APS (107). Manifestations included postural tachycardia syndrome, neurocardiogenic syncope, inappropriate sinus tachycardia, labile hypertension, complex regional pain syndrome, severe gastrointestinal dysmotility, and neurogenic bladder, with 45% of subjects presenting more than one disorder. Reduction in autonomic and sensory small fibers, assessed by skin punch biopsy was widespread among subjects. Ten patients (45%) subsequently developed arterial thrombosis, of which 8 (36%) presented with stroke, TIA, or amaurosis fugax. Pathogenesis of small fiber dysfunction may derive either from microthrombosis or from direct antibody binding to neuronal epitopes leading to nerve dysfunction. The latter hypothesis is supported by reported improvement of symptoms with immune modulatory therapy (107).

TREATMENT: CURRENT CONCEPTS

To date, antithrombotic therapy represents the cornerstone of APS management. This is primarily based on vitamin K antagonists (VKA), generally warfarin (108). The high risk of thrombosis recurrence, which can be seen in 5-16% of subjects (109), warrants long-term anticoagulation. In the acute phase, ischemic cerebrovascular events are managed according to clinical standards as for patients without APS. Reports of intravenous thrombolysis in APS patients who develop acute ischemic stroke date back to 1997 (110). aPLinduced thrombocytopenia or prolongation of prothrombin time are issues to be considered before starting treatment (111). Primary endovascular thrombectomy may be considered as an alternative in these patients (112). Anticoagulation with warfarin and INR 2-3 is the most common strategy for secondary thromboprophylaxis (113). Risk stratification combining antibody profile and comorbidities could help to identify patients needing a more aggressive treatment but to date no model has been validated (3). Although no strong evidence exists in this sense, long-term antiplatelet therapy with low-doses aspirin may be beneficial in addition to warfarin (114). Recurrence of thrombosis frequently depends from inadequate anticoagulation (115), sometimes linked to aPL artifactual prolongation of prothrombin time. Nevertheless, in a series of 66 APS patients treated to a target INR of 3.5 a recurrence rate of 9.1/100 patient-years was detected, with recurrences often affecting the same vascular bed as the original thrombosis (116). Due to the lack of solid evidence, management of recurrences is not standardized and may include higher-intensity warfarin therapy (INR 3-4), the addition of low-dose aspirin or the use of low-molecular-weight heparin (3). Prophylactic treatment in asymptomatic aPL carriers is matter of debate. The risk of a first thrombotic event is likely liked to the presence of other concomitant factors (117-120). The use of low-dose antiplatelet therapy for primary prophylaxis is controversial, due to the lack of solid evidence of efficacy and some authors suggest management following guidelines for prevention of cardiovascular disease in the general population (3). Under specific conditions, immunosuppressive treatment may be an option in addition to antithrombotic therapy. The paradigm of this is represented by catastrophic APS (CAPS), a rare condition characterized by widespread small vessel thrombosis and subsequent multiorgan failure in the context of APS (2) with a mortality rate up to 37% (121). In the case of CAPS, aggressive treatment is recommended and consists of a "triple therapy" composed by anticoagulants plus glucocorticoids plus plasma exchange (PE) and/or intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG) (122). Rituximab (RTX) is an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody that depletes B-cells, currently used to treat several autoimmune diseases and hematologic malignancies. B-cells seem to play a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of APS (123). Several case reports describe the use of RTX in APS patients, suggesting a beneficial role in the management of hemolytic anemia (124), thrombocytopenia (125) (126), thrombotic microangiopathy (127). Despite no strong evidence, RTX may be used in patients with thrombotic relapses while on AVK and adequate INR, especially in the setting of APS secondary to SLE (128-130). No standard treatment exists for non-thrombotic neurological manifestations of APS and available evidence mostly derives from retrospective non-randomized trials or case reports (64). Besides cerebrovascular events, anticoagulation has proven effective in the treatment of conditions that are not primarily thrombotic, including migraine, transverse myelitis, and neuropsychiatric disturbances (131-133). Improvement of cognitive performance with anticoagulation therapy has also been described (46). Notably, response to anticoagulation may help distinguish APS from atypical presentations of CNS inflammatory disorders (80). The combined use of neuroleptics and antiplatelet or anticoagulant therapy, with or without steroids, can help control aPL-associated chorea (74, 134, 135). On the other hand the potential role of aPL-mediated damage provides the rational for the use of immunosuppressive therapy (136). Reports describe clinical remission of pediatric aPLassociated chorea achieved with mycophenolate mofetil, an immunosuppressant agent primarily used to prevent rejection in organ transplant induced (137), and IVIG (138). Steroids have been successfully used to treat psychotic symptoms in the context of APS (139). Furthermore, a 2013 non-randomized pilot study (RITAPS) demonstrated partial or complete remission of cognitive dysfunction in a small sample of patients treated with RTX (140).

Future Directions in the Treatment of APS Antithrombotic Agents

Direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs) represent in interesting possible alternative to warfarin, especially considering the young age of many patients and the need to monitor INR with VKA. Furthermore, it has been suggested that the therapeutic effect of DOACs may go beyond anticoagulation and exert an anti-inflammatory and anti-angiogenic effect (141). Many case reports and case series have been published on the use of DOACs (mainly rivaroxaban) in APS, with heterogeneous

results (142). However, only a few solid randomized controlled trials are available. In 2016 the RAPS trial by Cohen et al. failed to demonstrate the non-inferiority of rivaroxaban over warfarin in APS patients (143). Indeed, questions have been raised regarding thrombotic risk and safety issues related to DOACs, especially in triple-positive patients (144). Given the lack of solid evidence, the 15th International Congress on Antiphospholipid Antibodies Task Force on Antiphospholipid Syndrome Treatment Trends in 2017 did not support the use of DOACs instead of warfarin (142). Another trial by Pengo et al. on high-risk APS patients treated with rivaroxaban or warfarin was prematurely terminated because of the higher rate of thromboembolic events and major bleeding in the rivaroxaban group (145). Although other studies are currently ongoing investigating the effect of rivaroxaban and other DOACs, warfarin represents at the moment the only approved anticoagulant agent. Platelet activation and aggregation represents a further target for therapeutic agents. Glycoprotein IIb/IIIa (GPIIb/IIIa) receptor inhibitors are a relatively new class of antiplatelet drugs compared to aspirin, mainly used in the field of coronary disease. In murine models aPL-enhanced thrombosis can be inhibited by infusion of a GPIIb/IIIa antagonist monoclonal antibody and GPIIb/IIIa-deficient mice are resistant to aPL-mediated thrombosis (146, 147). Management of acute myocardial infarction in APS can represent a challenge due to the high risk of restenosis after angioplasty (148). Abciximab, a monoclonal antibody targeting GPIIb/IIIa on platelets, has been proposed as a promising alternative to stenting (149, 150). However, Abciximab is not approved for the management of cerebrovascular disease due to the negative results of previous studies (151) limiting its possible use in aPL-ischemic stroke.

Agents Targeting Inflammation

Several agents with anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative properties may also prove beneficial in APS. Among them, one of the most studied is hydroxichloroquine (HCQ), which has been used for the treatment of SLE for many years. Available data show a potential role in the inhibition of toll-like receptors (TLRs) (152), and reduction of proinflammatory IL-1, TNF- α , and IL-2 (153). HCQ may also target the coagulation pathway by inhibiting platelet aggregation (154) and preventing the disruption of the annexin A5 shield by anti-B2-GPI antibodies (155). Interestingly, a 2013 non-randomized study by Schmidt-Tanguy et al. demonstrated a lower rate of recurrence of thrombosis in APS patients treated with oral anticoagulation plus HCQ vs. oral anticoagulation alone (156). Other potential agents include N-Acetylcysteine (NAC) and mitochondrial cofactor coenzyme Q10 (9). Statins, a class of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors commonly used to treat dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis, have shown a potential to inhibit aPL-mediated thrombogenesis and modulate the proinflammatory milieu in APS, and both in vitro and in vivo, through the downregulation of the expression of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , TNF- α , and interferon (IFN)-α (157, 158).

Monoclonal Antibodies

Belimumab (BEL) is a monoclonal antibody directed against the B-cell activating factor (BAFF or BLyS) which promotes B-cell survival and differentiation, approved for unresponsive SLE. A report by Yazici et al. described its use in two primary APS patients with pulmonary and skin manifestations, respectively. One of the patients showed partial benefit while the other complete remission of symptoms, while aPL profile remained unchanged (159). On the contrary, a report by Sciascia et al. demonstrated disappearance of aPL in three patients with APS secondary to SLE treated with belimumab (160). Eculizumab is a monoclonal antibody directed against the C5 fraction of complement approved for the treatment of paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria and atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. To date a series of case reports have been published regarding its use in APS, specifically in the setting of CAPS and post-transplantation renal thrombotic microangiopathy, with encouraging results (161-170).

Other Agents

Sirolimus is a macrolide with inhibiting properties on the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a kinase involved in many signaling pathways related to cellular growth, proliferation, and survival (112). Previous studies have highlighted the possibility of the involvement of mTOR in the genesis of vascular stenosis in the context of endothelial injury (171, 172). Vascular cellular infiltrates and changes in the vessels intima and media layers have been observed in APS patients, especially in the context of CAPS (110, 111), suggesting a vasculopathic pathogenic mechanism. In a 2014 publication Canaud et al. described a series of patients with APS nephropathy undergoing transplantation. Interestingly, those receiving sirolimus had no recurrence of vascular lesions and showed decreased vascular proliferation on biopsy (173). Ongoing researches aim at identifying other therapeutic targets, including TLR 4 inhibition, TF inhibition, protease-activated receptor (PAR) antagonists, intracellular signaling blockers, and tolerogenic dendritic cells (142).

CONCLUSIONS

APS is a rare and heterogeneous condition the neurologist may have to deal with. The diagnosis is not easy and a high level of suspicion must be held. APS should always be considered in young patients with CVA, especially in the absence of other vascular risk factors. Moreover, publications from the past decades have shown that many neurologic disorders not comprised in the original description by Hughes may harbor the disease. Elements such as autoimmune and connective tissue comorbidities, a positive history for obstetrical complications and refractoriness to standard therapy may guide the neurologist toward the correct diagnosis. A great amount of research aims at clarifying the complex etiopathogenesis of APS but many aspects remain obscure. The mechanism behind aPL-mediated pathology appears to be strongly, but not exclusively, thrombotic. Immune-mediated damage may be the key to some aPL-related neurologic manifestations.

What favors the attack against nervous structures and what lies beneath the great phenotypic variability even among neurological presentations are open questions for researchers in the near future. On the one hand, mechanisms of immunological surveillance might be involved, as it was demonstrated in other more common forms of nervous system autoimmunity (174). On the other, genetic variability in neurobiological pathways may be worth careful investigation (76, 175). The double nature, thrombotic and immune-mediated, of APS is exemplified by current therapeutic strategies. Anticoagulation with warfarin represents at the moment the most effective therapy in the setting of thrombotic events. Anticoagulation has also been reported to reverse non-criteria neurologic manifestations that are not primarily thrombotic in their origin, further supporting the role of thrombosis in the pathogenesis of APS. On the other hand targeting the immune response through steroids, rituximab, IVIG or PE, can improve many non-criteria symptoms. A great number of other treatments are under investigation. DOACs represent an appealing alternative to warfarin, especially considering the young age of APS patients and the necessity of INR monitoring. Nevertheless,

REFERENCES

- Miyakis S, Lockshin MD, Atsumi T, Branch DW, Brey RL, Cervera R, et al. International consensus statement on an update of the classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). *J Thromb Haemost.* (2006) 4:295–306. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01753.x
- Schreiber K, Sciascia S, de Groot PG, Devreese K, Jacobsen S, Ruiz-Irastorza G, et al. Antiphospholipid syndrome. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2018) 4:18005. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.5
- Garcia D, Erkan D. Diagnosis and management of the antiphospholipid syndrome. N Eng J Med. (2018) 378:2010–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1705454
- Shoenfeld Y, Twig G, Katz U, Sherer Y. Autoantibody explosion in antiphospholipid syndrome. J Autoimmun. (2008) 30:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2007.11.011
- de Laat B, Mertens K, de Groot PG. Mechanisms of disease: antiphospholipid antibodies-from clinical association to pathologic mechanism. *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol.* (2008) 4:192–9. doi: 10.1038/ncprheum0740
- Agar C, van Os GM, Morgelin M, Sprenger RR, Marquart JA, Urbanus RT, et al. Beta2-glycoprotein I can exist in 2 conformations: implications for our understanding of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Blood* (2010) 116:1336–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-12-260976
- Ioannou Y, Zhang JY, Qi M, Gao L, Qi JC, Yu DM, et al. Novel assays of thrombogenic pathogenicity in the antiphospholipid syndrome based on the detection of molecular oxidative modification of the major autoantigen beta2-glycoprotein I. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2011) 63:2774–82. doi: 10.1002/art.30383
- Cervera R. Antiphospholipid syndrome. *Thromb Res.* (2017) 151(Suppl. 1):S43–7. doi: 10.1016/S0049-3848(17)30066-X
- Giannakopoulos B, Krilis SA. The pathogenesis of the antiphospholipid syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:1033-44. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1112830
- Erkan D, Lockshin MD. What is antiphospholipid syndrome? Curr Rheumatol Rep. (2004) 6:451–7. doi: 10.1007/s11926-004-0024-1
- Pengo V, Ruffatti A, Legnani C, Testa S, Fierro T, Marongiu F, et al. Incidence of a first thromboembolic event in asymptomatic carriers of high-risk antiphospholipid antibody profile: a multicenter prospective study. *Blood* (2011) 118:4714–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-03-340232
- 12. Ma K, Simantov R, Zhang JC, Silverstein R, Hajjar KA, McCrae KR. High affinity binding of beta 2-glycoprotein I to human endothelial

available evidence does not support their use. Other interesting options include antioxidant agents, monoclonal antibodies, and several agents targeting specific cells or molecules in the complex pathogenetic pathway of APS. One last interesting issues concerns the relationship between APS and SLE. A 2010 report by Veres et al. on a group of 165 patients with primary APS showed that 23% of cases converted to definite SLE within 10 years (176). The correlation between these two entities is not fully understood. The term neurolupus indicates the involvement of the nervous system in the setting of SLE. Pathogenic mechanisms, similarly to APS, include thrombosis, vascular proliferative changes and, possibly, anti-neuronal and anti-glial antibody activity (177). Further studies are needed to understand the relation between these two entities, shared mechanisms of nervous system injury and possible therapeutic options.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

cells is mediated by annexin II. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:15541-8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.20.15541

- Allen KL, Fonseca FV, Betapudi V, Willard B, Zhang J, McCrae KR. A novel pathway for human endothelial cell activation by antiphospholipid/anti-beta2 glycoprotein I antibodies. *Blood* (2012) 119:884–93. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-03-344671
- Raschi E, Testoni C, Bosisio D, Borghi MO, Koike T, Mantovani A, et al. Role of the MyD88 transduction signaling pathway in endothelial activation by antiphospholipid antibodies. *Blood* (2003) 101:3495–500. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-08-2349
- Sorice M, Longo A, Capozzi A, Garofalo T, Misasi R, Alessandri C, et al. Antibeta2-glycoprotein I antibodies induce monocyte release of tumor necrosis factor alpha and tissue factor by signal transduction pathways involving lipid rafts. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2007) 56:2687–97. doi: 10.1002/art.22802
- de Laat B, Wu XX, van Lummel M, Derksen RH, de Groot PG, Rand JH. Correlation between antiphospholipid antibodies that recognize domain I of beta2-glycoprotein I and a reduction in the anticoagulant activity of annexin A5. *Blood* (2007) 109:1490–4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-07-030148
- Ramesh S, Morrell CN, Tarango C, Thomas GD, Yuhanna IS, Girardi G, et al. Antiphospholipid antibodies promote leukocyte-endothelial cell adhesion and thrombosis in mice by antagonizing eNOS via beta2GPI and apoER2. *J Clin Invest*. (2011) 121:120–31. doi: 10.1172/JCI39828
- Beckman JS, Beckman TW, Chen J, Marshall PA, Freeman BA. Apparent hydroxyl radical production by peroxynitrite: implications for endothelial injury from nitric oxide and superoxide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1990) 87:1620–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.4.1620
- Quadri M, Federico A, Zhao T, Breedveld GJ, Battisti C, Delnooz C, et al. Mutations in SLC30A10 cause parkinsonism and dystonia with hypermanganesemia, polycythemia, and chronic liver disease. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2012) 90:467–77. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.01.017
- Ames PR, Batuca JR, Ciampa A, Iannaccone L, Delgado Alves J. Clinical relevance of nitric oxide metabolites and nitrative stress in thrombotic primary antiphospholipid syndrome. *J Rheumatol.* (2010) 37:2523–30. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.100494
- Urbanus RT, Pennings MT, Derksen RH, de Groot PG. Platelet activation by dimeric beta2-glycoprotein I requires signaling via both glycoprotein Ibalpha and apolipoprotein E receptor 2'. J Thrombos Haemost. (2008) 6:1405–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03021.x

- Noureldine MHA, Haydar AA, Berjawi A, Elnawar R, Sweid A, Khamashta MA, et al. Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) revisited: would migraine headaches be included in future classification criteria? *Immunol Res.* (2017) 65:230–41. doi: 10.1007/s12026-016-8831-9
- 23. Bidot CJ, Jy W, Bidot C, Horstman LL, Fontana V, Yaniz M, et al. Antibodies against platelet glycoprotein target antigens in Antiphospholipid Syndrome (APS). *Blood* (2006) 108:3973.
- Ritis K, Doumas M, Mastellos D, Micheli A, Giaglis S, Magotti P, et al. A novel C5a receptor-tissue factor cross-talk in neutrophils links innate immunity to coagulation pathways. J Immunol. (2006) 177:4794–802. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.7.4794
- Forastiero R, Martinuzzo M. Prothrombotic mechanisms based on the impairment of fibrinolysis in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (2008) 17:872–7. doi: 10.1177/0961203308091633
- Shoenfeld Y, Nahum A, Korczyn AD, Dano M, Rabinowitz R, Beilin O, et al. Neuronal-binding antibodies from patients with antiphospholipid syndrome induce cognitive deficits following intrathecal passive transfer. *Lupus* (2003) 12:436–42. doi: 10.1191/0961203303lu4090a
- Gris JC, Nobile B, Bouvier S. Neuropsychiatric presentations of antiphospholipid antibodies. *Thromb Res.* (2015) 135(Suppl. 1):S56–9. doi: 10.1016/S0049-3848(15)50445-3
- Garcia CO, Kanbour-Shakir A, Tang H, Molina JF, Espinoza LR, Gharavi AE. Induction of experimental antiphospholipid antibody syndrome in PL/J mice following immunization with beta 2 GPI. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1997) 37:118–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1997.tb00200.x
- Katzav A, Pick CG, Korczyn AD, Oest E, Blank M, Shoenfeld Y, et al. Hyperactivity in a mouse model of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (2001) 10:496–9. doi: 10.1191/096120301678416060
- Shrot S, Katzav A, Korczyn AD, Litvinju Y, Hershenson R, Pick CG, et al. Behavioral and cognitive deficits occur only after prolonged exposure of mice to antiphospholipid antibodies. *Lupus* (2002) 11:736–43. doi: 10.1191/0961203302lu2550a
- Katzav A, Shoenfeld Y, Chapman J. The pathogenesis of neural injury in animal models of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2010) 38:196–200. doi: 10.1007/s12016-009-8154-x
- Katzav A, Menachem A, Maggio N, Pollak L, Pick CG, Chapman J. IgG accumulates in inhibitory hippocampal neurons of experimental antiphospholipid syndrome. J Autoimmun. (2014) 55:86–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2014.07.006
- Tanne D, Katzav A, Beilin O, Grigoriadis NC, Blank M, Pick CG, et al. Interaction of inflammation, thrombosis, aspirin and enoxaparin in CNS experimental antiphospholipid syndrome. *Neurobiol Dis.* (2008) 30:56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007.12.004
- 34. Katzav A, Grigoriadis NC, Ebert T, Touloumi O, Blank M, Pick CG, et al. Coagulopathy triggered autoimmunity: experimental antiphospholipid syndrome in factor V Leiden mice. *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:92. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-92
- Kent M, Alvarez F, Vogt E, Fyffe R, Ng AK, Rote N. Monoclonal antiphosphatidylserine antibodies react directly with feline and murine central nervous system. J Rheumatol. (1997) 24:1725–33.
- Dale RC, Yin K, Ding A, Merheb V, Varadkhar S, McKay D, et al. Antibody binding to neuronal surface in movement disorders associated with lupus and antiphospholipid antibodies. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2011) 53:522–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.03922.x
- 37. Liou HH, Wang CR, Chou HC, Arvanov VL, Chen RC, Chang YC, et al. Anticardiolipin antisera from lupus patients with seizures reduce a GABA receptor-mediated chloride current in snail neurons. *Life Sci.* (1994) 54:1119–25. doi: 10.1016/0024-3205(94)00422-6
- Chapman J, Cohen-Armon M, Shoenfeld Y, Korczyn AD. Antiphospholipid antibodies permeabilize and depolarize brain synaptoneurosomes. *Lupus* (1999) 8:127–33. doi: 10.1191/096120399678847524
- Chapman J, Soloveichick L, Shavit S, Shoenfeld Y, Korczyn AD. Antiphospholipid antibodies bind ATP: a putative mechanism for the pathogenesis of neuronal dysfunction. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2005) 12:175–80. doi: 10.1080/17402520500217844
- Hughes GR. Thrombosis, abortion, cerebral disease, and the lupus anticoagulant. Br Med J. (1983) 287:1088–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.287.6399.1088

- Carecchio M, Cantello R, Comi C. Revisiting the molecular mechanism of neurological manifestations in antiphospholipid syndrome: beyond vascular damage. J Immunol Res. (2014) 2014:239398. doi: 10.1155/2014/239398
- Sanna G, D'Cruz D, Cuadrado MJ. Cerebral manifestations in the antiphospholipid (Hughes) syndrome. *Rheumat Dis Clin North Am.* (2006) 32:465–90. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2006.05.010
- Cervera R, Boffa MC, Khamashta MA, Hughes GR. The Euro-Phospholipid project: epidemiology of the antiphospholipid syndrome in Europe. *Lupus* (2009) 18:889–93. doi: 10.1177/0961203309106832
- 44. Andreoli L, Chighizola CB, Banzato A, Pons-Estel GJ, Ramire de Jesus G, Erkan D. Estimated frequency of antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with pregnancy morbidity, stroke, myocardial infarction, and deep vein thrombosis: a critical review of the literature. *Arthritis Care Res.* (2013) 65:1869–73. doi: 10.1002/acr.22066
- 45. Clinical and laboratory findings in patients with antiphospholipid antibodies and cerebral ischemia. The antiphospholipid antibodies in stroke study group. *Stroke* (1990) 21:1268–73. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.21.9.1268
- Hughes GR. Migraine, memory loss, and "multiple sclerosis". Neurological features of the antiphospholipid (Hughes') syndrome. *Postgraduate Med J.* (2003) 79:81–3. doi: 10.1136/pmj.79.928.81
- 47. Sciascia S, Sanna G, Khamashta MA, Cuadrado MJ, Erkan D, Andreoli L, et al. The estimated frequency of antiphospholipid antibodies in young adults with cerebrovascular events: a systematic review. *Ann Rheumat Dis.* (2015) 74:2028–33. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205663
- Roldan JF, Brey RL. Neurologic manifestations of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2007) 9:109–15. doi: 10.1007/s11926-007-0004-3
- Provenzale JM, Barboriak DP, Allen NB, Ortel TL. Patients with antiphospholipid antibodies: CT and MR findings of the brain. Am J Roentgenol. (1996) 167:1573–8. doi: 10.2214/ajr.167.6.8956600
- Miesbach W, Gilzinger A, Gokpinar B, Claus D, Scharrer I. Prevalence of antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with neurological symptoms. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* (2006) 108:135–42. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2005.03.005
- Ricarte IF, Dutra LA, Abrantes FF, Toso FF, Barsottini OGP, Silva GS, et al. Neurologic manifestations of antiphospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (2018) 2018:961203318776110. doi: 10.1177/0961203318776110
- Provenzale JM, Barboriak DP, Allen NB, Ortel TL. Antiphospholipid antibodies: findings at arteriography. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. (1998) 19:611-6.
- de Amorim LC, Maia FM, Rodrigues CE. Stroke in systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid syndrome: risk factors, clinical manifestations, neuroimaging, and treatment. *Lupus* (2017) 26:529–36. doi: 10.1177/0961203316688784
- Jara LJ, Medina G, Vera-Lastra O, Shoenfeld Y. Atherosclerosis and antiphospholipid syndrome. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2003) 25:79–88. doi: 10.1385/CRIAI:25:1:79
- Tsai CL, Hueng DY, Tsao WL, Lin JC. Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis as an initial manifestation of primary antiphospholipid syndrome. *Am J Emerge Med.* (2013) 31:888.e1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2012.12.020
- Shlebak A. Antiphospholipid syndrome presenting as cerebral venous sinus thrombosis: a case series and a review. J Clin Pathol. (2016) 69:337–43. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2015-203077
- Silvis SM, de Sousa DA, Ferro JM, Coutinho JM. Cerebral venous thrombosis. Nat Rev Neurol. (2017) 13:555–65. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.104
- Boesch SM, Plorer AL, Auer AJ, Poewe W, Aichner FT, Felber SR, et al. The natural course of Sneddon syndrome: clinical and magnetic resonance imaging findings in a prospective six year observation study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2003) 74:542–4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.4.542
- Aladdin Y, Hamadeh M, Butcher K. The Sneddon syndrome. Arch Neurol. (2008) 65:834–5. doi: 10.1001/archneur.65.6.834
- Fetoni V, Grisoli M, Salmaggi A, Carriero R, Girotti F. Clinical and neuroradiological aspects of Sneddon's syndrome and primary antiphospholipid antibody syndrome. A follow-up study. *Neurol Sci.* (2000) 21:157–64. doi: 10.1007/s100720070091
- Ducros A. Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome. Lancet Neurol. (2012) 11:906–17. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70135-7

- 62. Gupta S, Zivadinov R, Ramasamy D, Ambrus JL Jr. Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome (RCVS) in antiphospholipid antibody syndrome (APLA): the role of centrally acting vasodilators. Case series and review of literature. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2014) 33:1829–33. doi: 10.1007/s10067-013-2434-9
- Cavestro C, Micca G, Molinari F, Bazzan M, C DIP, Aloi R, et al. Migraineurs show a high prevalence of antiphospholipid antibodies. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2011) 9:1350–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04 348.x
- Yelnik CM, Kozora E, Appenzeller S. Non-stroke central neurologic manifestations in antiphospholipid syndrome. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2016) 18:11. doi: 10.1007/s11926-016-0568-x
- Silvestrini M, Cupini LM, Matteis M, De Simone R, Bernardi G. Migraine in patients with stroke and antiphospholipid antibodies. *Headache* (1993) 33:421–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.1993.hed3308421.x
- Graf J. Central nervous system manifestations of antiphospholipid syndrome. *Rheumat Dis Clin North Am.* (2017) 43:547–60. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2017.06.004
- Noureldine MH, Harifi G, Berjawi A, Haydar AA, Nader M, Elnawar R, et al. Hughes syndrome and epilepsy: when to test for antiphospholipid antibodies? *Lupus* (2016) 25:1397–411. doi: 10.1177/09612033166 51747
- Shoenfeld Y, Lev S, Blatt I, Blank M, Font J, von Landenberg P, et al. Features associated with epilepsy in the antiphospholipid syndrome. J Rheumatol. (2004) 31:1344–8.
- 69. Cimaz R, Meroni PL, Shoenfeld Y. Epilepsy as part of systemic lupus erythematosus and systemic antiphospholipid syndrome (Hughes syndrome). *Lupus* (2006) 15:191–7. doi: 10.1191/0961203306lu2272rr
- de Carvalho JF, Pasoto SG, Appenzeller S. Seizures in primary antiphospholipid syndrome: the relevance of smoking to stroke. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2012) 2012:981519. doi: 10.1155/2012/981519
- Cervera R, Piette JC, Font J, Khamashta MA, Shoenfeld Y, Camps MT, et al. Antiphospholipid syndrome: clinical and immunologic manifestations and patterns of disease expression in a cohort of 1,000 patients. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2002) 46:1019–27. doi: 10.1002/art.10187
- 72. Safarpour D, Buckingham S, Jabbari B. Chorea associated with high titers of antiphospholipid antibodies in the absence of antiphospholipid antibody syndrome. *Tremor Other Hyperkinet Move (New York, NY).* (2015) 5:294. doi: 10.7916/D8DB80M9
- Baizabal-Carvallo JF, Jankovic J. Autoimmune and paraneoplastic movement disorders: an update. J Neurol Sci. (2018) 385:175–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2017.12.035
- Carecchio M, Comi C, Varrasi C, Stecco A, Sainaghi PP, Bhatia K, et al. Complex movement disorders in primary antiphospholipid syndrome: a case report. J Neurol Sci. (2009) 281:101–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009. 03.011
- Tanne D, Hassin-Baer S. Neurologic manifestations of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2001) 3:286–92. doi: 10.1007/s11926-001-0032-3
- Comi C, Ferrari M, Marino F, Magistrelli L, Cantello R, Riboldazzi G, et al. Polymorphisms of dopamine receptor genes and risk of L-dopainduced dyskinesia in Parkinson's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:2. doi: 10.3390/ijms18020242
- 77. Shepherd DI, Downie AW, Best PV. Systemic lupus erythematosis and multiple sclerosis. *Trans Am Neurol Assoc.* (1974) 99:173–6.
- Stepien M, Cendrowski W. [Form of systemic lupus erythematosus (lupoid sclerosis) resembling multiple sclerosis]. *Neurol Neurochir Polska* (1974) 8:607–9.
- 79. Keiserman B, da Silva LF, Keiserman MW, von Muhlen CA, Staub HL. Lupoid sclerosis. *Rheumatol Int.* (2010) 30:431–4. doi: 10.1007/s00296-009-1175-1
- Uthman I, Noureldine MH, Berjawi A, Skaf M, Haydar AA, Merashli M, et al. Hughes syndrome and multiple sclerosis. *Lupus* (2015) 24:115–21. doi: 10.1177/0961203314555539
- Bidot CJ, Horstman LL, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Bidot C Jr, Ahn YS, et al. Clinical and neuroimaging correlates of antiphospholipid antibodies in multiple sclerosis: a preliminary study. *BMC Neurol.* (2007) 7:36. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-7-36

- Roussel V, Yi F, Jauberteau MO, Couderq C, Lacombe C, Michelet V, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of anti-phospholipid antibodies in multiple sclerosis: a study of 89 patients. J Autoimmun. (2000) 14:259–65. doi: 10.1006/jaut.2000.0367
- Cuadrado MJ, Khamashta MA, Ballesteros A, Godfrey T, Simon MJ, Hughes GR. Can neurologic manifestations of Hughes (antiphospholipid) syndrome be distinguished from multiple sclerosis? Analysis of 27 patients and review of the literature. *Medicine* (2000) 79:57–68. doi: 10.1097/00005792-200001000-00006
- Ahbeddou N, Ait Ben Haddou E, Hammi S, Slimani C, Regragui W, Benomar A, et al. [Multiple sclerosis associated with antiphospholipid syndrome: diagnostic and therapeutic difficulties]. *Revue Neurol.* (2012) 168:65–9. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2011.01.021
- Fernandez-Fernandez FJ, Rivera-Gallego A, de la Fuente-Aguado J, Perez-Fernandez S, Munoz-Fernandez D. Antiphospholipid syndrome mimicking multiple sclerosis in two patients. *Eur J Int Med.* (2006) 17:500–2. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2006.02.018
- Lima I, Melo A, Brandi IV, Costa O, Santiago M. Lupoid sclerosis: what is the role of antiphospholipid antibodies? *J Clin Rheumatol.* (2007) 13:85–6. doi: 10.1097/01.rhu.0000260637.95695.40
- Mayer M, Cerovec M, Rados M, Cikes N. Antiphospholipid syndrome and central nervous system. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* (2010) 112:602–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2010.03.023
- JW IJ, Conti-Kelly AM, Greco P, Abedi M, Amos M, Provenzale JM, et al. Anti-phospholipid antibodies in patients with multiple sclerosis and MS-like illnesses: MS or APS? *Lupus* (1999) 8:109–15. doi: 10.1191/096120399678847461
- Arnson Y, Shoenfeld Y, Alon E, Amital H. The antiphospholipid syndrome as a neurological disease. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. (2010) 40:97–108. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2009.05.001
- Stosic M, Ambrus J, Garg N, Weinstock-Guttman B, Ramanathan M, Kalman B, et al. MRI characteristics of patients with antiphospholipid syndrome and multiple sclerosis. J Neurol. (2010) 257:63–71. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-5264-6
- Ferreira S, D'Cruz DP, Hughes GR. Multiple sclerosis, neuropsychiatric lupus and antiphospholipid syndrome: where do we stand? *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. (2005) 44:434–42. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keh532
- 92. Rodrigues CE, de Carvalho JF. Clinical, radiologic, and therapeutic analysis of 14 patients with transverse myelitis associated with antiphospholipid syndrome: report of 4 cases and review of the literature. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2011) 40:349–57. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2010.05.004
- Sherer Y, Hassin S, Shoenfeld Y, Levy Y, Livneh A, Ohry A, et al. Transverse myelitis in patients with antiphospholipid antibodies–the importance of early diagnosis and treatment. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2002) 21:207–10. doi: 10.1007/s10067-002-8287-2
- 94. Komolafe MA, Komolafe EO, Sunmonu TA, Olateju SO, Asaleye CM, Adesina OA, et al. New onset neuromyelitis optica in a young Nigerian woman with possible antiphospholipid syndrome: a case report. J Med Case Rep. (2008) 2:348. doi: 10.1186/1752-1947-2-348
- 95. Iyer A, Elsone L, Appleton R, Jacob A. A review of the current literature and a guide to the early diagnosis of autoimmune disorders associated with neuromyelitis optica. *Autoimmunity* (2014) 47:154–61. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2014.883501
- Tobin WO, Weinshenker BG, Lucchinetti CF. Longitudinally extensive transverse myelitis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2014) 27:279–89. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000093
- 97. Brey RL, Muscal E, Chapman J. Antiphospholipid antibodies and the brain: a consensus report. *Lupus* (2011) 20:153–7. doi: 10.1177/0961203310396748
- Jacobson MW, Rapport LJ, Keenan PA, Coleman RD, Tietjen GE. Neuropsychological deficits associated with antiphospholipid antibodies. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. (1999) 21:251–64. doi: 10.1076/jcen.21.2.251.931
- Tektonidou MG, Varsou N, Kotoulas G, Antoniou A, Moutsopoulos HM. Cognitive deficits in patients with antiphospholipid syndrome: association with clinical, laboratory, and brain magnetic resonance imaging findings. *Arch Inter Med.* (2006) 166:2278–84. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.20.2278
- 100. Mosek A, Yust I, Treves TA, Vardinon N, Korczyn AD, Chapman J. Dementia and antiphospholipid antibodies. *Dement Geriat Cogn Dis.* (2000) 11:36–8. doi: 10.1159/000017211

- 101. Islam MA, Alam F, Kamal MA, Gan SH, Sasongko TH, Wong KK. Presence of anticardiolipin antibodies in patients with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2017) 9:250. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00250
- Appenzeller S, Lapa AT, Guirau CR, de Carvalho JF, Shoenfeld Y. Cognitive impairment in antiphospholipid syndrome: evidence from animal models. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2012) 31:403–6. doi: 10.1007/s10067-011-1922-z
- 103. Abreu MM, Danowski A, Wahl DG, Amigo MC, Tektonidou M, Pacheco MS, et al. The relevance of "non-criteria" clinical manifestations of antiphospholipid syndrome: 14th international congress on antiphospholipid antibodies technical task force report on antiphospholipid syndrome clinical features. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2015) 14:401–14. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015.01.002
- 104. Gris JC, Cyprien F, Bouvier S, Cochery-Nouvellon E, Lavigne-Lissalde G, Mercier E, et al. Antiphospholipid antibodies are associated with positive screening for common mental disorders in women with previous pregnancy loss. The NOHA-PSY observational study. *World J Biol Psychiatry* (2017). 2017:1–13. doi: 10.1080/15622975.2017.1333146
- Santos MS, de Carvalho JF, Brotto M, Bonfa E, Rocha FA. Peripheral neuropathy in patients with primary antiphospholipid (Hughes') syndrome. *Lupus* (2010) 19:583–90. doi: 10.1177/0961203309354541
- 106. Sanna G, Bertolaccini ML, Cuadrado MJ, Khamashta MA, Hughes GR. Central nervous system involvement in the antiphospholipid (Hughes) syndrome. *Rheumatology* (2003) 42:200–13. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keg080
- 107. Schofield JR. Autonomic neuropathy-in its many guises-as the initial manifestation of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Immunol Res.* (2017) 65:532–42. doi: 10.1007/s12026-016-8889-4
- Resseguier AS, Pereira B, Rieu V, Le Guenno G, Grobost V, Ruivard M. Direct oral anticoagulants: an alternative treatment for thrombotic antiphospholipid syndrome? *Lupus* (2017) 26:1297–303. doi: 10.1177/0961203317701841
- 109. Saraiva Sda S, Custodio IF, Mazetto Bde M, Collela MP, de Paula EV, Appenzeller S, et al. Recurrent thrombosis in antiphospholipid syndrome may be associated with cardiovascular risk factors and inflammatory response. *Thromb Res.* (2015) 136:1174–8. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2015.10.029
- 110. Julkunen H, Hedman C, Kauppi M. Thrombolysis for acute ischemic stroke in the primary antiphospholipid syndrome. J Rheumatol. (1997) 24:181–3.
- 111. Camara-Lemarroy CR, Infante-Valenzuela A, Andrade-Vazquez CJ, Enriquez-Noyola RV, Garcia-Valadez EA, Gongora-Rivera F. Successful intravenous thrombolysis in a patient with antiphospholipid syndrome, acute ischemic stroke and severe thrombocytopenia. *Blood Coagul Fibrinol.* (2016) 27:354–6. doi: 10.1097/MBC.000000000000432
- 112. Stadler K, Mutzenbach JS, Kalss G, Sellner J, Al-Schameri AR, Trinka E, et al. Therapeutic challenges after successful thrombectomy in a patient with an antiphospholipid syndrome associated M1-occlusion: a case report. *Int Neuroradiol.* (2015) 21:598–602. doi: 10.1177/1591019915590371
- 113. Keeling D, Mackie I, Moore GW, Greer IA, Greaves M. Guidelines on the investigation and management of antiphospholipid syndrome. Br J Haematol. (2012) 157:47–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2012.09037.x
- 114. Ruiz-Irastorza G, Cuadrado MJ, Ruiz-Arruza I, Brey R, Crowther M, Derksen R, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for the prevention and long-term management of thrombosis in antiphospholipid antibody-positive patients: report of a task force at the 13th International Congress on antiphospholipid antibodies. *Lupus* (2011) 20:206–18. doi: 10.1177/0961203310395803
- 115. Rosa RF, Ugolini-Lopes MR, Zeinad-Valim AK, D'Amico E, Andrade D. Difficult clinical situations in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2015) 17:29. doi: 10.1007/s11926-015-0502-7
- 116. Ruiz-Irastorza G, Khamashta MA, Hunt BJ, Escudero A, Cuadrado MJ, Hughes GR. Bleeding and recurrent thrombosis in definite antiphospholipid syndrome: analysis of a series of 66 patients treated with oral anticoagulation to a target international normalized ratio of 3.5. *Arch Int Med.* (2002) 162:1164–9. doi: 10.1001/archinte.162.10.1164
- 117. Giron-Gonzalez JA, Garcia del Rio E, Rodriguez C, Rodriguez-Martorell J, Serrano A. Antiphospholipid syndrome and asymptomatic carriers of antiphospholipid antibody: prospective analysis of 404 individuals. J Rheumatol. (2004) 31:1560–7.

- 118. Ruffatti A, Del Ross T, Ciprian M, Nuzzo M, Rampudda M, Bertero MT, et al. Risk factors for a first thrombotic event in antiphospholipid antibody carriers. A multicentre, retrospective follow-up study. *Ann Rheumat Dis.* (2009) 68:397–9. doi: 10.1136/ard.2008.096669
- 119. Ruffatti A, Del Ross T, Ciprian M, Bertero MT, Sciascia S, Scarpato S, et al. Risk factors for a first thrombotic event in antiphospholipid antibody carriers: a prospective multicentre follow-up study. *Ann Rheumat Dis.* (2011) 70:1083–6. doi: 10.1136/ard.2010.142042
- 120. Pengo V, Testa S, Martinelli I, Ghirarduzzi A, Legnani C, Gresele P, et al. Incidence of a first thromboembolic event in carriers of isolated lupus anticoagulant. *Thromb Res.* (2015) 135:46–9. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2014.10.013
- 121. Rodriguez-Pinto I, Espinosa G, Erkan D, Shoenfeld Y, Cervera R. The effect of triple therapy on the mortality of catastrophic anti-phospholipid syndrome patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England).* (2018) 57:1264–70. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/key082
- 122. Cervera R, Rodriguez-Pinto I, Colafrancesco S, Conti F, Valesini G, Rosario C, et al. 14th international congress on antiphospholipid antibodies task force report on catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:699–707. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2014.03.002
- 123. Khattri S, Zandman-Goddard G, Peeva E. B-cell directed therapies in antiphospholipid antibody syndrome-new directions based on murine and human data. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2012) 11:717–22. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.12.011
- 124. Erdozain JG, Ruiz-Irastorza G, Egurbide MV, Aguirre C. Sustained response to rituximab of autoimmune hemolytic anemia associated with antiphospholipid syndrome. *Haematologica* (2004) 89:Ecr34.
- 125. Trappe R, Loew A, Thuss-Patience P, Dorken B, Riess H. Successful treatment of thrombocytopenia in primary antiphospholipid antibody syndrome with the anti-CD20 antibody rituximab–monitoring of antiphospholipid and anti-GP antibodies: a case report. *Ann Hematol.* (2006) 85:134–5. doi: 10.1007/s00277-005-0028-6
- 126. Gamoudi D, Cutajar M, Gamoudi N, Camilleri DJ, Gatt A. Achieving a satisfactory clinical and biochemical response in antiphospholipid syndrome and severe thrombocytopenia with rituximab: two case reports. *Clin Case Rep.* (2017) 5:845–8. doi: 10.1002/ccr3.946
- 127. Dioszegi A, Tarr T, Nagy-Vincze M, Nanasy-Vass M, Veisz R, Bidiga L, et al. Microthrombotic renal involvement in an SLE patient with concomitant catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome: the beneficial effect of rituximab treatment. *Lupus* (2018) 2018:961203318768890. doi: 10.1177/0961203318768890
- Wang CR, Liu MF. Rituximab usage in systemic lupus erythematosusassociated antiphospholipid syndrome: a single-center experience. Semin Arthritis Rheum. (2016) 46:102–8. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2016.02.002
- 129. Emmi G, Urban ML, Scalera A, Becatti M, Fiorillo C, Silvestri E, et al. Repeated low-dose courses of rituximab in SLE-associated antiphospholipid syndrome: data from a tertiary dedicated centre. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* (2017) 46:e21–3. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2016.08.002
- Bakshi J, Stevens R. Rituximab therapy for recurrent thromboembolic disease in antiphospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (2013) 22:865–7. doi: 10.1177/0961203313491023
- 131. Asherson RA, Giampaulo D, Singh S, Sulman L. Dramatic response of severe headaches to anticoagulation in a patient with antiphospholipid syndrome. J Clin Rheumatol. (2007) 13:173–4. doi: 10.1097/RHU.0b013e3180690af6
- 132. Roie EV, Labarque V, Renard M, Van Geet C, Gabriels L. Obsessive-compulsive behavior as presenting symptom of primary antiphospholipid syndrome. *Psychosomat Med.* (2013) 75:326–30. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31828acfbc
- 133. D'Cruz DP, Mellor-Pita S, Joven B, Sanna G, Allanson J, Taylor J, et al. Transverse myelitis as the first manifestation of systemic lupus erythematosus or lupus-like disease: good functional outcome and relevance of antiphospholipid antibodies. *J Rheumatol.* (2004) 31:280–5.
- 134. Ayalew Y, Khattak F. Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome presenting with hemichorea. Case Rep Rheumatol. (2012) 2012:471543. doi: 10.1155/2012/471543
- Demonty J, Gonce M, Ribai P, Verellen-Dumoulin C, Hustinx R. Chorea associated with anti-phospholipid antibodies: case report. Acta Clin Belg. (2010) 65:350–3. doi: 10.1179/acb.2010.075

- Espinosa G, Cervera R. Current treatment of antiphospholipid syndrome: lights and shadows. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2015) 11:586–96. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2015.88
- Yokoyama K, Mori M, Yoshida A. Mycophenolate mofetil therapy for two cases of antiphospholipid antibody-associated chorea. *Mod Rheumatol.* (2018) 28:709–11. doi: 10.3109/14397595.2015.1134035
- Brogna C, Mariotti P, Manna R. Conventional and intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in paediatric antiphospholipid antibodies-related chorea. *Lupus* (2014) 23:1449–51. doi: 10.1177/0961203314551084
- Lai JY, Wu PC, Chen HC, Lee MB. Early neuropsychiatric involvement in antiphospholipid syndrome. *General Hosp Psychiatry* (2012) 34:579.e1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2012.02.005
- 140. Erkan D, Vega J, Ramon G, Kozora E, Lockshin MD. A pilot open-label phase II trial of rituximab for non-criteria manifestations of antiphospholipid syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2013) 65:464–71. doi: 10.1002/art.37759
- 141. Alberio L. The new direct oral anticoagulants in special indications: rationale and preliminary data in cancer, mechanical heart valves, anti-phospholipid syndrome, and heparin-induced thrombocytopenia and beyond. *Semin Hematol.* (2014) 51:152–6. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2014.03.002
- 142. Signorelli F, Balbi GGM, Domingues V, Levy RA. New and upcoming treatments in antiphospholipid syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Pharmacol Res.* (2018) 133:108–20. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2018.04.012
- 143. Cohen H, Hunt BJ, Efthymiou M, Arachchillage DR, Mackie IJ, Clawson S, et al. Rivaroxaban versus warfarin to treat patients with thrombotic antiphospholipid syndrome, with or without systemic lupus erythematosus (RAPS): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 2/3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Haematol.* (2016) 3:e426–36. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(16)30079-5
- 144. Dufrost V, Risse J, Zuily S, Wahl D. Direct oral anticoagulants use in antiphospholipid syndrome: are these drugs an effective and safe alternative to warfarin? A systematic review of the literature. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2016) 18:74. doi: 10.1007/s11926-016-0623-7
- 145. Pengo V, Denas G. Rivaroxaban vs. warfarin in high-risk patients with antiphospholipid syndrome. *Blood* (2018) 132:1365–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-04-848333
- 146. Pierangeli SS, Vega-Ostertag M, Harris EN. Intracellular signaling triggered by antiphospholipid antibodies in platelets and endothelial cells: a pathway to targeted therapies. *Thromb Res.* (2004) 114:467–76. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2004.06.031
- 147. Gerosa M, Meroni PL, Erkan D. Recognition and management of antiphospholipid syndrome. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2016) 28:51–9. doi: 10.1097/BOR.00000000000240
- Chambers JD, Jr, Haire HD, Deligonul U. Multiple early percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty failures related to lupus anticoagulant. *Am Heart J.* (1996) 132(1 Pt. 1):189–90. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8703(96)90409-3
- 149. Marti V, Seixo F, Santalo M, Serra A. Antiphospholipid syndrome and acute myocardial infarction: treatment with thrombectomy and abciximab. *Rev Port Cardiol.* (2014) 33:465.e1–4. doi: 10.1016/j.repc.2014.01.020
- 150. Andrade D, Tektonidou M. Emerging therapies in antiphospholipid syndrome. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2016) 18:22. doi: 10.1007/s11926-016-0566-z
- Ciccone A, Motto C, Abraha I, Cozzolino F, Santilli I. Glycoprotein IIb-IIIa inhibitors for acute ischaemic stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2014) 2014:Cd005208. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005208.pub3
- Raschi E, Borghi MO, Grossi C, Broggini V, Pierangeli S, Meroni PL. Tolllike receptors: another player in the pathogenesis of the anti-phospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (2008) 17:937–42. doi: 10.1177/0961203308095140
- 153. Sperber K, Quraishi H, Kalb TH, Panja A, Stecher V, Mayer L. Selective regulation of cytokine secretion by hydroxychloroquine: inhibition of interleukin 1 alpha (IL–1-alpha) and IL–6 in human monocytes and T cells. *J Rheumatol.* (1993) 20:803–8.
- 154. Achuthan S, Ahluwalia J, Shafiq N, Bhalla A, Pareek A, Chandurkar N, et al. Hydroxychloroquine's Efficacy as an antiplatelet agent study in healthy volunteers: a proof of concept study. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Therapeut*. (2015) 20:174–80. doi: 10.1177/1074248414546324
- 155. Rand JH, Wu XX, Quinn AS, Ashton AW, Chen PP, Hathcock JJ, et al. Hydroxychloroquine protects the annexin A5 anticoagulant shield from disruption by antiphospholipid antibodies: evidence for a

novel effect for an old antimalarial drug. *Blood* (2010) 115:2292-9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-04-213520

- 156. Schmidt-Tanguy A, Voswinkel J, Henrion D, Subra JF, Loufrani L, Rohmer V, et al. Antithrombotic effects of hydroxychloroquine in primary antiphospholipid syndrome patients. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2013) 11:1927–9. doi: 10.1111/jth.12363
- 157. Meroni PL, Raschi E, Testoni C, Tincani A, Balestrieri G, Molteni R, et al. Statins prevent endothelial cell activation induced by antiphospholipid (anti-beta2-glycoprotein I) antibodies: effect on the proadhesive and proinflammatory phenotype. *Arthritis Rheumat.* (2001) 44:2870–8. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(200112)44:12<2870::AID-ART475>3.0.CO;2-Y
- 158. Erkan D, Willis R, Murthy VL, Basra G, Vega J, Ruiz-Limon P, et al. A prospective open-label pilot study of fluvastatin on proinflammatory and prothrombotic biomarkers in antiphospholipid antibody positive patients. Ann Rheumat Dis. (2014) 73:1176–80. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203622
- 159. Yazici A, Yazirli B, Erkan D. Belimumab in primary antiphospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (2017) 26:1123-4. doi: 10.1177/0961203316682102
- 160. Sciascia S, Rubini E, Radin M, Cecchi I, Rossi D, Roccatello D. Anticardiolipin and anti-beta 2 glycoprotein-I antibodies disappearance in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid syndrome while on belimumab. *Ann Rheumat Dis.* (2018) 77:1694–5. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2018-213496
- 161. Lonze BE, Singer AL, Montgomery RA. Eculizumab and renal transplantation in a patient with CAPS. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:1744–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc0910965
- 162. Shapira I, Andrade D, Allen SL, Salmon JE. Brief report: induction of sustained remission in recurrent catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome via inhibition of terminal complement with eculizumab. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2012) 64:2719–23. doi: 10.1002/art.34440
- 163. Canaud G, Kamar N, Anglicheau D, Esposito L, Rabant M, Noel LH, et al. Eculizumab improves posttransplant thrombotic microangiopathy due to antiphospholipid syndrome recurrence but fails to prevent chronic vascular changes. Am J Transpl. (2013) 13:2179–85. doi: 10.1111/ajt.12319
- 164. Lonze BE, Zachary AA, Magro CM, Desai NM, Orandi BJ, Dagher NN, et al. Eculizumab prevents recurrent antiphospholipid antibody syndrome and enables successful renal transplantation. *Am J Transpl.* (2014) 14:459–65. doi: 10.1111/ajt.12540
- 165. Bakhtar O, Thajudeen B, Braunhut BL, Yost SE, Bracamonte ER, Sussman AN, et al. A case of thrombotic microangiopathy associated with antiphospholipid antibody syndrome successfully treated with eculizumab. *Transplantation* (2014) 98:e17–8. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000000267
- 166. Strakhan M, Hurtado-Sbordoni M. 36-year-old female with catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome treated with eculizumab: a case report and review of literature. *Case Rep Hematol.* (2014) 2014:704371. doi: 10.1155/2014/704371
- 167. Kronbichler A, Frank R, Kirschfink M, Szilagyi A, Csuka D, Prohaszka Z, et al. Efficacy of eculizumab in a patient with immunoadsorption-dependent catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome: a case report. *Medicine* (2014) 93:e143. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000143
- 168. Zikos TA, Sokolove J, Ahuja N, Berube C. Eculizumab induces sustained remission in a patient with refractory primary catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome. J Clin Rheumatol. (2015) 21:311–3. doi: 10.1097/RHU.00000000000290
- 169. Gustavsen A, Skattum L, Bergseth G, Lorentzen B, Floisand Y, Bosnes V, et al. Effect on mother and child of eculizumab given before caesarean section in a patient with severe antiphospholipid syndrome: a case report. *Medicine* (2017) 96:e6338. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000006338
- 170. Geethakumari PR, Mille P, Gulati R, Nagalla S. Complement inhibition with eculizumab for thrombotic microangiopathy rescues a living-donor kidney transplant in a patient with antiphospholipid antibody syndrome. *Transfus Apher Sci.* (2017) 56:400–3. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2017.02.007
- 171. Gallo R, Padurean A, Jayaraman T, Marx S, Roque M, Adelman S, et al. Inhibition of intimal thickening after balloon angioplasty in porcine coronary arteries by targeting regulators of the cell cycle. *Circulation* (1999) 99:2164–70. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.99.16.2164
- 172. Sousa JE, Costa MA, Abizaid AC, Rensing BJ, Abizaid AS, Tanajura LF, et al. Sustained suppression of neointimal proliferation by

sirolimus-eluting stents: one-year angiographic and intravascular ultrasound follow-up. *Circulation* (2001) 104:2007–11. doi: 10.1161/hc4201. 098056

- 173. Canaud G, Bienaime F, Tabarin F, Bataillon G, Seilhean D, Noel LH, et al. Inhibition of the mTORC pathway in the antiphospholipid syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:303–12. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1 312890
- 174. Comi C, Fleetwood T, Dianzani U. The role of T cell apoptosis in nervous system autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2012) 12:150–6. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.08.011
- 175. Ferrari M, Comi C, Marino F, Magistrelli L, De Marchi F, Cantello R, et al. Polymorphisms of dopamine receptor genes and risk of visual hallucinations in Parkinson's patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* (2016) 72:1335– 41. doi: 10.1007/s00228-016-2111-4
- 176. Veres K, Szodoray P, Szekanecz Z, Lakos G, Kiss E, Laczik R, et al. Clinical and immunoserological characteristics of the transition from

primary to overlap antiphospholipid syndrome. *Lupus* (2010) 19:1520–6. doi: 10.1177/0961203310374336

177. Joseph FG, Scolding NJ. Neurolupus. Pract Neurol. (2010) 10:4–15. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.200071

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Fleetwood, Cantello and Comi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Coagulation Factors Fibrinogen, Thrombin, and Factor XII in Inflammatory Disorders—A Systematic Review

Kerstin Göbel^{1*}, Susann Eichler¹, Heinz Wiendl¹, Triantafyllos Chavakis², Christoph Kleinschnitz³ and Sven G. Meuth^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology with Institute of Translational Neurology, University of Münster, Münster, Germany, ² Department of Clinical Pathobiochemistry, Laboratory Medicine, Institute for Clinical Chemistry, University Clinic Carl Gustav Carus, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany, ³ Department of Neurology, University Hospital Essen, Essen, Germany

Background: The interaction of coagulation factors has been shown to go beyond their traditional roles in hemostasis and to affect the development of inflammatory diseases. Key molecular players, such as fibrinogen, thrombin, or factor XII have been mechanistically and epidemiologically linked to inflammatory disorders like multiple sclerosis (MS), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), and colitis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tatiana Koudriavtseva, Istituto Nazionale del Cancro Regina Elena, Italy

Reviewed by:

Tomas Per Olsson, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Antonio Bertolotto, Ospedale San Luigi Gonzaga, Italy

*Correspondence: Kerstin Göbel kerstin.goebel@ukmuenster.de; Sven G. Meuth sven.meuth@ukmuenster.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 February 2018 Accepted: 12 July 2018 Published: 26 July 2018

Citation:

Göbel K, Eichler S, Wiendl H, Chavakis T, Kleinschnitz C and Meuth SG (2018) The Coagulation Factors Fibrinogen, Thrombin, and Factor XII in Inflammatory Disorders—A Systematic Review. Front. Immunol. 9:1731. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01731 **Objectives:** To systematically review the evidence for a role of coagulation factors, especially factor XII, fibrinogen, and thrombin in inflammatory disorders like MS, RA, and bowel disorders.

Methods: A systematic literature search was done in the PubMed database to identify studies about coagulation factors in inflammatory diseases. Original articles and reviews investigating the role of the kallikrein–kinin and the coagulation system in mouse and humans were included.

Results: We identified 43 animal studies dealing with inflammatory disorders and factors of the kallikrein–kinin or the coagulation system. Different immunological influences are described and novel molecular mechanisms linking coagulation and inflammation are reported.

Conclusion: A number of studies have highlighted coagulation factors to tip the balance between hemostasis and thrombosis and between protection from infection and extensive inflammation. To optimize the treatment of chronic inflammatory disorders by these factors, further studies are necessary.

Keywords: coagulation factors, neuroinflammation, contact system, fibrinogen, factor XII, thrombin

INTRODUCTION

The coagulation system is a highly regulated cascade that ultimately leads to blood clot formation. The primary purpose of coagulation is hemostasis, i.e., to stop bleeding from a damaged blood vessel.

The concept of a stepwise process or cascade of the coagulation system was first described in 1964 (1). While this traditional model described two separate pathways, the intrinsic and the extrinsic pathway, which culminate in a common pathway, current views support an interconnected

relationship between the two (2, 3). The contact pathway (also called the kallikrein-kinin system) is composed of three zymogens [factor XII (FXII), plasma kallikrein (PK), and high-molecular-weight kininogen (HMWK)]. In vitro, the initial triggering event leads to clot formation through the activation of FXII on an artificial surface. However, in vivo, the activation of this factor is still under discussion, so that current studies consider tissue factor (TF), a transmembrane glycoprotein expressed in perivascular tissue, to be the main initiator of in vivo blood clotting (4). TF forms a complex with factor VII (FVII) to activate factor X (FX) either directly or by activating factor IX (FIX). Both pathways interlace with the activation of FX, which leads to the cleavage of prothrombin (factor II) to thrombin (factor IIa). In the last step, thrombin mediates the cleavage of fibrinogen to fibrin monomers that, upon polymerization, form a fibrin clot and stop bleeding. The formation of these clots is dependent on the availability of thrombin, calcium, and negatively charged phospholipid membranes. The whole coagulation cascade is very tightly regulated with several checkpoints that function in a positive or negative feedback loop (5).

However, in recent years, significant evidence has emerged implicating coagulation factors also in tissue repair and inflammatory responses. In line with this, several of the major coagulation factors, like TF, thrombin, or fibrinogen, are described as potential drivers of inflammation in disease models, such as sepsis, endotoxemia, encephalomyelitis, or multiple sclerosis (MS) (2, 6-8). Thereby, these factors not only enhance inflammation in the bloodstream, but also within tissues. Furthermore, it is known that FXII triggers the release of bradykinin (BK) from HMWK through cleavage by PK, leaving two chain HMWK behind, which has numerous adhesion-regulatory properties (9, 10) including inhibitory activity on the interaction between fibrinogen and the leukocyte integrin CD11b/CD18 (11). Binding of BK to the BK receptors can activate proinflammatory pathways that induce chemotaxis of leukocytes and increase vascular permeability (12).

A proteomic analysis has been performed on human brain material from individuals with MS identifying a dysregulation of several proteins of the coagulation cascade, such as TF or protein C inhibitor (13). Furthermore, in an animal model of MS, i.e., experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), it could be shown that other factors, such as FXII or thrombin, are upregulated in the central nervous system (CNS) (14, 15). It has been demonstrated that this dysregulation of the coagulation system is not restricted to the CNS but can also be found in the peripheral blood (15). Both FXII and thrombin are highly upregulated in the plasma of patients with MS (16). Moreover, dysregulation of BK receptors was found to be relevant in MS (17, 18).

Although further studies using animal models of MS are required, the available data indicate that the interplay between coagulation factors and immune cells and/or brain endothelial cells may modulate initiation and/or the course of neuroinflammatory disorders.

In this review, we summarize key links between inflammation and coagulation, with a specific focus on the molecular roles of the clotting factors FXII, fibrinogen, and thrombin in neuroinflammation as well as in neuroinflammatory disorders. The role of coagulation factors in non-neurological inflammatory disorders is also discussed. The evidence presented here suggests that manipulation of components of the coagulation system could be potentially therapeutically exploitable not only in inflammatory disorders of the CNS but also in autoimmune diseases in general.

METHODS

A literature review was done in December 2017 searching the PubMed database using the search items: BK, coagulation factors, colitis, complement, Crohn's disease, EAE, FXII, fibrinogen, inflammatory bowel disease, kallikrein–kinin system, thrombin, MS, and rheumatoid arthritis (RA). The search terms were used in different combinations and plural forms, and the search was limited to articles in English. References were screened for additional articles. Studies in mouse and human were included.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Factor XII and Neuroinflammation

Factor XII is a soluble zymogen with a molecular weight of approximately 80 kDa that is produced in the liver (3). FXII consists of a heavy chain (353 residues) and a light chain (243 residues) held together by a disulfide bond (Figure 1) (19). It has several domains, namely, a leader peptide, a fibronectin type II domain, an epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like domain, a fibronectin type I domain, a second EGF-like domain, a kringle domain, a proline-rich region, and the catalytic domain (Figure 1). Proteolytic cleavage of its R353-V354 site converts the zymogen FXII to activated FXII (FXIIa). This cleaved protein circulates as a two-chain protein, a heavy and a light chain, held together by a disulfide bond (19). In vitro, FXII can be activated by PK, plasmin, or on negatively charged surfaces, while in vivo activation is still under debate (20, 21). FXIIa is suggested to initiate the intrinsic coagulation, the contact, and complement systems (Figure 1). Thus, FXIIa leads to the cleavage of PK to generate active PK (contact system, Figure 2), triggers fibrin formation through the activation of factor XI (FXI; Figure 1), and activates the complement pathway. The serine protease C1 inhibitor (C1-INH) is the major inhibitor of FXII, and thereby controls its proteolytic activity. Besides C1-INH, antithrombin III and plasminogen activator inhibitor I also have FXII-inhibitory capacity. Despite its contribution to fibrin formation in vitro, FXII seems not to be essential for hemostasis in vivo (21, 22). However, under pathological conditions, FXII participates in thrombus formation and thromboembolic disorders, such as stroke (23).

In terms of neuroinflammation, we have been able to show that FXII deficiency leads to an attenuated disease severity in EAE, accompanied by reduced numbers of interleukin (IL)-17A-producing effector T helper cells (T_H17). The role of FXII in EAE was mediated by its ability to shift the cytokine profile







of dendritic cells (DC) necessary to induce differentiation of effector T cells (see also **Table 1**) (15). Pharmacologic inhibition of FXII by recombinant human albumin-tagged infestin-4 (24) resulted in decreased EAE severity as well (see **Table 1**). These findings suggest a potential novel link between FXII and

the immune system in neuroinflammation. Strikingly, we also found significantly increased FXII plasma activity in individuals with relapsing–remitting MS and secondary progressive MS, as compared to healthy donors, thus, indicating a role for this factor in human MS pathogenesis (15).

Mouse line or treatment	Model (peptide)	Genetic background	Effects in models of autoimmune neurodegeneration	Reference
B1R-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Delayed EAE onset, reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation and demyelination, decreased expression of endothelial adhesion molecules, reduced migration of lymphocytes	(25)
			Earlier EAE onset, severe clinical disease course with enhanced inflammation, demyelination, glial activation, increased migration of CD4+ T cells, especially $T_{\rm H}17$ cells	(26)
			Delayed EAE onset, reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation and demyelination, decreased cytokine production of CD4+ T cells	(27)
			Delayed EAE onset, reduced clinical deficits, reduced glial activation, decreased release of proinflammatory mediators by astrocytes	(28)
Des-Arg ⁹ -BK (B1R activator)	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	No clinical effect	(27)
R838 (B1R agonist)	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Aggravated disease course, enhanced inflammation, demyelination, axonal damage	(25)
			Milder clinical deficits	(26)
	Active RR-EAE (PLP)	SJL	Reduced clinical deficits	(26)
Des-Arg ⁹ -[Leu ⁸]-BK (B1R inhibitor)	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Delayed EAE onset, reduced clinical deficits, decreased release of proinflammatory mediators by astrocytes	(28)
			Delayed EAE onset, reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation and demyelination, decreased cytokine production of CD4+ T cells	(27)
R715 (B1R inhibitor)	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation, demyelination, axonal damage	(25)
			Accelerated disease onset	(26)
B2R-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	No effect on clinical course, immune cells, cytokine production	(25, 26)
			Moderate reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation, reduced leukocyte adhesion, decreased chemokine (CCL2, CCL5) production	(29)
HOE-140	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Moderate or no effect on clinical disease course, immune cells, cytokine production	(25–28)
(B2R inhibitor)			Moderate reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation, reduced leukocyte adhesion, decreased chemokine (CCL2, CCL5) production	(29)
F12-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Delayed EAE onset, reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation and demyelination, reduced $T_{\rm H}17$ cells, decreased cytokine production (IL-6, IL-23) of DC	(15)
rHA-Infestin 4 (FXIIa inhibitor)	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Delayed EAE onset, reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation and demyelination, reduced cytokine production (IL-6, IL-17A)	(15)
	Active EAE (PLP)	SJL	Ameliorated disease course	(15)
F11-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	No effect on clinical symptoms, inflammation and demyelination	(15)
C1q-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	No effect on clinical symptoms	(30)
 C3-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	129SVJ/	Reduced clinical deficits, decreased inflammation and demyelination	(31)
		C57BL/6	No clinical effect, but higher mortality, tendency to enhanced inflammation and demyelination	(32)
 C3-/-	Active + AT-EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Reduced clinical deficits, reduced infiltration of T cells	(33, 34)
 C5-/-	Active EAE (guinea pig myelin)	B10.D2/oSnJ	Moderate reduction of clinical deficits, narrow zones of inflammation and demyelination, gliosis, reduced remyelination, enhanced apoptosis of oligodendrocytes, axonal damage	
C5a/GFAP	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	No clinical effect	(37)
Cd87-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Aggravated disease course, enhanced inflammation, axonal damage, reduced T-cell proliferation and cytokine production	(38)
			Delayed disease onset, reduced clinical deficits, reduced inflammation, enhanced demyelination and axonal damage	(39)
	Active EAE (MOG) in BM-chimera		Reduced clinical deficits with Cd87-/- BM, partial protection of Cd87-/- hosts	(15)

TABLE 1 | Studies of intrinsic and contact system factors: effects on neuroinflammatory processes in transgenic mice or using pharmacological substances.

AT, adoptive transfer; B1R, bradykinin receptor 1; B2R, bradykinin receptor 2; BK, bradykinin; BM, bone marrow; CCL, chemokine (C–C) motif ligand; DC, dendritic cells; EAE; experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; FXIIa, activated factor XII; IL, interleukin; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; PLP, proteolipid protein; rHA, recombinant human albumin; RR, relapsing–remitting; T_H17, IL-17A-producing effector T helper cells.

As aforementioned, FXIIa leads to the cleavage of FXI (Figure 1). However, studies from our laboratory indicate that the latter factor has no significant role in EAE (see also Table 1), suggesting that not the entire intrinsic coagulation system is involved, but rather that the effect of FXII in neuroinflammation is dependent on other pathways triggered by FXII (15).

In particular, besides hemostasis, FXII leads to the activation of the contact system and hereby to the release of BK (Figure 2). Reports on the function of BK in MS and EAE remain contradictory. While three reports described a protective role of genetic or pharmacological inhibition of one distinct bradykinin receptor (bradykinin receptor 1, B1R), another study demonstrated enhanced inflammation by B1R blockade (see also Table 1) (25-28). For MS patients, B1R has been shown to have a detrimental effect, as it is upregulated on T-lymphocytes from patients with either secondary progressive MS or relapsing-remitting MS during active relapse (17). Levels of B1R expression on mononuclear cells correlate positively with the Expanded Disability Status Scale, with occurrence of clinical relapses and lesion volumes on T2-weighted images, but not with gadolinium-enhancing lesions (40). Furthermore, a potential role for B1R has been described in the regulation of blood-brain barrier permeability and chemokine production (18), indicating this factor's involvement in neuroinflammation.

FXII has the capacity to activate the classic complement pathway by direct cleavage of C1q (20). However, it has been shown that C1q has no influence on neuroinflammation, at least in terms of clinical symptoms (30). It is known that PK can activate the complement components C3 and C5 (20). However, reports on these members of the complement system in the context of neuroinflammation remain elusive. While three reports showed a significant role of C3, as C3-deficient animals had an attenuated EAE disease course and reduced T-cell infiltration (31, 33, 34), another study showed no clinical differences, but a tendency to enhanced inflammation and demyelination (32). For C5, a dual role in EAE has been suggested: One study revealed that C5 leads to reduced inflammation and tissue repair in acute lesions, while this factor seemed to be responsible for increased axonal damage and enhanced gliosis in chronic lesions (35). Furthermore, it has been shown that C5 can limit oligodendrocyte apoptosis in EAE, thus promoting remyelination (36). Use of transgenic mice that express C5 under the astrocytic-specific glial fibrillary acidic protein promoter revealed no significant contribution to disease development of this component in the CNS (37), so that the role of complement in EAE remains contradictory.

Although most investigations focus on FXII as a serine protease, FXII can interact with cells independently of its enzymatic activity. In line with this, FXII can bind to urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR, CD87; **Figures 1** and **3**) (20). Studies from our laboratory have demonstrated high levels of CD87 on DC. In this context, we could show that FXII exerts its immunoregulatory effects directly *via* CD87 and by regulating cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and thereby cytokine levels (e.g., IL-6, IL-23) in DC. In contrast, we could rule out the involvement of alternative FXII-triggered pathways, such as the intrinsic coagulation, the contact and complement systems, for EAE pathogenesis.

However, reports on the relevance of CD87 inhibition, *per se*, in EAE remain contradictory: while two reports indicated a protective role in terms of clinical score and inflammation, when CD87 was missing (15, 39), and another showed enhanced inflammation (38).

In conclusion, the data so far indicate a significant role of FXII and downstream factors and pathways in neuroinflammation. However, further studies are needed to clarify remaining contradictions.

Fibrinogen and Neuroinflammation

Fibrinogen (Factor I) is a 340-kDa glycoprotein that is synthesized in the liver (41). It is activated to fibrin by thrombin, exposing several polymerization sites that are crosslinked to an insoluble fibrin clot under the involvement of activated factor XIII (41, 42). Although activation of the coagulation system and thereby fibrin formation is essential for stopping lethal hemorrhage, the deposition of fibrin is carefully regulated to avoid thrombotic incidents (43). This is achieved by the fibrinolytic system in which plasmin especially counterbalances the procoagulatory signals, leads to clot dissolution, and results in the generation of soluble fibrin fragments, such as fragments D and E, and D-dimers (44). Plasmin generation is regulated by two proteases, tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and uPA (45), which are controlled by plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1; **Figures 1** and **4**) (46).

Under physiological conditions, the plasma concentration of fibrinogen is between 2 and 4 g/l; however, it is known that this concentration can rapidly increase under pathological conditions (acute phase reactions), such as injury, infection, or inflammation (47, 48). Similarly, elevated levels of fibrin degradation products, such as D-dimer, are used in clinical practice as indicators of inflammation and risk predictors of thrombotic events (49). In the majority of cases, the proinflammatory function of fibrin/fibrinogen is mediated by its ability to bind to different immune cells for instance to the CD11b/CD18 integrin receptor (also termed Mac-1) on macrophages, monocytes, or microglia that induces the release of reactive oxygen species and is required for axonal damage in EAE (8, 47, 50). In this context, it has been shown that binding of fibrin/fibrinogen to the CD11b/ CD18 integrin receptor results in activation of proinflammatory cascades, such as nuclear factor κB , which leads to the release of inflammatory cytokines, like tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α or IL-1 β (51, 52) and can thereby influence diseases such as RA (53) or colitis-associated cancer (Figure 4) (54). In addition, fibrinogen-dependent effects of platelets may also contribute to EAE disease pathogenesis (55).

A detrimental role of fibrin/fibrinogen has also been suggested for neuroinflammation, as fibrin deposition in the CNS correlates with microglial activation in active MS lesions (56, 57). In line with this finding, it has been shown that fibrinogen can directly activate microglia, enhance their phagocytic ability, induce peripheral macrophage recruitment and local CNS activation of myelin antigen-specific $T_{\rm H}1$ cells (58, 59). Moreover, genetic deletion of fibrinogen resulted in reduced inflammation





and demyelination using a TNF transgenic model of MS (mice that lack the TNF receptor, develop spontaneous clinical symptoms of paralysis, and die by 5 weeks of age; $TgK21fib^{-/-}$; see also **Table 2**) (60). Furthermore, inhibition of fibrinogen binding to CD11b/CD18 by genetic mutation of the CD11b/CD18-binding motif ($Fib\gamma^{390-396A}$) (61) or a peptide ($\gamma^{377-395}$) results in reduced microglial activation and an attenuated disease course in EAE (see also **Table 2**) (58).

Interestingly, none of these inhibitory approaches interferes with the clotting function of fibrinogen (53, 58). Moreover, staphylococcal-derived extracellular adherence protein, which, among others, interferes with the interaction between CD11b/ CD18 and fibrinogen, also suppressed murine EAE disease severity (67), while pharmacological treatment strategies with snake venom-derived defibrinogenating agents, such as ancrod or batroxobin, suppress clinical symptoms in different animal models of MS (see also **Table 2**) (60, 62–64, 68).

Enhanced fibrin deposition is usually counterbalanced by plasmin that is generated by tPA and uPA. Interestingly, uPA as well as PAI-1 are significantly increased in acute MS lesions, while tPA levels are unchanged (69, 70). Results concerning tPA activity remain contradictory; while one report indicates a reduction in tPA activity in normal-appearing white and gray matter and lesions of individuals with MS (70), others describe a significant increase of activity in lesions and the cerebrospinal fluid of MS patients during the acute, but not the chronic disease phase (71).

When EAE was induced in $uPA^{-/-}$ mice, these animals displayed an aggravated disease course. This finding was accompanied by enhanced microglial activation (see also **Table 2**) (38). In line with these results, treatment with a PA inhibitor-derived peptide (PAI-1-dp) that increases plasminogen activation ability of uPA, suppressed the development of EAE symptoms (see also **Table 2**) (38). In contrast, another publication using ε -aminocaproic acid, an inhibitor of plasminogen and trypsinogen activator, reported a suppression of EAE severity (see also **Table 2**) (65).

Results of EAE experiments in tPA-deficient animals remain contradictory: while two publications described increased severity and a delayed recovery with enhanced demyelination and axonal damage after genetic depletion of tPA, disease onset was reported to be either earlier or delayed in the literature (see also **Table 2**) (39, 66). Due to the significant upregulation of PAI-1 in MS patients, EAE induced in PAI-1-deficient animals was shown to have moderate clinical protection with reduced perivascular cuffs, but no difference in terms of demyelination or axonal damage was observed (39).





Nonetheless, data so far indicate a significant role of local fibrin deposits in neuroinflammation and indicate a promising anti-inflammatory therapeutic potential of targeting this pathway.

Thrombin and Neuroinflammation

Prothrombin (factor II) is a soluble 72-kDa protein that is produced by the liver. It is activated to thrombin (factor IIa) *via* enzymatic cleavage of two sites by activated FX (FXa). Activated thrombin leads to cleavage of fibrinogen into fibrin monomers that, upon polymerization, form a fibrin clot. Therefore, activation of prothrombin is crucial in physiological and pathophysiological coagulation. For instance, various rare disorders, such as congenital hypoprothrombinemia (a blood disease in which deficiency of prothrombin results in impaired blood clotting) and acquired hypoprothrombinemia (e.g., in autoimmune diseases with lupus anticoagulant) have been described (72, 73).

Beyond its key role in coagulation, thrombin can mediate further effects, e.g., thrombin is a potent vasoconstrictor and is implicated in vasospasms following subarachnoid hemorrhage (74).

In terms of neuroinflammation, thrombin activity was found to be significantly increased in the spinal cord of mice with EAE (14). Thrombin activity precedes the onset of neurological signs and correlates with the amount of fibrin deposition, microglial activation, demyelination, axonal damage, and clinical severity. Interestingly, inhibition of thrombin activity by hirudin leads to a significant improvement of disease severity (13) (see also Table 2). This is accompanied by decreased immune cell proliferation and cytokine secretion, as well as a reduction in the number of inflammatory lesions (13). Furthermore, it has been shown that levels of thrombin inhibitors are significantly increased during EAE. For instance, antithrombin III (as well as protease nexin 1) were detected at higher levels in CNS homogenates during EAE compared with controls (75). Additionally, it was recently shown that prothrombin levels are elevated in plasma of patients suffering from relapsingremitting MS or secondary progressive MS indicating a prominent role of this coagulation factor in neuroinflammation (16).

Coagulation Factors in Non-Neurological Inflammatory Diseases

An increasing body of evidence also supports a decisive role of coagulation factors in regulating inflammatory responses

TABLE 2 | Studies of coagulation system factors: effects on neuroinflammatory processes using transgenic mice or pharmacological substances.

Mouse line (genetic background)	Model (peptide)	Genetic background or species	Neuroinflammatory effect	Reference	
γ ^{377–395}	Active RR-EAE (PLP)	SJL	Reduced clinical symptoms, decreased inflammation, reduced microglial activation	(58)	
Ancrod	Active RR-EAE (PLP)	SJL	Reduced clinical symptoms, decreased microglial activation and demyelination, no impact on immune cell proliferation	(58)	
	TNF-transgenic model (no peptide, spontaneous)	Tg6072 TNF transgenic mice	Reduced demyelination, downregulation of MHC-I	(60)	
	Active EAE	Rat	Reduced clinical symptoms, decreased inflammation and fibrin deposition	(62)	
Batroxobin	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Reduced clinical symptoms, decreased inflammation, demyelination, no effect on axonal damage	(63)	
	AT-EAE (GP-MBP)	Rat	Attenuated disease course, reduced fibrin depositions, no effect on inflammation and immune cell proliferation	(64)	
ε-Aminocaproic acid	Active EAE	Rat	Attenuated disease course	(65)	
Fibγ ^{390–3964}	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Reduced clinical symptoms, decreased inflammation, demyelination, reduced microglial activation	(58)	
Hirudin	Active EAE (PLP)	SJL/J	Improvement of clinical deficits, reduced inflammation, decreased immune cell proliferation and cytokine production	(13)	
PAI-1-/-	Active CREAE (spinal cord homogenate)	ABH	Reduced incidence, moderately delayed onset, reduced inflammation, no effect on demyelination and axonal damage	(39)	
PAI-1-dp (uPA activator)	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Attenuated disease course, reduced Tcell proliferation and cytokine production	(38)	
TgK21fib-/-	TNF-transgenic model (no peptide, spontaneous)		Increased lifespan, delayed onset of clinical symptoms, reduced inflammation and demyelination	(60)	
tPA-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Aggravated disease course, enhanced demyelination, axonal damage, fibrin deposition	(39)	
			Delayed disease onset, aggravated disease course, delayed, but prolonged demyelination and axonal damage, reduced microglial activation	(66)	
uPA-/-	Active EAE (MOG)	C57BL/6	Aggravated disease course, enhanced inflammation and microglial activation	(38)	

AT, adoptive transfer; CREAE, chronic relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis; EAE, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis; MHC-I, major histocompatibility complex class I; MOG, myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein; PAI-I, plasminogen activator inhibitor I; PAI-I-dp, plasminogen activator inhibitor I-deprived; PLP, proteolipid protein; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; tPA, tissue plasminogen activator; uPA, urokinase plasminogen activator; RR, relapsing–remitting.

in non-neurological inflammatory diseases. For instance, a substantial contribution of different coagulation factors has been suggested in RA or inflammatory joint disease as fibrin depositions can be found in the joints of patients with RA (76). Moreover, the degradation products of fibrin, such as D-dimer, are used as common biomarkers for disease activity (77, 78). In vitro, it was shown that fibrinogen can enhance IL-8 secretion and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 expression from human synovial fibroblasts, leading to enhanced lymphocyte adhesiveness (79). A further direct proinflammatory role of fibrin/fibrinogen was suggested in RA pathogenesis as its genetic depletion in mice leads to an improvement in the clinical symptoms in animal models of RA and results in decreased synovial inflammation (see Table 3) (53). Interestingly, it was shown that the interaction of fibrinogen with immune cells via CD11b/CD18 is the relevant partner for this effect. Furthermore, pharmacological inhibition of thrombin via

hirudin resulted in a significant reduction in synovial inflammation and disease severity in two different animal models of RA (see **Table 3**) (80, 81). In this context, it could be shown that the plasmin activity is decreased, while PAI-1 levels are increased in both blood and inflamed joints of mice with collageninduced arthritis (CIA) (82).

While treatment with uPA and tPA improves plasmin activity and removes fibrinogen depositions in joints, disease severity remains unchanged, challenging the pathophysiological role of fibrinogen in this context (82). Nonetheless, a significant contribution of uPA could be seen in other studies, but this remains contradictory for different arthritis models: in monoarticular models, uPA-deficient mice had an aggravated disease course (90, 93). In contrast, other studies using polyarticular animal models demonstrated resistance to or suppression of disease and reduced inflammation in animals lacking uPA, indicating a distinct role of uPA in different types of arthritis (91, 92, 94–96). TABLE 3 | Studies of coagulation system factors: effects on inflammatory processes using transgenic mice or pharmacological substances.

Mouse line or treatment	Model (peptide)	Genetic background or species	Effect in arthritis and colitis models	Reference
B1R/B2R-/-	CAIA (anti-CII antibodies)	C57BL/6	Decreased clinical symptoms, reduced inflammation and cytokine levels	(83)
C11C1 (HMWK antibody)	Reactive arthritis (PG-PS) Spontaneous arthritis	Lewis rats HLA-B27 transgenic rats	Reduced joint diameter, local inflammation Reduced joint destruction, inflammation	(84) (85)
Fib-/-	CIA (type II collagen)	DBA/1J	Reduced incidence, severity, joint destruction, synovial inflammation	(53)
Fib-/-	Colitis-associated cancer (DSS)	C57BL/6	Reduced inflammation-driven adenoma formation	(54)
Fib ^{∆5}	CIA (type II collagen)	DBA/1J	No effect on incidence and severity	(53)
Fibγ ³⁹⁰⁻³⁹⁶⁴	CIA (type II collagen)	DBA/1J	Reduced incidence, severity, joint destruction, synovial inflammation	
Fiby ³⁹⁰⁻³⁹⁶⁴	Colitis (DSS)	C57BL/6	Diminished inflammatory disease, reduced ulceration, cytokine levels and neutrophil infiltration	
Fibγ ³⁹⁰⁻³⁹⁶⁴	Colitis-associated cancer (DSS)	C57BL/6	Reduced inflammation-driven adenoma formation	
Heparin	CIA (type II collagen)	DBA/1	No effect on clinical score	(82)
Hirudin	AIA (mBSA)	C57BL/6	Reduced knee joint inflammation, fibrin deposition	(80)
	CIA (type II collagen)	DBA/1J	Decreased disease incidence, severity, reduced loss of articular cartilage, inflammation, fibrin deposition and PAR-1 expression	(81)
HMWK-/-	Reactive arthritis (PG-PS)	Rats	No clinical signs of arthritis, absence of inflammation	(86)
MEN16132 (B2R antagonist)	Inflammatory arthritis (carrageenan)	Rats	Reduced knee diameter and myeloperoxidase activity	(87)
P8720 (PK inhibitor)	Reactive arthritis (PG-PS)	Lewis rats	Decreased joint swelling, reduced inflammation	
PKSI-527 (PK inhibitor)	CIA (type II collagen)	DBA/1	Reduced severity of arthritis, reduced PK and HMWK plasma levels	(89)
Plg-/-	AIA (mBSA)	C57BL/6	Enhanced inflammation, bone erosion, synovial thickness, fibrin deposition	(90)
Plg-/-	CIA (type II collagen)	C57BL/6xDBA/1	No clinical symptoms of disease, no signs of inflammation	(91)
	CAIA (anti-CII antibodies)		No clinical symptoms of disease, no signs of inflammation	(91)
	AIA (mBSA)		Enhanced synovial thickness	(92)
	CIA (type II collagen)		Reduced synovial thickness	(92)
Tg197Fib-/-	TNF-transgenic model, spontaneous polyarthritis		No effect on incidence, severity, inflammation, joint destruction	(53)
uPA	CIA (type II collagen)	DBA/1	No effect on clinical score, reduced fibrin deposits in joints, decreased plasma p-dimer level	(82)
uPA-/-	AIA (mBSA)	Ola129xC57BL/6	Enhanced joint inflammation, bone erosion, synovial thickness, fibrin deposition	(90)
uPA-/-	Monoarticular arthritis (mBSA/IL-1)	C57BL/6	Enhanced arthritis, fibrin deposition, increased numbers of macrophages	(93)
	CIA (type II collagen)		Reduced clinical symptoms, decreased inflammation, cartilage destruction, bone erosion, reduced cytokine production	(94)
	CAIA (M2139, CIIC1 antibodies)		No clinical signs of disease	(95)
	AIA (mBSA)		Enhanced proteoglycan loss, inflammation, bone erosion	(92, 96)
uPA-/-	CIA (type II collagen)	C57BL/6xDBA/1	Reduced clinical symptoms, no histological changes	(91)
	K/BxN serum transfer arthritis (K/BxN serum)		No clinical signs of disease, reduced inflammation, bone erosion, fibrin deposition	(95, 96)

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Mouse line or treatment	Model (peptide)	Genetic background or species	Effect in arthritis and colitis models	Reference
tPA-/-	Monoarticular arthritis (mBSA/IL-1)	C57BL/6	Enhanced arthritis, fibrin deposition, increased numbers of macrophages	(93)
	CIA (type II collagen)		Aggravated clinical symptoms, enhanced inflammation, cartilage destruction, bone erosion, fibrin deposition	(94)

AIA, antigen-induced arthritis; B1R, bradykinin receptor I; B2R, bradykinin receptor 2; CAIA, type II collagen mAb-induced arthritis; CIA, collagen-induced arthritis; CII, collagen type II; DSS, dextran sulfate sodium; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; HMWK, high molecular weight kininogen; mBSA, methylated bovine serum albumin; PAR-1, protease-activated receptor; PG-PS, peptidoglycan-polysaccharide; PK, plasma kallikrein; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; tPA, tissue plasminogen activator; uPA, urokinase plasminogen activator.

The same result was observed in plasminogen-deficient animals (90–92). In contrast to uPA, studies using tPA-deficient animals have so far indicated an aggravated disease course with enhanced inflammation (93, 94).

A substantial role for the contact system in arthritis has been discussed. For instance, FXIIa levels were significantly increased in RA patients compared with healthy controls (97). Furthermore, pharmacological blockade of PK by different inhibitors revealed reduced disease severity and inflammation in different models of arthritis (88, 89). In line with these findings, genetic or pharmacological inhibition of HMWK leads to an attenuation of PK-kinin system activation, local and systemic inflammation, indicating a therapeutic potential in RA (84–86). Moreover, arthritis severity is significantly attenuated in mice lacking B1R and B2R (83) or by treatment with a B2R antagonist (87, 98).

In addition to RA, potential drugability of the coagulation system and its factors is under consideration for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. Interestingly, it was shown that patients with Crohn's disease have significantly higher levels of C1-inhibitor and intestinal tissue kallikrein, while plasma levels of prekallikrein, FXI, and HMWK are unaltered (99). Furthermore, inflammatory bowel disease in humans is associated with higher plasma levels of fibrinogen, prothrombin, factor V, factor VIII, plasminogen, and platelets (100). In line with these findings, animal models of colitis have demonstrated reduced inflammation in animals with a genetic disruption to the binding of fibrinogen to the CD11b/ CD18 integrin receptor (see Table 3) (54). Since a link between chronic inflammation and tumor development, e.g., colitis and colorectal cancer, could be established (101), it is interesting that both fibrinogen-deficient mice and mice with a genetic disruption of the interaction between fibrinogen and the CD11b/CD18 integrin receptor develop significantly fewer adenomas (54).

Collectively, these results demonstrate a clear role of the coagulation system, not only in neuroinflammation, but also in other autoimmune and inflammatory disorders.

REFERENCES

- Macfarlane RG. An enzyme cascade in the blood clotting mechanism, and its function as a biochemical amplifier. *Nature* (1964) 202:498–9. doi:10.1038/ 202498a0
- Schoenmakers SH, Reitsma PH, Spek CA. Blood coagulation factors as inflammatory mediators. *Blood Cells Mol Dis* (2005) 34(1):30–7. doi:10.1016/j. bcmd.2004.09.001

CONCLUSION

In this review, we have discussed the links between coagulation and inflammation, focusing on the role of different coagulation factors in neuroinflammatory disorders. Overall, it becomes increasingly clear that the deposition of different coagulation factors in the CNS tissue may trigger exacerbation of inflammation, thereby limiting regenerative mechanisms. A prominent role was especially described for fibrinogen, thrombin, and factor XII. As novel molecular and cellular binding partners are identified, the role of coagulation factors is evolving from hemostasis regulators to multi-faceted signal molecules, which control the balance between immune defense mechanisms and extensive inflammation.

Interestingly, the binding of coagulation factors to their cellular targets requires distinct non-overlapping epitopes and is usually independent of their protease function. Taking advantage of this knowledge, targeted inhibition of coagulation factors that facilitate disease pathogenesis without affecting their protease activity represents an ideal strategy for pharmacological intervention in different neuroinflammatory disorders without unwarranted side-effects like bleeding. Therefore, future studies are needed to elucidate the exact contribution of blood proteins to autoimmune neurodegeneration.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KG drafted the manuscript. SE, HW, TC, CK, and SM extensively revised the manuscript. KG and TC funded the study. All authors provided substantial input throughout the process.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Else-Kröner-Fresenius-Stiftung EKFS (2015_A113 to KG), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft DFG (GO2505/1-1 to KG), the Medical Faculty (Junior Research Group to KG), and the European Community's Seventh Framework Program (under grant agreement No. 602699— DIREKT to TC).

- McMichael M. New models of hemostasis. Top Companion Anim Med (2012) 27(2):40–5. doi:10.1053/j.tcam.2012.07.005
- Gailani D, Broze GJ Jr. Factor XI activation in a revised model of blood coagulation. *Science* (1991) 253(5022):909–12. doi:10.1126/science. 1652157
- Lippi G, Favaloro EJ, Franchini M, Guidi GC. Milestones and perspectives in coagulation and hemostasis. Semin Thromb Hemost (2009) 35(1):9–22. doi:10.1055/s-0029-1214144

- Strukova SM. Thrombin as a regulator of inflammation and reparative processes in tissues. *Biochemistry (Mosc)* (2001) 66(1):8–18. doi:10.1023/ A:1002869310180
- Mackman N. The many faces of tissue factor. J Thromb Haemost (2009) 7(Suppl 1):136–9. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03368.x
- Davalos D, Akassoglou K. Fibrinogen as a key regulator of inflammation in disease. Semin Immunopathol (2012) 34(1):43-62. doi:10.1007/s00281-011-0290-8
- Chavakis T, Boeckel N, Santoso S, Voss R, Isordia-Salas I, Pixley RA, et al. Inhibition of platelet adhesion and aggregation by a defined region (Gly-486-Lys-502) of high molecular weight kininogen. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(26): 23157–64. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202529200
- Chavakis T, Pixley RA, Isordia-Salas I, Colman RW, Preissner KT. A novel antithrombotic role for high molecular weight kininogen as inhibitor of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 function. J Biol Chem (2002) 277(36): 32677–82. doi:10.1074/jbc.M204010200
- Chavakis T, Kanse SM, Pixley RA, May AE, Isordia-Salas I, Colman RW, et al. Regulation of leukocyte recruitment by polypeptides derived from high molecular weight kininogen. *FASEB J* (2001) 15(13):2365–76. doi:10.1096/ fj.01-0201com
- Leeb-Lundberg LM, Marceau F, Muller-Esterl W, Pettibone DJ, Zuraw BL. International union of pharmacology. XLV. Classification of the kinin receptor family: from molecular mechanisms to pathophysiological consequences. *Pharmacol Rev* (2005) 57(1):27–77. doi:10.1124/pr.57.1.2
- Han MH, Hwang SI, Roy DB, Lundgren DH, Price JV, Ousman SS, et al. Proteomic analysis of active multiple sclerosis lesions reveals therapeutic targets. *Nature* (2008) 451(7182):1076–81. doi:10.1038/nature06559
- Davalos D, Baeten KM, Whitney MA, Mullins ES, Friedman B, Olson ES, et al. Early detection of thrombin activity in neuroinflammatory disease. *Ann Neurol* (2014) 75(2):303–8. doi:10.1002/ana.24078
- Gobel K, Pankratz S, Asaridou CM, Herrmann AM, Bittner S, Merker M, et al. Blood coagulation factor XII drives adaptive immunity during neuroinflammation via CD87-mediated modulation of dendritic cells. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:11626. doi:10.1038/ncomms11626
- Gobel K, Kraft P, Pankratz S, Gross CC, Korsukewitz C, Kwiecien R, et al. Prothrombin and factor X are elevated in multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol* (2016) 80(6):946–51. doi:10.1002/ana.24807
- Prat A, Weinrib L, Becher B, Poirier J, Duquette P, Couture R, et al. Bradykinin B1 receptor expression and function on T lymphocytes in active multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (1999) 53(9):2087–92. doi:10.1212/WNL.53.9.2087
- Prat A, Biernacki K, Pouly S, Nalbantoglu J, Couture R, Antel JP. Kinin B1 receptor expression and function on human brain endothelial cells. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* (2000) 59(10):896–906. doi:10.1093/jnen/59.10.896
- Stavrou E, Schmaier AH. Factor XII: what does it contribute to our understanding of the physiology and pathophysiology of hemostasis & thrombosis. *Thromb Res* (2010) 125(3):210–5. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2009.11.028
- Schmaier AH. The elusive physiologic role of Factor XII. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(9):3006–9. doi:10.1172/JCI36617
- Renne T, Schmaier AH, Nickel KF, Blomback M, Maas C. In vivo roles of factor XII. *Blood* (2012) 120(22):4296–303. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-07-292094
- Spronk HM, Dielis AW, Panova-Noeva M, van Oerle R, Govers-Riemslag JW, Hamulyak K, et al. Monitoring thrombin generation: is addition of corn trypsin inhibitor needed? *Thromb Haemost* (2009) 101(6):1156–62. doi:10.1160/ TH08-10-0670
- Kleinschnitz C, Stoll G, Bendszus M, Schuh K, Pauer HU, Burfeind P, et al. Targeting coagulation factor XII provides protection from pathological thrombosis in cerebral ischemia without interfering with hemostasis. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(3):513–8. doi:10.1084/jem.20052458
- Hagedorn I, Schmidbauer S, Pleines I, Kleinschnitz C, Kronthaler U, Stoll G, et al. Factor XIIa inhibitor recombinant human albumin Infestin-4 abolishes occlusive arterial thrombus formation without affecting bleeding. *Circulation* (2010) 121(13):1510–7. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.924761
- Gobel K, Pankratz S, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Bittner S, Schuhmann MK, Langer HF, et al. Blockade of the kinin receptor B1 protects from autoimmune CNS disease by reducing leukocyte trafficking. *J Autoimmun* (2011) 36(2):106–14. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2010.11.004
- 26. Schulze-Topphoff U, Prat A, Prozorovski T, Siffrin V, Paterka M, Herz J, et al. Activation of kinin receptor B1 limits encephalitogenic T lymphocyte

recruitment to the central nervous system. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(7):788–93. doi:10.1038/nm.1980

- 27. Dutra RC, Leite DF, Bento AF, Manjavachi MN, Patricio ES, Figueiredo CP, et al. The role of kinin receptors in preventing neuroinflammation and its clinical severity during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(11):e27875. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027875
- Dutra RC, Bento AF, Leite DF, Manjavachi MN, Marcon R, Bicca MA, et al. The role of kinin B1 and B2 receptors in the persistent pain induced by experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in mice: evidence for the involvement of astrocytes. *Neurobiol Dis* (2013) 54:82–93. doi:10.1016/j. nbd.2013.02.007
- Dos Santos AC, Roffe E, Arantes RM, Juliano L, Pesquero JL, Pesquero JB, et al. Kinin B2 receptor regulates chemokines CCL2 and CCL5 expression and modulates leukocyte recruitment and pathology in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in mice. *J Neuroinflammation* (2008) 5:49. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-5-49
- Urich E, Gutcher I, Prinz M, Becher B. Autoantibody-mediated demyelination depends on complement activation but not activatory Fc-receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103(49):18697–702. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0607283103
- Nataf S, Carroll SL, Wetsel RA, Szalai AJ, Barnum SR. Attenuation of experimental autoimmune demyelination in complement-deficient mice. *J Immunol* (2000) 165(10):5867–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.10.5867
- 32. Calida DM, Constantinescu C, Purev E, Zhang GX, Ventura ES, Lavi E, et al. Cutting edge: C3, a key component of complement activation, is not required for the development of myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein peptideinduced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(2):723–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.2.723
- Szalai AJ, Hu X, Adams JE, Barnum SR. Complement in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis revisited: C3 is required for development of maximal disease. *Mol Immunol* (2007) 44(12):3132–6. doi:10.1016/j. molimm.2007.02.002
- Smith SS, Ludwig M, Wohler JE, Bullard DC, Szalai AJ, Barnum SR. Deletion of both ICAM-1 and C3 enhances severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis compared to C3-deficient mice. *Neurosci Lett* (2008) 442(2):158–60. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.07.005
- Weerth SH, Rus H, Shin ML, Raine CS. Complement C5 in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) facilitates remyelination and prevents gliosis. *Am J Pathol* (2003) 163(3):1069–80. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440 (10)63466-9
- Niculescu T, Weerth S, Niculescu F, Cudrici C, Rus V, Raine CS, et al. Effects of complement C5 on apoptosis in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(9):5702–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172. 9.5702
- Reiman R, Campos Torres A, Martin BK, Ting JP, Campbell IL, Barnum SR. Expression of C5a in the brain does not exacerbate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Neurosci Lett* (2005) 390(3):134–8. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2005.08.022
- Gur-Wahnon D, Mizrachi T, Maaravi-Pinto FY, Lourbopoulos A, Grigoriadis N, Higazi AA, et al. The plasminogen activator system: involvement in central nervous system inflammation and a potential site for therapeutic intervention. J Neuroinflammation (2013) 10:124. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-124
- East E, Baker D, Pryce G, Lijnen HR, Cuzner ML, Gveric D. A role for the plasminogen activator system in inflammation and neurodegeneration in the central nervous system during experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Am J Pathol* (2005) 167(2):545–54. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62996-3
- Prat A, Biernacki K, Saroli T, Orav JE, Guttmann CR, Weiner HL, et al. Kinin B1 receptor expression on multiple sclerosis mononuclear cells: correlation with magnetic resonance imaging T2-weighted lesion volume and clinical disability. *Arch Neurol* (2005) 62(5):795–800. doi:10.1001/archneur. 62.5.795
- Weisel JW. Fibrinogen and fibrin. Adv Protein Chem (2005) 70:247–99. doi:10.1016/S0065-3233(05)70008-5
- Fuss C, Palmaz JC, Sprague EA. Fibrinogen: structure, function, and surface interactions. J Vasc Interv Radiol (2001) 12(6):677–82. doi:10.1016/S1051-0443(07)61437-7
- Mosesson MW. Dysfibrinogenemia and thrombosis. Semin Thromb Hemost (1999) 25(3):311–9. doi:10.1055/s-2007-994933

- Sidelmann JJ, Gram J, Jespersen J, Kluft C. Fibrin clot formation and lysis: basic mechanisms. Semin Thromb Hemost (2000) 26(6):605–18. doi:10.1055/s-2000-13216
- Lijnen HR. Elements of the fibrinolytic system. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2001) 936:226–36. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2001.tb03511.x
- East E, Gveric D, Baker D, Pryce G, Lijnen HR, Cuzner ML. Chronic relapsing experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (CREAE) in plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 knockout mice: the effect of fibrinolysis during neuroinflammation. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* (2008) 34(2):216–30. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2990.2007.00889.x
- Adams RA, Passino M, Sachs BD, Nuriel T, Akassoglou K. Fibrin mechanisms and functions in nervous system pathology. *Mol Interv* (2004) 4(3):163–76. doi:10.1124/mi.4.3.6
- Tennent GA, Brennan SO, Stangou AJ, O'Grady J, Hawkins PN, Pepys MB. Human plasma fibrinogen is synthesized in the liver. *Blood* (2007) 109(5): 1971–4. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-08-040956
- Lowe GD. Fibrinogen measurement to assess the risk of arterial thrombosis in individual patients: not yet. J Thromb Haemost (2005) 3(4):635–7. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01256.x
- Solovjov DA, Pluskota E, Plow EF. Distinct roles for the alpha and beta subunits in the functions of integrin alphaMbeta2. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280(2):1336–45. doi:10.1074/jbc.M406968200
- Perez RL, Roman J. Fibrin enhances the expression of IL-1 beta by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Implications in pulmonary inflammation. *J Immunol* (1995) 154(4):1879–87.
- Perez RL, Ritzenthaler JD, Roman J. Transcriptional regulation of the interleukin-1beta promoter via fibrinogen engagement of the CD18 integrin receptor. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1999) 20(5):1059–66. doi:10.1165/ajrcmb. 20.5.3281
- Flick MJ, LaJeunesse CM, Talmage KE, Witte DP, Palumbo JS, Pinkerton MD, et al. Fibrin(ogen) exacerbates inflammatory joint disease through a mechanism linked to the integrin alphaMbeta2 binding motif. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117(11):3224–35. doi:10.1172/JCI30134
- 54. Steinbrecher KA, Horowitz NA, Blevins EA, Barney KA, Shaw MA, Harmel-Laws E, et al. Colitis-associated cancer is dependent on the interplay between the hemostatic and inflammatory systems and supported by integrin alpha(M)beta(2) engagement of fibrinogen. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(7):2634–43. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3465
- Langer HF, Choi EY, Zhou H, Schleicher R, Chung KJ, Tang Z, et al. Platelets contribute to the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Circ Res* (2012) 110(9):1202–10. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 111.256370
- Wakefield AJ, More LJ, Difford J, McLaughlin JE. Immunohistochemical study of vascular injury in acute multiple sclerosis. *J Clin Pathol* (1994) 47(2):129–33. doi:10.1136/jcp.47.2.129
- 57. Gay FW, Drye TJ, Dick GW, Esiri MM. The application of multifactorial cluster analysis in the staging of plaques in early multiple sclerosis. Identification and characterization of the primary demyelinating lesion. *Brain* (1997) 120(Pt 8):1461–83. doi:10.1093/brain/120.8.1461
- Adams RA, Bauer J, Flick MJ, Sikorski SL, Nuriel T, Lassmann H, et al. The fibrin-derived gamma377-395 peptide inhibits microglia activation and suppresses relapsing paralysis in central nervous system autoimmune disease. J Exp Med (2007) 204(3):571–82. doi:10.1084/jem.20061931
- Ryu JK, Petersen MA, Murray SG, Baeten KM, Meyer-Franke A, Chan JP, et al. Blood coagulation protein fibrinogen promotes autoimmunity and demyelination via chemokine release and antigen presentation. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8164. doi:10.1038/ncomms9164
- Akassoglou K, Adams RA, Bauer J, Mercado P, Tseveleki V, Lassmann H, et al. Fibrin depletion decreases inflammation and delays the onset of demyelination in a tumor necrosis factor transgenic mouse model for multiple sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(17):6698–703. doi:10.1073/pnas.0303859101
- Flick MJ, Du X, Witte DP, Jirouskova M, Soloviev DA, Busuttil SJ, et al. Leukocyte engagement of fibrin(ogen) via the integrin receptor alphaMbeta2/Mac-1 is critical for host inflammatory response in vivo. *J Clin Invest* (2004) 113(11):1596–606. doi:10.1172/JCI20741
- Paterson PY. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: role of fibrin deposition in immunopathogenesis of inflammation in rats. *Fed Proc* (1976) 35(13):2428–34.

- Yang Y, Tian SJ, Wu L, Huang DH, Wu WP. Fibrinogen depleting agent batroxobin has a beneficial effect on experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2011) 31(3):437–48. doi:10.1007/s10571-010-9637-2
- Inoue A, Koh CS, Shimada K, Yanagisawa N, Yoshimura K. Suppression of cell-transferred experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in defibrinated Lewis rats. *J Neuroimmunol* (1996) 71(1–2):131–7. doi:10.1016/ S0165-5728(96)00150-6
- Sibley WA, Kiernat J, Laguna JF. The modification of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis with epsilon aminocaproic acid. *Neurology* (1978) 28(9 Pt 2):102–5. doi:10.1212/WNL.28.9_Part_2.102
- Lu W, Bhasin M, Tsirka SE. Involvement of tissue plasminogen activator in onset and effector phases of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci* (2002) 22(24):10781–9. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-24-10781.2002
- Xie C, Alcaide P, Geisbrecht BV, Schneider D, Herrmann M, Preissner KT, et al. Suppression of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by extracellular adherence protein of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Exp Med (2006) 203(4): 985–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20051681
- Paterson PY. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis-inducing activity of synthetic polyadenylic and polyuridylic homopolymers and complexes in guinea pigs. *Cell Immunol* (1976) 21(1):48–55. doi:10.1016/0008-8749 (76)90326-9
- Gveric D, Hanemaaijer R, Newcombe J, van Lent NA, Sier CF, Cuzner ML. Plasminogen activators in multiple sclerosis lesions: implications for the inflammatory response and axonal damage. *Brain* (2001) 124(Pt 10):1978–88. doi:10.1093/brain/124.10.1978
- Gveric D, Herrera B, Petzold A, Lawrence DA, Cuzner ML. Impaired fibrinolysis in multiple sclerosis: a role for tissue plasminogen activator inhibitors. *Brain* (2003) 126(Pt 7):1590–8. doi:10.1093/brain/awg167
- Akenami FO, Siren V, Koskiniemi M, Siimes MA, Teravainen H, Vaheri A. Cerebrospinal fluid activity of tissue plasminogen activator in patients with neurological diseases. *J Clin Pathol* (1996) 49(7):577–80. doi:10.1136/jcp. 49.7.577
- Mazodier K, Arnaud L, Mathian A, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Haroche J, Frances C, et al. Lupus anticoagulant-hypoprothrombinemia syndrome: report of 8 cases and review of the literature. *Medicine (Baltimore)* (2012) 91(5):251–60. doi:10.1097/MD.0b013e31826b971f
- Lancellotti S, Basso M, De Cristofaro R. Congenital prothrombin deficiency: an update. Semin Thromb Hemost (2013) 39(6):596–606. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1348948
- Hirano K, Hirano M. Current perspective on the role of the thrombin receptor in cerebral vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Pharmacol Sci* (2010) 114(2):127–33. doi:10.1254/jphs.10R03CP
- Beilin O, Karussis DM, Korczyn AD, Gurwitz D, Aronovich R, Hantai D, et al. Increased thrombin inhibition in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neurosci Res* (2005) 79(3):351–9. doi:10.1002/jnr.20270
- Lee DM, Weinblatt ME. Rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet (2001) 358(9285): 903–11. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06075-5
- So AK, Varisco PA, Kemkes-Matthes B, Herkenne-Morard C, Chobaz-Peclat V, Gerster JC, et al. Arthritis is linked to local and systemic activation of coagulation and fibrinolysis pathways. *J Thromb Haemost* (2003) 1(12):2510–5. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2003.00462.x
- Ingegnoli F, Fantini F, Favalli EG, Soldi A, Griffini S, Galbiati V, et al. Inflammatory and prothrombotic biomarkers in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade. *J Autoimmun* (2008) 31(2):175–9. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2008.07.002
- Liu X, Piela-Smith TH. Fibrin(ogen)-induced expression of ICAM-1 and chemokines in human synovial fibroblasts. *J Immunol* (2000) 165(9):5255–61. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.9.5255
- Varisco PA, Peclat V, van Ness K, Bischof-Delaloye A, So A, Busso N. Effect of thrombin inhibition on synovial inflammation in antigen induced arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2000) 59(10):781–7. doi:10.1136/ard.59.10.781
- Marty I, Peclat V, Kirdaite G, Salvi R, So A, Busso N. Amelioration of collagen-induced arthritis by thrombin inhibition. *J Clin Invest* (2001) 107(5):631–40. doi:10.1172/JCI11064
- Kwiecinski J, Josefsson E, Jin T. Fibrinolysis is down-regulated in mouse collagen-induced arthritis, but its normalization does not alleviate the course of disease. *Inflamm Res* (2011) 60(11):1021–9. doi:10.1007/s00011-011-0363-0

- Xie Z, Dai J, Yang A, Wu Y. A role for bradykinin in the development of anti-collagen antibody-induced arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* (2014) 53(7):1301-6. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keu015
- Espinola RG, Uknis A, Sainz IM, Isordia-Salas I, Pixley R, DeLa Cadena R, et al. A monoclonal antibody to high-molecular weight kininogen is therapeutic in a rodent model of reactive arthritis. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 165(3): 969–76. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63358-5
- Keith JC Jr, Sainz IM, Isordia-Salas I, Pixley RA, Leathurby Y, Albert LM, et al. A monoclonal antibody against kininogen reduces inflammation in the HLA-B27 transgenic rat. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2005) 7(4):R769–76. doi:10.1186/ar1728
- Sainz IM, Isordia-Salas I, Castaneda JL, Agelan A, Liu B, DeLa Cadena RA, et al. Modulation of inflammation by kininogen deficiency in a rat model of inflammatory arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52(8):2549–52. doi:10.1002/ art.21202
- Valenti C, Giuliani S, Cialdai C, Tramontana M, Maggi CA. Anti-inflammatory synergy of MEN16132, a kinin B(2) receptor antagonist, and dexamethasone in carrageenan-induced knee joint arthritis in rats. *Br J Pharmacol* (2010) 161(7):1616–27. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.00995.x
- Dela Cadena RA, Stadnicki A, Uknis AB, Sartor RB, Kettner CA, Adam A, et al. Inhibition of plasma kallikrein prevents peptidoglycan-induced arthritis in the Lewis rat. FASEB J (1995) 9(5):446–52. doi:10.1096/fasebj.9.5.7896018
- Fujimori Y, Nakamura T, Shimizu K, Yamamuro T, Wanaka K, Okamoto S, et al. Effects of a highly selective plasma kallikrein inhibitor on collageninduced arthritis in mice. *Agents Actions* (1993) 39(1–2):42–8. doi:10.1007/ BF01975713
- Busso N, Peclat V, Van Ness K, Kolodziesczyk E, Degen J, Bugge T, et al. Exacerbation of antigen-induced arthritis in urokinase-deficient mice. *J Clin Invest* (1998) 102(1):41–50. doi:10.1172/JCI2312
- Li J, Ny A, Leonardsson G, Nandakumar KS, Holmdahl R, Ny T. The plasminogen activator/plasmin system is essential for development of the joint inflammatory phase of collagen type II-induced arthritis. *Am J Pathol* (2005) 166(3):783–92. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62299-7
- Li J, Guo Y, Holmdahl R, Ny T. Contrasting roles of plasminogen deficiency in different rheumatoid arthritis models. *Arthritis Rheum* (2005) 52(8):2541–8. doi:10.1002/art.21229
- Yang YH, Carmeliet P, Hamilton JA. Tissue-type plasminogen activator deficiency exacerbates arthritis. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(2):1047–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.2.1047

- Cook AD, Braine EL, Campbell IK, Hamilton JA. Differing roles for urokinase and tissue-type plasminogen activator in collagen-induced arthritis. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 160(3):917–26. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64914-0
- 95. Cook AD, De Nardo CM, Braine EL, Turner AL, Vlahos R, Way KJ, et al. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator and arthritis progression: role in systemic disease with immune complex involvement. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2010) 12(2):R37. doi:10.1186/ar2946
- De Nardo CM, Lenzo JC, Pobjoy J, Hamilton JA, Cook AD. Urokinasetype plasminogen activator and arthritis progression: contrasting roles in systemic and monoarticular arthritis models. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2010) 12(5):R199. doi:10.1186/ar3171
- McLaren M, Alkaabi J, Connacher M, Belch JJ, Valenete E. Activated factor XII in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol Int* (2002) 22(5):182–4. doi:10.1007/ s00296-002-0219-6
- Uknis AB, DeLa Cadena RA, Janardham R, Sartor RB, Whalley ET, Colman RW. Bradykinin receptor antagonists type 2 attenuate the inflammatory changes in peptidoglycan-induced acute arthritis in the Lewis rat. *Inflamm Res* (2001) 50(3):149–55. doi:10.1007/s000110050739
- Devani M, Cugno M, Vecchi M, Ferrero S, Di Berardino F, Avesani EC, et al. Kallikrein-kinin system activation in Crohn's disease: differences in intestinal and systemic markers. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2002) 97(8):2026–32. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.05919.x
- Dolapcioglu C, Soylu A, Kendir T, Ince AT, Dolapcioglu H, Purisa S, et al. Coagulation parameters in inflammatory bowel disease. *Int J Clin Exp Med* (2014) 7(5):1442–8.
- Xie J, Itzkowitz SH. Cancer in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol (2008) 14(3):378–89. doi:10.3748/wjg.14.378

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Göbel, Eichler, Wiendl, Chavakis, Kleinschnitz and Meuth. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Coagulation Factor XII Levels and Intrinsic Thrombin Generation in Multiple Sclerosis

Nicole Ziliotto¹, Marcello Baroni¹, Sofia Straudi², Fabio Manfredini^{2,3}, Rosella Mari⁴, Erica Menegatti⁵, Rebecca Voltan^{5,6}, Paola Secchiero^{5,6}, Paolo Zamboni⁵, Nino Basaglia², Giovanna Marchetti³ and Francesco Bernardi¹*

¹ Department of Life Sciences and Biotechnology, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ²Neuroscience and Rehabilitation Department, Ferrara University Hospital, Ferrara, Italy, ³Department of Biomedical and Specialty Surgical Sciences, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ⁴Hematology Section, Department of Medical Sciences, Centre for Hemostasis and Thrombosis, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ⁵Department of Morphology, Surgery and Experimental Medicine, University of Ferrara, Ferrara, Italy, ⁶LTTA Centre, University of Ferrara, Italy

Background: Factor XII (FXII) activation initiates the intrinsic (contact) coagulation pathway. It has been recently suggested that FXII could act as an autoimmunity mediator in multiple sclerosis (MS). FXII depositions nearby dentritic cells were detected in the central nervous system of MS patients and increased FXII activity has been reported in plasma of relapsing remitting and secondary progressive MS patients. FXII inhibition has been proposed to treat MS.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Svetlana Lorenzano, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

Reviewed by:

Anna Fogdell-Hahn, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Chiara Cordiglieri, Istituto Nazionale Genetica Molecolare (INGM), Italy

> *Correspondence: Francesco Bernardi ber@unife.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 31 January 2018 Accepted: 28 March 2018 Published: 20 April 2018

Citation:

Ziliotto N, Baroni M, Straudi S, Manfredini F, Mari R, Menegatti E, Voltan R, Secchiero P, Zamboni P, Basaglia N, Marchetti G and Bernardi F (2018) Coagulation Factor XII Levels and Intrinsic Thrombin Generation in Multiple Sclerosis. Front. Neurol. 9:245. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00245 **Objective:** To investigate in MS patients multiple FXII-related variables, including the circulating amount of protein, its pro-coagulant function, and their variation over time. To explore kinetic activation features of FXII in thrombin generation (TG).

Methods: In plasma from 74 MS patients and 49 healthy subjects (HS), FXII procoagulant activity (FXII:c) and FXII protein (FXII:Ag) levels were assessed. Their ratio (FXII:ratio) values were derived. Intrinsic TG was evaluated by different triggers.

Results: Higher FXII:Ag levels (p = 0.003) and lower FXII:ratio (p < 0.001) were detected in MS patients compared with HS. FXII variables were highly correlated over four time points, which supports investigation of FXII contribution to disease phenotype and progression. A significant difference over time was detected for FXII:c (p = 0.031). In patients selected for the lowest FXII:ratio, TG triggered by ellagic acid showed a trend in lower endogenous thrombin potential (ETP) in MS patients compared with HS (p = 0.042). Intrinsic triggering of TG by nucleic acid addition produced longer time parameters in patients than in HS and substantially increased ETP in MS patients (p = 0.004) and TG peak height in HS (p = 0.008). Coherently, lower FXII:ratio and longer lag time (p = 0.02) and time to peak (p = 0.007) point out a reduced response of FXII to activation in part of MS patients.

Conclusion: In MS patients, factor-specific and modified global assays suggest the presence of increased FXII protein level and reduced function within the intrinsic coagulation pathway. These novel findings support further investigation by multiple approaches of FXII contribution to disease phenotype and progression.

Keywords: multiple sclerosis, coagulation, factor XII, intrinsic pathway, thrombin generation

INTRODUCTION

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic autoimmune disorder, characterized by immune-mediated inflammation and multifocal demyelinated lesions within the central nervous system (CNS) (1, 2). Growing evidences suggest the crosstalk between hemostasis components, inflammation, and immune system, which appear to be involved in MS pathophysiology (3–8). The relationship of the coagulation pathway with disease processes could be further supported by recent findings, showing that anticoagulation ameliorated clinical course of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), an animal model of MS (9, 10).

Among coagulation factors, a key role seems accomplished by factor XII (FXII), the initiator of the "old" contact (intrinsic) coagulation pathway (11), which cooperates redundantly with the extrinsic pathway, thus re-defining the cascade model [reviewed in Ref. (12)]. Upon contact with negative charged surfaces, including nucleic acids (NAs) released by damaged cells, zymogen FXII is converted to activated FXII (FXIIa), which starts the sequential proteolytic reactions within coagulation cascade with activation of factor XI, and subsequent thrombin generation (TG) and final fibrin formation. Moreover, FXII regulates fibrinolysis, complement activation, and the kallikrein–kinin pathway (11, 13).

Recently, histological analysis of CNS tissue from MS patients identified FXII light chain depositions nearby dendritic cells (DCs) (14). The basic FXII protein structure consists of an N-terminal heavy chain with six domains for substrates interaction, and a C-terminal light chain, which includes the catalytic domain (15).

In EAE, FXII depletion had protective effects, reducing susceptibility to CNS inflammation, delaying disease onset, decreasing disease severity and production of T helper 17 (Th17) cells (14). In mice, FXII stimulates expression of CD87 receptor on DCs, which is crucial for inducing Th17 cells differentiation. To note, both FXIIa and zymogen FXII forms were found to modulate conventional DCs function inducing excessive production of cytokines during neuroinflammation in CNS. In support of these findings, deficiency of factor XI, directly activated by FXIIa, did not alter the disease course in EAE model.

These results, indicating that FXII could not contribute to the MS animal model through the intrinsic coagulation pathway, suggest that the FXII procoagulant activity "*per se*" is not involved in MS. Nevertheless, the FXII levels in plasma are usually assessed by a procoagulant assay (FXII:c). In fact, FXII:c has been found significantly increased in patients with relapsing-remitting MS (RR-MS) and secondary progressive MS (SP-MS) compared with healthy donors. Additionally, enhanced FXII:c was associated with relapses and shorter relapse-free period, independently from immune-modulatory therapy (14).

It has been proposed that FXII inhibition could represent a new approach in MS therapy, as indicated by the reduced number and severity of relapses in the EAE mouse model by injection of a recognized FXII inhibitor (14, 16). This would probably not cause bleeding tendency in patients, because it is well known that FXII deficiency does not compromise effective hemostasis (17, 18).

Interestingly, clinical and genetic reports point at a FXII role in thrombosis (19–21). Local and systemic thrombotic events has

been described in MS potentially in relation to the overstimulation of innate immunity for both its inflammatory and coagulant components (22). Recently, the hypercoagulability and potentially prothrombotic state in MS patients has been investigated by TG, triggered by extrinsic activation (23).

The poorly defined role of FXII forms and features and paucity of studies in patients, strongly support investigation of FXII in MS. We investigated multiple FXII-related variables, as well as FXII activation in the intrinsic TG, to explore their association with MS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

The study population included MS patients, the majority of which participated in the RAGTIME study (https://ClinicalTrials. gov ID:NCT02421731) (24). This clinical trial compares robot-assisted gait training vs. conventional therapy on mobility in severely disabled progressive MS patients.

All MS patients underwent to neurological visits, MRI examinations, and assessment of the Expanded Disability Status Scale (EDSS).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria for RAGTIME study were previously reported (24). The selection criteria for the present study included: age between 18 and 79 years, MS diagnosis according to the revised McDonald criteria (25), lack of MS worsening in the previous 3 months.

The healthy subjects (HS) group was represented by healthy volunteers, who were never diagnosed with MS, neurological disorder, other chronic inflammatory disease, and cardiovascular disease.

All subjects were of Caucasian origin. Patients were not under treatment with anticoagulant drugs. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects, and the study was approved by the Ethical Committee of the S. Anna University-Hospital, Ferrara, Italy. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the study populations, which included 74 MS patients (12 relapsing remitting, RR-MS; 28 primary progressive PP-MS; 34 secondary progressive SP-MS) and 49 HS, are summarized in Table 1. Age was significantly different between MS and HS (p < 0.001, Student's t-test, Table 1), while gender difference was not significant (p = 0.138, Fisher's exact test). The total number of patients under disease-modifying treatments (DMTs) at blood sampling was 12 (5 patients under DMTs and 7 patients under both DMTs and symptomatic treatments), as detailed in Table 1. Five patients (three RR-MS and two SP-MS) with discontinuation of DMTs before their enrollment in the present study were included in the group "None treatment," since at sampling they were not under treatment.

Plasma Samples

Venous peripheral blood samples from both MS patients and HS were collected into sodium citrate tubes. Patients enrolled in the RAGTIME study provided blood sampling at four time point: (T0) baseline point, prior to the first rehabilitative session; (T1) intermediate point, after six training sessions; (T2) end of

TABLE 1 | Demographic and clinical characteristics.

	All MS	RR-MS	SP-MS	PP-MS	HS
Sample size, n	74	12	34	28	49
Female, n (%)	48 (64.9)	8 (66.7)	19 (55.9)	21 (75)	25 (51)
Age, mean \pm SD	53.5 ± 10.7	43.5 ± 9	52.2 ± 8.9	59.3 ± 9.9	40.6 ± 13.3
EDSS, median (IQR)	6 (0.5)	3 (2)	6.5 (0.5)	6 (0.5)	-
Disease duration, mean \pm SD Treatment, <i>n</i> (%)	14.4 ± 10.0	7.4 ± 5.2	18.0 ± 8.1	13.5 ± 11.7	-
Disease-modifying	5 (6.8)	-	1 (2.9)	4 (14.3)	_
Symptomatic	17 (22.9)	-	7 (20.6)	10 (35.7)	
Both	7 (9.5)	1 (8.3)	5 (14.7)	1 (3.6)	
None	45 (60.8)	11 (91.7)	21 (61.8)	13 (46.4)	

MS, multiple sclerosis; RR-MS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SP-MS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; PP-MS, primary progressive multiple sclerosis; HS, healthy subjects; n, number; EDSS, Expanded Disability Status Scale; IQR, interguartile range.

Age and disease duration in years are reported as mean \pm SD. For the ordinal EDSS, the median (interquartile range) is given.

Disease-modifying treatments were as follow: 1 (RR) Rituximab; 1 (SP) interferon-beta; 1 (SP) glatiramer acetate; 1 (SP) methotrexate; 1 (SP) teriflunomide;

2 (1 SP and 1 PP) fingolimod; 2 (1 SP and 1 PP) azathioprine; 2 (PP) natalizumab; 1 (PP) cyclophosphamide.

Symptomatic treatments were as follow: 16 (1 RR, 6 SP, and 9 PP) oral baclofen; 2 (SP) Pregabalin; 1 (SP) oral baclofen plus gabapentin; 1 (SP) tetrahydrocannabinol plus cannabidiol; 1 (SP) combination of clonazepam, tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol; 2 (1 SP and 1 PP) oral baclofen plus amitriptyline; 1 (PP) amantadine. Descriptive analysis between MS and HI were performed using Fisher's exact test and Student's t-test.

treatment, 12 completed rehabilitative sessions, 1 month after T0; (T3) follow-up, after 3 months from the end of training program. Plasma samples were obtained after two consecutive centrifugations of blood samples, at room temperature (2,500 *g* for 15 min and 11,000 *g* for 5 min). Aliquots were stored at -80° C until use.

FXII Activity

Coagulant activity of FXII (FXII:c) in plasma samples was assessed by an activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT)based assay (HemosIL aPTT SynthASil kit, Instrumentation Laboratory, Lexington, MA, USA). Activity and coagulation times were recorded by the ACLTOP 700 instrument (HemosIL, Instrumentation Laboratory). The inter-assay coefficients of variation assessed over multiple runs was 2.1%.

FXII Antigen

Plasma FXII antigen (FXII:Ag) concentrations were determined using a sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kit (LS-F10418, LifeSpan Biosciences, Seattle, WA, USA), following the manufacturer's instructions. The assay uses a polyclonal capture antibody for FXII and a mouse primary monoclonal antibody raised against the heavy chain of FXII as detection antibody. The plasma samples were tested with a dilution of 1:3,000. The results were expressed as relative units in percentage generated from concentration values normalized to a pool of normal plasma loaded in all plates. The inter-assay coefficient of variation for plasma measurements was 2.6%.

Intrinsic TG

Thrombin generation in plasma samples was evaluated by the addition of a specific thrombin fluorogenic substrate (Calbiochem-Novobiochem, La Jolla, CA, USA) (26, 27). Plasma samples were diluted (1/5) in a HBS buffer (Hepes 20 mM, NaCl 150 mM, PEG-8000 0.1%, pH 7.4) and incubated for 5 min at 37°C. TG through intrinsic activation was conducted by addition of a volume mixture of ellagic acid (Dade Actin FS, Siemens) and phospholipid vesicles (4 μ M, MP-reagent, Stago), as previously reported (28, 29). TG was also evaluated by further addition of NA as trigger (1 μ M) for the activation. Final concentrations of CaCl₂ and thrombin fluorogenic substrate were 2.5 mM and 250 μ M, respectively. The fluorescence was measured overtime in a fluorometer (Fluoroskan Ascent BioMed) and the amount of the generated thrombin was calculated using a normal pooled human plasma (Hyphen BioMed) as a standard. As negative control of contact activation, the FXII inhibitor "corn trypsin inhibitor" was added to the normal pooled plasma in each assay condition (single/double trigger).

Specific parameters of TG-lag time, time to peak (TTP), peak height, and endogenous thrombin potential (ETP) (area under the curve) were obtained by a nonlinear regression analysis of the first derivative of relative fluorescence units using the software version 6.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA).

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM[®] SPSS[®] Statistics version 24 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) and figures were produced by GraphPad Prism version 6.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA).

The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to test for normality of continuous variables. The Fisher's exact test was used to compare differences in categorical variables and Student's *t*-test was used to compare age between total MS and HI groups.

Comparisons of MS vs. HS and of males vs. females of FXII:c, FXII:Ag, and FXII:c/FXII:Ag ratio (FXII:ratio) were conducted with the ANCOVA test using age as covariate. Comparisons for FXII levels among clinical subgroups were performed with ANCOVA test using age as covariate and, in case of a significant *p*-value, pairwise comparisons were Bonferroni corrected for multiple testing (*q*-values).

To assess whether FXII levels were significantly different among patients receiving DMTs, symptomatic treatments, or none current treatment, one-way ANOVA was used and, in case of a significant p-value, pairwise comparisons were Bonferroni corrected for multiple testing (q-values). Pearson's test was used to assess correlation over time for FXII:c and FXII:Ag. ANOVA for repeated measures was used to test FXII:c, FXII:Ag, and FXII:ratio across the four time points and, in case of a significant *p*-value, pairwise comparisons were Bonferroni corrected (*q*-values). Student's *t*-test was used to compare TG parameters of MS patients with those of HS, while paired Student's *t*-test was used to assess differences in TG after NA addition in MS and HS.

RESULTS

FXII Activity and Antigen Levels

Factor XII coagulant activity (FXII:c), FXII protein concentration (FXII:Ag), and their ratio, providing quantitative information about the FXII activity in relation to the amount of circulating protein, were evaluated in plasma of MS patients and of HS and summarized in **Table 2**. Comparison between MS and HS groups revealed significant differences in FXII:Ag (p = 0.003) and FXII:ratio (p < 0.001) but not in FXII:c (p = 0.421). No differences within clinical subgroups (RR-MS, SP-MS, and PP-MS) were detected for FXII:c (p = 0.296), FXII:Ag (p = 0.248), and FXII:ratio (p = 0.765). Comparison between male and female within MS and HS groups, after age adjustment, did not reveal difference in FXII:c (MS p = 0.74, HS p = 0.374), FXII:Ag (MS p = 0.256, HS p = 0.622), and showed a trend in difference in FXII:ratio in HS (p = 0.045), but not in MS (p = 0.11).

The potential modulation of FXII levels by treatments was investigated. Patients under both DMTs and symptomatic treatments (**Table 1**) were categorized in DMTs group for the purpose of the analyses. No difference according to DMTs, symptomatic treatments, or none current treatments were detected for FXII:c (p = 0.98), FXII:Ag (p = 0.81), and FXII:ratio (p = 0.97).

A large portion of patients under study were characterized by a small range of EDSS (6–6.5), which does not favor the investigation of the relation between EDSS and FXII levels. Factor XII:c, FXII:Ag, and FXII:ratio levels were also investigated over four time points (**Table 3**) in 49 MS (23 PP-MS and 26 SP-MS). A significant difference over time was detected for FXII:c (p = 0.031, **Table 3**). In particular, pairwise analysis revealed differences between T0 and T1 (p = 0.004; q = 0.023) and T0–T3 (p = 0.005; q = 0.027). The potential influence on FXII:c over time variations of MS phenotype or drug treatments was investigated. Differences were not detected within each clinical MS group (SP-MS, p = 0.079; PP-MS, p = 0.093), as well as within drug treatment groups (DMTs, p = 0.188; symptomatic treatment, p = 0.345; none, p = 0.142).

No differences over time were detected for FXII:Ag (p = 0.596) and FXII:ratio (p = 0.151) (**Table 3**).

Noteworthy, analysis of correlations among time points for each FXII parameter (**Table 4**) showed that FXII:c levels were highly correlated (T0–T1, $r^2 = 0.90$; T1–T2, $r^2 = 0.82$; T2–T3, $r^2 = 0.75$; p < 0.001) as well as FXII:Ag levels (T0–T1, $r^2 = 0.81$; T1–T2, $r^2 = 0.79$; T2–T3, $r^2 = 0.84$; p < 0.001).

Intrinsic TG

The decreased FXII:ratio values in MS patients prompted us to investigate potential variation of FXII specific activity through a global plasma assay (TG), which describes all phases of coagulation process and the integrated amount of generated thrombin (30). In particular, to provide kinetic information about the coagulation pathway triggered by intrinsic activation, a single classic activation (ellagic acid) was conducted in parallel with a double activation (**Figure 1**), by adding as trigger molecules of NA. This natural substance, released after cell death, is able to activate the contact pathway (31, 32).

To magnify FXII-related differences in TG, 10 patients' plasma, obtained at T0 (4 PP-MS, 6 SP-MS), were selected for the lowest FXII:ratio (\leq 0.93), virtually undetectable in HS, and compared with 10 HS plasma with the highest FXII:ratio (\geq 1.4), which on the other hand was rare in MS patients.

		MS						HS			
N		Female	Male	RR	PP	SP		Female	Male	<i>p</i> -value	
	74	48	26	12	28	34	49	25	24		
FXII:c %										0.421	
Mean	115.0	113.9	116.9	111.3	115.0	116.2	123.7	127.5	119.8		
Lower 95% Cl	110.3	108.7	107.1	97.3	108.5	108.3	116.5	115.3	111.7		
Upper 95% Cl	119.7	119.1	126.7	125.2	121.5	124.1	130.9	139.8	127.8		
FXII:Ag %										0.003	
Mean	106.7	102.7	114.2	106.2	108.1	105.8	99.3	99.0	99.6		
Lower 95% Cl	99.3	93.6	101.0	85.3	95.2	94.8	91.4	85.5	90.5		
Upper 95% Cl	114.1	111.7	127.4	127.1	121.0	116.8	107.2	112.5	108.8		
FXII:ratio										<0.001	
Mean	1.14	1.18	1.06	1.09	1.15	1.15	1.30	1.36	1.24		
Lower 95% Cl	1.07	1.09	0.98	0.96	1.02	1.06	1.22	1.23	1.14		
Upper 95% Cl	1.21	1.28	1.13	1.21	1.27	1.25	1.38	1.48	1.33		

MS, multiple sclerosis; HS, healthy subjects; RR-MS, relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis; SP-MS, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis; PP-MS, primary progressive multiple sclerosis; FXII:c, factor XII activity; FXII:Ag, factor XII antigen; FXII:ratio, FXII:Ag; CI, confidence interval; N, number. Analysis were conducted with the ANCOVA test, using age as covariate.

TABLE 3 FXII activity, antigen, and ratio in multiple sclerosis patients over four	
time points.	

		Time	points			
N 49	то	T1	T2	тз	p-value	
FXII:c %					0.031	
Mean	114.5	110.4	114.1	110.0		
Lower 95% Cl	108.6	104.5	107.3	103.8		
Upper 95% Cl	120.4	116.3	120.8	116.2		
FXII:Ag %					0.596	
Mean	105.1	107.8	108.8	105.8		
Lower 95% Cl	95.87	98.06	99.54	96.87		
Upper 95% Cl	114.4	117.5	118.0	114.8		
FXII:ratio					0.151	
Mean	1.16	1.10	1.10	1.09		
Lower 95% Cl	1.07	1.01	1.03	1.02		
Upper 95% Cl	1.25	1.18	1.17	1.16		

FXII:c, factor XII activity; FXII:Ag, factor XII antigen; FXII:ratio, FXII:c/FXII:Ag; CI, confidence interval; N, number.

ANOVA for repeated measures was used to test FXII:c, FXII:Ag, and FXII:ratio across the four time points.

TABLE 4 | Correlations of factor XII activity and antigen over four time points in multiple sclerosis patients.

	To	T 4	TO
	Т0	T1	T2
FXII:c			
T1	0.90		
T2	0.80	0.82	
тз	0.88	0.84	0.75
FXII:Ag			
T1	0.81		
T2	0.81	0.79	
тз	0.63	0.70	0.84

Pearson's test was used to assess correlation over time for factor FXII activity (FXII:c) and antigen (FXII:Ag). (T0) baseline point, prior to the first rehabilitative session; (T1) intermediate point, after six training sessions; (T2) end of training, 12 completed rehabilitative sessions, 1 month after T0; (T3) follow-up, after 3 months from the end of training program.

Thrombin generation curves and parameters are reported in **Figure 1** and in **Table 5**, respectively. TG activated by ellagic acid showed only a trend in lower thrombin potential (ETP) in MS patients compared with HS (2,631 \pm 166 vs. 2,780 \pm 136, p = 0.042).

The TG triggered, in the same experiment, with the addition of NA, produced a clear decrease in main time parameters both in MS patients and in HS. As compared with the single ellagic acid trigger, both lag time and TTP were shorter in MS patients $(612 \pm 97 \text{ vs}. 561 \pm 81, p = 0.006; 750 \pm 109 \text{ vs}. 706 \pm 91, p = 0.014$, respectively) and in HS ($564 \pm 44 \text{ vs}. 487 \pm 44, p < 0.0001$; $690 \pm 51 \text{ vs}. 605 \pm 51, p < 0.0001$). After the double induction, the increase in thrombin peak height and ETP differed between patients and HS. Particularly, the ETP value increased only in MS patients ($2,631 \pm 166 \text{ vs}. 2,748 \pm 133, p = 0.004$), whereas the peak height was significantly increased only in HS ($13.4 \pm 1.4 \text{ vs}. 14.3 \pm 1.5, p = 0.008$).

The comparison between MS patients and HS of TG, after the double trigger, showed longer time parameters in MS patients. Lag time was longer as a trend (561 ± 81 vs. 487 ± 44 in HS,

p = 0.02) and TTP was around 100 s longer (706 ± 91 vs. 605 ± 51 in HS, p = 0.007). To note, three out of four PP-MS patients showed the most prolonged time parameters (**Figures 1A,C**). Worth noting that the significant differences in TG parameters between MS and HS (**Table 5**) were observed in the presence of high correlations between time parameters, both in MS patients and in HS (**Figure 2**).

DISCUSSION

Prompted by the potential contribution of FXII in MS, in this study we provide the investigation of multiple FXII-related variables, to better define the relation between FXII and disease. This approach was coupled with global evaluation of the intrinsic pathway, with FXII activation obtained by artificial and natural molecules. Our main aims were to reveal differences between MS patients and HS, among MS clinical phenotypes, and in addition to evaluate in MS patients the variation over time of FXII-related variables.

The investigation on FXII:Ag revealed significantly increased levels in MS patients. FXII:Ag provides information about the concentration of circulating FXII protein independently from its activation and activity, presence of inhibitors, and other factors participating in the coagulation pathway. We did not observe, even as a trend, higher levels of FXII:c in RR-MS and SP-MS patients compared to HS as reported by a previous study (14). However, our cohorts were smaller (with exception of the PP-MS group) than those of the German study and, in accordance with our study design, we did not investigate FXII:c during relapse. Further comparison between data in German and Italian MS patients is hampered by absence of information about FXII protein levels (FXII antigen) in German patients. Nevertheless, the increased FXII:Ag levels detected in Italian MS patients and the increased FXII:c detected in German MS patients are both candidate to increase FXII-related immunomodulatory function. Of note, both FXII protein forms, the zymogen and the active ones, would express the immunomodulatory role independently from FXII activation in the coagulation pathway.

Repeated evaluation over 4 months of FXII:c, FXII:Ag levels, and FXII:ratio were instrumental to investigate their variation overtime in patients. We observed high correlation among time points for each FXII parameter. This feature could support a meaningful investigation of FXII contribution to disease phenotype and progression in future prospective studies.

Interestingly, FXII:c displayed a trend for variation across the time points. This could highlight changes dependent on the rehabilitative treatment, as inferred by comparison of FXII:c at T0 and T1 time points, as well as independent from treatment, as inferred by measurements prior and after 3 months of the rehabilitative training program (T0 vs. T3). Aimed at improving knowledge about the FXII role in the disease, we provided quantitative information about the FXII procoagulant activity in relation to the amount of circulating protein, by evaluating their ratio. This analysis indicated a significantly lower FXII:ratio in MS patients. This novel finding prompted us to investigate in selected groups of MS patients and HS the intrinsic pathway by TG, which provides kinetic information and potentially



(A) and in HS (B), or EA plus NA in MS patients (C) and in HS (D). Curves from PP-MS are shown in light blue. Curves of PNP (insets) in the same conditions of MS patients and HS (green), and after addition of FXII inhibitor (red) are reported as control. MS, multiple sclerosis; PP-MS, primary progressive multiple sclerosis; HS, healthy subjects; EA, ellagic acid; NA, nucleic acid; PNP, pooled normal plasma; RFUs, relative fluorescence units; s, seconds.

							EA vs.	$\mathbf{EA} + \mathbf{NA}$
	EA			EA + NA			<i>p</i> -Value	
	MS	HS	p-Value	MS	HS	p-Value	MS	HS
Lag time (s)	612 ± 97	564 ± 44	0.175	561 ± 81	487 ± 44	0.02	0.006	<0.0001
TTP (s)	750 ± 109	690 ± 51	0.132	706 ± 91	605 ± 51	0.007	0.014	<0.0001
Peak (RFU/s)	13.1 ± 2.3	13.4 ± 1.4	0.804	13.5 ± 2.2	14.3 ± 1.5	0.335	0.153	0.008
ETP (RFU)	2,631 ± 166	2,780 ± 136	0.042	2,748 ± 133	2,746 ± 38	0.964	0.004	0.506

MS, multiple sclerosis; HS, healthy subjects; ETP, endogenous thrombin potential; EA, ellagic acid; NA, nucleic acid; TTP, time to peak; RFUs, relative fluorescence units; s, seconds. Student's t-test was used to compare TG parameters of MS patients with those of HS, while paired Student's t-test was used to assess differences in TG after NA addition in MS and HS (p-value EA vs. EA + NA).

mechanistic interpretation of differences. Coherently with the decreased FXII:ratio, we report in MS patients a trend of lower amounts of thrombin potential, ETP, a stable and highly affordable parameter.

We introduced in this study a modified TG assay with double activation, obtained by the addition of NA, which has been recognized among true physiological activators of the contact pathway (31, 32).

Interestingly, NAs released from dead and dying cells may induce an autoimmune response by activating specific sensing receptors (33), thus representing candidate molecules of the complex crosstalk between coagulation pathway, inflammation, and immune system.

Additional trigger by NA shortened time parameters less in MS patients as compared with HS. Overall, the lower FXII:ratio and longer TG time parameters suggested that in part of MS patients (i) FXII could be less active per antigen unit and (ii) FXII response to contact activation and its support to the intrinsic coagulation pathway could be reduced. Interestingly, it has been recently reported that in TG, triggered by extrinsic activation,



time parameters were shorter in MS patients (23), which does not conflict with our data because extrinsic TG does not explore FXII contribution. Noteworthy, both the intrinsic TG, first reported in our study, and the extrinsic TG (23) tightly depend on activation and activity of coagulation factors in the common pathway, essential to generate thrombin. Although indirectly, our study does not support the presence of a prothrombotic state in the MS patients under study.

In light of the increased FXII protein levels and decreased activation that we report, pharmacological inhibition of FXII, proposed as a potentially new approach to MS treatment, needs deep investigation.

The low number of patients under DMTs and the extremely heterogeneous DMTs did not permit us a productive analysis of FXII levels in relation to DMTs. Nevertheless, these study features enabled us to obtain FXII-related values reasonably independent from drugs, like interferon that is known to heavily influence

REFERENCES

- Dendrou CA, Fugger L, Friese MA. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(9):545–58. doi:10.1038/nri3871
- Correale J, Farez MF. The role of astrocytes in multiple sclerosis progression. *Front Neurol* (2015) 6:180. doi:10.3389/fneur.2015.00180
- Han MH, Hwang SI, Roy DB, Lundgren DH, Price JV, Ousman SS, et al. Proteomic analysis of active multiple sclerosis lesions reveals therapeutic targets. *Nature* (2008) 451(7182):1076–81. doi:10.1038/nature06559
- Delvaeye M, Conway EM. Coagulation and innate immune responses: can we view them separately? *Blood* (2009) 114(12):2367–74. doi:10.1182/ blood-2009-05-199208
- Ryu JK, Petersen MA, Murray SG, Baeten KM, Meyer-Franke A, Chan JP, et al. Blood coagulation protein fibrinogen promotes autoimmunity and demyelination via chemokine release and antigen presentation. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8164. doi:10.1038/ncomms9164
- Wallin MT, Oh U, Nyalwidhe J, Semmes J, Kislinger T, Coffman P, et al. Serum proteomic analysis of a pre-symptomatic multiple sclerosis cohort. *Eur J Neurol* (2015) 22(3):591–9. doi:10.1111/ene.12534
- Gobel K, Kraft P, Pankratz S, Gross CC, Korsukewitz C, Kwiecien R, et al. Prothrombin and factor X are elevated in multiple sclerosis patients. *Ann Neurol* (2016) 80(6):946–51. doi:10.1002/ana.24807
- 8. Petersen MA, Ryu JK, Chang KJ, Etxeberria A, Bardehle S, Mendiola AS, et al. Fibrinogen activates BMP signaling in oligodendrocyte progenitor cells and

gene expression in several tissues. These values could better reflect the "biological" relation between FXII and (untreated) disease. On the other hand, the investigation of DMTs effects on FXII-related variables in a properly designed study would provide a comprehensive picture of this poorly defined field.

In conclusion, our study points toward FXII-related differences between MS patients and HS, with the limitation of the small sample size. Multiple specific and global coagulation assays could help stratification of patients to better define FXII contribution to disease phenotype and progression.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Ferrara province with approval number 101-2012. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NZ, MB, GM, and FB conceived the study design and wrote the manuscript; NZ, RV, and PS collected plasma samples and evaluated pre analytical variables; NZ and MB set up ELISA and aPTT; NZ performed ELISA, aPTT, and analyzed data; RM set up and performed aPTT; MB performed thrombin generation and analyzed data; SS, FM, PZ, and NB designed and supervised the rehabilitation study, recruited patients, and performed their clinical evaluation; SS and EM collected and analyzed instrumental and clinical data for patients classification. All authors critically evaluated the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the grant 1786/2012 from the strategic 2010–2012 Research Program of Emilia Romagna Region, Italy.

inhibits remyelination after vascular damage. Neuron (2017) 96(5):1003–12e7. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2017.10.008

- Merker M, Eichler S, Herrmann AM, Wiendl H, Kleinschnitz C, Gobel K, et al. Rivaroxaban ameliorates disease course in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2017) 313:125–8. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017. 08.013
- Stolz L, Derouiche A, Devraj K, Weber F, Brunkhorst R, Foerch C. Anticoagulation with warfarin and rivaroxaban ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Neuroinflammation* (2017) 14(1):152. doi:10.1186/s12974-017-0926-2
- Murano G. The "Hageman" connection: interrelationships of blood coagulation, fibrino(geno)lysis, kinin generation, and complement activation. *Am J Hematol* (1978) 4(4):409–17. doi:10.1002/ajh.2830040412
- Monroe DM, Hoffman M. What does it take to make the perfect clot? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2006) 26(1):41–8. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000193624. 28251.83
- Weidmann H, Heikaus L, Long AT, Naudin C, Schluter H, Renne T. The plasma contact system, a protease cascade at the nexus of inflammation, coagulation and immunity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2017) 1864(11 Pt B):2118–27. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2017.07.009
- Gobel K, Pankratz S, Asaridou CM, Herrmann AM, Bittner S, Merker M, et al. Blood coagulation factor XII drives adaptive immunity during neuroinflammation via CD87-mediated modulation of dendritic cells. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:11626. doi:10.1038/ncomms11626

- Ivanov I, Matafonov A, Sun MF, Cheng Q, Dickeson SK, Verhamme IM, et al. Proteolytic properties of single-chain factor XII: a mechanism for triggering contact activation. *Blood* (2017) 129(11):1527–37. doi:10.1182/ blood-2016-10-744110
- Xu Y, Cai TQ, Castriota G, Zhou Y, Hoos L, Jochnowitz N, et al. Factor XIIa inhibition by Infestin-4: in vitro mode of action and in vivo antithrombotic benefit. *Thromb Haemost* (2014) 111(4):694–704. doi:10.1160/TH13-08-0668
- Stavrou E, Schmaier AH. Factor XII: what does it contribute to our understanding of the physiology and pathophysiology of hemostasis & thrombosis. *Thromb Res* (2010) 125(3):210–5. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2009.11.028
- Revenko AS, Gao D, Crosby JR, Bhattacharjee G, Zhao C, May C, et al. Selective depletion of plasma prekallikrein or coagulation factor XII inhibits thrombosis in mice without increased risk of bleeding. *Blood* (2011) 118(19):5302–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-05-355248
- Helft G, Le Feuvre C, Metzger JP, Vacheron A, Monsuez JJ, Lachurie ML, et al. Factor XII deficiency associated with coronary stent thrombosis. *Am J Hematol* (2000) 64(4):322–3. doi:10.1002/1096-8652(200008)64:4<322:: AID-AJH18>3.0.CO;2-B
- Soria JM, Almasy L, Souto JC, Bacq D, Buil A, Faure A, et al. A quantitative-trait locus in the human factor XII gene influences both plasma factor XII levels and susceptibility to thrombotic disease. *Am J Hum Genet* (2002) 70(3):567–74. doi:10.1086/339259
- Matafonov A, Leung PY, Gailani AE, Grach SL, Puy C, Cheng Q, et al. Factor XII inhibition reduces thrombus formation in a primate thrombosis model. *Blood* (2014) 123(11):1739–46. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-04-499111
- Koudriavtseva T. Thrombotic processes in multiple sclerosis as manifestation of innate immune activation. *Front Neurol* (2014) 5:119. doi:10.3389/ fneur.2014.00119
- Parsons ME, O'Connell K, Allen S, Egan K, Szklanna PB, McGuigan C, et al. Thrombin generation correlates with disease duration in multiple sclerosis (MS): novel insights into the MS-associated prothrombotic state. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin* (2017) 3(4):2055217317747624. doi:10.1177/ 2055217317747624
- 24. Straudi S, Manfredini F, Lamberti N, Zamboni P, Bernardi F, Marchetti G, et al. The effectiveness of Robot-Assisted Gait Training versus conventional therapy on mobility in severely disabled progressIve MultiplE sclerosis patients (RAGTIME): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* (2017) 18(1):88. doi:10.1186/s13063-017-1838-2
- Polman CH, Reingold SC, Banwell B, Clanet M, Cohen JA, Filippi M, et al. Diagnostic criteria for multiple sclerosis: 2010 revisions to the McDonald criteria. *Ann Neurol* (2011) 69(2):292–302. doi:10.1002/ana.22366

- 26. Olivieri O, Martinelli N, Baroni M, Branchini A, Girelli D, Friso S, et al. Factor II activity is similarly increased in patients with elevated apolipoprotein CIII and in carriers of the factor II 20210A allele. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2013) 2(6):e000440. doi:10.1161/JAHA.113.000440
- 27. Martinelli N, Girelli D, Baroni M, Guarini P, Sandri M, Lunghi B, et al. Activated factor VII-antithrombin complex predicts mortality in patients with stable coronary artery disease: a cohort study. *J Thromb Haemost* (2016) 14(4):655–66. doi:10.1111/jth.13274
- Woodruff RS, Xu Y, Layzer J, Wu W, Ogletree ML, Sullenger BA. Inhibiting the intrinsic pathway of coagulation with a factor XII-targeting RNA aptamer. *J Thromb Haemost* (2013) 11(7):1364–73. doi:10.1111/jth.12302
- Vu TT, Leslie BA, Stafford AR, Zhou J, Fredenburgh JC, Weitz JI. Histidinerich glycoprotein binds DNA and RNA and attenuates their capacity to activate the intrinsic coagulation pathway. *Thromb Haemost* (2016) 115(1):89–98. doi:10.1160/TH15-04-0336
- Hemker HC, Giesen P, Al Dieri R, Regnault V, de Smedt E, Wagenvoord R, et al. Calibrated automated thrombin generation measurement in clotting plasma. *Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb* (2003) 33(1):4–15. doi:10.1159/000071636
- Morrissey JH, Smith SA. Polyphosphate as modulator of hemostasis, thrombosis, and inflammation. J Thromb Haemost (2015) 13(Suppl 1):S92–7. doi:10.1111/jth.12896
- Schmaier AH. The contact activation and kallikrein/kinin systems: pathophysiologic and physiologic activities. J Thromb Haemost (2016) 14(1):28–39. doi:10.1111/jth.13194
- 33. Eppensteiner J, Davis RP, Barbas AS, Kwun J, Lee J. Immunothrombotic activity of damage-associated molecular patterns and extracellular vesicles in secondary organ failure induced by trauma and sterile insults. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:190. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.00190

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Ziliotto, Baroni, Straudi, Manfredini, Mari, Menegatti, Voltan, Secchiero, Zamboni, Basaglia, Marchetti and Bernardi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

